### Aspects of Bottom-up Hidden Sector Models

A dissertation presented by

#### Philipp Klose

in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree "Doctor of Sciences"

Centre for Cosmology, Particle Physics and Phenomenology, Université catholique de Louvain, Louvain-la-Neuve B-1348, Belgium

 $10\mathrm{th}$  August 2020

#### Acknowledgments

I thank my promoters Prof. Marco Drewes, Dr. Chiara Arina, and Prof. Jean-Marc Gérard for their guidance and advice. In particular, I thank Prof. Jean-Marc Gérard for his invaluable advice regarding my work on chiral perturbation theory. Further, I thank my collaborators Prof. Björn Garbrecht, Dr. Carlos Tamarit, Dr. Jan Haier, and Dr. Juraj Klaric for their contribution to our joint research projects. Finally, I thank my family, which has always supported me in more ways than I can count.

### Associated Publications:

- Björn Garbrecht, Philipp Klose and Carlos Tamarit. "Relativistic and spectator effects in leptogenesis with heavy sterile neutrinos". In *JEHP* 02 (2020). [JHEP20,117(2020)], p. 117. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP02(2020) 117. arXiv: 1904.09956 [hep-ph]
- [2] Marco Drewes, Juraj Klarić and Philipp Klose. "On Lepton Number Violation in Heavy Neutrino Decays at Colliders". In *JHEP* 11 (2019). [JHEP19,032(2020)], p. 032. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP11(2019) 032. axXiv: 1907.13034 [hep-ph]

Prof. Vincent Lemaître	President	Université Catholique
		de Louvain
Prof. Eduardo Cortina-Gil	Sectretary	"
Prof. Jean-Marc Gérard	Promoter	II
Prof. Marco Drewes	<b>"</b>	"
Dr. Chiara Arina	"	
Prof. Björn Garbrecht		Technische Universität
		München
Dr. Christoph Weniger		Universiteit van
		Amsterdam

Thesis Jury

# Contents

1 Introduction

# 2 The Portal Effective Theory Framework

<b>2</b>	The	Porta	al Effective Theory Framework	11
	2.1	1 Philosophy and Limitations		
	2.2	The C	Construction of General PET Lagrangians	14
		2.2.1	General Approach	14
		2.2.2	Power Counting and Naive Dimensional Analysis .	15
		2.2.3	Elimination of Redundant Operators	17
		2.2.4	Should one Diagonalize Quadratic Portal Interac-	
			tions? $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$	21
	2.3	Gener	al Electroweak Scale PETs	23
		2.3.1	Constructing a Minimal Basis of Portal Operators	23
		2.3.2	The Full Portal Lagrangian	29
		2.3.3	Modifications after Electroweak Symmetry	
			Breaking	32
	2.4	Gener	al GeV Scale PETs	36
		2.4.1	General Considerations	36
		2.4.2	Scalar Portal Operators	41
		2.4.3	Fermion Portal Operators	45
		2.4.4	Vector Portal Operators	51
		2.4.5	The Subset of $ \Delta F  = 1$ Portal Operators	54
3	PET	Г Chir	al Perturbation Theory	59
	3.1	The E	External Current Picture	59
	3.2	Aspec	ts of QCD at Low Energies	62
		3.2.1	The QCD Lagrangian	62

 $\mathbf{7}$ 

	3.2.2 Conformal Anomaly 6	3
	3.2.3 Large $N_c$ QCD	5
	3.2.4 Chiral Symmetry	8
	3.2.5 Pseudo Nambu-Goldstone Bosons 7	'1
3.3	QCD in the Presence of External Currents	6
	3.3.1 The Interaction Lagrangian 7	6
	3.3.2 Explicit Breaking of Scale Invariance 8	3
	3.3.3 Generalized Chiral Symmetry 8	4
3.4	Construction of the PET $\chi$ PT Lagrangian 8	8
	3.4.1 General Considerations	8
	3.4.2 The generalized $\chi$ PT Action 9	)1
	3.4.3 Transition to the Physical Vacuum 10	0
3.5	Low Energy Constants	4
	3.5.1 Low energy Realizations of QCD Gauge Singlets . 10	4
	3.5.2 LEC's for Scalar to Gluon Coupling	$\overline{7}$
	3.5.3 LEC's for the octet and 27-plet Terms 10	8
Lep	oton Number Violation via Sterile Neutrino Decoher-	0
enc	e 11	3
4.1	Lepton Number Violation at Colliders	3
4.2	Introduction to Type-I Seesaw Models	6
4.3	Criteria for Sterile Neutrino Decoherence	0
	4.3.1 General Considerations	0
	4.3.2 Benchmark Model with $n = 2 \dots \dots$	2
4.4	LNV in the $n = 2$ Benchmak Model $\dots \dots \dots$	5
$\mathbf{Rel}$	ativistic and Spectator Effects in High-Scale Lepto-	
gen	esis 12	7
5.1	Updating High-Scale Leptogenesis	7
5.2	Simplified Model for High-Scale Leptogenesis	0
5.3	Simplifica filoaci foi filon Scale DeptoSchoolo III III III	Z
	The CTP Formalism	7
	The CTP Formalism       13         5.3.1       CTP Correlation Functions	2 7 7
	The CTP Formalism135.3.1CTP Correlation Functions135.3.2Constraints from Finite Temperature QFT14	2 7 7 7
	The CTP Formalism11135.3.1CTP Correlation Functions135.3.2Constraints from Finite Temperature QFT145.3.3Schwinger-Dyson Equations14	2 7 7 0
5.4	The CTP Formalism	2 7 7 0 1 5
5.4	The CTP Formalism135.3.1CTP Correlation Functions135.3.2Constraints from Finite Temperature QFT145.3.3Schwinger-Dyson Equations14Relativistic Fluid Equations for Leptogenesis145.4.1Derivation of the Fluid Equations14	2 7 7 0 1 5 5

		5.4.3 Comparison with the Nonrelativistic Approximation 16	5	
	5.5	.5 Implications for the Final $B - L$ Asymmetry 16		
		5.5.1 Scenario without Spectators	8	
		5.5.2 Scenario with Partially Equilibrated Spectators 17	9	
6	Sun	Summary and Outlook 185		
•	Sun	innary and Outlook 18	5	
U	6.1	The Portal Effective Theory Framework	<b>5</b> 5	
U	6.1 6.2	The Portal Effective Theory Framework	5 5 6	
Ū	6.1 6.2 6.3	The Portal Effective Theory Framework       18         PET Chiral Perturbation Theory       18         Lepton Number Violation at Colliders       18	5 5 6 8	

### Chapter 1

### Introduction

The standard model (SM) of particle physics can explain an astounding variety of experimental observations, but it does not present a complete description of nature. Indeed, there are many compelling pieces of evidence for the existence of physics beyond the SM, and in particular, new physics is required to explain the small but finite SM neutrino masses, the origin of dark matter, and the primordial baryon asymmetry in the universe (BAU).

Given that the SM is an incomplete description of reality, it has to be either extended or replaced with some other, more fundamental theory of the universe. In general, this can be done using one of two approaches: First, a SM extension can be constructed "top-down", by postulating a specific set of fundamental principles that determine the shape of the theory. This approach is taken e.g. in super-symmetry or string theory. Alternatively, the SM can be extended "bottom-up", by adding minimal extensions that can help explain specific pieces of evidence for new physics. The main advantage of the bottom-up approach is that it remains largely agnostic about the underlying unified theory. Typically, a large variety of bottom-up SM extensions can explain any specific piece of evidence for new physics, so that one does not have to commit to any specific conception of nature. However, this flexibility is also a major disadvantage, since each of the available SM extensions has to be tested and falsified individually.

In recent years, there has been a push towards obtaining predictions

that are valid for wider classes of bottom-up SM extensions rather than just individual models. Within the context of collider phenomenology, the standard model effective theory (SMEFT) has become a popular tool to study generic bottom-up SM extensions without collider-accessible hidden degrees of freedom [3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8].

In my doctoral studies, I have investigated aspects of bottom-up hidden sector models by following two main lines of research:

In my first line of research, I have constructed portal effective theories (PET), in which the SM couples to generic hidden sectors via a single light, gauge-singlet mediator with spin  $S = 0, \frac{1}{2}, 1$  and mass at or below the electroweak scale. These PETs are fully general, making as few assumptions as possible about the internal structure of the hidden sector, or the types of permissible portal operators. In chapter 2, I present a general framework that I have developed for constructing generic PET Lagrangians. Applying this framework, I construct both electroweak and GeV scale PETs that couple the standard model to a wide range of potential hidden sectors. For the GeV scale PETs, I focus primarily on quark flavour changing transitions, and to account for these transitions, I include higher dimensional portal operators generated by virtual  $W^{\pm}$  exchanges. In chapter 3, I apply the resulting GeV scale PETs in order to construct a generic PET chiral perturbation theory ( $\chi PT$ ) Lagrangian. This Lagrangian captures general hidden-sector induced meson transitions, such as  $\pi^0 \to \gamma \gamma_{\text{hidden}}$  or  $K^+ \to \pi^+ S_{\text{hidden}}$ , and it can be used to compute the corresponding transition amplitudes for low-energy fixed target experiments such as NA62, or SHiP.

In my second line of research, I have investigated aspects of type-I seesaw models, which are one specific example of a bottom-up SM extension with  $n \ge 2$  sterile neutrinos that mix with the SM neutrinos.

In chapter 4 I study the prospect of observing lepton number violation (LNV) in sterile neutrino decays at colliders. The results in this chapter have been published in [2]. In principle, LNV is a generic feature of the type-I seesaw model, but there has been significant debate on whether *observable* LNV at colliders is possible in type-I seesaw models without fine-tuning. Using two distinct notions of fine-tuning, I derive both upper and lower bounds on the relative suppression of LNV in sterile neutrinos at colliders.

Finally, in chapter 5, I study the impact of finite temperature and spectator effects in leptogenesis with heavy sterile neutrinos, where a finite lepton asymmetry is generated via out-of-equilibrium reactions involving the sterile neutrinos. The results in this chapter have been published in [1], and they present a continuation of work that I have begun during my master thesis. To study finite temperature and spectator effects, I consider a minimal model of leptogenesis with two strongly hierarchical sterile neutrinos that couple to the same linear combination of SM lepton flavours. Using methods of non-equilibrium and thermal quantum field theory, I derive a novel set of fully relativistic fluid equations for highscale leptogenesis and compute the reaction rates that appear in these equations.

### Chapter 2

# The Portal Effective Theory Framework

#### 2.1 Philosophy and Limitations

In this chapter, I consider a general theory in which the standard model (= SM) is augmented by a generic hidden sector to which it couples via a single hidden mediator with a mass at or below the electroweak scale. The corresponding Lagrangian may be cast as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{PET}} = \mathcal{L}_{\text{SM}} + \mathcal{L}_{\text{portal}} + \mathcal{L}_{\text{hidden}} , \qquad (2.1)$$

where  $\mathcal{L}_{SM}$  is the SM Lagrangian,  $\mathcal{L}_{hidden}$  is a generic hidden sector Lagrangian, and  $\mathcal{L}_{portal}$  denotes a portal sector that contains all interactions involving both SM and hidden degrees of freedom.

The Lagrangian (2.1) may be thought of as the low-energy effective theory realization of some more fundamental ultraviolet (=UV) theory. In the most general case, the SM could couple to hidden sectors via multiple mediators with arbitrary quantum numbers and masses. If there are no light mediators with masses at or below the electroweak scale, the standard model effective theory (=SMEFT) Lagrangian can be used to constrain the coupling to hidden sectors in a way that is largely agnostic about the underlying UV theory[3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8]. However, if there is at least one light mediator, it is not immediately obvious how to constrain the shape of the portal Lagrangian in a way that remains equally agnostic about the shape of the underlying UV theory. My goal is to provide a first step towards a less model dependent description of the coupling to light hidden sectors by constructing a set of generic portal Lagrangian that are intended to cover a wide range of popular hidden sector models.

In principle, there is no physical reason to suppose the SM only couples to a single light mediator rather than a set of multiple different mediators with different quantum numbers. Mainly, I restrict the discussion to a single mediator as a matter of feasibility. Since I would like to make as few assumptions as possible about the full theory, it is difficult to construct a generic portal Lagrangian that captures the physics of an arbitrary number of mediators, even if one specifies the quantum numbers of each mediator. However, restricting myself to a single mediator, it becomes possible to explicitly construct a most general portal Lagrangian by specifying the quantum numbers of the light mediator and the symmetries respected by the underlying full theory. For each mediator type, this generic portal Lagrangian then defines a "portal effective theory", or PET, that is suitable for studying the coupling of the SM to generic classes of hidden sector models in a way that remains largely, albeit not fully, agnostic about the internal structure of the hidden sector.

There is a further complication. At the electroweak scale, the full portal Lagrangian for each mediator has to involve all SM fields. At energies well below the electroweak scale, say for instance at center of mass energies  $\sqrt{s} \leq 10 \text{ GeV}$ , it is necessary to integrate out the heavier SM degrees of freedom in order to compute observables at low energies. In addition, it may be appropriate to work within a SM effective theory, such as chiral perturbation theory [9, 10, 11], heavy quark effective theory [12, 13, 14], (potential) nonrelativistic quantum chromo dynamics (=pNRQCD) [15, 16, 17], or soft collinear effective theory [18, 19, 20]. In this case, the portal Lagrangian should not contain the SM degrees of freedom themselves, but rather the effective degrees of freedom present within each of the SM effective theories. For any given mediator type, this implies the existence of a whole class of PETs, one for each specific setup that is being considered.

The remainder of this chapter in organized as follows: In section 2.2, I introduce my general approach for constructing specific PET and review common techniques used for identifying minimal sets of effective operators

without redundancies. In section 2.3, I construct generic electroweak scale portal Lagrangian for a selection of different mediator fields with spins 0,  $^{1}/_{2}$ , and 1, and in section 2.4, I use these electroweak scale PETs to construct a corresponding set of GeV scale portal Lagrangian that can be used as starting points for the derivation of more specific low energy PETs.

#### 2.2 The Construction of General PET Lagrangians

#### 2.2.1 General Approach

In general, a PET can be constructed by following the same general strategy as the construction of any effective field theory (=EFT). The first step is to identify the relevant degrees of freedom for the problem at hand, as well as the symmetries that need to be respected by the experimental predictions of the theory. Afterwards, the theory is constructed by writing down the most general partition function consistent with the required symmetries and degrees of freedom.

Within the PET framework, I assume that the portal Lagrangian contains only SM degrees of freedom, as well as a single light hidden mediator field. As a matter of practicality, I restrict myself to mediators of spin s = 0, 1/2, and 1. One important subtlety is that a generic mediator field may contain more than a single degree of freedom, so that working with a single hidden mediator *field* may not be the same as working with a single hidden degree of freedom. For instance, adding a single complex scalar field to the theory is equivalent to adding two real-valued scalar fields, which corresponds to adding two hidden degrees of freedom. Similarly, adding a single Dirac fermion is equivalent to adding two Weyl fermions, where each Weyl fermions contains two hidden degrees of freedom. In both cases, the PET Lagrangian actually contains multiple light hidden degrees of freedom.

In terms of symmetries, I require that the most general PET Lagrangian is at least both Lorentz and gauge invariant. To remain fully general, I do not enforce any other a priori symmetries. In particular, I do not require P or CP invariance, as these symmetries are already broken within the SM. For the construction of the generic electroweak scale PETs, I assume that the portal Lagrangian is invariant with respect to the  $SU(3)_C \times SU(2)_I \times U(1)_Y$  SM gauge group and that the hidden sector is not charged with respect to the SM gauge group. However, for the construction of PETs below the electroweak scale, the strict requirement of invariance with respect to the full SM gauge group has to be relaxed due to the spontaneous  $SU(2)_I \times U(1)_Y \to U(1)_V$  breaking of the electroweak symmetry. Indeed, the portal Lagrangians at low energies only have to be invariant with respect to the unbroken  $SU(3)_C \times U(1)_V$  subgroup.

Another complication is that PET Lagrangians below the electroweak scale do not explicitly contain all SM degrees of freedom, as it is necessary to integrate out the heavier SM fields. This is especially important when working with an unphysical renormalization scheme such as MS or  $\overline{MS}$ , since heavy particles do not decouple in these schemes unless they are integrated out by hand.

#### 2.2.2 Power Counting and Naive Dimensional Analysis

By construction, an effective theory has to contain all interactions that are consistent with its symmetries. However, the corresponding most general Lagrangian typically consists of an infinite tower of operators that are accompanied by an equally infinite number of free parameters. If the effective theory is meant to be useful in practice, there has to be some way to sort operators into finite sets that are sufficient for computing S-matrix elements at a specified accuracy. The usual way to think of this is that it has to be possible to expand the S-matrix elements in powers of a small parameter  $\epsilon$ . In this view, each operator is associated with a power of  $\epsilon$ , and the corresponding power counting scheme is taken to be part of the definition of the effective theory.

For example, consider a generic effective theory that constitutes the low-energy realization of a more fundamental UV theory with an additional high-energy scale  $\Lambda$ . In this case it is natural to expand S-matrix elements in powers of  $\epsilon \equiv \sqrt{s}/\Lambda$ , which defines a suitable power counting scheme with only a finite number of operators entering at each order in  $\epsilon$ .

Within the PET framework, the portal interactions must be highly suppressed (e.g. by some small coupling or a large beyond the standard model (=BSM) mass scale) in order to remain consistent with experimental evidence. As in the generic case, I quantify this suppression in terms of a generic order parameter  $\epsilon_{\text{Pet}} \ll 1$ , and by construction, I take all portal operators to be at least of order  $\epsilon_{\text{Pet}}$  or higher. At the electroweak scale, higher dimensional portal operators should be suppressed by a corresponding UV scale that I take to be  $\Lambda_{\text{pet}} \equiv v/\epsilon_{\text{Pet}}$ . Thus, the most general portal Lagrangian can only contain operators of dimension d = 5 or less.

Portal operators with dimension d > 5 may appear at low energies, after the heavy SM fields have been integrated out. Expanding to leading order in  $\epsilon_W \sim {}^{s}/M_W^2$ , the most general portal Lagrangian may now contain operators of dimension d = 7 or less. In addition to this dimensional suppression, higher dimensional portal operators may also be suppressed by loop factors  $\sim {}^{1}/(4\pi)^2$ . The loop factors can be integrated into the power counting using "naive dimensional analysis" (=NDA) [21, 22, 23, 24]. NDA assumes that the low-energy effective theory Lagrangian may be cast as

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}^{d \le 4} + \sum_{i} \frac{C_i}{\Lambda^{d_i}} \hat{O}_i , \qquad (2.2)$$

where  $\Lambda$  is the high-energy scale associated with the small momentum expansion in powers of  $\epsilon \sim \sqrt{s}/\Lambda$ , and the  $\hat{O}_i$  denote some effective operators of dimension  $d_i > 4$ . In the version of [22],  $\mathcal{L}^{d\leq 4}$  may contain some generic gauge interactions with coupling constants  $g_i$ , some generic Yukawa interactions with coupling constants  $y_i$ , some generic  $\phi^3$  interactions with coupling constants  $\kappa_i$ , and some generic  $\phi^4$  interactions with coupling constants  $\lambda_i$ . With this setup, the NDA powercounting of [22] stipulates that the Wilson coefficients  $C_i$  may be expected to be of order one, or smaller, if the  $\hat{O}_i$  are normalized as

$$\hat{O}_{i} \sim \frac{\Lambda^{4}}{(4\pi)^{2}} \left(\frac{g}{4\pi}\right)^{N_{g}} \left(\frac{y}{4\pi}\right)^{N_{y}} \left(\frac{\kappa}{4\pi\Lambda}\right)^{N_{\kappa}}$$

$$\times \left(\frac{\lambda}{(4\pi)^{2}}\right)^{N_{\lambda}} \left(\frac{p^{2}}{\Lambda^{2}}\right)^{N_{p}} \left(\frac{4\pi\phi}{\Lambda}\right)^{N_{\phi}} \left(\frac{(4\pi)^{2}\psi\psi}{\Lambda^{3}}\right)^{2N_{\psi}} ,$$
(2.3)

where  $\phi$  and  $\psi$  denote any of the respective bosonic and fermionic fields that are present within the effective theory, and the kinetic part of the Lagrangian is assumed to be canonically normalized.  $p^2$  stands for any light mass scale, i.e. it includes both derivatives  $\partial \sim p$  and light masses  $m \sim p$ .

The NDA power counting is self consistent in the sense that an arbitrary diagram with insertions of higher dimensional operators that are normalized according to (2.3) will also generate an operator with the appropriate normalization. That is, the Wilson coefficients mix as [22]

$$\delta C_i \sim \prod_j C_j \ , \tag{2.4}$$

which implies that the Wilson coefficients should satisfy  $C_i \leq 1$ , even if the underlying UV theory is strongly coupled [24]. However, if the underlying UV theory is weakly coupled, the Wilson coefficients may be much smaller than one,  $C_i \ll 1$ . In this case, the  $4\pi$  power counting of naive dimensional analysis may be broken by strongly hierarchical values of the Wilson coefficients, which could potentially satisfy  $4\pi C_i \ll C_j$  for certain  $i \neq j$ .

For the purpose of using NDA to count factors of  $4\pi$  within PET, the electromagnetic coupling  $e \sim \sqrt{4\pi\alpha}$  is the only SM coupling that has to be counted at low energies. Although the QCD coupling  $g_s$  formally has to be associated with a factor of  $1/4\pi$ , this does not generate any additional degrees of smallness due to the nonperturbative nature of QCD, giving  $g_s/4\pi \gtrsim 1$ . In contrast, the small portal coupling  $\epsilon$  has to be counted, since it has to be associated with a factor  $1/4\pi$  in order to maintain the selfconsistency of the NDA power counting.

#### 2.2.3 Elimination of Redundant Operators

A naive listing of all possible operators available at each order in the power counting often contains a number of redundant operators that can be eliminated from the theory without affecting the prediction of S-Matrix elements. I use a number of standard techniques to identify a minimal set of operators without redundancies:

- 1. Partial integration can be used to reshuffle derivatives within the Lagrangian, assuming that the fields are vanishing at infinity. Since covariant derivatives are defined such that they respect the product rule, partial integration can also be used to reshuffle covariant derivatives.
- 2. Algebraic relations identify sets of seemingly different operators with each other. Bianchi identities relate the covariant derivatives of a given field strength tensor  $X^{\mu\nu}$  to each other,

$$D^{\alpha}X^{\beta\gamma} + D^{\beta}X^{\gamma\alpha} + D^{\gamma}X^{\alpha\beta} = 0.$$
(2.5)

This relation implies two important corollaries,

$$\sigma_{\alpha\beta}(D^{\gamma}X^{\alpha\beta} + 2D^{\alpha}X^{\beta\gamma}) = 0 , \qquad D_{\alpha}\tilde{X}^{\alpha\beta} = 0 , \qquad (2.6)$$

where  $\tilde{X}^{\alpha\beta} \equiv \epsilon^{\alpha\beta\mu\nu}X_{\mu\nu}$ . Fierz completeness relations identify products of fermion bilinears with each other. In four component notation, the Fierz identities can be summarized as[25]

$$(\overline{\Psi}_{a}\Gamma^{A}\Psi_{b})(\overline{\Psi}_{c}\Gamma^{B}\Psi_{d})$$
(2.7a)  
=  $\frac{1}{4}$  tr  $[\Gamma^{A}\Gamma_{C}\Gamma^{B}\Gamma_{D}](\overline{\Psi}_{a}\Gamma^{D}\Psi_{d})(\overline{\Psi}_{c}\Gamma^{C}\Psi_{b})$ ,

where the sum over the latin indices is understood. The matrices  $\Gamma^A$  denote a set of contravariant basis vectors of the  $(\frac{1}{2}, 0) \times (0, \frac{1}{2})$  representation of the Lorentz group, and the  $\Gamma_A$  denote their respective covariant partners. One possible choice is [25]

$$\Gamma^{A} \in \{ \mathbf{P}_{L}, \mathbf{P}_{R}, \gamma^{\mu} \mathbf{P}_{L}, \gamma^{\mu} \mathbf{P}_{R}, \Sigma^{\mu\nu} \} , \qquad (2.7b)$$
$$\Gamma_{A} \in \{ \mathbf{P}_{L}, \mathbf{P}_{R}, \gamma_{\mu} \mathbf{P}_{R}, \gamma_{\mu} \mathbf{P}_{L}, \frac{1}{2} \Sigma_{\mu\nu} \} ,$$

where  $\mu > \nu$  in order to avoid double counting, and the explicit prefactor  $\frac{1}{2}$  is included to enforce the normalization condition tr  $[\Gamma^A \Gamma_B] = 2\delta_B^A$ . In the Weyl-basis, these matrices take the form

$$\gamma^{\mu} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma^{\mu} \\ \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} & 0 \end{pmatrix} , \quad \gamma_{5} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{1} & 0 \\ 0 & -\mathbb{1} \end{pmatrix} , \quad \mathcal{P}_{R/L} \equiv \frac{1}{2} \left( \mathbb{1} \pm \gamma_{5} \right) ,$$
(2.8a)

and

$$\Sigma^{\mu\nu} = \frac{i}{2} \left[ \gamma^{\mu}, \gamma^{\nu} \right] = \begin{pmatrix} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} & 0\\ 0 & \sigma^{\mu\nu} \end{pmatrix} , \qquad (2.8b)$$

where the complex, Hermitian  $2 \times 2$  matrices

$$\overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} \equiv \frac{i}{2} \left( \sigma^{\mu} \overline{\sigma}^{\nu} - \sigma^{\nu} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \right) , \qquad \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \equiv \left( \mathbb{1}, -\sigma^{i} \right) , \qquad (2.8c)$$

$$\sigma^{\mu\nu} \equiv \frac{i}{2} \left( \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \sigma^{\nu} - \overline{\sigma}^{\nu} \sigma^{\mu} \right) , \qquad \sigma^{\mu} \equiv (\mathbb{1}, \sigma^{i}) \qquad (2.8d)$$

are defined in terms of the standard Pauli matrices  $\sigma^i$ .

Throughout this work, I follow the two-component notation of [26], in which the Fierz completeness relations take a different form. For scalar-valued contractions of two fermion bilinears, one obtains the explicit identities

$$(\psi_a \psi_b)(\psi_c \psi_d) = \frac{1}{2} (\psi_a \psi_d)(\psi_c \psi_b)$$
(2.9a)  
$$+ \frac{1}{4} (\psi_a \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} \psi_d)(\psi_c \overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} \psi_b) ,$$
  
$$(\psi_a^{\dagger} \psi_b^{\dagger})(\psi_c^{\dagger} \psi_d^{\dagger}) = \frac{1}{2} (\psi_a^{\dagger} \psi_d^{\dagger})(\psi_c^{\dagger} \psi_b^{\dagger})$$
(2.9b)  
$$+ \frac{1}{4} (\psi_a^{\dagger} \sigma_{\mu\nu} \psi_d^{\dagger})(\psi_c^{\dagger} \sigma^{\mu\nu} \psi_b^{\dagger}) ,$$

and

$$(\psi_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \psi_b)(\psi_c \sigma^{\mu} \psi_d^{\dagger}) = 2(\psi_a^{\dagger} \psi_d^{\dagger})(\psi_c \psi_b) , \qquad (2.9c)$$

$$(\psi_c^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \psi_b)(\psi_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \psi_d) = -(\psi_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \psi_d)(\psi_c^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \psi_b) . \qquad (2.9d)$$

$$(\psi_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}\psi_b)(\psi_c^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\psi_d) = -(\psi_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}\psi_d)(\psi_c^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\psi_b) , \qquad (2.9d)$$

$$(\psi_a \sigma_\mu \psi_b^{\dagger})(\psi_c \sigma^\mu \psi_d^{\dagger}) = -(\psi_a \sigma_\mu \psi_d^{\dagger})(\psi_c \sigma^\mu \psi_b^{\dagger}) . \qquad (2.9e)$$

Using the master formula (2.7a), one can also show that the only remaining scalar-valued contraction

$$(\psi_a \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} \psi_d) (\psi_c^{\dagger} \sigma^{\mu\nu} \psi_b^{\dagger}) = 0$$
(2.10)

is vanishing. For vector-valued contractions of two fermion bilinears, one obtains

$$(\psi_a \psi_b)(\psi_c^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \psi_d) = \frac{1}{2} (\psi_a \psi_d)(\psi_c^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \psi_b) \qquad (2.11a)$$
$$-i \frac{3}{8} (\psi_a \overline{\sigma}^{\mu\alpha} \psi_d)(\psi_c^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\alpha} \psi_b) ,$$
$$(\psi_a^{\dagger} \psi_b^{\dagger})(\psi_c^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \psi_d) = \frac{1}{2} (\psi_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \psi_d)(\psi_c^{\dagger} \psi_b^{\dagger}) \qquad (2.11b)$$
$$-i \frac{3}{8} (\psi_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\alpha} \psi_d)(\psi_c^{\dagger} \sigma^{\mu\alpha} \psi_b^{\dagger}) .$$

3. Local field redefinitions of the form  $\phi \to \varphi \equiv F[\phi]$  leave on-shell S-matrix elements unchanged, provided that the fields  $\phi$  and  $\varphi$ have the same quantum number and create the same single particle states. More precisely, on-shell S-matrix elements computed using the generating functional

$$Z[J] = \int \mathcal{D}\phi \, e^{iS[F[\phi]] - i(J,\phi)} \tag{2.12}$$

are the same as those computed using the generating functional

$$Z[J] = \int \mathcal{D}\varphi \, e^{iS[\varphi] - i(J,\varphi)} \,, \qquad (2.13)$$

provided that both  $\phi$  and  $\varphi$  create and annihilate the same single particle states. This statement is known as either the "S matrix equivalent theorem" or the "representation independence theorem", and several proofs can be found in [27, 28, 24]. In particular, the equivalence theorem applies to field redefinitions that can be written as

$$F[\phi] = \phi + \epsilon^n f[\phi(x)] , \qquad (2.14)$$

where  $\epsilon$  is a small parameter and f is a finite polynomial that depends only on the field operator and its derivatives evaluated at x.

Within the context of effective field theories, field redefinition are often used to eliminate terms that are proportional to the equations of motion for the effective degrees of freedom, see e.g. [4, 9, 24]. Consider a general effective theory with an action S that can be expanded in some small parameter  $\epsilon$ ,

$$\mathcal{S} = \mathcal{S}_0[\phi] + \epsilon \mathcal{S}_1[\phi] + \epsilon^2 \mathcal{S}_2[\phi] + \epsilon^3 \mathcal{S}_3[\phi] + \dots , \qquad (2.15)$$

where  $\phi$  is a shorthand for any type of quantum field contained within the theory. Assume that S contains a term of the shape

$$\epsilon^n \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \, f[\phi(x)] \frac{\delta \mathcal{S}_0}{\delta \phi} , \qquad (2.16)$$

where n > 0 and f according to Eq. (2.14). At the level of the classical action, this term can be eliminated to order  $O(\epsilon^n)$  by using the field redefinition

$$\phi \to \phi - \epsilon^n f[\phi] . \tag{2.17}$$

The S-matrix equivalence theorem now ensures that one does not have to worry about new terms being generated by either the path integral measure or the source terms involving the external currents. In practice, this means that operators of the shape (2.16) can always be eliminated in favour of operators that are of higher order in  $\epsilon$ , which is especially useful when operators of order  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{n+1})$  or higher are negligible. Since the condition

$$\frac{\delta \mathcal{S}_0}{\delta \phi} \stackrel{!}{=} 0 \tag{2.18}$$

corresponds to imposing the zeroth order classical equations of motion, this procedure is usually thought of as "using" the equations of motion to simplify the effective Lagrangian.

Within the PET framework, the zeroth order equations of motion are just the SM equations of motion, which can be used to simplify the PET Lagrangian. A rigorous proof for the representation independence theorem that focuses specifically on the standard model equations of motion is given in [28]. In principle, the number of independent portal operators can be further reduced by using the equations of motion of the hidden fields, but this requires knowledge about the shape of the hidden field equations of motion.

#### 2.2.4 Should one Diagonalize Quadratic Portal Interactions?

In general, the portal Lagrangian will contain quadratic interactions that mix the SM and hidden sector fields. Assuming the quadratic part of the hidden Lagrangian has been internally diagonalized, it is possible to rotate away the quadratic portal interactions. However, the trade-off is that this field redefinition may result in qualitatively new types of portal interactions. For instance, consider a case in which the SM couples to the hidden sector only via a single scalar field that mixes with the SM Brout-Higgs-Englert boson ("Higgs boson"). Remaining fully agnostic about the internal structure of the hidden sector, the scalar mediator may couple to additional hidden fermions via a hidden Yukawa interaction. In this case, the rotation used to eliminate a potential mixing between the hidden scalar and the Higgs boson will result in new portal couplings between the Higgs boson and the hidden fermions.

This is problematic because the PET framework is build on the assumption that the SM couples only to a single hidden degree of freedom. It is not possible to use the PETs after the diagonalization, if this diagonalization results in the SM actually coupling to multiple light hidden mediators. On the other hand, it is extremely restrictive to assume that the SM couples only to a single hidden degree of freedom *after* diagonalizing the Lagrangian, since it is equivalent to making a number of additional assumptions about the internal structure of the hidden sector. For instance, the aforementioned model with a single scalar mediator mixing with the Higgs boson can only be captured within a PET if there are no hidden Yukawa interactions that involve the scalar mediator. Thus, in order to remain as general as possible, the best course of action is not to diagonalize the quadratic portal interactions.

Of course, not diagonalizing the portal Lagrangian also comes with its own set of problems. For example, consider a type-I seesaw model in which the standard mode is augmented by a single heavy neutral lepton. After electroweak symmetry breaking, the mixing between the heavy neutral lepton and the SM neutrinos generates a mass for one of the SM neutrinos, which in turn induces oscillations between the different standard model neutrino flavours. These oscillations typically occur on macroscopic length scales, for instance with a wave length of a several kilometers for neutrinos produced in nuclear reactors [29].

In order to capture these oscillations, one has to resum the mass insertions within the light neutrino propagators. However, this resummation is nontrivial if the hidden sector mixing is not diagonalized, so an accurate description of neutrino oscillations becomes more challenging. On the other hand, a perturbative treatment of the neutrino masses is perfectly adequate for the description of individual microscopic scattering processes, in which the impact of neutrino oscillations is negligible.

#### 2.3 General Electroweak Scale PETs

In this section, I discuss general electroweak scale portal Lagrangians for mediators of spin 0, 1/2, and 1. General electroweak scale PETs are of interest for model independent hidden particle searches at colliders, and as a starting point for the subsequent construction of more specific PETs at the electroweak scale and at low energies. At leading order in  $\epsilon$ , the portal Lagrangians discussed in this section exhibit a number of accidental symmetries that can be used to constrain the general shape of the effective Lagrangians.

#### 2.3.1 Constructing a Minimal Basis of Portal Operators

I begin by constructing a minimal basis of portal operators for each mediator spin. My general strategy is to proceed in two steps: First, I classify the various possible types of candidate portal operator by their field content, and secondly, I use the general techniques discussed in section 2.2.3 to eliminate the redundant operators. Before discussing the individual portal operators for each mediator type, it is convenient to make a few general statements that apply to mediators of all three spin categories.

#### **General Considerations**

At leading order in  $\epsilon_{\text{Pet}}$ , portal operators can be of dimension d = 5 or less. In terms of field content, each portal operator can only contain either zero or two fermion fields. For operators with fermions, I follow the two-component notation of [26].

Portal operators with zero fermions can only appear for integer spin mediators. In addition to the hidden fields, they can contain either only Higgs field operators or only SM field strength tensors. By gauge invariance, an operator with both Higgs field operators and SM field strength tensors would need to involve at least two Higgs bosons, one field strength tensor, and two more derivatives or vector field operators in order to contract the Lorentz indices, which gives a dimension of at least d = 6.

Portal operators with two fermions can appear for both integer spin and half-integer spin mediators. They contain either a scalar type fermion bilinear of the shape  $\psi\psi$ , a vector type fermion bilinear of the shape  $\psi^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\psi$ , or a tensor type fermion bilinear of the shape  $\psi\overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}\psi$ . Portal operators with a tensor-type fermion bilinear cannot contain any SM fermions, since the corresponding operators would have to involve at least one Higgs boson in order to be gauge invariant, and two more derivatives or vector field operators in order to contract the Lorentz indices, which gives a dimension of at least d = 6. Similarly, any portal operator with a scalar-type fermion bilinear that contains at least one SM fermion also has to contain at least one Higgs field operator in order to be gauge invariant. Such an operator cannot involve any derivatives or SM field strength tensors, as this would increase the dimension of the operator to at least d = 7. Finally, operators with a vector-type fermion bilinear have to involve either a derivative or vector field in order to be Lorentz invariant. If they involve two SM fermions, they cannot involve any further SM Higgs bosons or field strength tensors, as this would increase the dimension to at least d = 6. On the other hand, if they involve exactly one SM fermion, they also have to involve exactly one Higgs boson in order to be gauge invariant. This way, it is possible to sort the electroweak scale portal operators into four types, based on their field content:

- 1. Higgs portal operators containing only hidden fields and the SM Higgs boson,
- 2. Gauge portal operators containing only hidden fields and SM field strength tensors,
- 3. Yukawa portal operators containing a fermion bilinear and a Higgs field operator but no other SM bosons,
- 4. Fermion current portal operators involving a fermion bilinear and no SM bosons.

After using the above classification, I obtain a naive list of all possible portal operators to which I apply the techniques of section 2.2.3 in order to identify a minimal basis of operators. In particular, I use the SM equations of motion

$$i \not\!\!D l = \Gamma_e \bar{e}^{\dagger} \phi , \qquad \qquad i \not\!\!D \bar{e}^{\dagger} = \Gamma_e^{\dagger} \phi^{\dagger} l \qquad (2.19a)$$

 $i \not\!\!D q = \Gamma_u \overline{u}^{\dagger} \widetilde{\phi} + \Gamma_d \overline{d}^{\dagger} \phi , \quad i \not\!\!D \overline{u}^{\dagger} = \Gamma_u^{\dagger} \widetilde{\phi}^{\dagger} q , \quad i \not\!\!D \overline{d}^{\dagger} = \Gamma_d^{\dagger} \phi^{\dagger} q , \quad (2.19b)$ 

and

and

$$(D^2\phi)^I = \mu_\phi^2 \phi^I - \lambda \left|\phi\right|^2 \phi^I - \overline{e}\Gamma_e^{\dagger} l^I - \overline{d}\Gamma_d^{\dagger} q^I - q_J^{\dagger}\Gamma_u \overline{u}^{\dagger} \epsilon^{IJ} , \quad (2.20a)$$

$$(D_{\mu}G^{\mu\nu})^{x} = q_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\nu}T^{x}q_{a} + \overline{u}_{a}\sigma^{\nu}T^{x}\overline{u}_{a}^{\dagger} + d_{a}\sigma^{\nu}T^{x}d_{a}^{\dagger} , \qquad (2.20b)$$

$$(D_{\mu}W^{\mu\nu})^{I} = \phi^{\dagger} \,\mathrm{i}\, D^{\nu I}\phi + l_{b}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\nu}T^{I}l_{b} + q_{b}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\nu}T^{I}q_{b} , \qquad (2.20c)$$

$$\partial_{\mu}B^{\mu\nu} = Y_{\phi}(i\phi^{\dagger}\overrightarrow{D}_{\mu}\phi) + \sum_{\psi \in SM} Y_{\psi}\overline{\psi}\gamma_{\mu}\psi , \qquad (2.20d)$$

where the  $\Gamma_f$  denote the SM Yukawa matrices coupling the SM fermions to the Higgs boson.  $m_H^2 \equiv \lambda v^2$  is the Higgs boson mass, and  $\lambda$  is the Higgs selfcoupling. Using the above equations of motion, I eliminate all operators involving the building blocks  $D \!\!\!/ \psi$ ,  $D \!\!\!/ \psi^{\dagger}$ ,  $D^2 \phi$ , and  $D_{\mu} X^{\mu\nu}$ , where  $X^{\mu\nu}$  denotes any SM field strength tensor.

#### Spin 0 Mediators

I start by considering the available portal operators for spin 0 mediators. Spin 0 mediators can be either real scalar fields, real pseudoscalar fields, or complex scalar fields. Since I do not enforce parity conservation, a real pseudoscalar mediator will couple to the SM in the same way as a real scalar mediator, and a complex scalar will couple to the SM in the same way as a combination of two real scalar mediators. As a result, it is possible to restrict the discussion to portal Lagrangians with two real hidden scalar fields  $S_i$  with i = 1, 2 without loss of generality.

1) Higgs Type Operators: Higgs type portal operators contain either two or four Higgs field operators. Operators with four Higgs bosons cannot involve any derivatives, while operators with two Higgs bosons can involve either zero or two derivatives. For the operators without derivatives, a complete basis can be constructed from the 4 operators

$$S_i \phi^{\dagger} \phi , \qquad S_i S_j \phi^{\dagger} \phi , \qquad S_i S_j S_k \phi^{\dagger} \phi , \qquad (2.21)$$
$$S_i (\phi^{\dagger} \phi)^2 .$$

Up to dimension d = 5, the operators with two Higgs bosons and two derivatives can only involve a single hidden field operator, and it is possible to reshuffle the derivatives such that they do not act on the hidden field. In addition, I eliminate operators in which both derivatives act on the same Higgs boson by using the SM equations of motion. The only remaining operator with two derivatives is

$$S_i D_\mu \phi^\dagger D^\mu \phi \ . \tag{2.22}$$

2) Gauge Type Operators: Gauge type portal operators have to contain two field strength tensors. Operators with one field strength tensor would need to involve at least two derivatives in order to be Lorentz invariant. Up to d = 5, these derivatives could be reshuffled such that both of them act on the field strength tensor, which implies that the corresponding operators vanish due to the antisymmetry of the field strength tensor. Operators with two field strength tensors cannot contain any additional derivatives, but the Lorentz indices can be contracted using either the metric tensor  $g^{\mu\nu}$  or the Levi-Civita symbol  $\epsilon^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}$ . Hence, the only available gauge-type operators are the 6 operators of the type

$$S_i X_{\mu\nu} X^{\mu\nu}$$
,  $S_i X_{\mu\nu} X^{\mu\nu}$ , (2.23)

where  $X_{\mu\nu} \in \{G_{\mu\nu}, W_{\mu\nu}, B_{\mu\nu}\}$ , and the trace over gauge indices is implied.

**3) YukawaType Operators:** Yukawa type portal operators have to involve two SM fermions, a Higgs field operator, and a hidden field operator, so that they cannot contain any derivatives. The only gauge invariant combinations are the 3 operators

$$S_i \overline{e}_a l_b \phi^{\dagger}$$
,  $S_i \overline{d}_a q_b \phi^{\dagger}$ ,  $S_i \overline{u}_a q_b \widetilde{\phi}^{\dagger}$ . (2.24)

4) Fermion Current Type Operators: There are no fermion current type portal operators. These operators would have to involve a vector type fermion bilinear  $\psi^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \psi$  and at leas one derivative in order to contract the Lorentz index. However, up to dimension d = 5, the derivative can be reshuffled such that it acts on either of the two fermion fields, so that the fermion type portal operators can be eliminated using the SM equations of motion.

#### Spin 1/2 Mediators

Spin 1/2 mediators can be either Dirac, Majorana, or Weyl fermions. A Majorana fermion can be rewritten in terms of a single left-handed Weyl fermion, while a Dirac fermion can be decomposed into two lefthanded Weyl fermions. Therefore, it is possible to restrict the discussion to portal Lagrangians with hidden left-handed Weyl fermions  $\xi_i$  with i = 1, 2 without loss of generality.

1) Higgs Type Operators: Higgs type portal operators have to contain two hidden fermion fields and two Higgs field operators, and they cannot contain any derivatives. The only available operator is

$$\xi_i \xi_j \phi^{\dagger} \phi + \text{h.c.} \qquad (2.25)$$

2) Gauge Type Portal Operators: Gauge type portal operators have to contain two hidden fermion fields and a single SM field strength tensor. The only available operator is

$$\xi_i \overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} \xi_j B_{\mu\nu} + \text{h.c.} \qquad (2.26)$$

**3) Yukawa Type Operators:** Yukawa type portal operators have to contain one hidden fermion, one SM fermion, and a Higgs field operator. They can contain either no derivatives or one derivative. By using partial integration and the SM equations of motion, the derivative can be reshuffled such that it acts on the Higgs field operator. Thus, the only available operators are

$$\xi_i l_a \widetilde{\phi}^{\dagger} , \qquad \qquad \xi_i^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} l_a D_{\mu} \widetilde{\phi}^{\dagger} . \qquad (2.27)$$

4) Fermion Current Type Operators: As in the case of scalar mediators, there are no fermion current type portal operators. These operators would have involve one hidden fermion and a single SM fermion field. However, none of the SM fermions is gauge invariant by itself.<sup>1</sup>

 $<sup>^1\</sup>mathrm{Recall}$  that the SM neutrinos only appear as part of the left-handed  $\mathrm{SU}(2)_I$  doublets.

#### Spin 1 Mediators

Finally, I consider the available portal operators for spin 1 mediators. Spin 1 mediators can be either vector or pseudovector fields. Since I do not enforce parity conservation, a pseudovector field will couple to the SM in the same way as vector field. As before, this implies that the discussion can be restricted to portal Lagrangians with a single vector fermion at no loss of generality. There are no gauge type portal operators and no Yukawa type portal operators.

1) Higgs Type Operators: Higgs type portal operators have to contain two Higgs fields, since operators with four Higgs bosons would be at least of dimension d = 6. To be Lorentz invariant, the operators have to contain either two hidden field operators or one hidden field operator and one derivative. A complete basis can be constructed from the 3 operators

$$V_{\mu}V^{\mu}\phi^{\dagger}\phi , \qquad \partial_{\mu}V^{\mu}\phi^{\dagger}\phi , \qquad V^{\mu}\,\mathrm{i}\,\phi^{\dagger}\overset{\leftrightarrow}{D}_{\mu}\phi . \qquad (2.28)$$

2) Gauge Type Operators: There are no gauge type portal operators. Such operators would have to contain only one field strength tensor, since operators with two field strength tensors would be at least of dimension d = 6. In order to be Lorentz invariant, they would have to contain either two hidden field operators or one hidden field operator and one derivative. In the first case, the operators vanish due to the antisymmetry of the field strength tensor, and in the second case it is possible to eliminate the operator using either the SM equations of motion or the Bianchi identity  $D_{\mu}\tilde{B}^{\mu\nu} = 0$ .

3) Yukawa Type Operators: There are no Yukawa type portal operators. Such operators would have to contain a scalar type SM fermion bilinear, a Higgs boson, and either two hidden vector field operators or one hidden vector field operator and one derivative. In either case, the operator would be at least of dimension d = 6.

4) Fermion Current Type Operators: fermion current type portal operators have to contain a vector type fermion bilinear and a single

vector field operator, since portal operators with three vector fields would be at last of dimension d = 6. A complete basis can be constructed from the 5 operators of the type

$$V_{\mu}\psi^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\psi , \qquad (2.29)$$

where the possible gauge singlets can be

$$(\psi^{\dagger}\psi) \in \{(l_a^{\dagger}l_b), (\overline{e}_a^{\dagger}\overline{e}_b), (q_a^{\dagger}q_b), (\overline{u}_a^{\dagger}\overline{u}_b), (\overline{d}_a^{\dagger}\overline{d}_b)\} .$$
(2.30)

#### 2.3.2 The Full Portal Lagrangian

Having constructed a minimal basis of portal operators for each mediator, it is possible to make a number of general statements about the corresponding most general portal Lagrangians.

The final set of portal operators for each mediator type is summarized in table 2.1. Spin 0 mediators couple to the SM via a total of 14 operators, spin 1/2 mediators couple to the SM via a total of 4 operators, and spin 1 mediators couples to the SM via a total of 8 operators. Notice that the electroweak portal Lagrangians for each mediator exhibit a number of accidental symmetries that can be used to constrain the shape of the GeV scale portal Lagrangians at leading order in  $\epsilon_{\text{Pet}}$ . All three portal Lagrangians conserve baryon number, and the ones for integer spin mediators also conserve lepton number. The vector portal Lagrangian respects chiral symmetry for all SM fermions, and the spin 1/2 portal Lagrangian respects chiral symmetry for the SM quark fields.

Aside from exact accidental symmetries, the general electroweak scale PETs restrict low energy PETs in a number of ways. Although the electroweak scale spin 1/2 PET is lepton number violating, low energy portal Lagrangians cannot contain interactions with  $|\Delta L| > 1$ , since the electroweak scale PET only contains interactions with  $|\Delta L| = 0, 1$ . Furthermore, the electroweak scale spin 1/2 PET does not contain any righthanded charged lepton fields. Finally, the electroweak scale spin 1 PET does not contain operators of dimension d = 5, which implies that the corresponding low energy PETs cannot contain portal operators of dimension d = 7. It is also worth noting that the operator  $\xi_i \sigma^{\mu\nu} \xi_j B_{\mu\nu}$ vanishes if the hidden mediator can be written as a single Weyl spinor, so that it only contributes if the spin 1/2 mediator is a Dirac fermion.

	d	Higgs	Yukawa	Fermion	Gauge
			+h.c.		+h.c.
	3	$S_i\phi^\dagger\phi$			
	4	$S_i S_j  \phi^\dagger \phi$			
$S_{1,2}$	5	$\begin{array}{c}S_iS_jS_k\phi^{\dagger}\phi\\S_iD^{\mu}\phi^{\dagger}D_{\mu}\phi\\S_i(\phi^{\dagger}\phi)^2\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} S_i  \overline{u}_a q_b  \widetilde{\phi}^\dagger \\ S_i  \overline{d}_a q_b  \phi^\dagger \\ S_i  \overline{e}_a \ell_b  \phi^\dagger \end{array}$		$\begin{array}{l} S_{i}G_{\mu\nu}^{a}G_{a}^{\mu\nu}\\ S_{i}W_{\mu\nu}^{a}W_{a}^{\mu\nu}\\ S_{i}B_{\mu\nu}B^{\mu\nu}\\ S_{i}\widetilde{G}_{\mu\nu}^{a}G_{a}^{\mu\nu}\\ S_{i}\widetilde{W}_{\mu\nu}^{a}W_{a}^{\mu\nu}\\ S_{i}\widetilde{B}_{\mu\nu}B^{\mu\nu} \end{array}$
	4		$\xi_i\ell_a\widetilde{\phi}^\dagger$		
$\xi_{1,2}$	5	$\xi_i \xi_j  \phi^\dagger \phi$	$\xi_i^\dagger \overline{\sigma}^\mu  \ell_a D_\mu \widetilde{\phi}^\dagger$		$\xi_i \overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} \xi_j B_{\mu\nu}$
$V_{\mu}$	4	$ \begin{array}{c} V_{\mu}V^{\mu} \phi^{\dagger}\phi \\ (\partial_{\mu}V^{\mu}) \phi^{\dagger}\phi \\ V^{\mu} (\phi^{\dagger}\overleftrightarrow{D}_{\mu}\phi) \end{array} $		$ \begin{array}{c} V^{\mu} q_{a}^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_{b} \\ V^{\mu} \ell_{a}^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \ell_{b} \\ V^{\mu} \overline{u}_{a}^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \overline{u}_{b} \\ V^{\mu} \overline{u}_{a}^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \overline{d}_{b} \\ V^{\mu} \overline{d}_{a}^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \overline{d}_{b} \end{array} $	

Table 2.1: Electroweak scale Portal operators for mediators with Spin  $S \leq 1.$ 

Finally, the results in this section are readily generalized to models with multiple mediators of equal spin. For spin 0 and spin 1/2 mediators, it is sufficient to let the index *i* run over all potential mediator fields. For spin 1 mediators, it is likewise sufficient to introduce an analogous index that also runs over all potential mediator fields.

It is convenient to combine the portal operators for the individual electroweak scale PETs inside a single, general PET Lagrangian,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{portal}} \equiv \delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{Quark}} + \delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{Lepton}} + \delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{Higgs}} + \delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{Gauge}} + \delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{Yukawa}} , \quad (2.31)$$

where

$$\delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{Quark}} = q_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_b \ l_{q,ab}^{\mu} + \overline{u}_a^{\dagger} \sigma_{\mu} \overline{u}_b \ r_{\overline{u},ab}^{\mu} + d_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \overline{d}_b \ r_{\overline{d},ab}^{\mu} \ , \qquad (2.32a)$$

$$\delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{Lepton}} = l_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} l_b \ l_{l,ab}^{\mu} + \overline{e}_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \overline{e}_b \ r_{\overline{e},ab}^{\mu} \ , \qquad (2.32b)$$

$$\delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{Higgs}} = D_{\mu} \phi^{\dagger} D^{\mu} \phi h + i(\phi^{\dagger} \overleftrightarrow{D}_{\mu} \phi) v^{\mu} + \phi^{\dagger} \phi \ \widetilde{\mu} + \frac{1}{2} (\phi^{\dagger} \phi)^{2} \widetilde{\lambda} , \quad (2.32c)$$

$$\delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{Gauge}} = G_{\mu\nu} G^{\mu\nu} a_G + W_{\mu\nu} W^{\mu\nu} a_W + B_{\mu\nu} B^{\mu\nu} a_B \qquad (2.32d)$$
$$+ \widetilde{G}_{\mu\nu} G^{\mu\nu} \widetilde{a}_G + \widetilde{W}_{\mu\nu} W^{\mu\nu} \widetilde{a}_W + \widetilde{B}_{\mu\nu} B^{\mu\nu} \widetilde{a}_B + B^{\mu\nu} t_{\mu\nu} ,$$

$$\delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{Yukawa}} = \overline{e}_a l_b \phi^{\dagger} s_{\overline{e},ab} + \overline{d}_a q_b \phi^{\dagger} s_{\overline{d},ab}$$

$$+ \overline{u}_a q_b \widetilde{\phi}^{\dagger} s_{\overline{u},ab} + \Xi_a l_a \widetilde{\phi}^{\dagger} + \Xi_{a\mu} l_a \operatorname{i} D^{\mu} \widetilde{\phi}^{\dagger} + \text{h.c.}$$

$$(2.32e)$$

In terms of the hidden mediator fields, the BSM currents are

$$a_{X} = \frac{\epsilon_{\text{Pet}}}{M_{W}} C_{a_{X}i} S_{i} , \qquad \tilde{a}_{X} = \frac{\epsilon_{\text{Pet}}}{M_{W}} \tilde{C}_{a_{X}} S_{i} , \qquad (2.33a)$$

$$s_{x} = \frac{\epsilon_{\text{Pet}}}{M_{W}} C_{s_{x}i} S_{i} , \qquad \tilde{\lambda} = \frac{\epsilon_{\text{Pet}}}{M_{W}} C_{\lambda i} S_{i} , \qquad h = \frac{\epsilon_{\text{Pet}}}{M_{W}} C_{h i} S_{i}$$

$$l_{x}^{\mu} = \epsilon_{\text{Pet}} C_{l_{x}} V^{\mu} , \qquad r_{x}^{\mu} = \epsilon_{\text{Pet}} C_{r_{x}} V^{\mu} , \qquad v^{\mu} = \epsilon_{\text{Pet}} C_{v} V^{\mu} ,$$

$$\Xi_a = \epsilon_{\text{Pet}} C_{\Xi_a \xi i} \xi_i , \qquad \Xi_{a\mu} = \frac{\epsilon_{\text{Pet}}}{M_W} C_{\Xi_a \partial \xi i} \xi_i^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} , \qquad (2.33b)$$

and

$$\widetilde{\mu} = \frac{v^2 \epsilon_{\text{Pet}}}{M_W} C_{\mu i} S_i + \epsilon_{\text{Pet}} C_{\mu i j} S_i S_j + \frac{\epsilon_{\text{Pet}}}{M_W} C_{\mu i j k} S_i S_j S_k \qquad (2.33c)$$
$$+ \frac{\epsilon_{\text{Pet}}}{M_W} C_{\mu \partial^2 i} \cdot \partial^2 S_i + \frac{\epsilon_{\text{Pet}}}{M_W} (C_{\mu \xi \xi i j} \xi_i \xi_j + \text{h.c.})$$
$$+ \epsilon_{\text{Pet}} C_{\mu, vv} \cdot V^{\mu} V_{\mu} + \epsilon_{\text{Pet}} C_{\mu, \partial v} \cdot \partial^{\mu} V_{\mu} ,$$
$$t_{\mu\nu} = \frac{\epsilon_{\text{Pet}}}{M_W} C_{t i j} \xi_i \sigma^{\mu\nu} \xi_j + \text{h.c.} .$$

The  $l_x^{\mu}$ ,  $r_x^{\mu}$ ,  $s_x$  currents, and by extension their Wilson coefficients, are Hermitian 3x3 matrices in flavour space. Similarly,  $\Xi$  and  $\Xi_{\mu}$  as well as their coefficients are vectors in flavour space. The remaining currents and Wilson coefficients are flavour singlets, and the operator normalization has been chosen such that the Wilson coefficients are dimensionless. As before, traces over gauge indices are implied. Each portal operator is explicitly suppressed by a factor of  $\epsilon_{\text{Pet}}$ . The higher dimensional operators are associated with a factor of  $1/\Lambda = \epsilon/M_W$ , so that all degrees of smallness associated with physics beyond the SM are collected within the explicit  $\epsilon_{\text{Pet}}$  prefactor.

#### 2.3.3 Modifications after Electroweak Symmetry Breaking

To study the modifications after electroweak symmetry breaking, I fix the standard model gauge. At tree level, it is most convenient to work in unitary gauge, but this is not possible when loop corrections are taken into account, since the SM in unitary gauge cannot be renormalized using standard techniques. In the interest of generality, and in order to facilitate loop computations that may be performed on the basis of the portal Lagrangians, I work in the  $R_{\xi}$  gauge. The Higgs field  $\phi$  is taken to be of the shape

$$\phi = \begin{pmatrix} \phi^+ \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(v + H - i\phi_0) \end{pmatrix} , \quad \tilde{\phi} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(v + H + i\phi_0) \\ \phi^- \end{pmatrix} , \quad (2.34)$$

where  $\phi^- \equiv (\phi^+)^{\dagger}$ . As before,  $\tilde{\phi} = -i \sigma^2 \phi^{\dagger}$  is the U(1)<sub>Y</sub> charge conjugated Higgs boson. The expressions involving the Higgs field have to be replaced as follows:

$$\begin{split} \phi^{\dagger}\phi &\xrightarrow{\text{EWSB}} \frac{1}{2} \left( v+H \right)^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\phi_{0}^{2} + \phi^{+}\phi^{-} , \qquad (2.35a) \\ l_{a}\phi^{\dagger} &\xrightarrow{\text{EWSB}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left( v+H+\mathrm{i}\,\phi_{0} \right) e_{a} + \phi^{-}\nu_{a} , \\ q_{a}\phi^{\dagger} &\xrightarrow{\text{EWSB}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left( v+H+\mathrm{i}\,\phi_{0} \right) d_{a} + \phi^{-}u_{a} , \\ l_{a}\tilde{\phi}^{\dagger} &\xrightarrow{\text{EWSB}} \frac{-1}{\sqrt{2}} \left( v+H-\mathrm{i}\,\phi_{0} \right) \nu_{a} + \phi^{+}e_{a} , \\ q_{a}\tilde{\phi}^{\dagger} &\xrightarrow{\text{EWSB}} \frac{-1}{\sqrt{2}} \left( v+H-\mathrm{i}\,\phi_{0} \right) u_{a} + \phi^{+}d_{a} , \end{split}$$

and

$$i \phi^{\dagger} \overleftrightarrow{D}_{\mu} \phi \xrightarrow{\text{EWSB}} \frac{1}{2} (v+H)^{2} Z_{\mu} + \frac{1}{2} \phi_{0}^{2} Z_{\mu}$$
(2.36a)  

$$- [(v+H-i\phi_{0})W_{\mu}^{+}\phi^{-} + \text{h.c.}]$$

$$+ \phi^{-} [i \overleftrightarrow{\partial}_{\mu} - 2A_{\mu} - (1-2s_{W}^{2})Z_{\mu}]\phi^{+} ,$$

$$i l_{a} D_{\mu} \widetilde{\phi}^{\dagger} \xrightarrow{\text{EWSB}} - i \nu_{a} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \partial_{\mu} (H-i\phi_{0}) + i e_{a} \partial_{\mu} \phi^{+}$$
(2.36b)  

$$+ \frac{1}{2} Z_{\mu} [\nu_{a} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (v+H-i\phi_{0}) - (1-2s_{W}^{2})e_{a} \phi^{+}]$$

$$+ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} [W_{\mu}^{-} \nu_{a} \phi^{+} - W^{+} e_{a} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (v+H-i\phi_{0})] ,$$

$$D_{\mu}\phi^{\dagger}D^{\mu}\phi \xrightarrow{\text{EWSB}} \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\mu}H\partial^{\mu}H + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\mu}\phi_{0}\partial^{\mu}\phi_{0} + \partial_{\mu}\phi^{+}\partial^{\mu}\phi^{-} \qquad (2.36c)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{4}[(v+H)^{2} + \phi_{0}^{2}](W_{\mu}^{+}W^{-\mu} + \frac{1}{2}Z^{\mu}Z_{\mu})$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2}[W_{\mu}^{+}W^{-\mu} + (A_{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}(1-2s_{W}^{2})Z_{\mu})^{2}]\phi^{+}\phi^{-}$$

$$- \frac{1}{2}i\phi^{-}[\overleftarrow{\partial}_{\mu}(2A^{\mu} + (1-2s_{W}^{2})Z^{\mu})$$

$$- (2A^{\mu} + (1-2s_{W}^{2})Z^{\mu})\overrightarrow{\partial}_{\mu}]\phi^{+}.$$

For the portal Lagrangian, this prescription yields the modifications

$$\delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{Higgs}} \xrightarrow{\text{EWSB}} \left[ \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} H \partial^{\mu} H + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi_{0} \partial^{\mu} \phi_{0} + \partial_{\mu} \phi^{+} \partial^{\mu} \phi^{-} \right] h \qquad (2.37a)$$

$$- \phi^{-} \left[ v^{\mu} (v + H - \mathrm{i} \phi_{0}) W^{+}_{\mu} - v^{\mu} \mathrm{i} \partial_{\mu} \phi^{+} \right] \left( A^{\mu} + \frac{1}{2} (1 - 2s^{2}_{W}) Z^{\mu} h \mathrm{i} \partial_{\mu} \phi^{+} + \mathrm{h.c.} \right]$$

$$+ \frac{1}{4} \left[ (v + H)^{2} + \phi^{2}_{0} + 2\phi^{+} \phi^{-} \right] \left( W^{+}_{\mu} W^{-\mu} h + 2\widetilde{\mu} \right)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{4} \left[ (v + H)^{2} + \phi^{2}_{0} \right] \left( \frac{1}{2} Z^{\mu} Z_{\mu} h + 2Z_{\mu} v^{\mu} \right)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \phi^{+} \phi^{-} \left( \frac{1}{4} (1 - 2s^{2}_{W})^{2} Z_{\mu} Z^{\mu} h - 2(1 - 2s^{2}_{W}) Z_{\mu} v^{\mu} \right)$$

$$\begin{split} \delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{Yukawa}} &\xrightarrow{\text{EWSB}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (v + H + \mathrm{i}\,\phi_0) (\overline{e}_i e_j \, s_{\overline{e}e,ij} + \overline{d}_i d_j \, s_{\overline{d}d,ij} - \overline{u}_i u_j \, s_{\overline{u}u,ij}) \\ &\quad - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (v + H - \mathrm{i}\,\phi_0) \Big[ \Xi_i \nu_i - \Xi_i^{\mu} \Big( \frac{1}{2} Z_{\mu} \nu_i - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} W_{\mu}^+ e_i \Big) \Big] \\ &\quad + \phi^- (\overline{e}_i \nu_j \, s_{\overline{e}\nu,ij} + \overline{d}_i u_j \, s_{\overline{d}u,ij}) + \phi^+ \overline{u}_i d_j \, s_{\overline{u}d,ij} \\ &\quad + \phi^+ \Big[ \Xi_i e_i - \Xi_i^{\mu} \Big( \frac{1}{2} Z_{\mu} (1 - 2s_W^2) e_i - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} W_{\mu}^- \nu_i \Big) \Big] \\ &\quad + \Xi_i^{\mu} \Big[ e_i \, \mathrm{i}\,\partial_{\mu} \phi^+ - \nu_i \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \, \mathrm{i}\,\partial_{\mu} (H - \mathrm{i}\,\phi_0) \Big] \\ &\quad + \mathrm{h.c.} \,. \end{split}$$
(2.37c)

$$\delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{Quark}} \xrightarrow{\text{EWSB}} u_i^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} u_j \, l_{u,ij}^{\mu} + d_i^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} d_j \, l_{d,ij}^{\mu}$$

$$+ \overline{u}_i^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \overline{u}_j \, r_{\overline{u},ij}^{\mu} + \overline{d}_i^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \overline{d}_j \, r_{\overline{d},ij}^{\mu} , \qquad (2.37\text{d})$$

$$\delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{Lepton}} \xrightarrow{\text{EWSB}} \nu_i \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \nu_j \, l^{\mu}_{\nu,ij} + e_i \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} e_j \, l^{\mu}_{e,ij} + \overline{e}^{\dagger}_i \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \overline{e}_j \, r^{\mu}_{e,ij} \,, \qquad (2.37\text{e})$$

where the newly defined broken BSM currents are

$$a_F = s_W^2 a_W + c_W^2 a_B , \qquad a_Z = c_W^2 a_W + s_W^2 a_B , \qquad (2.38a)$$

$$\widetilde{a}_F = s_W^2 \widetilde{a}_W + c_W^2 \widetilde{a}_B , \qquad \widetilde{a}_Z = c_W^2 \widetilde{a}_W + s_W^2 \widetilde{a}_B , a_{FZ} = 2c_W s_W (a_W - a_B) , \qquad t_{F\mu\nu} = c_W t_{\mu\nu} , \widetilde{a}_{FZ} = 2c_W s_W (\widetilde{a}_W - \widetilde{a}_B) , \qquad t_{Z\mu\nu} = -s_W t_{\mu\nu} ,$$

and the antisymmetrization bracket is defined as  $T^{[\mu\nu]} \equiv (T^{\mu\nu} - T^{\nu\mu})/2$ . The mass-diagonalized currents interacting with the SM fermions are defined as

$$r_{x,ij} \equiv V_{x,ia}^{\dagger} r_{x,ab} V_{x,bj} , \qquad \Xi_i \equiv \Xi_a V_{e,ai} , \qquad (2.39a)$$
$$l_{x,ij} \equiv U_{x,ia}^{\dagger} l_{x,ab} U_{x,bj} , \qquad \Xi_i^{\mu} \equiv X_a^{\mu} V_{e,ai} , \qquad s_{xy,ij} \equiv U_{x,ia}^{\dagger} s_{x,ab} V_{y,bj} ,$$

where  $U_x, V_y$  are unitary matrices determined by the singular value decomposition of the corresponding SM Yukawa coupling matrix,  $\Gamma_{x,ab} = U_{x,ai}m_{x,i}V_{x,ib}^{\dagger}$ . In the absence of a SM neutrino mass term, the CKM matrix is the only combination of  $U_x$  and  $V_x$  fixed by SM observations. The "diagonalized" neutrino fields  $\nu_i$  correspond to the conventional gauge-eigenstates within the standard model; if there is a SM neutrino mass term, they have to diagonalized as well, leading to an explicit appearance of the PNMS matrix.
# 2.4 General GeV Scale PETs

In the previous section, I constructed the general electroweak scale PETs for mediators of Spin S = 0, 1/2, and 1. At energies  $\sqrt{s} \sim 1 \text{ GeV}$ , it is appropriate to integrate out the heavy SM particles with masses at or above the charm quark mass  $m_c \approx 1.5 \text{ GeV}$ . This necessitates the construction of additional low energy portal Lagrangians for each mediator spin, which I do in this section. Among other applications, these Lagrangians can be used as the starting point for the derivation of more specific PETs, e.g. for chiral perturbation theory.

### 2.4.1 General Considerations

For the construction of each portal Lagrangian, I follow the same two step procedure as in the previous section. However, there are a few important modifications.

Most importantly, the low energy portal Lagrangians can contain higher dimensional portal operators of dimensions d = 6 and d = 7. In terms of power counting, I include portal interactions that are suppressed by at most a factor of  $\epsilon_{\text{Pet}}/M_W^3$ . At low energies, the SM contains only the light degrees of freedom: the massless gauge bosons, the light  $u_1$ ,  $d_1$ , and  $d_2$  quark fields, the e and  $\mu$  charged lepton fields, and the standard model neutrinos. The portal Lagrangians have to be invariant under the unbroken  $U(1)_V \times SU(3)_C$  gauge symmetry, but the full SM gauge symmetry is spontaneously broken, and therefore hidden at lower energies. As a result, operators that appear to violate the full  $SU(3)_C \times SU(2)_I \times$  $U(1)_Y$  SM gauge symmetry, such as e.g. the Fermi type vertex

$$(u_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}d_b)(\overline{\xi}_i^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}e_c) , \qquad (2.40)$$

can still contribute to the portal Lagrangian. On the other hand, the low energy PETs to respect the accidental symmetries exhibited by the corresponding electroweak scale PETs. In particular, the portal interactions have to conserve baryon number, and portal interactions containing the integer spin mediators have to conserve lepton number. Portal interactions with a spin 1/2 mediator are forbidden if they would mediate transitions with  $|\Delta L| > 1$ . Chirality further restricts the number of available portal operators. For spin 1/2 and spin 1 mediators, the electroweak scale portal operators do not mix charged fermions of different chirality. As a result, low energy portal operators that induce chirality flips of charged fermions have to involve at least a SM Yukawa vertex insertion. Consequently, these operators have to be suppressed by an additional factor of  $m_{\psi}/M_W$ , where  $m_{\psi}$  is the mass of the light fermion in question. For spin 0 mediators, the Yukawa type electroweak scale portal operators can induce a single chirality flip. The corresponding GeV scale portal operators have to be suppressed by the factor  $m_{\psi}/M_W$  if they involve at least two charged fermion chirality flips.

As before, I start by classifying the portal operators in terms of their field content. Up to dimension d = 7, the portal operators can contain either zero, two, or four fermions. Portal operators with zero fermions can only appear for integer spin mediators. Up to  $d \leq 7$ , these operators can contain either one, two, or three SM field strength tensors. By gauge invariance, operators with a single SM field strength tensor have to contain a photon tensor rather then a gluon tensor. For integer spin mediators, they can contain either zero or one SM field strength tensors. For spin 1/2 mediators, they can also contain two SM field strength tensors. Operators with four fermion fields cannot contain any SM field strength tensors, as such operators would be at least of dimension d = 8. This way, I sort the portal operators into four types:

- 1. Photon type portal operators that contain one photon field strength tensor and no fermions,
- 2. Gauge type portal operators that contain either two or three standard model field strength tensors and no fermions,
- 3. Two fermion type operators that contain two fermions,
- 4. Four fermion type portal operators that contain four fermions.

#### Shorthand Notation

Fermion current type operators can contain either a scalar-type fermion bilinear of the shape  $\psi\psi$  + h.c., a vector-type fermion bilinear of the

shape  $\psi^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \psi$ , or a tensor-type fermion bilinear of the shape  $\psi \overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} \psi$ . The corresponding operators can only be gauge invariant if the fermion pair is a gauge singlet. It is convenient to define the shorthand notations

$$(\psi\psi)_0 \in \{(\nu_a\nu_b), (\overline{e}_ae_b), (\overline{u}_au_b), (\overline{d}_ad_b)\},$$

$$(2.41a)$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} (\psi^{\dagger}\psi)_{-} &\in \{(\nu_{a}^{\dagger}e_{b}), (u_{a}^{\dagger}d_{b}), (\overline{u}_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{d}_{b})\} , \\ (\psi^{\dagger}\psi)_{+} &\in \{(e_{a}^{\dagger}\nu_{b}), (d_{a}^{\dagger}u_{b}), (\overline{d}_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{u}_{b})\} , \\ (\psi^{\dagger}\psi)_{0} &\in \{(\nu_{a}^{\dagger}\nu_{b}), (e_{a}^{\dagger}e_{b}), (\overline{e}_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{e}_{b}), (u_{a}^{\dagger}u_{b}), (\overline{u}_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{u}_{b}), (d_{a}^{\dagger}d_{b}), (\overline{d}_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{d}_{b})\} . \end{aligned}$$

in order to denote generic SM fermion pairs. The subscript denotes the total electromagnetic charge of each fermion bilinear. For the four fermion operators, it is convenient to define the generic bilinears build only from charged fermions,

$$(qq)_{+} \in \{(\overline{u}_{a}d_{b}), (\overline{d}_{a}u_{b})\}, \qquad (q^{\dagger}q^{\dagger})_{-} \in \{(\overline{u}_{a}^{\dagger}d_{b}^{\dagger}), (\overline{d}_{a}^{\dagger}u_{b}^{\dagger})\}, \qquad (2.42a)$$
$$(qq)_{0} \in \{(\overline{d}_{a}d_{b}), (\overline{u}_{a}u_{b})\}, \qquad (q^{\dagger}q^{\dagger})_{0} \in \{(\overline{d}_{a}^{\dagger}d_{b}^{\dagger}), (\overline{u}_{a}^{\dagger}u_{b}^{\dagger})\}.$$

$$(\tilde{\psi}\tilde{\psi})_0 \in \{(\overline{e}_a e_b), (\overline{d}_a d_b), (\overline{u}_a u_b)\},$$
(2.42b)

$$(\widetilde{\psi}^{\dagger}\widetilde{\psi})_{0} \in \{(e_{a}^{\dagger}e_{b}), (\overline{e}_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{e}_{b}), (d_{a}^{\dagger}d_{b}), (\overline{d}_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{d}_{b}), (u_{a}^{\dagger}u_{b}), (\overline{u}_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{u}_{b})\} .$$
(2.42c)

For the field strength tensors, it is convenient to define

$$X^{\mu\nu} \in \{F^{\mu\nu}, G^{\mu\nu}\}$$
 (2.43)

such that  $X^{\mu\nu}$  denotes a generic SM field strength tensor. For gauge type portal operators, the convention is that  $X^{\mu\nu}$  always has to denote the same type of field strength tensor within each operator. That is,  $X_{\mu\nu}X^{\mu\nu}$  may stand for  $F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu}$  or  $G_{\mu\nu}G^{\mu\nu}$ , but **not** for  $F_{\mu\nu}G^{\mu\nu}$ . As before, traces over gauge indices are implied. For fermion current type operators, it is understood that  $X^{\mu\nu}$  has to be chosen such that the operator is gauge invariant. That is,  $\psi \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} X^{\mu\nu} \psi$  may denote e.g.  $\overline{e}_a \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} e_b$ or  $\overline{u}_a \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} G^{\mu\nu} u_b$ , but **not**  $\overline{e}_a \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} G^{\mu\nu} e_b$ .

### **SM** Equation of Motion

I also use the SM equations of motion to eliminate redundant operators. At low energies, the SM equations of motion become

$$i \not\!\!D e_i = m_{e\,i} \,\overline{e}_i^{\dagger} , \qquad i \not\!\!D \overline{e}_i = m_{e\,i} \,e_i^{\dagger} , \qquad i \not\!\!D \nu_i = 0 , \qquad (2.44a)$$
$$i \not\!\!D d_i = m_{d\,i} \,\overline{d}_i^{\dagger} , \qquad i \not\!\!D \overline{d}_i = m_{d\,i} \,d_i^{\dagger} ,$$
$$i \not\!\!D u_i = m_{d\,i} \,\overline{u}_i^{\dagger} , \qquad i \not\!\!D \overline{u}_i = m_{d\,i} \,u_i^{\dagger} ,$$

and

$$(D_{\nu}G^{\nu\mu})^{x} = \frac{1}{2} \left( u_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\lambda^{x}u_{a} + \overline{u}_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\lambda^{x}\overline{u}_{a} + \overline{d}_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\lambda^{x}\overline{d}_{a} + d_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\lambda^{x}d_{a} \right) , \qquad (2.44b)$$

$$\partial_{\nu}A^{\nu\mu} = \sum_{f \text{ is light}} q_f \psi_f^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \psi_f . \qquad (2.44c)$$

It is possible to commute covariant derivatives acting on the SM fermion fields by using the identity  $[D_{\mu}, D_{\nu}]\psi_a = i q_a X_{\mu\nu}\psi_a$ . Combining the GeV scale equations of motion and the commutation relation for the covariant derivatives, one can eliminate a large number of operators involving covariant derivatives that act on the fermionic SM degrees of freedom, even if they are not of the shape  $D \psi$ . Explicitly, one has

$$D_{\alpha}D^{\alpha}\psi_{a} = (\not D \not D - q_{a}\frac{1}{2}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}X^{\mu\nu})\psi_{a}$$
$$\xrightarrow{\text{EoM}} - (m_{a}^{2} + q_{a}\frac{1}{2}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}X^{\mu\nu})\psi_{a} , \qquad (2.45a)$$

as well as

$$\mathcal{O}^{\mu} (\psi_{a} \overleftrightarrow{D}_{\mu} \psi_{b}) = \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{O}^{\mu} (\psi_{a} [\overleftrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} + \sigma^{\mu} \overleftrightarrow{\mathcal{D}}] \psi_{b})$$

$$\xrightarrow{\text{P.I.}} - \mathcal{O}^{\mu} (\psi_{a} [\overleftrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} - \sigma^{\mu} \overleftrightarrow{\mathcal{D}}] \psi_{b})$$

$$+ (i D^{\nu} \mathcal{O}^{\mu}) (\psi_{a} \overline{\sigma}_{\nu \mu} \psi_{b})$$

$$\xrightarrow{\text{EoM}} - i (m_{b} + m_{a}) \mathcal{O}^{\mu} (\overline{\psi}_{a}^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \psi_{b} + \psi_{a} \sigma^{\mu} \overline{\psi}_{b}^{\dagger}) \quad (2.45b)$$

$$+ (i D^{\nu} \mathcal{O}^{\mu}) (\psi_{a} \overline{\sigma}_{\nu \mu} \psi_{b}) ,$$

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mu} \left( \psi_{a} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} \overleftrightarrow{D}_{\nu} \psi_{b} \right) = \mathrm{i} \mathcal{O}_{\mu} \left( \psi_{a} \left[ \sigma^{\mu} \not{D} + \overleftarrow{\not{D}} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} - D^{\mu} - \overleftarrow{D}^{\mu} \right] \psi_{b} \right)$$

$$\xrightarrow{\mathrm{EoM}} \left( m_{b} + m_{a} \right) \mathcal{O}_{\mu} \left( \overline{\psi}_{a}^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \psi_{b} + \psi_{a} \sigma^{\mu} \overline{\psi}_{b}^{\dagger} \right) \qquad (2.45\mathrm{c})$$

$$+ \left( \mathrm{i} D^{\mu} \mathcal{O}_{\mu} \right) \left( \psi_{a} \psi_{b} \right) ,$$

$$\mathcal{O}\left(D_{\alpha}\psi_{a}D^{\alpha}\psi_{b}\right) = \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{O}\left(D_{\alpha}\psi_{a}\right)D^{\alpha}\psi_{b} + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{O}\left(D_{\alpha}\psi_{a}\right)D^{\alpha}\psi_{b}$$

$$\xrightarrow{\text{P.I.}} - \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{O}\left(D^{2}\psi_{a}\right)\psi_{b} - \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{O}\psi_{a}\left(D^{2}\psi_{b}\right)$$

$$-\frac{1}{2}(D_{\alpha}\mathcal{O})\partial_{\alpha}(\psi_{a}\psi_{b})$$

$$\xrightarrow{\text{EoM}} \frac{1}{2}(D^{2}\mathcal{O})\psi_{a}\psi_{b} + \frac{1}{2}(m_{a}^{2} + m_{b}^{2})\mathcal{O}\psi_{a}\psi_{b} , \quad (2.45d)$$

$$\mathcal{O}\left(D_{\mu}\psi_{a}\sigma^{\mu\nu}D_{\nu}\psi_{b}\right) = i\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{O}\left(\psi_{a}\left[\overleftarrow{\mathcal{D}}\overrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} - \overleftarrow{D}_{\mu}\gamma^{\nu}\gamma^{\mu}\overrightarrow{D}_{\nu}\right]\psi_{b}\right)$$

$$= i\mathcal{O}\left(\psi_{a}\left[\overleftarrow{\mathcal{D}}\overrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} - \overleftarrow{D}^{\alpha}\overrightarrow{D}_{\alpha}\right]\psi_{b}\right)$$

$$\xrightarrow{\text{EoM}} im_{a}m_{b}\mathcal{O}\,\overline{\psi}_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{\psi}_{b}^{\dagger} - i\mathcal{O}\left(D^{\alpha}\psi_{a}D_{\alpha}\psi_{b}\right) , \quad (2.45e)$$

and finally

$$\mathcal{O}^{[\mu\nu]} (\psi_{a}^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\nu} \overrightarrow{D}_{\mu} \psi_{b}) = \mathcal{O}^{[\mu\nu]} i \frac{1}{2} (\psi_{a}^{\dagger} [\sigma_{\mu\nu} \overrightarrow{D} - \overrightarrow{D} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}] \psi_{b})$$

$$\xrightarrow{\text{P.I.}} \mathcal{O}^{[\mu\nu]} i (\psi_{a}^{\dagger} [\sigma_{\mu\nu} \overrightarrow{D} + \overrightarrow{D} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}] \psi_{b})$$

$$+ D^{\alpha} \mathcal{O}^{\mu\nu} i \frac{1}{2} (\psi_{a}^{\dagger} [\overline{\sigma}_{\alpha} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} + \sigma_{\mu\nu} \overline{\sigma}_{\alpha}] \psi_{b})$$

$$\xrightarrow{\text{EoM}} \mathcal{O}^{[\mu\nu]} (m_{b} \psi_{a}^{\dagger} \sigma_{\mu\nu} \overline{\psi}_{b}^{\dagger} - m_{a} \overline{\psi}_{a} \sigma_{\mu\nu} \psi_{b})$$

$$+ i \frac{1}{2} (\psi_{a}^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\beta} \psi_{b}) D_{\alpha} \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}^{\alpha\beta} , \qquad (2.45f)$$

where  $\psi_a$  denotes any SM Weyl fermion, and  $\overline{\psi}_a$  denotes its opposite chirality counterpart. For the SM neutrinos, the terms involving  $\overline{\psi}_a$  have to be set to zero. The local operator  $\mathcal{O}$  is a stand-in that may depend on both hidden sector and SM degrees of freedom.

### 2.4.2 Scalar Portal Operators

At order  $\epsilon/M_W^3$ , a scalar mediator may couple to the SM via operators of dimension  $d \leq 7$ . These interactions can involve either no, two, or four SM fermions. As before, it is possible to restrict the discussion to portal Lagrangians with two real hidden scalar fields  $S_i$  with i = 1, 2 without loss of generality.

1) Photon type operators: Photon type portal operators have to contain either two or four derivatives in order to be Lorentz invariant. In either case, the Lorentz indices of the photon tensor have to be contracted with two of the derivatives.

- There are no operators with four derivatives. Such operators could only contain a single hidden scalar field  $S_i$ , so that all derivatives could be made to act on the photon tensor, which implies that these operators vanish due to the antisymmetry of the field strength tensor.
- For operators with two derivatives, the SM equations of motion and the Bianchi identity can be used to eliminate all operators with at least one derivative acting on the photon tensor. Additionally, the antisymmetry of the photon tensor implies that an operator vanishes if the two derivatives act on the same field. Accounting for these restrictions, a complete basis only contains the 2 operators

$$S_i(\partial_{\nu}S_j)(\partial_{\mu}S_k) F^{\mu\nu} , \qquad S_i(\partial_{\nu}S_j)(\partial_{\mu}S_k) \tilde{F}^{\mu\nu} . \qquad (2.46)$$

**2)** Gauge type operators: Gauge type portal operators can contain either two or three SM field strength tensors, and the operators with two field strength tensors can contain either two photon or two gluon tensors, and either zero or two derivatives.

• Operators with two field strength tensors and without derivatives can contain either one, two, or three hidden fields. A complete basis can be constructed from the 12 operators

$$S_i X_{\mu\nu} X^{\mu\nu} , \qquad S_i S_j X_{\mu\nu} X^{\mu\nu} , \qquad S_i S_j S_k X_{\mu\nu} X^{\mu\nu} , \qquad (2.47)$$
$$S_i X_{\mu\nu} \widetilde{X}^{\mu\nu} , \qquad S_i S_j X_{\mu\nu} \widetilde{X}^{\mu\nu} , \qquad S_i S_j S_k X_{\mu\nu} \widetilde{X}^{\mu\nu} .$$

• Operators with two field strength tensors and two derivatives can only contain a single hidden field, so it is possible to reshuffle the derivatives such that both of them act on the field strength tensors. If both of the derivatives act on the same field strength tensor, at least one of them has be contracted with the Lorentz indices of the field strength tensor that it acts on. Hence, the operator can be eliminated using the standard model equations of motion or one of the Bianchi identities. If the two derivatives act on different field strength tensors, one can use the first identity in (2.6) to reshuffle the Lorentz indices such the indices of the derivatives are contracted with each other. A complete basis can be constructed from the 4 operators

$$S_i D_\alpha X_{\mu\nu} D^\alpha X^{\mu\nu} , \qquad S_i D_\alpha X_{\mu\nu} D^\alpha X^{\mu\nu} . \qquad (2.48)$$

• Portal operators with three field strength tensors have to be of the shape  $S_i X^{\mu}_{\ \nu} Y^{\nu}_{\ \alpha} Z^{\alpha}_{\ \mu}$ , where X, Y, and Z denote either a SM field strength tensor or its dual. Any operator with at least one photon tensor is forbidden since the photon tensor commutes with the other field strength tensors, which causes the trace to vanish due to the antisymmetry of the field strength tensors and the cyclicity of the trace. Hence, a complete basis can be constructed from the 2 operators

$$S_i G^{\nu}_{\ \mu} G^{\mu}_{\ \alpha} G^{\alpha}_{\ \nu} , \qquad S_i \tilde{G}^{\nu}_{\ \mu} G^{\mu}_{\ \alpha} G^{\alpha}_{\ \nu} . \qquad (2.49)$$

**3)** Two fermion type operators: fermion current type can contain either a scalar-type fermion bilinear, a vector-type fermion bilinear, or a tensor-type fermion bilinear.

• Portal operators with a scalar-type fermion bilinear can contain either zero or two derivatives, but they cannot involve a field strength tensors. An operator with a field strength tensor would have to contain at least two additional derivatives in order to contract the Lorentz indices, which would increase the dimension of the operator to at least d = 8. Operators with either one of the two derivatives acting on one of the fermion fields can be eliminated using identities (2.45a), (2.45b), and (2.45d). Thus, a complete basis can be constructed from operators of the types

 $S_{i}(\psi\psi)_{0} + \text{h.c.}, \qquad S_{i}S_{j}S_{k}(\psi\psi)_{0} + \text{h.c.}, \qquad (2.50)$   $S_{i}S_{j}(\psi\psi)_{0} + \text{h.c.}, \qquad S_{i}S_{j}S_{k}S_{l}(\psi\psi)_{0} + \text{h.c.}, \qquad \partial^{2}S_{i}(\psi\psi)_{0} + \text{h.c.}, \qquad \partial_{\mu}S_{i}\partial^{\mu}S_{j}(\psi\psi)_{0} + \text{h.c.}, \qquad S_{i}\partial^{2}S_{j}(\psi\psi)_{0} + \text{h.c.},$ 

• Portal operators with a single vector-type fermion bilinear can contain either no field strength tensors or one field strength tensor. In either case, the operators have to involve exactly one derivative in order to contract their Lorentz indices. Operators in which the derivative acts on one of the fermion fields can be eliminated using either the SM equations of motion or identity (2.45f), while operators in which the derivative acts one the field strength tensor can be eliminated using the SM equations of motion or the Bianchi identity  $D_{\mu} \tilde{X}^{\mu\nu} = 0$ . Therefore, a complete basis can be constructed from operators in which the derivative acts on one of the hidden fields,

 $\sim$ 

$$(S_i \overleftrightarrow{\partial}_{\mu} S_j) (\psi^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \psi)_0 , \qquad S_i (S_j \overleftrightarrow{\partial}_{\mu} S_k) (\psi^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \psi)_0 , \qquad (2.51) (\partial_{\nu} S_i) (\psi^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} X^{\mu\nu} \psi)_0 , \qquad (\partial_{\nu} S_i) (\psi^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \widetilde{X}^{\mu\nu} \psi)_0 .$$

• Portal operators with a single tensor-type fermion bilinear have to contain a field strength tensor. Operators without a field strength tensor would have to contain two derivatives in order to be Lorentz invariant. If both derivatives act on the same hidden field, the corresponding operator would vanish due to the antisymmetry of  $\overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}$ . As a result, it is always possible to reshuffle the derivatives such that at least one of them acts on the SM fermion fields. Operators with only one derivative acting on the SM fermions can then be eliminated using identity (2.45c), while operators in which both derivatives act on the SM fermions can be eliminated using identities (2.45a) and (2.45e). The allowed operators with a field strength tensor cannot contain any additional derivatives, since the would increase the dimension of the operator to at least d = 8. Thus, the only available operators are of the types

$$S_i (\psi \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} X^{\mu\nu} \psi)_0 + \text{h.c.} , \quad S_i S_j (\psi \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} X^{\mu\nu} \psi)_0 + \text{h.c.} . \quad (2.52)$$

4) Four fermion type operators: Portal operators with four fermions cannot contain any field strength tensors or derivatives, as the corresponding operators would be at least of dimension d = 8. In terms of Lorentz structure, the only available operator are of the type

$$S(\psi_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\psi_b)(\psi_c^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}\psi_d) = -S(\psi_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\psi_b)(\psi_d\sigma_{\mu}\psi_c^{\dagger})$$
$$= -2S(\psi_a^{\dagger}\psi_c^{\dagger})(\psi_d\psi_b) . \qquad (2.53a)$$

Operators of the type

$$S\left(\psi_a \overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} \psi_b\right) \left(\psi_c^{\dagger} \sigma_{\mu\nu} \psi_d^{\dagger}\right) = 0 , \qquad (2.53b)$$

are vanishing, while operators of the types

$$S(\psi_a\psi_b)(\psi_c\psi_d) + \text{h.c.}, \qquad S(\psi_a\overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}\psi_b)(\psi_c\overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}\psi_d) + \text{h.c.}$$
(2.53c)

have to mix fermions of different chirality in order to be gauge invariant and lepton number conserving. As a result, they have to be suppressed by at least a factor  $m_{\psi}/M_W$  involving a light fermion mass  $m_{\psi}$ , which do not contribute at order  $\epsilon/M_W^3$ .

In terms of field content, the four fermion portal operators can contain zero, two, or four quark fields. Operators with three quark fields, as the trilinear contraction  $\epsilon_{abc} q^a q^b q^c$  with colour indices a, b, c are forbidden because they would violate baryon number conservation. The Fierz identity (2.53a) can be used to reshuffle the fermions within the available four fermion operators. Since there are no baryon number violating operators, it is possible to construct a complete basis from products of  $SU(3)_C$  colour singlet fermion bilinears. For operators with two or four quark fields, this convention fully eliminates the redundancy associated with the Fierz identities. For purely leptonic operators, the remaining freedom can be used to construct a complete basis from products of electromagnetically neutral fermion bilinears.

Putting all of these restrictions together, a complete basis can be constructed from operators of the types

$$S(\psi^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\psi)_{0}(\psi^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}\psi)_{0}, \qquad S(\psi^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\psi)_{+}(\psi^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}\psi)_{-} + \text{h.c.}, \qquad (2.54a)$$
$$S(qq)_{0}(q^{\dagger}q^{\dagger})_{0} + \text{h.c.}, \qquad S(qq)_{+}(q^{\dagger}q^{\dagger})_{-} + \text{h.c.},$$

### 2.4.3 Fermion Portal Operators

At order  $\epsilon/M_W^3$ , a fermionic mediator can couple to the SM via operators of dimension  $d \leq 7$ . These interactions can involve either two or four model fermion fields, so there are no gauge type and no photon type portal operators. As before, it is possible to restrict the discussion to portal Lagrangians with hidden left-handed Weyl fermions  $\xi_i$  with i = 1, 2at no loss of generality.

1) Two fermion type operators: Portal operators with two fermions can involve either two hidden fields operators or one hidden field and one SM neutrino. They can contain either a scalar-type fermion bilinear of the shape  $\psi\psi$ , a vector-type fermion bilinear of the shape  $\psi^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\psi$ , or a tensor-type fermion bilinear of the shape  $\psi\overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}\psi$ .

• Operators with a scalar-type fermion bilinear and zero SM field strength tensors have to contain a SM neutrino, and they cannot contain any derivatives, since operators with derivatives can always be eliminated using identity (2.45a). The only remaining available operator is

$$\nu_a \xi_i + \text{h.c.}$$
 (2.55)

- There are no portal operators with a scalar-type fermion bilinear and one SM fields strength tensor, since these operators would have to contain two further derivatives in order to be Lorentz invariant. However, If both derivatives act on the same field, the operator vanishes due to the antisymmetry of the field strength tensor. Therefore, it is always possible to reshuffle the derivatives such that at least one of them acts on the SM field strength tensor, which implies that the operator can be eliminated using either the SM equations of motion or the Bianchi identitiy  $D_{\mu}\tilde{X}^{\mu\nu}$ .
- Operators with a scalar-type fermion bilinear and two SM field strength tensors cannot contain any derivatives either, as they would increase the dimension of the operator to at least d = 9. The Lorentz indices of the field strength tensors can be contracted

using either the metric tensor  $g^{\mu\nu}$  or the Levi-Civita symbol  $\epsilon^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}$ , so a complete basis can be constructed from operators of the types

$$\nu_{a}\xi_{i} X^{\mu\nu}X_{\mu\nu} + \text{h.c.}, \qquad \xi_{i}\xi_{j} X^{\mu\nu}X_{\mu\nu} + \text{h.c.}, \qquad (2.56)$$
$$\nu_{a}\xi_{i} X^{\mu\nu}\tilde{X}_{\mu\nu} + \text{h.c.}, \qquad \xi_{i}\xi_{j} X^{\mu\nu}\tilde{X}_{\mu\nu} + \text{h.c.},$$

Operators with a vector-type fermion bilinear have to contain at least one derivative in order to be Lorentz invariant, and they have to contain exactly one SM field strength tensor. Operators with no field strength tensor would have to contain a standard model neutrino field operator and either one or three derivatives. These derivatives could always be reshuffled such that all of them act on the neutrino, and so the operators can be eliminated using the SM equations of motion. Operators with two field strength tensors are forbidden, because they would be at least of dimension d = 8 due to the one necessary derivative. Similarly, the available operators with a single field strength tensor can only contain one derivative, since operators with three derivatives would also be at least of dimension d = 8. If this derivative acts on the field strength tensor, the corresponding operator can be eliminated using either the SM equations of motion or the Bianchi identity  $D_{\mu}\tilde{X}^{\mu\nu}$ . As a result, the only available operators are

$$\nu_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}D_{\nu}\xi_{i}F^{\mu\nu} + \text{h.c.}, \qquad \xi_{i}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}D_{\nu}\xi_{j}F^{\mu\nu} + \text{h.c.}, \qquad (2.57)$$
$$\nu_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}D_{\nu}\xi_{i}\widetilde{F}^{\mu\nu} + \text{h.c.}, \qquad \xi_{i}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}D_{\nu}\xi_{j}\widetilde{F}^{\mu\nu} + \text{h.c.}.$$

- There are no operators with a tensor-type fermion bilinear and no SM field strength tensors. These operators would have to contain least two derivatives, which can always be reshuffled such that they act on the same fermion, which implies that the operators vanish due to the antisymmetry of  $\overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}$ .
- Portal operators with a tensor-type fermion bilinear and a single field strength tensor can contain either zero or two derivatives. Operators with zero derivatives contain a total of four Lorentz indices, which have to be contracted using two metric tensors. Operators involving the Levi-Civita tensor can always be eliminated

by using the identity  $\epsilon^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}\overline{\sigma}_{\alpha\beta}\propto\overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}$ . As a result, there are only two available operators,

$$\nu_a \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} \xi_i F^{\mu\nu} + \text{h.c.} , \qquad \xi_i \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} \xi_j F^{\mu\nu} + \text{h.c.} . \qquad (2.58)$$

Operators with two derivatives involve a total of six Lorentz indices, which can be contracted using either three metric tensors, or one Levi-Civita symbol and one metric tensor. The indices of  $\overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}$  and  $X^{\mu\nu}$  cannot be contracted with themselves due to their antisymmetry. For operators involving the Levi-Civita tensor, this implies that at least one the two indices of  $\overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}$  and  $X^{\mu\nu}$  has to be contracted using the Levi-Civita tensor. Furthermore, the object  $\overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}$  fulfills the identity  $\epsilon^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}\overline{\sigma}_{\alpha\beta}\propto\overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}$ , which implies that at least one the two indices of  $\overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}$  has to be contracted using the metric tensor. If both derivatives act on the field strength tensor, the corresponding operators can be eliminated using the SM equations of motion and Bianchi identities. The same is true for operators with one derivative acting on the field strength tensor, provided that the derivative index is contracted either with  $X^{\mu\nu}$  or  $X^{\mu\nu}$ . As a result, the two derivatives can always be reshuffled such that they act on the same fermion field. However, if both derivatives act on a SM neutrino, the corresponding operator can be eliminated using the SM equations of motion. Therefore, the only available operators are

$\xi_i \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} D^2 \xi_j F^{\mu\nu} + \text{h.c.} ,$	$\nu_a \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} D^2 \xi_i F^{\mu\nu} + \text{h.c.} , \qquad (2.59)$
$\xi_i \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\alpha} D_{\nu} D^{\mu} \xi_j F^{\nu\alpha} + \text{h.c.} ,$	$ u_a \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\alpha} D_{\nu} D^{\mu} \xi_i F^{\nu\alpha} + \text{h.c.} , $
$\xi_i \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\alpha} D_{\nu} D^{\mu} \xi_j  \widetilde{F}^{\nu\alpha} + \text{h.c.}  ,$	$ u_a \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\alpha} D_{\nu} D^{\mu} \xi_i \widetilde{F}^{\nu\alpha} + \text{h.c.} , $

• Operators with a tensor type fermion bilinear and two field strength tensors cannot contain any derivatives. The Lorentz indices of the field strength tensors can be contracted using either the metric tensor or the Levi-Civita symbol, so the only available operators are

$$\nu_{a}\sigma_{\mu\nu}\xi_{i}X_{\alpha}^{\ \mu}X^{\alpha\nu} + \text{h.c.}, \qquad \xi_{i}\sigma_{\mu\nu}\xi_{j}X_{\alpha}^{\ \mu}X^{\alpha\nu} + \text{h.c.}, \qquad (2.60)$$
$$\nu_{a}\sigma_{\mu\nu}\xi_{i}X_{\alpha}^{\ \mu}\widetilde{X}^{\alpha\nu} + \text{h.c.}, \qquad \xi_{i}\sigma_{\nu\nu}\xi_{j}X_{\alpha}^{\ \mu}\widetilde{X}^{\alpha\nu} + \text{h.c.},$$

**2)** Four fermion type operators: Portal operators with four fermions can contain either zero or one derivative.

• Operators without derivatives can be of the density-density types

 $S(\psi_a\psi_b)(\psi_c\psi_d) + \text{h.c.}, \quad S(\psi_a\overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}\psi_b)(\psi_c\overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}\psi_d) + \text{h.c.}, \quad (2.61a)$ 

or of the current-current type

$$S(\psi_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\psi_b)(\psi_c^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}\psi_d) = S(\psi_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\psi_b)(\psi_d\sigma_{\mu}\psi_c^{\dagger})$$
$$= 2S(\psi_a^{\dagger}\psi_c^{\dagger})(\psi_d\psi_b) . \qquad (2.61b)$$

As before, operators of the type

$$S\left(\psi_a \overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} \psi_b\right) \left(\psi_c^{\dagger} \sigma_{\mu\nu} \psi_d^{\dagger}\right) = 0 \qquad (2.61c)$$

are vanishing. Operators of the two density-density types in (2.61a) are related to each other via the fierz identity (2.11a). If they involve charged fermions, they have involve at least one chirality flip in order to be gauge invariant. Operators with two or more chirality flips are forbidden, since they would be suppressed by an additional factor of  $m_{\psi}^2/M_W^2$ .

• Operators with one derivative have to contract a vector type fermion bilinear of the shape  $\psi^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \psi$  with either a scalar-type fermion bilinear of the shape  $\psi \psi$  or a tensor-type fermion bilinear of the shape  $\psi \overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} \psi$ . The operators cannot involve any charged fermion chirality flips due to associated the light fermion mass suppression. In conjunction with the Fierz identities, this implies that up to two standard model fermions can always be collected within the vector-type bilinear. Furthermore, operators in which the derivative acts on one of SM fermions collected in vector type bilinear can be eliminated in SM equations of motion.

In terms of field content, the portal operators can contain either zero, two, or three charged fermions. In each case, operators with at least one lepton can be lepton number violating, but there are no lepton number violating operators with  $|\Delta L| > 1$ .

- There are no operators with a single charged fermion, since these operators could not be gauge invariant, whereas operators with four charged fermions are forbidden since could not contain a hidden fermion.
- Operators with no charged fermions can contain either one, two, or three neutrinos.
- Operators with two charged fermions have to contain two either two up-type quarks, two down-type quarks, or two charged leptons. Using the fierz identities (2.9a) to (2.11b), the two charged fermions can always be reshuffled into a single fermion bilinear.
- The only gauge invariant operators with three charged fermions contain an up-type quark, a down-type quark, and a charged lepton. Such operators are suppressed by a factor of  $m_{\psi}/M_W$  for each rightchiral charged fermion spinor they contain. Using the fierz identities (2.9a) to (2.11b), it is always to reshuffle the two quark fields into a single fermion bilinear.

Putting all of the above restrictions together, one finds the following list of portal operators:

• The density-density type operators with no derivatives and without charged fermions are

$$(\nu_a \xi)(\xi_i \xi_j) + \text{h.c.}$$
 (2.62)

• The density-density type operators with no derivatives and with two charged fermions are

$(\psi\psi)_0(\nu_a\xi_i) + \text{h.c.}$ ,	$(\psi \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} \psi)_0 (\nu_a \overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} \xi_i) + \text{h.c.} ,$	(2.63)
$(\psi\psi)_0(\xi_i\xi_j) + \text{h.c.} ,$	$(\psi \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} \psi)_0 (\xi_i \overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} \xi_j) + \text{h.c.} ,$	

where the charged fermion bilinears  $(\psi\psi)_0$  have to be chosen according to Eq. (2.42b).

• The density-density type operators with no derivatives and with three charged fermions have to involve at least one charged lepton.

There are no operators with a righthanded charged lepton, since such an operator would have to involve at least two chirality flips. A complete basis can be constructed from the operators

$$(\overline{d}_a u_b)(e_c \xi_i) + \text{h.c.} \qquad (2.64)$$

• The current-current type operators with no derivatives and without charged fermions are

$$(\nu_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \xi_i) (\xi_j^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \xi_k) + \text{h.c.} , \qquad (\nu_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \nu_b) (\xi_i^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \xi_j) + \text{h.c.} , \qquad (2.65)$$
$$(\nu_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \nu_b) (\nu_c^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \xi_i) + \text{h.c.} .$$

• The current-current type operators with no derivatives and with two charged fermions are

$$\begin{aligned} &(\widetilde{\psi}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}\widetilde{\psi})_{0}(\nu_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\xi_{i}) + \text{h.c.}, \quad (\widetilde{\psi}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}\widetilde{\psi})_{0}(\xi_{i}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\xi_{j}) + \text{h.c.}, \quad (2.66) \\ &(\widetilde{\psi}\widetilde{\psi})_{0}(\nu_{a}^{\dagger}\xi_{i}^{\dagger}) + \text{h.c.}, \quad (\widetilde{\psi}\widetilde{\psi})_{0}(\xi_{i}^{\dagger}\xi_{j}^{\dagger}) + \text{h.c.}, \end{aligned}$$

where the charged fermion bilinears  $(\tilde{\psi}\tilde{\psi})_0$  and  $(\tilde{\psi}^{\dagger}\tilde{\psi})_0$  now have to be chosen according to Eqs. (2.42b) and (2.42c).

• The current-current type operators with no derivatives and with three charged fermions are

$$(u_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}d_b)(e_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}\xi_i) + \text{h.c.}, \quad (d_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}u_b)(\overline{e}_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}\xi_i) + \text{h.c.}, \quad (2.67)$$
$$(\overline{u}_a d_b)(e_a^{\dagger}\xi_i^{\dagger}) + \text{h.c.}.$$

The operators  $(\overline{d}_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\overline{u}_b)(e_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}\xi_i)$ ,  $(\overline{u}_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\overline{d}_b)(\overline{e}_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}\xi_i)$ ,  $(\overline{d}_a u_b)(\overline{e}_a^{\dagger}\xi_i^{\dagger})$ and their hermitian conjugates do not contribute since they have to involve at least two light fermion mass insertions.

• The operators with one derivative and without charged fermions are

$$(\nu_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\xi_i)(\xi_j D_{\mu}\xi_k) + \text{h.c.}, \quad (\nu_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}\xi_i)(\xi_j\overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}D_{\nu}\xi_k) + \text{h.c.}, \quad (2.68)$$

$$(\xi_i^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\nu_a)(\xi_j D_{\mu}\xi_k) + \text{h.c.}, \quad (\xi_i^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}\nu_a)(\xi_j\sigma^{\mu\nu}D_{\nu}\xi_k) + \text{h.c.}, \quad (\nu_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\nu_b)(\xi_j D_{\mu}\xi_k) + \text{h.c.}, \quad (\nu_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}\nu_b)(\xi_j\sigma^{\mu\nu}D_{\nu}\xi_k) + \text{h.c.}, \quad (\nu_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\nu_b)(\nu_a D_{\mu}\xi_j) + \text{h.c.}, \quad (\nu_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}\nu_b)(\nu_a\sigma^{\mu\nu}D_{\nu}\xi_j) + \text{h.c.}.$$

• The operators with one derivative and with two charged fermions are

$$\begin{aligned} &(\widetilde{\psi}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}\widetilde{\psi})_{0}(\nu_{a}D^{\mu}\xi_{i}) + \text{h.c.}, \quad (\widetilde{\psi}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}\widetilde{\psi})_{0}(\nu_{a}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}D_{\nu}\xi_{i}) + \text{h.c.}, \quad (2.69) \\ &(\widetilde{\psi}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}\widetilde{\psi})_{0}(\xi_{i}D^{\mu}\xi_{j}) + \text{h.c.}, \quad (\widetilde{\psi}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}\widetilde{\psi})_{0}(\xi_{i}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}D_{\nu}\xi_{j}) + \text{h.c.}. \end{aligned}$$

• The operators with one derivative and with three charged fermions are

$$(d_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}u_b)(e_c D^{\mu}\widetilde{\xi}_i) + \text{h.c.}, \quad (d_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}u_b)(e_c\overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}D_{\nu}\widetilde{\xi}_i) + \text{h.c.} \quad (2.70)$$

As before, the operators  $(\overline{u}_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\overline{d}_b)(e_c D^{\mu}\widetilde{\xi}_i)$ ,  $(\overline{u}_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\overline{d}_b)(e_c\overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}D_{\nu}\widetilde{\xi}_i)$ and their hermitian conjugates do not contribute due to the necessary light fermion mass insertions.

### 2.4.4 Vector Portal Operators

At the electroweak scale, spin 1 mediators do not couple to the SM via operators of dimension d = 5. As a result, the corresponding GeV scale portal Lagrangian can only contain interactions that are suppressed at most by a factor of  $\epsilon/M_W^2$  rather than  $\epsilon/M_W^3$ . At order  $\epsilon/M_W^2$ , hidden (pseudo-)vector mediators couple to the SM via operators of dimension  $d \leq 6$ . One immediate consequence is that there are no portal operators with four SM fermions, since they would be at least of dimension d = 7. As before, the discussion can be restricted to portal Lagrangians involving only a single vector field  $V_{\mu}$ .

As for the electroweak scale portal Lagrangian, there are no purely bosonic portal operators of dimension d = 4. The available operators of dimension d = 6 contain a total of six Lorentz indices, which can be contracted using either three metric tensors or using one Levi-Civita symbol and one metric tensor. The indices of the field strength tensors cannot be contracted with each other. For operators with a Levi-Civita tensor, this implies that at least one index from each of the field strength tensors has to be contracted by the Levi-Civita tensor.

It is convenient to define the shorthand notation

$$\partial V \equiv \partial^{\alpha} V_{\alpha} , \qquad V^{2} \equiv V^{\alpha} V_{\alpha} , \qquad (2.71)$$
$$V_{\mu\nu} \equiv \partial_{\mu} V_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu} V_{\mu} , \quad \hat{V}_{\mu\nu} \equiv \partial_{\mu} V_{\nu} + \partial_{\nu} V_{\mu} , \quad \tilde{V}_{\mu\nu} \equiv 2\epsilon_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} \partial^{\alpha} V^{\beta} .$$

### 1) Photon type operators:

- There are no operators with zero or three derivatives. Operators without any derivatives vanish due to the antisymmetry of the field strength tensor, since both of the Lorentz indices of the field strength tensor have to be contracted with a hidden field operator. Operators with three derivatives vanish since the derivatives can always be made to act on the SM field strength tensor. Therefore, these operators can always be eliminated using the SM equations of motion or the Bianchi identity.
- Operators with one derivative have to involve three hidden vector fields. The derivative can always be reshuffled such that it does not act on the field strength tensor, so all of the operators have to contain exactly one instance of the objects  $V_{\mu\nu}$ ,  $\hat{V}_{\mu\nu}$ , and  $\tilde{V}_{\mu\nu}$ . Accounting for the different possibilities of contracting Lorentz indices, the only available operators are

$$V_{\nu}V^{\mu}\hat{V}_{\mu\alpha}F^{\nu\alpha} , \qquad V_{\nu}V^{\mu}V_{\mu\alpha}F^{\nu\alpha} , \qquad V_{\nu}V^{\mu}\widetilde{V}_{\mu\alpha}F^{\nu\alpha} , \qquad (2.72)$$
$$V^{2}V_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu} , \qquad V^{2}\widetilde{V}_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu} , \qquad V_{\nu}V^{\mu}V_{\mu\alpha}\widetilde{F}^{\nu\alpha} .$$

• Operators with two derivatives have to involve two hidden field operators. A complete basis can be constructed from operators of the types

$$\partial V V_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} , \qquad V_{\mu} \partial^2 V_{\nu} F^{\mu\nu} , \qquad V_{\mu\nu} V_{\alpha} \partial^{\alpha} F^{\mu\nu} , \qquad (2.73) \partial V V_{\mu\nu} \tilde{F}^{\mu\nu} , \qquad V_{\mu} \partial^2 V_{\nu} \tilde{F}^{\mu\nu} , \qquad V_{\mu\nu} V_{\alpha} \partial^{\alpha} \tilde{F}^{\mu\nu} , \tilde{V}^{\mu\nu} V_{\mu\alpha} F^{\alpha}_{\ \nu} \qquad \tilde{V}^{\mu\nu} \hat{V}_{\mu\alpha} F^{\alpha}_{\ \nu}$$

**2)** Gauge type operators: Portal operators with two field strength tensors can contain either two photon tensors or two gluon tensors, and either two hidden fields or one hidden field and one derivative.

• For operators with two hidden fields, a complete basis can be constructed from operators of the shapes

$$V^{2}X^{\mu\nu}X_{\mu\nu}, \qquad V_{\mu}V^{\nu}X^{\mu\alpha}X_{\nu\alpha}, \qquad (2.74)$$
$$V^{2}X^{\mu\nu}\tilde{X}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad V_{\mu}V^{\nu}X^{\mu\alpha}\tilde{X}_{\alpha\nu}.$$

• For operators with two field strength tensors and one derivative, and one hidden field, the derivative can act either on one of the field strength tensors or the hidden field operator. The derivative can always be reshuffled such that it acts on the hidden field. Accounting for the different possibilities of constructing the Lorentz indices, the only available operators are

$$\partial V X^{\mu\nu} X_{\mu\nu} , \qquad \partial V X^{\mu\nu} \widetilde{X}_{\mu\nu} , \qquad \partial_{\mu} V^{\nu} X^{\mu\alpha} \widetilde{X}_{\alpha\nu} , \qquad (2.75)$$

3) Two fermion type operators: fermion current type operators can contain either a scalar-type fermion bilinear of the type  $\psi\psi$ , a vector-type fermion bilinear of the type  $\psi^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\psi$ , or a tensor-type fermion bilinear  $\psi\overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}\psi$ .

Portal operators with a scalar type fermion bilinear or a tensor type fermion bilinear cannot contain a SM field strength tensor, as such an operator would have to contain at least two more derivatives or hidden field operators, so that its dimension would be at least d = 7. Operators with a vector type fermion bilinear can contain either zero or one SM field strength tensor.

• Operators with a scalar-type fermion bilinear can contain either two hidden field operators or one hidden field operator and one derivative. If the derivative acts on either of the SM fermions, the operator can be eliminated using relation (2.45a). A complete basis can be constructed from the operators

$$V^2(\psi\psi)_0 + \text{h.c.}, \qquad \partial V(\psi\psi)_0 + \text{h.c.}. \qquad (2.76)$$

• Operators with a vector type fermion bilinear and no field strength tensor can contain either zero, one, or two derivatives. The only available operators without derivatives are

$$V_{\mu}(\psi^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\psi)_{0}, \qquad V^{2}V_{\mu}(\psi^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\psi)_{0}. \qquad (2.77)$$

Operators with one derivative have to involve two hidden field operators in order to be Lorentz invariant. The derivative can either act on one of the hidden fields or one of the SM fermions. Accounting for different ways of contracting the Lorentz indices, the only available operators with one derivative are

$$V_{\mu\nu}V^{\nu}(\psi^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\psi)_{0}, \quad \hat{V}_{\mu\nu}V^{\nu}(\psi^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\psi)_{0}, \quad \tilde{V}_{\mu\nu}V^{\nu}(\psi^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\psi)_{0}, \quad (2.78)$$
$$\partial VV_{\mu}(\psi^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\psi)_{0}, \quad V_{\mu}V_{\nu}(\psi^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}D^{\nu}\psi)_{0}.$$

Operators with two derivatives can only involve a single hidden field. If both derivatives act one the same SM fermion field, the corresponding operator can be eliminated using the SM equations. As a result, the derivatives can always be reshuffled such that at least one of them acts on the hidden field operator. However, operators involving either  $V_{\mu\nu}$  or  $\tilde{V}_{\mu\nu}$  can be eliminated using relation (2.45f). The only available operators are

$$\partial^2 V_{\mu}(\psi^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}\psi)_0$$
,  $\hat{V}_{\mu\nu}(\psi^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}D^{\nu}\psi)_0$ . (2.79)

• Operators with a vector type fermion bilinear and one field strength tensor cannot contain any derivatives. Accounting for the two ways of contracting the Lorentz indices, the only available operators are

$$V^{\mu}(\psi^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\nu}X_{\mu\nu}\psi)_{0}, \qquad V^{\mu}(\psi^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\nu}\widetilde{X}_{\mu\nu}\psi)_{0}. \qquad (2.80)$$

• Operators with a tensor-type fermion bilinear has to contain one hidden field operator and one derivative. Operators with two hidden vector field operators vanish due to the antisymmetry of  $\overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}$ . If the derivative acts on either of the SM fermions, the operator can be eliminated using relation (2.45c). Therefore, the only available operators are of the type

$$V_{\mu\nu}(\psi \overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} \psi)_0 + \text{h.c.} \qquad (2.81)$$

# 2.4.5 The Subset of $|\Delta F| = 1$ Portal Operators

In the remainder of this work, I am primarily interested in operators that mediate quark flavour changing transitions at low energies. In general, the relevant diagrams can be sorted into two types: Firstly, diagrams with one  $|\Delta F| = 1$  SM Fermi interaction and one  $|\Delta F| = 0$  portal

	d	Two Quark	Quark Dipole	Four fermion
		+h.c.	+h.c.	+h.c.
S <sub>1,2</sub>	4	$S_i  \overline{d}_a d_b$		
	5	$S_i S_j  \overline{d}_a d_b$		
	6	$S_i S_j S_k \overline{d}_a d_b \\ \partial^2 S_i \overline{d}_a d_b \\ S_i \partial_\mu S_j d_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} d_b$	$S_i  \overline{d}_a \sigma_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} d_b \\ S_i  \overline{d}_a \sigma_{\mu\nu} G^{\mu\nu} d_b$	
	7	$S_i S_j S_k S_l  \overline{d}_a d_b$		$\begin{array}{l} S_i \left( u_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} d_b \right) (e_c^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \nu_d) \\ S_i \left( q_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_b \right) (q_c^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_d) \\ S_i \left( d_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} d_b \right) (\nu_c^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \nu_d) \\ S_i \left( q_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_b \right) (\overline{q}_c^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \overline{q}_d) \\ S_i \left( q_a^{\dagger} \overline{q}_b^{\dagger} \right) (\overline{q}_c q_d) \end{array}$
ξ1,2	6			$\begin{array}{l} (\xi_i^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} e_a) (d_b^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} u_c) \\ (\xi_i^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \nu_a) (d_b^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} d_c) \\ (\xi_i^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \xi_j) (d_b^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} d_c) \end{array}$
$V_{\mu}$	4	$V_{\mu}  d_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} d_b$		

Table 2.2: Quark flavour changing GeV scale portal operators for mediators with Spin  $S \leq 1$ .

interaction, and secondly, diagrams with one  $|\Delta F| = 1$  portal interaction but no higher dimensional SM interactions.

Higher dimensional portal interactions of dimension d = 6 or d = 7only enter into diagrams of the second type. Consequently, I only include higher dimensional operators if they are quark flavour changing, and if they contribute in diagrams that are of the same order as the leading order diagrams of the first type. Quark flavour changing operators have to contain either two or four SM fermions, and at least one down-type quark, since there is only one up-type quark flavour in theory at low energies.

Previously, I only kept track of the suppression associated with higher dimensional operators. Now, I also account for the  $(4\pi)^{-2}$  suppression factors associated with loop corrections. In terms of the NDA power

counting, the SM Fermi interactions have to be counted as  $(4\pi)^2/M_W^2$ , where the  $(4\pi)^2$  enhancement factor might be thought of as resulting from the operators being generated at tree level. For spin 0 and spin 1/2mediators, the  $d \leq 5$  portal operators with  $|\Delta F| = 0$  are suppressed by at most a factor of  $\epsilon/M_W$ , and for spin 1 mediators, they are suppressed by at most a factor of  $\epsilon$ . As a result, diagrams of the second type only contribute at the same order as a leading order diagram of the first type if the corresponding higher dimensional portal operators are suppressed at most by a factor of  $(4\pi)^2 \epsilon/M_W^3$  (for spin 0 and spin 1/2 mediators), or a factor of  $(4\pi)^2 \epsilon/M_W^2$  (for spin 1 mediators).

There are two more things to consider when counting powers of  $(4\pi)$ . Firstly, the portal coupling  $\epsilon$  itself has to be associated with a factor of  $1/4\pi$  in order for power counting to be self-consistent. This can be seen from considering e.g. the portal operator  $\epsilon S_i \psi \psi$ , which has to be for order  $\epsilon$  rather than of order  $4\pi\epsilon$ , since it is of zeroth order in the  $1/M_W$  expansion that underlies the NDA power counting in this chapter. Secondly, for integer spin mediators, the electroweak scale portal operators involve only at most a single hidden field. Therefore, the corresponding low energy portal operators with more than one hidden field operator have to involve at least one hidden sector interaction. Assuming that the hidden sector interactions are perturbative, this implies that such operators have to be suppressed by at least an additional factor of  $1/4\pi$ .

The relevant quark flavour violating operators are summarized in table 2.2. Ignoring the  $(4\pi)^n$  power counting rules of NDA, one would have to include a number of additional portal operators:

• For spin 0 mediators, one would have to include operators of order  $4\pi\epsilon/M_W^3$  and  $\epsilon/M_W^3$ . At order  $4\pi\epsilon/M_W^3$ , one has

$$S_i S_j \partial_\mu S_k \, d_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} d_b \,, \qquad S_i S_j \, \overline{d}_a \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} X^{\mu\nu} d_b + \text{h.c.} \,, \qquad (2.82a)$$
$$\partial_\nu S_i \, d_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} X^{\mu\nu} d_b \,, \qquad \partial_\nu S_i \, d_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \widetilde{X}^{\mu\nu} d_b \,.$$

At order  $\epsilon/M_W^3$ , one has

$$S_i \partial^2 S_j \,\overline{d}_a d_b + \text{h.c.} , \qquad \partial_\alpha S_i \partial^\alpha S_j \,\overline{d}_a d_b + \text{h.c.} . \qquad (2.82b)$$

• For spin 0 mediators, one would have to include operators of order  $4\pi\epsilon/M_W^3$ . At order  $4\pi\epsilon/M_W^3$ , one has

$(\overline{d}_a d_b)(\nu_c \xi_i) + {\rm h.c.}$ ,	$(\overline{d}_a \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} d_b) (\nu_c \overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} \xi_i) + \text{h.c.} ,$	(2.83a)
$(\overline{d}_a d_b)(\xi_i \xi_j) + {\rm h.c.}$ ,	$(\overline{d}_a \overline{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} d_b) (\xi_i \overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} \xi_j) + {\rm h.c.}$ ,	
$(\overline{d}_a d_b)(\nu_c^\dagger \xi_i^\dagger) + {\rm h.c.}$ ,	$(\overline{d}_a u_b)(e_c \xi_i) + \text{h.c.}$ ,	
$(\overline{d}_a d_b)(\xi_i^\dagger \xi_j^\dagger) + {\rm h.c.}$ ,	$(\overline{u}_a d_b)(e_c^\dagger \xi_i^\dagger) + {\rm h.c.}$ ,	
	$(d_a^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}u_b)(\overline{e}_c^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}\xi_i) + \text{h.c.} ,$	

which are  $\propto 1/M_W^3$  due to the necessary light fermion mass insertions, and

$$(d_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} d_b) (\nu_a D^{\mu} \xi_i) + \text{h.c.} , \quad (d_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} d_b) (\nu_a \overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} D_{\nu} \xi_i) + \text{h.c.} , \quad (2.83b)$$

$$(d_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} d_b) (\xi_i D^{\mu} \xi_j) + \text{h.c.} , \quad (d_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} d_b) (\xi_i \overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} D_{\nu} \xi_j) + \text{h.c.} , \quad (d_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} u_b) (e_c \overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} D_{\nu} \xi_i) + \text{h.c.} .$$

• For spin 1 mediators, one would have to include operators of order  $4\pi\epsilon/M_W^2$  and  $\epsilon/M_W^2$ . At order  $4\pi\epsilon/M_W^2$ , one has

$$V^2 V_{\nu} d_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\nu} d_b , \quad V^{\mu} d_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\nu} X_{\mu\nu} d_b , \quad V^{\mu} d_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\nu} \widetilde{X}_{\mu\nu} d_b .$$
(2.84a)

At order  $\epsilon/M_W^2$ , one has

$$V^{2} \overline{d}_{a} d_{b} + \text{h.c.} , \qquad V_{\mu} \overline{d}_{a}^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \overline{d}_{b} , \qquad (2.84b)$$
  
$$\partial V \overline{d}_{a} d_{b} + \text{h.c.} , \qquad V_{\mu\nu} \overline{d}_{a} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} d_{b} + \text{h.c.} ,$$

which are  $\propto 1/M_W^2$  due to the necessary light quark mass insertions, and

$$V_{\mu\nu}V^{\nu}d_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}d_{b} , \quad \partial V V_{\mu}d_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}d_{b} , \quad V_{\mu}V_{\nu}d_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}D^{\nu}d_{b} , \quad (2.84c)$$

$$\hat{V}_{\mu\nu}V^{\nu}d_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}d_{b} , \quad \partial^{2}V_{\mu}d_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}d_{b} , \quad \hat{V}_{\mu\nu}d_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}D^{\nu}d_{b} ,$$

$$\tilde{V}_{\mu\nu}V^{\nu}d_{a}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}d_{b} .$$

# Chapter 3

# PET Chiral Perturbation Theory

# 3.1 The External Current Picture

In this chapter, I derive a specific PET that couples the light pseudo scalar mesons of QCD to generic hidden sectors. At the level of the SM, the physics of these mesons is described by chiral perturbation theory (=  $\chi$ PT), and the corresponding  $\chi$ PT Lagrangian is well known [30, 10, 31, 32, 33, 11, 34, 35]. An elementary description of the light mesons on the quark-gluon level is unfeasible, since quantum chromo dynamics (=QCD) is non-perturbative at low energies, say, below the charm mass  $m_c \sim 1.5$  GeV. Hence, the  $\chi$ PT portal Lagrangian, rather than the elementary QCD portal Lagrangian, is the suitable tool for studying the coupling of the SM mesons to generic hidden sectors.

Following the restrictions established in chapter 2, I consider hidden sector models that couple to the SM via a single light hidden mediator with spin  $\leq 1$  and a mass below  $M_K \approx 500$  MeV. The corresponding set of portal operators has been constructed in section 2.4, which provides the starting point for the discussion in this chapter. Neglecting electroweak corrections, one has to include only the portal operators with dimension  $d \leq 5$ . However, I am particularly interested in hidden sector induced, quark flavour changing processes, such as charged Kaon decays  $K^+ \rightarrow \pi^+ S$ , which are mediated by higher dimensional operators associated with virtual  $W^{\pm}$  boson exchanges. To capture these transitions, one also has to include the dimension d = 6 and d = 7 operators collected in table 2.2.

To deduce the corresponding PET  $\chi$ PT Lagrangian, I do not consider the hidden fields to be dynamical degrees of freedom, but rather external currents that function either as sources or drains of energy and momentum associated with SM excitations. Within the SM, this external current picture is the standard approach to the coupling of  $\chi$ PT to the SM photons at leading order, see e.g. [10, 31, 32, 36, 34, 35, 37]. The main downside of this approach is that it neglects  $\chi$ PT operators induced by virtual photon exchanges, which start to appear at order  $\mathcal{O}(e^2)$ . Within the SM, these operators have to be accounted for, and they are necessary to accurately capture e.g. the  $\epsilon'/\epsilon$  ratio, or the mass splitting between neutral and charged pions. In particular,  $\Delta I = 1/2$  rule enhanced electromagnetic penguin contributions are important for the correct SM estimation of the  $\epsilon'/\epsilon$  ratio [38, 39, 40]. For extensive listings of these operators see e.g. [41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46].

In contrast, the PET framework is constructed on the assumption that it is sufficient to capture the coupling to hidden sectors at order  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$ , so that the external current picture is suitable for capturing all of the necessary effective portal operators in  $\chi$ PT. In what follows, I will use the external current description to capture the coupling of QCD to both hidden sectors and the remainder of the SM, neglecting the  $\chi$ PT operators generated by virtual photon exchanges. This way, the coupling of QCD to external sectors can be summarized in terms of 10 generic external currents, that I denote as  $l_{\mu}$ ,  $r_{\mu}$ ,  $\chi$ , a,  $\vartheta$ ,  $\xi$ ,  $t_{\mu\nu}$ , A, B, and C.

Except for a, all of these currents are present in the SM. In particular, the impact of the currents  $l_{\mu}$ ,  $r_{\mu}$ ,  $\chi$ , and  $\vartheta$  is well understood, and their inclusion at and beyond leading order is discussed in many standard introductions to  $\chi$ PT [10, 31, 32, 34]. The leading order  $\chi$ PT operators with  $t_{\mu\nu}$  have been listed in [37]. The remaining currents A, B, C, and  $\xi$ are constant in the standard model, and all of them couple to higher order operators  $O_i$  that are induced by virtual heavy gauge boson exchanges. Essentially, they are the Wilson coefficients associated with the effective operators  $O_i$ . Hence, the resulting contributions to  $\chi$ PT can be obtained by appealing directly to the transformation behaviour of the operators  $O_i$  under chiral rotations of the quark fields [47, 48, 49, 50, 51]. Compared to the SM case, the novelty of the work presented in this chapter consists of three main contributions:

- 1. I add the external current *a*. It does not appear in the SM, so that its inclusion is of no relevance for the construction of  $\chi PT$  in the SM. If the Higgs boson was light, an effective operator  $HG_{\mu\nu}G^{\mu\nu}$ would contribute to *a*, and the impact of such a vertex in  $\chi PT$  has been studied in [52]. Here, I use the external current picture to generalize the approach taken there to account for generic hidden scalars.
- 2. In the SM, the currents A, B, C, and  $\xi$  are constant, and the resulting modifications in  $\chi$ PT can be found by appealing directly to the behaviour of the operators  $O_i$  under chiral rotations. However, it is difficult to generalize this approach to the case with spacetime dependent currents. Using the external current approach, I extend the description in  $\chi$ PT to include generic, spacetime dependent currents A, B, C, and  $\xi$ .
- 3. The final PET  $\chi$ PT Lagrangian contains a number of new low energy constants (=LECs) associated with operators containing the external currents a, A, B, C, and  $\xi$ . Here, I estimate the LECs associated to a, A, B, and C. For the A, B and C LECs, I combine the strategies used in [52, 53, 54], where large  $N_c$  factorization rules are combined with the well-known low-energy realizations of QCD quark bilinears [30, 31, 32]. For the *a* LECs, I use the strategy of [52], where the conformal anomaly of QCD is exploited to obtain a low-energy realization for the gluon kinetic term  $G_{\mu\nu}G^{\mu\nu}$ .

The remainder of this chapter is structured as follows: In section 3.2, I give a short review of QCD at low energies, with a focus on the conformal anomaly of QCD, the large  $N_c$  limit, and chiral symmetry. In section 3.3, I summarize the coupling of QCD to the other sectors of the SM and to generic hidden sectors, and construct the resulting external currents. In section 3.4, I derive the actual  $\chi$ PT portal Lagrangian, and in section 3.5 I estimate the new LECs.

# 3.2 Aspects of QCD at Low Energies

For the sake of completeness, I summarize few standard aspects of QCD at low energies that are relevant for the discussion in the remainder of this chapter. In particular, I discuss the conformal anomaly of QCD, the large  $N_c$  limit, aspects of chiral symmetry, and the Pseudo Nambu-Goldstone bosons (=PNGBs).

### 3.2.1 The QCD Lagrangian

QCD is a SU( $N_c = 3$ ) gauge theory with  $N_f = 6$  quark colour triplets that transform as members of the fundamental representation of the gauge group. In pure QCD, the quarks remain massless, but within the SM, quark masses are generated by electroweak scale Yukawa interactions involving the Higgs boson.

The 6 quark fields can be grouped into three light quark flavours u, d, and s with masses well below 1 GeV, and three heavy quark flavours c, b, and t with masses well above 1 GeV. Usually, the heavy quark fields are integrated out at energies below the charm quark mass  $m_c \sim 1.5$  GeV, so that QCD contains only the  $N_f = 3$  light quark flavours and the  $N_c^2 - 1 = 8$  gluon fields associated with the gauge symmetry. It is convenient to decompose the resulting QCD Lagrangian as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{QCD}} = \mathcal{L}_{\text{kin}} + \mathcal{L}_{\text{mass}} + \mathcal{L}_{\theta} + \mathcal{L}_{\text{GF}} + \mathcal{L}_{\text{ghost}} , \qquad (3.1)$$

where

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm kin} \equiv i q^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} D_{\mu} q + i \overline{q}^{\dagger} \sigma^{\mu} D_{\mu} \overline{q}^{\dagger} - \frac{\omega_s}{16\pi^2} G_{\mu\nu} G^{\mu\nu} , \qquad (3.2a)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{mass}} \equiv -(\bar{q}M_q q + \text{h.c.}) , \qquad \mathcal{L}_{\theta} \equiv -\frac{\theta}{16\pi^2} \tilde{G}_{\mu\nu} G^{\mu\nu} . \qquad (3.2b)$$

 $\omega_s \equiv 2\pi/\alpha_s$  is the inverse of the QCD fine structure constant,  $M_q = \text{diag}(m_u, m_d, m_s)$  is the quark mass matrix, and  $\theta$  is the QCD theta angle. The chiral quark fields  $q = (u, d, s), \bar{q} = (\bar{u}, \bar{d}, \bar{d})$  are defined to be triplets in flavour space. As before, I follow the two-component notation of [26]. The covariant derivatives contain only the gluon fields  $A_{\mu}$ , and

colour traces in all terms are implied. The  $\theta$  term can be written as a total derivative,

$$\widetilde{G}_{\mu\nu}G^{\mu\nu} \propto \partial_{\mu}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} (A_{\nu}G_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{2}{3}A_{\nu}A_{\alpha}A_{\beta}) , \qquad (3.3)$$

but it does not vanish, since the topologically nontrivial vacuum structure of non-abelian Yang-Mills theories allows for extended field configurations with both a finite euclidian action and nonzero values for the gluon fields at infinity. Experimentally, one finds  $|\theta| \leq 10^{-10}[55]$ .

The final two contributions result from the gauge fixing procedure of non-abelian gauge theories.  $\mathcal{L}_{GF}$  denotes the gauge fixing Lagrangian, and  $\mathcal{L}_{ghost}$  is the corresponding ghost Lagrangian. In covariant gauges, they become

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm GF} = \frac{1}{\xi} \partial_{\mu} A^{\mu} \partial_{\nu} A^{\nu} , \qquad \qquad \mathcal{L}_{\rm ghost} = 2 \partial_{\mu} \overline{c} D^{\mu} c , \qquad (3.4)$$

where  $\xi$  is the gauge fixing parameter,  $c = \lambda_a c^a$  and  $\overline{c} = \lambda_a \overline{c}^a$  are the ghost fields of QCD, and  $D^{\mu}$  is the covariant derivative of the adjoint representation. As before, colour traces are implied.

### 3.2.2 Conformal Anomaly

The kinetic term (3.2a) is invariant under the scale transformation

$$g^{\mu\nu} \to e^{-2t} g^{\mu\nu} , \qquad (3.5)$$

where  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . Even without external currents, this scale invariance is broken by the quark mass term and by the running of the QCD fine structure constant  $\alpha_s = \frac{2\pi}{\omega_s}[56, 57, 58]$ . The size of this symmetry breaking can be quantified in terms of the trace of the improved energymomentum tensor,

$$\Theta_{\mu\nu}(x) \equiv -\frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta S_{\text{QCD}}}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}(x)} = q^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{(\mu} \,\mathrm{i} \, D_{\nu)} q + \overline{q}^{\dagger} \sigma_{(\mu} \,\mathrm{i} \, D_{\nu)} \overline{q} \qquad (3.6a)$$
$$-\frac{\omega_s}{32\pi^2} G_{\mu\alpha} G^{\alpha}_{\ \nu} - \eta_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{L}_{\text{QCD}} ,$$

where the symmetrized indices are defined such that  $T_{(\mu\nu)} \equiv 1/2(T_{\mu\nu} + T_{\nu\mu})$ . At tree-level,  $\Theta_{\mu\nu}$  can be simplified by using the classical equations of motion for the quark fields, which yields

$$\Theta_{\mu}^{\ \mu} \equiv \overline{q} M_q q + \text{h.c.}$$
 (3.6b)

The part of the symmetry breaking that is associated with the running of  $\alpha_s$  is captured by loops corrections to the trace relation (3.6b). In dimensional regularization, the transformation  $g^{\mu\nu} \rightarrow e^{-2t}g_{\mu\nu}$  modifies the renormalization scale  $\mu$ , giving  $\mu \rightarrow e^t \mu$ . Hence, the renormalized coupling  $\omega_s(\mu)$  has to be replaced with  $\omega_s(e^t\mu)$ , modifying the QCD Lagrangian (3.1). Working within the  $\overline{\text{MS}}$  scheme,  $\omega_s$  runs according to the renormalization group equation

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\omega_s}{\mathrm{d}t} = -\left(\frac{4\pi}{\alpha_s}\right)^2 \beta_s(\alpha_s) = \beta_0 + \frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\beta_1 + \dots , \qquad (3.7)$$

where the two leading coefficients of the beta function are [59, 55]

$$\beta_0 = \frac{11}{3}N_c - \frac{2}{3}N_f , \quad \beta_1 = \frac{34}{3}N_c^2 - 2\frac{N_c^2 - 1}{2N_c}N_f - \frac{10}{3}N_cN_f . \quad (3.8)$$

Accounting for the running at 1-loop, this yields the modified trace relation[60]

$$\Theta^{\mu}_{\mu} \equiv -\frac{\beta_0}{32\pi^2} G_{\mu\nu} G^{\mu\nu} + \overline{q} M_q q + \text{h.c.} \qquad (3.9)$$

In principle, the 1-loop trace relation receives further corrections from the anomalous dimensions of the quark masses[60], giving

$$M_q \to (\mathbb{1} + \gamma_M) M_q \ . \tag{3.10}$$

However, only the contribution from the running of  $\omega_s$  is relevant to the discussion in the remainder of this chapter, since it can be used to deduce the low energy realization of the gluon kinetic term by re-expressing it as a linear combination of the  $\Theta^{\mu}_{\mu}$ , the quark mass term, and other operators. For this purpose, the anomalous dimensions of the quark masses only yield a small correction compared to the contribution generated by the quark masses at tree level. Hence, it is sufficient to use relation (3.9) instead.

Aside from considerations of symmetry breaking, it is worth noting that the running of  $\alpha_s$  has profound consequences for the behaviour of QCD at low energies. Most strikingly, the renormalization group equation (3.7) exhibits a Landau pole at  $\Lambda_{\text{QCD}}^{\overline{\text{MS}}} = (332 \pm 17) \text{ MeV}[55]$ , which is ultimately what causes the the theory to be nonperturbative at low energies.

### 3.2.3 Large $N_c$ QCD

At low energies, QCD becomes nonperturbative, that is, the perturbative expansion in powers of  $\alpha_s$  no longer yields well defined experimental predictions. Instead, a physically meaningful theory can be obtained by expanding QCD in powers of  $\delta \equiv 1/N_c = 1/3$ , with the strict large  $N_c$  limit corresponding to  $N_c \to \infty$ . In this section, I introduce the basic power counting of the large  $N_c$  expansion in QCD using material collected from [61, 62, 63].

At first glance, the large  $N_c$  approach seems questionable, since one might expect that numerical prefactors could easily compensate for the "small" prefactor of 1/3. However, the large  $N_c$  expansion qualitatively reproduces a number of features of QCD at low energies, such as the OZI rule [64, 65, 66], which states that QCD diagrams are expected to be suppressed if they can be separated into disconnected subdiagrams by dropping all of the gluon lines. Furthermore, the large  $N_c$  expansion produces excellent predictions for certain observables, such as the neutral Kaon mixing parameter  $B_K$ . In the strict large  $N_c$  limit, one obtains  $B_K = 0.75$ , compared to  $B_K \approx (0.7625 \pm 0.97)$  from lattice QCD [67, 68, 69, 70]. That being said, improvements beyond the strict large  $N_c$ limit are technically challenging, and due to relatively large expansion parameter 1/3, the corresponding beyond leading order contributions may be sizable.

On a technical level, the  $N_c \to \infty$  limit has to be taken such that the QCD scale  $\Lambda_{\rm QCD}$  remains finite, since  $\Lambda_{\rm QCD}$  defines the typical energy scale of the nonperturbative physics in QCD. For instance, if the limit  $N_c \to \infty$  is taken while keeping  $g_s$  fixed, one finds that  $\Lambda_{\rm QCD} \to 0$ , and QCD remains perturbative at arbitrarily low energies. To retain a finite QCD scale  $\Lambda_{\rm QCD}$ , the strong coupling constant  $g_s$  has to be rescaled

such that  $\alpha'_s = \alpha_s N_c$  remains constant. Hence, each factor of  $g_s^2$  scales as  $1/N_c$ .

In terms of power counting, this implies that one has to keep track of factors of  $g_s$  as well as of explicit factors of  $N_c$ . Powers of  $g_s$  are counted just as in perturbative QCD:

- Working with canonically normalized fields, vacuum-to-vacuum diagrams in QCD can contain three-point vertices that scale as  $g_s$ , and four-point vertices that scale as  $g_s^2$ .
- Each power of the QCD theta angle  $\theta$  is associated with an extra factor of  $g_s^2$ .
- Correlation functions with gauge singlet quark bilinear can be evaluated by introducing terms  $\propto J\psi\psi$ , which contribute as two-point vertices that scale as  $g_s^0$ .
- Correlations functions with glueballs can be evaluated by introducing terms  $\propto JGG$ , which contribute as a combination of two-point, three-point, and four-point vertices that scale as  $g_s^0$ ,  $g_s^1$ , and  $g_s^2$ , respectively.
- If  $V_n$  denotes the total number of n-point vertices, the number of internal lines is given as  $2P = 2V_2 + 3V_3 + 4V_4$ .

In summary, each diagram scales as

$$g_s^{V_3+2V_4+2V_\theta} = g_s^{2P-2V+2V_\theta} , \qquad (3.11)$$

where  $V = V_2 + V_3 + V_4$  is the total number of vertices, and  $V_{\theta}$  denotes the number of vertices with a  $\theta$  angle.

Since the QCD Lagrangian contains no explicit factors of  $N_c$ , each factor of  $N_c$  is associated with a closed colour loop. To count these colour loops, it is convenient to use an alternative notation for Feynman diagrams that was invented by 't Hooft [71]. In this notation, gluon propagators are represented by a double line, since they carry two colour indices, while quark propagators are represented by a single line, since they carry only one colour index. The full Feynman rules for the double line notation can be found in [71, 61, 62, 63]. Using the double line notation, each QCD diagram defines a corresponding polyhedron:

- The three- and four point vertices corresponds to the vertices of the polyhedron, and each internal line, build from an alternating series of propagators and two-point vertices, corresponds to the edge of the polyhedron.
- In diagrams with no internal quark lines, each face of this polyhedron now corresponds to a closed colour loop.
- Internal quark lines have to form closed loops that are not associated with a factor of  $N_c$ , since the quark lines only carry a single colour index. Declaring the inside of each of these loops to be another face of the polyhedron, one finds that the number of colour loops is L = F Q, where F denotes the number of faces and Q denotes the number of quark loops inside the diagram.

This correspondence to polyhedrons is useful, since the numbers of vertices, edges, and faces of any polyhedron are related to each other by Eulers theorem, which states that F - P + V = 2 - 2H, where H is the genus of the polyhedron. Roughly, H can be thought of as counting the number of holes enclosed by the polyhedron. Putting everything together, one finds that each connected diagram scales as

$$g_s^{2P-2V+2V_{\theta}} N_c^{F-Q} = (g_s^2 N_c)^{P-V+V_{\theta}} N_c^{2-2H-Q-V_{\theta}} \\ \propto N_c^{2-2H-Q-V_{\theta}} .$$
(3.12)

This formula shows that connected diagrams scale at most as  $N_c^2$ , and each quark loop and each factor of  $\theta$  is suppressed by a factor of  $\delta = 1/N_c$ . If the number of quark loops and  $\theta$  insertions is kept fix, such as for pure gluon dynamics, subleading diagrams are suppressed by powers of  $\delta^2$ . Disconnected diagrams scale as the product of the scaling behaviour of each of their constituent diagrams, so they may scale as arbitrary powers of  $N_c$ .

Importantly, the above discussion does not just apply to vacuum diagrams, but also to connected diagrams contributing to correlation functions build from products of gauge invariant quark bilinears  $\mathcal{B}_n \propto \psi \psi$  and gluon bilinears  $\mathcal{G}_m \propto GG$ , with indices n and m iterating over some collection of such gauge singlets. Using the bare fields, one finds that

connected correlation functions scale as

$$\langle 0|\mathcal{T}\left\{\prod_{n}\mathcal{G}_{m}\right\}|0\rangle_{\text{conn.}} \propto N_{c}^{2}, \quad \langle 0|\mathcal{T}\left\{\prod_{n}\mathcal{B}_{n}\right\}|0\rangle_{\text{conn.}} \propto N_{c}, \quad (3.13)$$

which implies that they diverge as  $N_c \to \infty$ . However, the norms of asymptotic states have to remain finite as  $N_c \to \infty$ . To achieve this, the superfluous factors of  $N_c$  are absorbed into the wave function renormalization of  $\mathcal{B}_n$  and  $\mathcal{G}_n$ . Rescaling  $\mathcal{B}_n \to N_c^{-1/2} B_n$  and  $\mathcal{G}_n \to N_c^{-1} G_n$ , one finds that renormalized correlation functions scale as

$$\langle 0|\mathcal{T}\left\{\prod_{m} G_{m}\right\}|0\rangle_{\text{conn.}} \propto N_{c}^{2-m} \langle 0|\mathcal{T}\left\{\prod_{n} B_{n}\right\}|0\rangle_{\text{conn.}} \propto N_{c}^{(2-n)/2}$$
 (3.14)

so that the connected parts of higher order correlation functions vanish in the strict large  $N_c$  limit  $\delta \to 0$ . In particular, one has

$$\langle 0|\mathcal{T}\{G_a G_b\}|0\rangle = \langle 0|G_a|0\rangle\langle 0|G_b|0\rangle \times (1+O(\delta^2)) , \qquad (3.15)$$

$$\langle 0|\mathcal{T}\{B_a B_b\}|0\rangle = \langle 0|B_a|0\rangle\langle 0|B_b|0\rangle \times (1+O(\delta)) \quad . \tag{3.16}$$

since the connected parts scale as  $N_c^0$ , while the disconnected parts with two constituent diagrams scale as  $N_c$  (for the mesons  $B_n$ ) and  $N_c^2$  (for the glueballs  $G_m$ ), respectively.

### 3.2.4 Chiral Symmetry

Now, I review a few aspects of chiral symmetry, following the general introductions given in [10, 33, 11, 34, 35].

In addition to being scale invariant, the kinetic term (3.2a) is also invariant under chiral flavour rotations of the shape

$$q \to Vq$$
,  $\overline{q} \to \overline{q}\overline{V}$ , (3.17)

where  $V, \overline{V} \in U(3)$  are unitary  $3 \times 3$  matrices. The set of all possible chiral rotations is a representation of the symmetry group  $G \equiv U(3)_L \times U(3)_R = U(1)_L \times U(1)_R \times SU(3)_L \times SU(3)_R$ , and the 18 Noether currents associated with G are

$$L^{a}_{\mu} = \frac{1}{2}q^{\dagger}\lambda^{a}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}q , \qquad \qquad R^{a}_{\mu} = \frac{1}{2}\overline{q}\lambda^{a}\sigma_{\mu}\overline{q}^{\dagger} , \qquad (3.18)$$

where  $\lambda_0 \equiv \sqrt{2/3}\mathbb{1}$ , and the  $\lambda_i$  with  $i = 1, \ldots, 8$  denote the Gell-Mann matrices. The normalization for  $\lambda_0$  is chosen such that  $\langle \lambda_a \lambda_b \rangle = 2\delta_{ab}$ . One also obtains the 18 conserved charges

$$Q_L^a \equiv \int \mathrm{d}^3 x L_0^a , \qquad \qquad Q_R^a \equiv \int \mathrm{d}^3 x R_0^a . \qquad (3.19)$$

Finally, G contains an invariant subgroup  $H \equiv U(3)_V = U(1)_V \times SU(3)_V$ that is associated with the set of chiral rotations with  $\overline{V} = V^{\dagger}$ . Notice that the conserved charge  $Q_V^0$  associated with the  $U(1)_V$  symmetry is the baryon number of QCD.

The chiral symmetry of the kinetic Lagrangian (3.2a) is broken by the quark masses and the axial anomaly of QCD. It is useful to study this explicit symmetry breaking in more detail. The explicit symmetry breaking via the quark masses is straightforward, since the mass term

$$\overline{q}M_q q + \text{h.c.} \tag{3.20}$$

is evidently not invariant under the transformation (3.17). As the quark masses are unequal,  $m_u < m_d < m_s$ , the mass term (3.20) breaks not only G, but also the SU(3)<sub>V</sub> symmetry of H, so that only U(1)<sub>V</sub> symmetry associated with baryon number conservation is left unbroken.

Next, consider the axial anomaly. When rotating the quark fields according to (3.17), the accompanying transformation of the path integral measure generates an additional term in the action [72, 73, 74],

$$i\langle \ln V + \ln \overline{V} \rangle \ \omega(x) \ , \quad \text{where} \quad \omega(x) = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \widetilde{G}_{\mu\nu} G^{\mu\nu} \ , \quad (3.21)$$

so that the generating functional is only left unaltered if  $\ln \det \overline{V} = -\ln \det V$ . Hence, the  $U(1)_L \times U(1)_R$  symmetry contained in G is explicitly broken down to the  $U(1)_V$  symmetry contained in H, even in the absence of quark masses. For the divergence of the axial Noether current, one finds the Adler-Bell-Jackiew anomaly [75, 76, 77],

$$\partial_{\mu}(R^{0}_{\mu} - L^{0}_{\mu}) = \omega(x) .$$
 (3.22)

In the presence of a fixed gluon background, the size of the symmetry breaking can be quantified in terms of the winding number,

$$n \equiv \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \ \omega(x) \ . \tag{3.23}$$

In general, the QCD generating functional has to sum over gauge field configurations with arbitrary winding numbers. In this case, the size of the symmetry breaking can be quantified in terms of the "topological susceptibility" of QCD, which is defined to be the square average of the vacuum winding number density per spacetime volume,

$$\tau \equiv \frac{1}{V} \langle 0|n^2|0\rangle = -i \int d^4x \, \langle 0|\mathcal{T} \{\omega(x)\omega(0)\} \,|0\rangle \,. \tag{3.24}$$

Splitting spacetime into an infinite grid of hypercubes with finite volume, the path integral for each hypercube can be decomposed into a contribution from field configurations with integer valued winding number, and a remainder with fractional winding number between 0 and 1. The contribution from integer winding numbers can be thought of as the superposition of multi-instanton states that constitutes the true vacuum of QCD. It is possible to integrate out this instanton background, which was first done by 't Hooft [78, 79]. This way, one finds an additional contribution to the QCD action that can be seen to explicitly break the anomalous axial symmetry,

$$\kappa e^{\mathrm{i}\theta} \det(\overline{q} \otimes q) + \mathrm{h.c.} , \qquad (3.25)$$

where the constant  $\kappa$  is connected to the topological susceptibility  $\tau$ . The tensor product indicates that the flavour indices are not contracted with each other, so that  $\overline{q} \otimes q$  denotes a matrix in flavour space. det $(\overline{q} \otimes q)$  is an interpolating field for the pseudoscalar meson associated with the axial charge operator  $Q_A^0$ .

Notice that the axial anomaly (3.22) vanishes in the strict large  $N_c$  limit. Since diagrams contributing to the axial anomaly have to involve at least one quark loop, one has

$$\langle 0|\mathcal{T}\Big\{ \left[\partial^{\mu}(R-L)^{0}_{\mu}\right] \prod_{n} B_{n} \prod_{m} G_{m} \Big\} |0\rangle_{\text{conn.}}$$
$$= \langle 0|\mathcal{T}\Big\{ \omega \prod_{n} B_{n} \prod_{m} G_{m} \Big\} |0\rangle_{\text{conn.}} \propto N_{c}^{-(n+2m)/2} , \qquad (3.26)$$

where  $\omega \propto 1/N_c$ , as in canonical normalization  $\omega \propto g_s^2 \tilde{G} G$ . Since  $\omega |0\rangle$  has negative parity, one has  $\langle 0|\omega|0\rangle = 0$ . Hence, all of the correlation

functions (3.26) vanish in the large  $N_c$  limit. Assuming that the Fock space at low energies is spanned by the operators  $B_n$  and  $G_m$ , this implies that the chiral anomaly does indeed vanish for  $N_c \to \infty$ . For large but finite  $N_c$ , the effect of the axial anomaly can be reintroduced by evaluating the 't Hooft operator (3.25) at leading order in the large  $N_c$ expansion. Working at this level of accuracy, one obtains the logarithmic determinant

$$\kappa e^{i\theta} \ln \det(\overline{q} \otimes q) + h.c.$$
 (3.27)

### 3.2.5 Pseudo Nambu-Goldstone Bosons

Finally, I discuss the PNGBs of QCD. As before, I follow the general introductions given in [10, 33, 11, 34, 35].

Even in the absence of any explicit symmetry breaking, the QCD vacuum is not invariant under the action of G. More precisely, the finite value of the chiral quark condensate

$$B_0 \equiv \langle 0 | \overline{q}_a q_b + \text{h.c.} | 0 \rangle \neq 0 \tag{3.28}$$

implies that the nine axial charge operators  $Q_A^a \equiv Q_R^a - Q_L^a$  do not annihilate the vacuum,

$$Q_A^a|0\rangle \neq 0 . \tag{3.29}$$

This relation is what is meant when the group generators associated with the axial charges  $Q_A^a$  are said to be "spontaneously broken". In contrast, the nine vector charge operators  $Q_V^a = Q_R^a + Q_L^a$  do annihilate the vacuum,  $Q_V^a |0\rangle = 0$ , so that the associated finite chiral rotations with  $\overline{V} = V^{\dagger}$  leave the vacuum unchanged.

If QCD contained no source of explicit symmetry breaking, the Goldstone theorem would imply the existence of 9 massless, pseudoscalar Nambu-Goldstone bosons (=NGB)  $\tilde{\phi}_a$ , one for each generator of G that does not annihilate the vacuum. In this limit, the typical energy scale of the spontaneous symmetry breaking can be quantified in terms of the matrix element

$$\langle 0|(R-L)_a^{\mu}(x)|\widetilde{\phi}_b(p)\rangle = \mathrm{i}\,\delta_{ab}\frac{p^{\mu}}{\sqrt{(2\pi)^3 2p_0}} \cdot F e^{ixp} , \qquad (3.30)$$
where the shape of the matrix element (3.30) is fixed by Lorentz invariance, with the decay constant F as the only free parameter.

In reality, chiral symmetry is broken explicitly by the light quark masses and the axial anomaly of QCD, which can be captured in terms of the chiral symmetry breaking Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{broken}} \equiv -\overline{q}M_q q - \kappa e^{i\theta} \det(\overline{q} \otimes q) . \qquad (3.31)$$

Due to this explicit symmetry breaking, one obtains nine massive PNGBs  $\phi_a$ , rather than the massless NGBs  $\tilde{\phi}_a$ . The size of the mass matrix  $M_{ab}$  is determined by the size of the underlying explicit symmetry breaking,

$$M_{ab}^2 \propto \mathcal{L}_{broken}$$
 . (3.32)

The symmetry of the matrix element (3.30) is also broken explicitly, with each PNGB obtaining a distinct decay constant,  $F \to F_a$ . It is conventional to quantify the size of the spontaneous symmetry breaking in terms of the Pion decay constant  $F_{\pi}$ , since corrections from explicit symmetry breaking are expected to be small for the Pions in accordance with the small masses of the u and d quarks. Matching the matrix element (3.30) to the Pion decay width, one finds  $F_{\pi} \approx 93$  MeV [55].

The explicit symmetry breaking due to (3.31) vanishes in the chiral limit, which is obtained by taking  $M_q \to 0$  and  $N_c \to \infty$ . If it is possible to treat  $\mathcal{L}_{\text{broken}}$  as a perturbation about the chiral limit, the PNGBs modes can be constructed in the unperturbed theory. Assuming that the other resonances of QCD can not be excited, the resulting pseudoscalar fields can then be used as the fundamental building block of  $\chi$ PT. In this approach, the explicit symmetry breaking then has to be reintroduced as a perturbation on the level of  $\chi$ PT.

In the chiral limit, the QCD action is invariant under the general chiral rotations (3.17) with  $(V, \overline{V}) \in G = U(3)_L \times U(3)_R$ . Rotations that are part of the invariant subgroup  $H \cong U(3)_V$  leave the vacuum unchanged, while general chiral rotations can map physically different vacua onto each other, so that the symmetry of the theory under G is spontaneously broken. The set of distinct vacua is given the coset  $G/H \cong U(3)_A$ , which is isomorphic to the set of unitary  $3 \times 3$  matrices. According to the Goldstone theorem, each spontaneously broken generator of G corresponds to a massless NGB. Intuitively, the NGB modes are those excitations for which the field value at each point in space remains within the orbit of the vacuum state. More rigorously, the spin 0 mesons of QCD are created by the bosonic quark bilinears  $B_a^{\ b} \equiv q_a \bar{q}^b$ . The NGB modes can be isolated explicitly by means of a singular value decomposition,

$$B = UD\overline{U} = (U\overline{U})(\overline{U}^{\dagger}D\overline{U}) = g\hat{B} , \qquad (3.33)$$

where D is some diagonal matrix and the unitary matrix  $g = U\overline{U} \in U(3)_A \cong G/H$  collects the degrees of freedom that create and annihilate the NGB modes. The matrix g is the fundamental building block of  $\chi$ PT. It can be parametrized as

$$g = \exp\left(\mathrm{i}\frac{\Phi}{f}\right) , \qquad \Phi = \phi_a \lambda_a , \qquad (3.34)$$

where the constant f is a free parameter that has to be determined by matching it to the pion decay constant (??), and the  $\phi_a$  are the individual NGB fields. Since g is a unitary matrix, its determinant has to be a complex phase,

det 
$$g = e^{i\psi}$$
,  $\psi = -i\ln\det g = \frac{\sqrt{6}\phi_0}{f}$ . (3.35)

It is conventional to write g in terms of states with definite charge and strangeness,

$$\pi_{0} \equiv \phi_{3} , \qquad \pi^{\pm} \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\phi_{1} \mp i \phi_{2}) , \qquad (3.36)$$
  

$$\eta_{0} \equiv \phi_{0} , \qquad K^{\pm} \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\phi_{4} \mp i \phi_{5}) , \qquad (3.86)$$
  

$$\eta_{8} \equiv \phi_{8} , \qquad K^{0} = (\overline{K}^{0})^{\dagger} \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\phi_{6} - i \phi_{7}) .$$

Collectively, the  $\pi^0$ ,  $\pi^{\pm}$ ,  $K^0$ ,  $\overline{K}^0$ ,  $K^{\pm}$ , and  $\eta^8$  states transform as an octet under H, while the  $\eta^0$  transforms as a singlet under H.

Experimentally, there are nine light pseudoscalar mesons with masses below 1 GeV, the heaviest of which is the  $\eta'$  meson with  $M_{\eta'} = 958$  MeV.

The remaining eight mesons are much lighter, with masses ranging from  $M_{\pi} = 135 - 139$  MeV for the Pions to  $M_K = 493 - 497$  GeV for the Kaons and  $M_{\eta} = 548$  MeV for the  $\eta$  meson.

The central insight exploited by  $\chi PT$  is that these nine pseudoscalar mesons can be identified with the PNGBs (3.36). For the Pions and Kaons, this identification is straightforward, but the situation is more complicated for the  $\eta$  mesons. In fact, the  $\eta$  and  $\eta'$  mesons are the result of mass mixing between the octet PNGB  $\eta^8$  and the singlet PNGB  $\eta^0$ .

So far, I have talked of  $\chi PT$  as a single effective theory of the light pseudoscalar mesons. In fact, the internal mass hierarchy of the light pseudoscalar mesons leads to an ambiguity in terms of which PNGBs need to be used to construct  $\chi PT$ . Focusing on Kaon decays, there are two relevant candidate versions:

- The U(3) version of  $\chi$ PT, which is constructed by using the full nonet (3.36) of PNGBs associated with the explicitly broken chiral symmetry group  $G = U(3)_L \times U(3)_R$  of QCD.
- The SU(3) version of  $\chi$ PT which is constructed by using only the octet of PNGBs associated with the explicitly broken subgroup  $G' \equiv SU(3)_L \times SU(3)_R \subset G.$

The U(3) version of  $\chi$ PT captures all nine pseudoscalaer mesons. To construct it, one has to assume that the explicit symmetry breaking due to the light quark masses and the axial anomaly can be treated as a perturbation about the chiral limit, in which G is not broken explicitly. To obtain the chiral limit for G, one has to neglect the quark masses and take  $N_c \to \infty$ , where the large  $N_c$  limit is necessary to have the axial anomaly vanish. Hence, the U(3) version of  $\chi$ PT relies on the validity of the large  $N_c$  expansion.

On the other hand, the SU(3) version of  $\chi$ PT only captures the dynamics of the Kaons and Pions, but it can be constructed without appealing to the large  $N_c$  limit. In this theory, the explicit symmetry breaking due to the axial anomaly is not considered to be perturbatively small, so that one retains only the eight PNGBs associated with the explicit symmetry breaking of the subgroup G'. Besides the three Pions and the four Kaons, this version of  $\chi$ PT contains a final  $\eta^8$  meson, which completes the octet. Neglecting the mass mixing with the  $\eta^0$  meson, the  $\eta^8$  can be approximately identified with the  $\eta$  meson.

To capture the coupling of  $\chi PT$  to external pseudoscalar fields via operators such as  $S G_{\mu\nu} \tilde{G}^{\mu\nu}$ , it is necessary to keep track of the singlet  $\eta^0$  meson. Since my goal is to construct a PET  $\chi PT$  Lagrangian that accounts for the coupling to *general* external sectors, I will use the U(3) version of  $\chi PT$  in the remainder of this work. See also section 3.4.1 for a more detailed discussion.

# 3.3 QCD in the Presence of External Currents

In this section, I construct the external currents that summarize the coupling of QCD to hidden sectors captured by the PET framework of chapter 2. For completeness sake, I also list the SM contributions to the external currents, which are well known.

Finally, I present two short computations that prepare the subsequent discussions in sections 3.4 and 3.5: In subsection 3.3.2, I compute the modifications that the trace relation (3.6b) receives in the presence of generic external currents. In subsection 3.3.3, I decompose the objects A, B, and C into contributions that transform as members of irreducible representations of G, an rewrite the four quark Lagrangian in terms of these constituent currents.

### 3.3.1 The Interaction Lagrangian

In the presence of sectors that are external to QCD, the QCD Lagrangian is augmented by an "interaction" sector that collects all of the perturbative interactions involving the external fields,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{QCD}} \to \mathcal{L}_{\text{QCD}} + \delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{int}}$$
 (3.37)

In this notation, the interaction Lagrangian contains both the electromagnetic and weak SM interactions as well as the coupling to hidden sectors.

In general, QCD couples to the remainder of the SM via the electromagnetic interactions mediated by the photons, and via the higher dimensional operators associated with virtual exchanges of the heavy SM bosons. In what follows, I neglect the higher dimensional SM operators, unless they mediate  $|\Delta F| = 1$  transitions. To first order in  $1/M_W^2$ , the only available operators of this type are either dipole type operators or four quark operators.

Within the PET framework, the coupling to hidden sectors is mediated by the operators collected in section 2.4. Neglecting virtual heavy boson exchanges, the portal Lagrangian consists of operators with dimension  $d \leq 5$ , which contain either two quark fields with no derivatives or two gluon fields. As in the SM case, higher dimensional portal operators are negligible, unless they mediate  $|\Delta F| = 1$  transitions. Furthermore, I also neglect portal operators for which the power counting rules of NDA a relative suppression of at least  $1/(4\pi)$  compared to the leading order portal operators. The relevant subset of higher dimensional operators has been collected in table 2.2. These operators either contain two quarks and no derivatives, four quarks, or a dipole type interaction.

In summary, the full interaction Lagrangian with SM and portal contributions can be cast as

$$\delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{int}} \equiv -q^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} l_{\mu} q - \overline{q} \sigma^{\mu} r_{\mu} \overline{q}^{\dagger} - a G_{\mu\nu} G^{\mu\nu} - \widetilde{a} G_{\mu\nu} \widetilde{G}^{\mu\nu} \qquad (3.38)$$
$$- \left[ \overline{q} \left( s + i \, p \right) q + \text{h.c.} \right] + \mathcal{L}_{\text{dipole}} + \mathcal{L}_{\overline{q}q\overline{q}q} ,$$

where  $\mathcal{L}_{dipole}$  collects the dipole contributions,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{dipole}} = -\overline{q}\,\overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}t_{\mu\nu}q - \overline{q}\,\xi\overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}G_{\mu\nu}q + \text{h.c.} , \qquad (3.39)$$

and  $\mathcal{L}_{\bar{q}q\bar{q}q}$  collects the four quark interactions,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\bar{q}q\bar{q}q} = -A^{bd}_{ac}(q^{\dagger a}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}q_{b})(q^{\dagger c}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}q_{d})$$

$$-B^{b\dot{d}}_{a\dot{c}}(q^{\dagger a}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}q_{b})(\bar{q}^{\dagger}_{\dot{c}}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}\overline{q}^{\dot{d}}) - C^{\dot{b}d}_{a\dot{c}}(q^{\dagger a}\overline{q}^{\dagger}_{\dot{b}})(\overline{q}^{\dot{c}}q_{d}) .$$

$$(3.40)$$

The external currents  $k \in \{l_{\mu}, r_{\mu}, s, p, \xi, t_{\mu\nu}\}$  are  $3 \times 3$  matrices in flavour space, while the external currents  $M \in \{A, B, C\}$  transform as tensor products of matrices in flavour space. The two remaining currents a and  $\tilde{a}$  are flavour singlets. Further, the dotted and undotted *latin* indices in the four quark Lagrangian denote quantities that transform as members of the fundamental representation of the chiral flavour symmetry groups  $U_R(3)$  and  $U_L(3)$ , respectively<sup>1</sup>.

I decompose all of the currents into contributions from the SM and hidden sectors,

$$k = k^{\rm SM} + k^{\rm BSM}$$
,  $M = M^{\rm SM} + M^{\rm BSM}$ . (3.41)

The currents s, p, a, and  $\tilde{a}$  do not receive SM contributions. However, it is useful to combine s, p, and  $\tilde{a}$  with the corresponding chiral symmetry

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This notation is inspired by, and not to be confused with, the familiar dot notation used in supersymmetry, where the dotted and undotted *greek* indices denote quantities that transform as members of the  $(\frac{1}{2}, 0)$  and  $(0, \frac{1}{2})$  representations of the Lorentz group.

breaking contributions in QCD proper,

$$\chi = M_q + s + ip , \qquad \qquad \vartheta \equiv \theta + \widetilde{a} . \qquad (3.42)$$

For the matrix valued currents, I define the orthonormal basis vectors  $(Q_i^j)_{kl} \equiv \delta_{ik}\delta_{jl}$ . I also separate these currents into a quark flavour conserving and a quark flavour violating part,

$$k = k_{\Delta F=0} + k_{\Delta F=1} , \qquad (3.43)$$

where

$$k_{\Delta F=0} = \begin{pmatrix} k_{\overline{u}u} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & k_{\overline{d}d} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & k_{\overline{s}s} \end{pmatrix} \qquad k_{\Delta F=1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & k_{\overline{u}d} & k_{\overline{u}s}\\ k_{\overline{d}u} & 0 & k_{\overline{d}s}\\ k_{\overline{s}u} & k_{\overline{s}d} & 0 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(3.44)

The currents  $l_{\mu}$ ,  $r_{\mu}$ , s, and p are hermitian, giving

$$k_{\overline{u}d} = \left(k_{\overline{d}u}\right)^{\dagger}, \qquad k_{\overline{u}s} = \left(k_{\overline{s}u}\right)^{\dagger}, \qquad k_{\overline{d}s} = \left(k_{\overline{s}d}\right)^{\dagger}. \tag{3.45}$$

#### **SM** Contributions

For completeness sake, I begin by summarizing the SM contributions to the external currents. In general, these contributions are well known, but the SM contributions to the four quark Lagrangian (3.40) are usually not written in terms of four objects like A, B, and C, see e.g. the treatments in[80, 81, 82, 83, 84, 85, 86, 50, 87]. Hence, this section is also intended to provide the explicit mapping between the standard notation for the four quark Lagrangian and the external current notation that I use in the remainder of this chapter.

the remainder of this chapter. The SM contributions  $l_{\mu}^{\text{SM}}$  and  $r_{\mu}^{\text{SM}}$  encode the electromagnetic coupling of QCD to the SM photons, and the weak coupling to leptonic charged and neutral currents. The electromagnetic coupling is mediated by the interaction Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm em} \equiv -q^{\dagger} Q A_{\mu} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q - \overline{q} Q A_{\mu} \sigma^{\mu} \overline{q}^{\dagger} , \qquad (3.46)$$

where  $Q \equiv \text{diag}(+1/3, -2/3, -2/3)$  is the quark charge matrix, which is not to be confused with the orthogonal basis matrices  $Q_i^j$ . At leading

order in  $1/M_W^2,$  the coupling to leptonic charged currents is mediated by the interactions Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{\overline{\nu}l\overline{q}q} \equiv -2\sqrt{2}G_F \left[q^{\dagger} (V_{\overline{u}d}Q_1^2 + V_{\overline{u}s}Q_1^3)\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}q\right] J_{+\mu} + \text{h.c.} , \qquad (3.47)$$

$$J_{+\mu} = \left(J_{-\mu}\right)^{\dagger} = \sum_{a \in e, \mu} \left(l_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \nu_a\right) , \qquad (3.48)$$

and  $G_F \equiv \sqrt{2}g^2/8M_W^2 \approx 1.17 \cdot 10^{-5} \,\text{GeV}^{-2}$  is the Fermi constant. Leptonic neutral current couplings are quark flavour conserving and hence negligible. In summary,

$$(r_{\mu})^{\text{SM}}_{\Delta F=0} = QA_{\mu} , \qquad (l_{\mu})^{\text{SM}}_{\Delta F=0} = QA_{\mu} , \qquad (3.49)$$

and

$$(l_{\mu})_{\Delta F=1}^{\rm SM} \equiv 2\sqrt{2} \, G_F \Big( \left[ V_{\overline{u}d} Q_1^2 + V_{\overline{u}s} Q_1^3 \right] J_{+\,\mu} + \text{h.c.} \Big) \,. \tag{3.50}$$

The currents  $t_{\mu\nu}^{\text{SM}}$  and  $\xi^{\text{SM}}$  encode electro- and chromomagnetic quark dipole interactions. At 1-loop, one has [88]

$$(t_{\mu\nu})_{\overline{a}b}^{\rm SM} = \frac{1}{3} \frac{m_a}{(4\pi)^2} G_F \sum_{f=u,c,t} d_f V_{\overline{a}f}^{\dagger} V_{\overline{f}b} F_{\mu\nu} , \qquad (3.51a)$$

$$\xi_{\overline{a}b}^{\rm SM} = \frac{m_a}{(4\pi)^2} G_F \sum_{f=u,c,t} \widetilde{d}_f V_{\overline{a}f}^{\dagger} V_{\overline{f}b} , \qquad (3.51b)$$

where the Wilson coefficients  $d_f(\mu)$  and  $\tilde{d}_f(\mu)$  have to be determined by matching the low energy effective theory to the full SM. As they appear only in higher dimensional operators, I retain only the quark flavour changing  $|\Delta F| = 1$  contributions. Hence,

$$t_{\mu\nu}^{\rm SM} = QM_q \left( Q_2^3 \frac{1}{m_d} (t_{\mu\nu})_{\overline{ds}}^{\rm SM} + \text{h.c.} \right) , \qquad (3.52a)$$

$$\xi^{\rm SM} = M_q \left( Q_2^3 \frac{1}{m_d} \xi_{\bar{d}s}^{\rm SM} + \text{h.c.} \right)$$
 (3.52b)

The SM contributions to the currents  $A^{\text{SM}}$ ,  $B^{\text{SM}}$ , and  $C^{\text{SM}}$  are constant and function as coupling strengths for the SM four quark

interactions. Usually, the four quark part of the SM Lagrangian is cast as [86, 50, 87]

$$\Delta \mathcal{L}_{\bar{q}q\bar{q}q} \equiv -2\sqrt{2}G_F |V|_{ds}^2 \sum_i c_i(\mu)O_i + \text{h.c.} , \qquad (3.53)$$

where  $|V|_{ds}^2 \equiv V_{\overline{u}d}V_{\overline{u}s}^*$ , and the  $O_i$  denote four quark operators mediating purely hadronic  $\Delta F = 1$  transitions. Neglecting electromagnetic penguins, there are six six relevant four quark operators [80, 81, 82, 83, 89, 85],

$$O_1 = (s^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} u)(u^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} d) , \qquad O_2 = (s^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} d)(u^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} u) , \qquad (3.54a)$$

$$O_3 = (s^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} d) (q^{\dagger a} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_a) , \qquad O_4 = (s^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_a) (q^{\dagger a} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} d) , \qquad (3.54b)$$

$$O_5 = (s^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} d) (\overline{q}^{\dagger}_{\dot{a}} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \overline{q}^{\dot{a}}) , \qquad O_6 = (s^{\dagger} \overline{q}^{\dagger}_{\dot{a}}) (\overline{q}^{\dot{a}} d) . \qquad (3.54c)$$

Rewriting the four quark Lagrangian in terms of A, B, and C, this gives the contributions

$$(A^{\rm SM})_{ac}^{bd} = 2\sqrt{2}G_F |V|_{ds}^2 \Big[ c_1(Q_3^1)_a^b (Q_1^2)_c^d + c_2(Q_3^2)_a^b (Q_1^1)_c^d + c_3(Q_3^2)_a^b \mathbb{1}_c^d + c_4 \sum_i (Q_3^i)_a^b (Q_i^2)_c^d \Big] + \text{h.c.} , (B^{\rm SM})_{ac}^{bd} = 2\sqrt{2}G_F |V|_{ds}^2 c_5(Q_3^2)_a^b (\mathbb{1}_{3\times3})_c^d + \text{h.c.} , (C^{\rm SM})_{ac}^{bd} = 2\sqrt{2}G_F |V|_{ds}^2 c_6 \sum_i (Q_3^i)_a^b (Q_i^2)_c^d + \text{h.c.} .$$
(3.55)

## **Hidden Sector Contributions**

Now, I summarize the external current contributions generated by the GeV scale portal operators collected in section 2.4.

I begin by considering the contributions generated by portal operators of dimension  $d \leq 5$ . Using the the list of operators in section 2.4, one has

$$s = \epsilon C_{s_i} S_i , \qquad a = \frac{\epsilon}{M_W} C_{a_i} S_i , \qquad r_{\mu}^{\text{BSM}} = \epsilon C_{r,v} V_{\mu} , \qquad (3.56)$$
$$p = \epsilon C_{p_i} S_i , \qquad \tilde{a} = \frac{\epsilon}{M_W} \tilde{C}_{a_i} S_i , \qquad l_{\mu}^{\text{BSM}} = \epsilon C_{l,v} V_{\mu} ,$$

where the Wilson coefficients  $C_{a_i}$  and  $\tilde{C}_{a_i}$  are flavour singlets, while the remaining Wilson coefficients  $C_X$  are  $3 \times 3$  matrices in flavour space that contain both quark flavour conserving and quark flavour changing contributions. Since the portal operators have to be uncharged, one has the restriction

$$(C_X)_{\overline{d}u} = (C_X)_{\overline{u}d} = (C_X)_{\overline{s}u} = (C_X)_{\overline{s}u} = 0.$$
(3.57)

Higher dimensional operators contribute to the currents  $l_{\mu}$ , s, p,  $\xi$ ,  $t_{\mu\nu}$ , A, B, and C. As before, I include only  $|\Delta F| = 1$  contributions. For the currents  $l_{\mu}$ , s, p these contributions yield the modifications

$$s \rightarrow s + \epsilon G_F \left[ m_{\text{LE}} C_{s_i s_j} S_i S_j + C_{s_i s_j s_k} S_i S_j S_k \qquad (3.58) \right. \\ \left. + C_{s_i,\partial^2} \partial^2 S_i + \frac{1}{M_W} C_{s_i s_j s_k s_l} S_i S_j S_k S_l \right] ,$$
$$p \rightarrow p + \epsilon G_F \left[ m_{\text{LE}} C_{p_i p_j} S_i S_j + C_{p_i p_j p_k} S_i S_j S_k \right. \\ \left. + C_{p_i,\partial^2} \partial^2 S_i + \frac{1}{M_W} C_{p_i p_j p_k p_l} S_i S_j S_k S_l \right] ,$$

and

$$\begin{split} l^{\rm BSM}_{\mu} &\to l^{\rm BSM}_{\mu} + \epsilon \, G_F \left[ C_{l,S_i \partial S_j} \left( S_i \overleftrightarrow{\partial}_{\mu} S_j \right) + \frac{C_{l,S_i \nu_a \nu_b}}{M_W} \, S_i (\nu_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \nu_b) \right. \\ &+ \frac{C_{l,S_i e_a \nu_b}}{M_W} \, S_i (e_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \nu_b) + C_{l,e_a \xi} (\overline{e}_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \xi_i) \\ &+ C_{l,\nu_a \xi_i} (\overline{\nu}_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \xi_i) + C_{l,\xi_i \xi_j} (\xi_i^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \xi_j) + \text{h.c.} \right] \,, \end{split}$$

where  $m_{\text{LE}}$  is some low energy mass scale that has to be inserted to ensure that the Lagrangian is of dimension d = 4. The normalization is chosen such that the higher dimensional operators are suppressed by an explicit factor of  $G_F$ . As I only include higher dimensional operators that are quark flavour violating and uncharged, most of the entries in the Wilson coefficient matrices  $C_X$  vanish. Up to hermitian conjugates, the only nonvanishing entries are

$$(C_{l,S_ie\nu})_{\overline{d}u} , \quad (C_{l,S_ie\nu})_{\overline{s}u} , \quad (C_{l,e\xi_i})_{\overline{d}u} , \quad (C_{l,e\xi_i})_{\overline{s}u} , \quad (C_X)_{\overline{d}s} \quad (3.59)$$

for the remaining Wilson coefficient matrices. The dipole currents  $\xi$  and  $t_{\mu\nu}$  receive the contributions

$$\xi^{\text{BSM}} = \epsilon \, G_F \, C_{\xi S_i} \, S_i \,, \qquad t^{\text{BSM}}_{\mu\nu} = \epsilon \, G_F \, C_{tS_i} \, S_i F_{\mu\nu} \,, \qquad (3.60)$$

where the only nonvanishing entries in the Wilson coefficient matrices are

$$(C_{\xi S_i})_{\overline{d}s} , \qquad (C_{\xi S_i})_{\overline{s}d} , \qquad (C_{tS_i})_{\overline{d}s} , \qquad (C_{tS_i})_{\overline{s}d} . \qquad (3.61)$$

The contributions to  $A^{\text{BSM}}$ ,  $B^{\text{BSM}}$ , and  $C^{\text{BSM}}$  are generated by a set of four quark operators that mirror the SM four quark operators (3.54a). Neglecting electromagnetic penguin operators, one has

$$\widetilde{O}_{1} = (s^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} u) (u^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} d) S_{i} , \qquad \widetilde{O}_{2} = (s^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} d) (u^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} u) S_{i} , \qquad (3.62)$$

$$\widetilde{O}_{3} = (s^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} d) (q^{\dagger a} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_{a}) S_{i} , \qquad \widetilde{O}_{4} = (s^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_{a}) (q^{\dagger a} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} d) S_{i} , \qquad \widetilde{O}_{5} = (s^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} d) (\overline{q}_{a}^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \overline{q}^{a}) S_{i} , \qquad \widetilde{O}_{6} = (s^{\dagger} \overline{q}_{a}^{\dagger}) (\overline{q}^{a} d) S_{i} .$$

These operators yield the contributions

$$(A^{\text{BSM}})_{ac}^{bd} = 2\sqrt{2} G_F |V|_{ds}^2 \left[ \tilde{c}_{i,1}(Q_3^1)_a^b (Q_1^2)_c^d + \tilde{c}_{i,2}(Q_3^2)_a^b (Q_1^1)_c^d \right. \\ \left. + \tilde{c}_{i,3}(Q_3^2)_a^b \mathbb{1}_c^d + \tilde{c}_{i,4} \sum_j (Q_3^j)_a^b (Q_j^2)_c^d \right] \epsilon \frac{S_i}{M_W} + \text{h.c.} , \\ (B^{\text{BSM}})_{a\dot{c}}^{b\dot{d}} = 2\sqrt{2} G_F |V|_{ds}^2 \tilde{c}_{i,5}(Q_3^2)_a^b (\mathbb{1}_{3\times3})_{\dot{c}}^{\dot{d}} \epsilon \frac{S_i}{M_W} + \text{h.c.} , \\ (C^{\text{BSM}})_{a\dot{c}}^{\dot{b}d} = 2\sqrt{2} G_F |V|_{ds}^2 \tilde{c}_{i,6} \sum_j (Q_3^j)_a^b (Q_j^2)_{\dot{c}}^{\dot{d}} \epsilon \frac{S_i}{M_W} + \text{h.c.} .$$
(3.63a)

For the four quark operators, I define

$$x_{i,j} \equiv \frac{\widetilde{c}_{i,j}}{c_i}$$
,  $d_i \equiv c_i \left( 1 + \sum_j x_{j,i} \frac{\epsilon}{M_W} S_j \right)$ . (3.64)

In general, the BSM Wilson coefficient matrices  $C_x$  and  $\tilde{c}_{i,j}$  encode the dependence on UV and electroweak scale physics. At order  $\epsilon/M_W^3$ , the anomalous dimensions of the  $\tilde{c}_{i,j}$  do not receive any contributions from hidden sector interactions. Such a contribution would have to be generated by a 1PI diagram with at least one hidden vertex, which would imply the presence of at least two portal vertices. However, each portal vertex carries a factor of  $\epsilon$ , giving a total parametric suppression of at least  $\epsilon^2$ . On the other hand, SM diagrams will contribute equally to the anomalous dimensions of  $c_i$  and  $\tilde{c}_{j,i}$  if the hidden scalar field is evaluated at zero momentum. Therefore, I expect that the ratio  $x_{i,j} = \tilde{c}_{i,j}/c_i$  is approximately renormalization scale independent.

### 3.3.2 Explicit Breaking of Scale Invariance

The various external currents explicitly break scale invariance and chiral invariance, which implies that they contribute to the divergence of the conserved currents (3.18) and to the trace of the improved energy momentum tensor  $\Theta_{\mu\nu}$ ,

Tp prepare the estimation of the new LECs in section 3.5, I compute the tree-level modifications of  $\Theta^{\mu}_{\mu}$  in the presence of generic external currents. Using the general definition of the energy momentum tensor given in (3.6a), one finds

$$\Theta_{\mu\nu} = q^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{(\mu} (i D - l)_{\nu)} q + \overline{q} \sigma_{(\mu} (i D - r)_{\nu)} \overline{q}^{\dagger} - 2(\overline{q} \xi \overline{\sigma}^{\alpha}_{\ (\mu} G_{\alpha\nu)} q + \overline{q} \overline{\sigma}^{\alpha}_{\ (\mu} t_{\alpha\nu)} q + h.c.) - \frac{1}{16\pi^{2}} (\omega_{s} + a) G_{\mu\alpha} G^{\alpha}_{\ \nu} - \eta_{\mu\nu} (\mathcal{L}_{\text{QCD}} + \delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{int}}) .$$
(3.65)

As in the case of pure QCD, one can use classical equations of motion to simplify this expression. In the presence of the external currents, the classical equations of motion for the quark fields become

$$\overline{\sigma}^{\mu} i D_{\mu} \overline{q}^{\dot{a}} = (\chi^{*} q^{\dagger} + \sigma^{\mu\nu} t^{*}_{\mu\nu} q^{\dagger} + \xi^{*} \sigma^{\mu\nu} G_{\mu\nu} q^{\dagger} + \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} r^{T}_{\mu} \overline{q})^{\dot{a}} \qquad (3.66a)$$

$$- \left[ B^{b\dot{a}}_{c\dot{d}} \sigma^{\mu} \overline{q}^{\dot{d}} (q^{\dagger c} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_{b}) - C^{\dot{a}\dot{d}}_{b\dot{c}} q^{\dagger}_{b} (\overline{q}^{\dot{c}} q_{d}) \right] ,$$

$$\overline{\sigma}^{\mu} i D_{\mu} q_{a} = (\chi^{\dagger} \overline{q}^{\dagger} - \sigma^{\mu\nu} t^{\dagger}_{\mu\nu} \overline{q}^{\dagger} - \xi^{\dagger} \sigma^{\mu\nu} G_{\mu\nu} \overline{q}^{\dagger} + \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} l_{\mu} q)_{a} \qquad (3.66b)$$

$$+ \left[ 2A^{bd}_{ac} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_{b} (q^{\dagger c} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_{d}) + B^{b\dot{d}}_{a\dot{c}} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_{b} (\overline{q}^{\dot{c}} \sigma^{\mu} \overline{q}^{\dagger}_{\dot{d}}) + C^{\dot{b}d}_{a\dot{c}} \overline{q}^{\dagger}_{\dot{b}} (\overline{q}^{\dot{c}} q_{d}) \right] ,$$

$$\sigma^{\mu} i D_{\mu} \overline{q}^{\dagger}_{\dot{a}} = (\chi q + \overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} t_{\mu\nu} q + \xi \sigma^{\mu\nu} G_{\mu\nu} q - \sigma^{\mu} r_{\mu} \overline{q}^{\dagger})_{\dot{a}} \qquad (3.66c)$$

$$+ \left[ B_{c\dot{a}}^{b\dot{d}} \sigma^{\mu} \overline{q}_{\dot{d}}^{\dagger} (q^{\dagger c} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_{b}) + C_{c\dot{a}}^{b\dot{d}} q_{d} (q^{\dagger c} \overline{q}_{\dot{b}}^{\dagger}) \right] ,$$
  

$$\sigma^{\mu} i D_{\mu} q^{\dagger a} = \left( \chi^{T} \overline{q} - \overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} t_{\mu\nu}^{T} \overline{q} - \xi^{T} \sigma^{\mu\nu} G_{\mu\nu} \overline{q} - \sigma^{\mu} l_{\mu}^{T} q^{\dagger} \right)^{a} \qquad (3.66d)$$
  

$$- \left[ 2A_{bc}^{ad} \sigma^{\mu} q^{\dagger b} (q^{\dagger c} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_{d}) + B_{a\dot{c}}^{b\dot{d}} \sigma_{\mu} q_{b}^{\dagger} (\overline{q}^{\dot{c}} \sigma^{\mu} \overline{q}_{\dot{d}}^{\dagger}) - C_{d\dot{b}}^{\dot{c}a} \overline{q}^{\dot{b}} (\overline{q}_{\dot{c}}^{\dagger} q^{\dagger d}) \right] ,$$

Using the quark field equations of motion to simplify this expression at tree level, one finds the tree-level trace relation

$$\Theta^{\mu}_{\mu} \equiv \left(\bar{q}\chi q + \text{h.c.}\right) + \mathcal{L}_{\text{dipole}} - \mathcal{L}_{\bar{l}l\bar{q}q} + 2\mathcal{L}_{\bar{q}q\bar{q}q} .$$
(3.67)

Keeping track of the  $\omega_s$  running, the modified trace relation becomes

$$\Theta^{\mu}_{\mu} \equiv -\frac{\beta_0}{32\pi^2} G^a_{\mu\nu} G^{\mu\nu}_a + (\bar{q}\chi q + \text{h.c.}) + \mathcal{L}_{\text{dipole}} - \mathcal{L}_{\bar{l}l\bar{q}q} + 2\mathcal{L}_{\bar{q}q\bar{q}q} .$$
(3.68)

# 3.3.3 Generalized Chiral Symmetry

The external currents explicitly break the chiral symmetry of QCD in the sense that the full QCD action with external currents is not invariant under the transformation (3.17). However, the generating functional

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\text{QCD}} = \mathcal{Z}_{\text{QCD}}[\chi, l_{\mu}, r_{\mu}, \xi, t_{\mu\nu}, A, B, C]$$
(3.69)

is invariant under the local  $\mathrm{U}(3)_L \times \mathrm{U}(3)_R$  transformation

$$l_{\mu} \to V l_{\mu} V^{\dagger} - i V \partial_{\mu} V^{\dagger} , \qquad \chi \to \overline{V}^{\dagger} \chi V^{\dagger} , \qquad (3.70a)$$

$$r_{\mu} \to \overline{V}^{\dagger} r_{\mu} \overline{V} - i \overline{V}^{\dagger} \partial_{\mu} \overline{V} , \qquad \xi \to \overline{V}^{\dagger} \xi V^{\dagger} , \qquad (3.70a)$$

$$\vartheta \to \vartheta - i \operatorname{tr} \ln V \overline{V} , \qquad t_{\mu\nu} \to \overline{V}^{\dagger} t_{\mu\nu} V^{\dagger} ,$$

$$A_{a\ c}^{b\ d} \to (V)_{a}^{\ u} (V^{\dagger})_{v}^{\ b} (V)_{c}^{\ x} (V^{\dagger})_{y}^{\ d} A_{u\ x}^{v\ y} , \qquad (3.70b)$$

$$B_{a\ c}^{b\ d} \to (V)_{a}^{\ u} (V^{\dagger})_{v}^{\ b} (\overline{V}^{\dagger})_{c}^{\ \dot{x}} (\overline{V})_{\dot{y}}^{\ \dot{d}} B_{u\ \dot{x}}^{v\ \dot{y}} ,$$

$$C_{a\ \dot{c}}^{\dot{b}\ d} \to (V)_{a}^{\ u} (\overline{V})_{\dot{y}}^{\dot{b}} (\overline{V}^{\dagger})_{\dot{c}}^{\ \dot{x}} (V)_{v}^{\ d} C_{u\ \dot{x}}^{\ \dot{y}\ v} ,$$

since the resulting modifications can be eliminated by means of the variable transformation

$$q_a \to (Vq)_a , \qquad \qquad \overline{q}^{\dot{a}} \to (\overline{q}\overline{V})^{\dot{a}} . \qquad (3.71)$$

As before, the dotted and undotted latin indices to denote quantities transforming as members of the fundamental representations of  $U(3)_R$  and  $U(3)_L$ , respectively.

In standard treatments of  $\chi PT$  [10, 11, 34, 35], an analogous symmetry that transforms only the currents  $l_{\mu}$ ,  $r_{\mu}$ ,  $\chi$ , and  $\vartheta$  is used to construct the  $\chi PT$  action in the presence of these external currents, and in [37], this procedure has been extended to account for the tensor currents  $t_{\mu\nu}$ .

Here, I consider the generalized symmetry defined by both (3.70a) and (3.70b), which also transforms the external currents A, B, C, and  $\xi$ , in order to construct the full action of  $\chi$ PT in the presence of all 10 external currents. For this purpose, it is useful to decompose the currents A, B, and C into constituents transforming as members of irreducible representations of  $U(3)_R \times U(3)_L$ . First, consider the current A. It only carries lefthanded indices, and transforms as a member of the representation

$$(3 \otimes \overline{3}) \otimes (3 \otimes \overline{3}) = (8 \oplus 1) \otimes (8 \oplus 1)$$
  
=  $27_S \oplus 8_S \oplus 1_S \oplus 8_A \oplus 1_A + \dots,$  (3.72)

where subscripts on the righthand side denote irreducible representations that are either fully symmetric and fully antisymmetric. The dots ... signify that I have neglected contributions from mixed symmetric representations. A receives no contributions from these representations, since  $(q^{\dagger a} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_b)(q^{\dagger c} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_d)$  has to be symmetric under  $(a, b) \leftrightarrow (c, d)$ . Hence, A can be decomposed as

$$A_{a\ c}^{\ b\ d} = \frac{1}{3} \delta_{[a}^{\ [b\ }\delta_{c]}^{\ d]} \mathcal{A}_{1} + 4 \delta_{[a}^{\ [b\ }\mathcal{A}_{8c]}^{\ d]} + \frac{1}{6} \delta_{(a}^{\ (b\ }\delta_{c)}^{\ d)} \mathcal{S}_{1} + \frac{4}{5} \delta_{(a}^{\ (b\ }\mathcal{S}_{8c)}^{\ d)} + \mathcal{S}_{27a\ c}^{\ b\ d} , \qquad (3.73a)$$

where<sup>2</sup>

$$\mathcal{A}_{1} \equiv A_{[x \ y]}^{[x \ y]} , \qquad \qquad \mathcal{S}_{1} \equiv A_{(x \ y)}^{(x \ y)} , \qquad (3.73b)$$
$$\mathcal{A}_{8a}^{\ b} \equiv A_{[a \ x]}^{[b \ x]} - \frac{1}{3} \delta_{a}^{\ b} \mathcal{A}_{1} , \quad \mathcal{S}_{8a}^{\ b} \equiv A_{(a \ x)}^{(b \ x)} - \frac{1}{3} \delta_{a}^{\ b} \mathcal{S}_{1} ,$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> As before, I (anti-)symmetrize indices such that  $T^{(\mu\nu)} = 1/2(T^{\mu\nu} + T^{\nu\mu})$  and  $T^{[\mu\nu]} = 1/2(T^{\mu\nu} - T^{\nu\mu})$ .

$$S_{27a}{}^{b\ d}_{c} \equiv A_{(a\ c)}^{(b\ d)} - \frac{4}{5} (\delta_{(a}{}^{(b}\mathcal{S}_{8c)}{}^{d)} - \frac{1}{6} \delta_{(a}{}^{(b}\delta_{c)}{}^{d)}\mathcal{S}_{1} , \qquad (3.73c)$$

Next, consider B and C. At order in  $\epsilon/M_W^3$ , only the lefthanded quarks couple to the  $W^{\pm}$  bosons. In principle, the SM mass terms and the hidden sector Yukawa interactions of the type  $S\bar{q}q$  can induce chirality flips, but the corresponding four quark operators only contribute at order  $\epsilon/M_W^4$ . Hence, both B and C have to transform as singlets under U(3)<sub>R</sub>, giving

$$B_{a\ \dot{c}}^{\ b\ \dot{d}} \equiv B_{8a}^{\ b}\delta_{\dot{c}}^{\ \dot{d}} + \frac{1}{9}\delta_{a}^{\ b}\delta_{\dot{c}}^{\ \dot{d}}B_{1} , \quad C_{a\ \dot{c}}^{\ \dot{b}\ d} \equiv C_{8a}^{\ b}\delta_{\dot{c}}^{\ \dot{d}} + \frac{1}{9}\delta_{a}^{\ b}\delta_{\dot{c}}^{\ \dot{d}}C_{1} , \quad (3.74a)$$

where

$$B_{8a}{}^{b} \equiv \frac{1}{3} \left( B_{a}{}^{b}{}^{\dot{x}}{}^{\dot{x}} - \frac{1}{3} \delta_{a}{}^{b} B_{1} \right) , \qquad B_{1} \equiv B_{x}{}^{x}{}^{\dot{y}}{}^{\dot{y}} , \qquad (3.74b)$$

$$C_{8a}^{\ b} \equiv \frac{1}{3} \left( C_{a \ \dot{x}}^{\ b \ \dot{x}} - \frac{1}{3} \delta_{a}^{\ b} C_{1} \right) , \qquad C_{1} \equiv C_{x \ \dot{y}}^{\ x \ \dot{y}} . \qquad (3.74c)$$

The operators associated with the singlet contributions  $\mathcal{A}_1$ ,  $\mathcal{S}_1$ ,  $\mathcal{B}_1$ ,  $C_1$  are quark flavour conserving and therefore negligible. In terms of the octet and 27-plet constituent currents, the four quark Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\bar{q}q\bar{q}q} = -S_{27a} {}^{b}_{c} {}^{d}O_{S_{27b}} {}^{a}_{d} {}^{c} - \langle S_{8}O_{S_{8}} + \mathcal{A}_{8}O_{\mathcal{A}_{8}} + B_{8}O_{B_{8}} + C_{8}O_{C_{8}} \rangle .$$
(3.75a)

where  $\langle \cdot \rangle$  denotes a quark flavour trace, and the individual contributions are

$$\begin{split} O_{\mathcal{S}_8 a}{}^b &\equiv \frac{2}{5} \big[ (q^{\dagger a} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_b) (q^{\dagger x} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_x) + (q^{\dagger a} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_x) (q^{\dagger x} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_b) \big] \\ &\quad - \frac{2}{15} \delta_a{}^b \big[ (q^{\dagger y} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_y) (q^{\dagger x} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_x) + (q^{\dagger y} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_x) (q^{\dagger x} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_y) \big] , \\ O_{\mathcal{A}_8 a}{}^b &\equiv 2 \big[ (q^{\dagger a} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_b) (q^{\dagger x} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_x) - (q^{\dagger a} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_x) (q^{\dagger x} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_b) \big] \\ &\quad - \frac{2}{3} \delta_a{}^b \big[ (q^{\dagger y} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_y) (q^{\dagger x} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_x) - (q^{\dagger y} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_x) (q^{\dagger x} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_y) \big] , \\ O_{B_8 a}{}^b &\equiv (q^{\dagger b} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_a) (\overline{q}^{\dagger}_{\dot{x}} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \overline{q}^{\dot{x}}) - \frac{1}{3} \delta_a{}^b (q^{\dagger y} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_y) (\overline{q}^{\dagger x} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} \overline{q}^{\dot{x}}) , \\ O_{C_8 a}{}^b &\equiv (q^{\dagger b} \overline{q}^{\dagger}_{\dot{x}}) (\overline{q}^{\dot{x}} q_a) - \frac{1}{3} \delta_a{}^b (q^{\dagger y} \overline{q}^{\dagger y}) , \end{split}$$

$$O_{\mathcal{S}_{27b}}{}_{d}{}^{a}{}^{c} \equiv \frac{1}{2} \left[ (q^{\dagger a} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_{b}) (q^{\dagger c} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_{d}) + (q^{\dagger a} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_{d}) (q^{\dagger c} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_{b}) \right] - \delta_{(a}^{\ (b} O_{\mathcal{S}_{8c}}{}^{d)} \\ - \frac{1}{12} \delta_{(a}^{\ (b} \delta_{c)}{}^{d)} \left[ (q^{\dagger x} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_{x}) (q^{\dagger y} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_{y}) + (q^{\dagger x} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_{y}) (q^{\dagger y} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_{x}) \right] + \delta_{(a}^{\ (b} \delta_{c)}{}^{d} \left[ (q^{\dagger x} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_{x}) (q^{\dagger y} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_{y}) + (q^{\dagger x} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_{y}) (q^{\dagger y} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_{x}) \right] + \delta_{(a}^{\ (b} \delta_{c)}{}^{d} \left[ (q^{\dagger x} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_{x}) (q^{\dagger y} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_{y}) + (q^{\dagger x} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_{y}) (q^{\dagger y} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_{x}) \right] + \delta_{(a}^{\ (b} \delta_{c)}{}^{d} \left[ (q^{\dagger x} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_{x}) (q^{\dagger y} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_{y}) + (q^{\dagger x} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_{y}) (q^{\dagger y} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_{x}) \right] + \delta_{(a}^{\ (b} \delta_{c)}{}^{d} \left[ (q^{\dagger x} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_{x}) (q^{\dagger y} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_{y}) + (q^{\dagger x} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_{y}) (q^{\dagger y} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_{x}) \right] + \delta_{(a}^{\ (b} \delta_{c)}{}^{d} \left[ (q^{\dagger x} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_{x}) (q^{\dagger y} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_{y}) + (q^{\dagger x} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_{y}) (q^{\dagger y} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q_{x}) \right]$$

The octet contributions  $M_8 \in \{\mathcal{A}_8, \mathcal{S}_8, \mathcal{B}_8, \mathcal{C}_8\}$  are traceless, hermitian  $3 \times 3$  matrices, and can be written as a linear combination of the Gell-Mann matrices. The uncharged  $|\Delta F| = 1$  contributions are proportional to  $Q_2^3$  and  $Q_3^2$ , which project unto  $s \leftrightarrow d$  transitions. Since I neglect quark flavour conserving contributions, I replace

$$M_8 \to Q_3^2 \langle Q_2^3 M_8 \rangle + \text{h.c.} , \qquad (3.76a)$$

where

$$\langle Q_3^2 B_8 \rangle = |V|_{ds}^2 d_5, \ \langle Q_3^2 S_8 \rangle = |V|_{ds}^2 \frac{1}{4} \left[ (d_1 + d_2) + 5(d_3 + d_4) \right], \ (3.76b)$$
  
$$\langle Q_3^2 C_8 \rangle = |V|_{ds}^2 d_6, \ \langle Q_3^2 A_8 \rangle = |V|_{ds}^2 \frac{1}{4} (d_2 - d_1 + d_4 - d_3),$$

and  $d_i \equiv c_i(1 + \sum_j x_{j,i} \cdot \epsilon^{S_j/M_W})$  as before. The 27-plet contribution  $(S_{27})_{b\ d\ c}^{a\ c}$  is fully tracelesss and symmetric under any contraction and permutation of indices. As with the octet operators, I keep only the uncharged  $|\Delta F| = 1$  contributions, which are proportional to  $(\mathcal{S}_{27})_{s q}^{d q}$  with q = u, d, s and permutations thereof. Using the flavour structure of the  $O_i$  and  $\tilde{O}_i$  four quark operators, one finds

$$S_{27d} {}^{s s}_{s} = S_{27d} {}^{s d}_{d} = -\frac{1}{2} S_{27d} {}^{s u}_{u} , \qquad (3.77)$$

so that one can replace

$$S_{27a} {}^{b}{}^{d}{}^{d}O_{S_{27b}} {}^{d}{}^{c}{}^{c} \to 4 S_{27d} {}^{s}{}^{u}O_{S_{27s}} {}^{d}{}^{u} + 2 S_{27d} {}^{s}{}^{d}O_{S_{27s}} {}^{d}{}^{d}{}^{d} + 2 S_{27d} {}^{s}{}^{s}O_{S_{27s}} {}^{d}{}^{s}{}^{s}{}^{s} + \text{h.c.}$$

$$= 6 S_{27d} {}^{s}{}^{u}O_{S_{27s}} {}^{d}{}^{u}{}^{u} + 4 S_{27d} {}^{s}{}^{d}O_{S_{27s}} {}^{d}{}^{d}{}^{d} + 2 S_{27d} {}^{s}{}^{d}O_{S_{27s}} {}^{d}{}^{d}{}^{d} + 2 S_{27d} {}^{s}{}^{d}O_{S_{27s}} {}^{d}{}^{d}{}^{d} + 2 S_{27d} {}^{s}{}^{d}O_{S_{27s}} {}^{d}{}^{d}{}^{d}{}^{d} + 2 S_{27d} {}^{s}{}^{d}O_{S_{27s}} {}^{d}{}^{d}{}^{u}{}^{d} + \text{h.c.}$$

$$= 5 S_{27d} {}^{s}{}^{u}O_{S_{27s}} {}^{d}{}^{u}{}^{u}{}^{u} + \text{h.c.}$$

$$(3.78)$$

Hence, the four quark Lagrangian can be cast as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\bar{q}q\bar{q}q} = -5 \mathcal{S}_{27d} {}^{su}_{u} (O_{\mathcal{S}_{27}})^{du}_{su} - \langle Q_2^3 \mathcal{S}_8 \rangle \langle Q_3^3 O_{\mathcal{S}_8} \rangle$$

$$- \langle Q_2^3 \mathcal{A}_8 \rangle \langle Q_3^3 O_{\mathcal{A}_8} \rangle - \langle Q_2^3 B_8 \rangle \langle Q_3^2 O_{B_8} \rangle - \langle Q_2^3 C_8 \rangle \langle Q_3^2 O_{C_8} \rangle.$$

$$(3.79)$$

# 3.4 Construction of the PET $\chi$ PT Lagrangian

In this section, I construct a generalized action for  $\chi$ PT in the presence of the external currents collected in the interaction Lagrangian (3.38), which captures the portal interactions between the light pseudoscalar mesons and hidden sectors at order  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$ .

### 3.4.1 General Considerations

To construct the generalized  $\chi PT$  action, I follow the same general strategy used for deriving the action of  $\chi PT$  in the SM, see e.g. the general introductions in [30, 10, 31, 32, 33, 11, 34, 35].

In this approach, the coupling to external sectors is included using the external current picture, and the associated explicit symmetry breaking of the QCD chiral symmetry is considered to be a perturbation about the chiral limit, in which chiral symmetry is only broken spontaneously.  $\chi$ PT itself is then constructed in two steps: First, the PNGB are constructed for the unperturbed, that is, spontaneously broken, theory. This way, one can deduce the transformation behaviour of the PNGBs under general chiral rotations. Using both the PNGB of the chiral limit and the external currents as building blocks, the actual  $\chi$ PT Lagrangian is then constructed using a spurion analysis.

#### U(3) vs. SU(3) Chiral Perturbation Theory

As the first step, one has to decide which version of  $\chi PT$  to use. For many applications, it is possible to avoid having to rely on the large  $N_c$ limit by working exclusively within the SU(3) version of  $\chi PT$ . However, to account for the coupling of QCD to the flavour blind  $\tilde{a}$  current, one has to retain the singlet PNGB  $\eta^0$  associated with the explicitly broken U(1)<sub>A</sub> symmetry, since the interaction term  $\tilde{a}\tilde{G}_{\mu\nu}G^{\mu\nu}$  hadronizes such that  $\tilde{a}$  couples only to the singlet PNGB<sup>3</sup>. One might think to avoid this problem by first eliminating the  $\tilde{a}\tilde{G}_{\mu\nu}G^{\mu\nu}$  coupling by means of a local, axial rotation, in order to then work with the SU(3) of  $\chi PT$ . However, the current  $\tilde{a}$  would reappear as a flavour blind contribution

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Intuitively, this may be expected due to  $\widetilde{G}_{\mu\nu}G^{\mu\nu}$  itself transforming as a pseudo-scalar flavour singlet.

to the other pseudoscalar current p, and it turns out that such a flavour blind contribution also couples only to the  $\eta^0$ . This is hardly surprising, since a field redefinition should not alter the underlying physics. Hence, the singlet PNGB has to be included for a full accounting of the coupling of  $\chi$ PT to hidden sectors, which implies that one has to work within the full U(3) version of  $\chi$ PT, just as is the case for studies of the effect of isospin-breaking on the  $\epsilon'/\epsilon$  ratio [90].

### **Symmetries**

Besides the PNGB fields, the  $\chi$ PT Lagrangian can contain the external currents or their derivatives. The  $\chi$ PT generating functional has to remain invariant under the local chiral transformation of the external currents (3.70a). Combining the field redefinition (3.71) with relation (3.33), one finds that the  $\chi$ PT action should be invariant under (3.70a), if the PNGB fields are simultaneously shifted as

$$g \to V g \overline{V}$$
,  $\psi = \to \psi - i \langle \ln V + \ln \overline{V} \rangle$ . (3.80)

As with gauge transformations, objects with derivatives  $\partial_{\mu}$  are not necessarily covariant under the local field redefinition (3.80). Following the standard approach, I use the external currents  $l_{\mu}$  and  $r_{\mu}$  to construct covariant derivatives

$$i D_{\mu} T_{a_{1}...a_{n}, \dot{c}_{1}...\dot{c}_{p}}^{b_{1}...b_{m}, \dot{d}_{1}...\dot{d}_{q}} = i \partial_{\mu} T_{a_{1}...a_{n}, \dot{c}_{1}...\dot{c}_{q}}^{b_{1}...b_{m}, \dot{d}_{1}...\dot{d}_{q}}$$

$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} (l_{\mu})_{a_{i}}^{\dot{x}} T_{a_{1}...a_{i-1} x a_{i+1}...a_{n}, \dot{c}_{1}...\dot{c}_{p}}^{\dot{x}}$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{p} (r_{\mu})_{\dot{c}_{k}}^{\dot{x}} T_{a_{1}...a_{n}, \dot{c}_{1}...\dot{c}_{p-1} \dot{x} \dot{c}_{k+1}...\dot{c}_{p}}^{\dot{x}}$$

$$- \sum_{j=1}^{m} (l_{\mu})_{x}^{b_{j}} T_{a_{1}...a_{n}, \dot{c}_{1}...\dot{c}_{p}}^{b_{1}...b_{m}, \dot{d}_{1}...\dot{d}_{q}}$$

$$- \sum_{l=1}^{q} (r_{\mu})_{\dot{x}}^{\dot{d}_{l}} T_{a_{1}...a_{n}, \dot{c}_{1}...\dot{c}_{p}}^{b_{1}...b_{m}, \dot{d}_{1}...\dot{d}_{p}}$$

$$(3.81)$$

For g and  $\psi$ , this gives

$$D_{\mu}g \equiv \partial_{\mu}g + i l_{\mu}g - i g r_{\mu} , \qquad (3.82a)$$

$$D_{\mu}\psi \equiv i\langle gD_{\mu}g^{\dagger}\rangle = \partial_{\mu}\psi - \langle r_{\mu} - l_{\mu}\rangle , \qquad (3.82b)$$

where as before  $r_{\mu} = r_{\mu}^{\text{SM}} + r_{\mu}^{\text{BSM}}$  and  $l_{\mu} = l_{\mu}^{\text{SM}} + l_{\mu}^{\text{BSM}}$  contain both electroweak and hidden current contributions. In full analogy with actual gauge fields, I also define the "field strength tensors"

$$L_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}l_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}l_{\mu} - \mathbf{i}[l_{\mu}, l_{\nu}] , \qquad (3.83a)$$

$$R_{\mu\nu} = g \Big( \partial_{\mu} r_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu} r_{\mu} - \mathbf{i} [r_{\mu}, r_{\nu}] \Big) g^{\dagger} . \qquad (3.83b)$$

In principle, one also has to keep track of the covariant derivatives for the remaining external currents. At the level of accuracy in this work, only derivatives of  $\vartheta$  contribute to the PET  $\chi$ PT Lagrangian. Hence, it is sufficient to define

$$D_{\mu}\vartheta = \partial_{\mu}\vartheta - \langle r_{\mu} - l_{\mu} \rangle . \qquad (3.84)$$

#### **Power Counting**

In terms of power counting, the U(3) version of the  $\chi$ PT Lagrangian is defined as a simultaneous expansion in powers of  $p^2/\Lambda_{\chi}^2$  and  $1/N_c$ , where  $\Lambda_{\chi} \equiv 4\pi F_{\pi} = 1.169 \text{ GeV}$  is defined in terms of the Pion decay constant [36, 11]. Accounting for weak and hidden sector contributions, one also has to count powers of  $1/M_W^2$  and  $\epsilon$ .

First, consider the power counting rules for the  $p^2/\Lambda_{\chi}^2$  expansion. Since  $F_{\pi}$  defines the typical energy scale of  $\chi$ PT, this expansion has to be justified by means of the <sup>1</sup>/4 $\pi$  counting scheme of NDA [21]. According to the rules of NDA, each derivative counts as  $\partial^2 \sim p^2/\Lambda_{\chi}^2$ , while powers of the PNGB fields  $\phi_a$  have to be counted as  $\mathcal{O}(1)$ . Further, the  $l_{\mu}$  and  $r_{\mu}$  currents have to be counted as derivatives,  $l_{\mu}, r_{\mu} \sim p/\Lambda_{\chi}$ . The power counting of the remaining external currents is determined by the induced PNGB masses, since physical matrix elements have to be expanded in  $M_{\pi}^2/\Lambda_{\chi}^2$  as well as  $p^2/\Lambda_{\chi}^2$ . Using relation (3.32), one finds  $M_{\pi}^2 \propto \chi, \xi, t_{\mu\nu}$ , so that one has to count these currents as  $p^2/\Lambda_{\chi}^2$  as well. Alternatively, the power counting of  $\chi, \xi$ , and  $t_{\mu\nu}$  can also be deduced from the scaling behaviour of on-shell matrix elements, see [91, 34, 37].

Second, consider the  $1/N_c$  expansion. For the most part, I follow the  $N_c$  counting rules established in [11]. Using canonically normalized fields, the external current  $\tilde{a}$  appears in conjunction with a factor of  $g_s^2 = (g'_s)^2/N_c$ , where  $g'_s$  is the rescaled QCD coupling that is held fix when taking the large  $N_c$  limit. At the level of  $\chi PT$ , this implies that each factor of a and  $\vartheta$  is associated with a power of  $1/N_c$ , while the remaining external currents have to be counted as  $\mathcal{O}(1)$ . Furthermore, each flavour trace in the  $\chi$ PT Lagrangian has to be associated with a closed quark loop, which implies that it counts as  $1/N_c$ . In particular, one has  $\psi \sim 1/N_c$ for each power of  $\psi$ . Accounting for the currents a, A, B, and C, I alter these rules in two ways: Firstly, the currents a also appears conjunction with a factor of  $g_s^2 = (g_s')^2/N_c$ , so that also has to be associated with a power of  $1/N_c$ . Second, flavour traces  $\langle \cdot \rangle$  have to be counted as  $\mathcal{O}(1)$ when they appear in operators involving the four quark currents A, B. C, since vertices such as  $q^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q q^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}_{\mu} q$  are not accounted for in the large  $N_c$  power counting rule (3.12).

Finally, one has to specify how  $p^2/\Lambda_{\chi}^2$  and  $1/N_c$  and should be counted in relation to each other. In the remainder of this chapter, I follow the approach of [11] and adopt the counting  $1/N_c \sim p^2/\Lambda_{\chi}^2 \sim \delta$ , with  $\delta$ being some generic small parameter. When considering Kaon decays, this counting is sensible, since  $M_K^2/\Lambda_{\chi}^2 \approx 1/4$  turns out to be numerically comparable to 1/3. At lower energies, i.e. at  $s/\Lambda_{\chi}^2 \approx m_{\pi}^2/\Lambda_{\chi}^2 \approx 0.01$ , the small momentum is a much better expansion parameter than  $1/N_c$ , so that the standard  $p^2/\Lambda_{\chi}^2 \sim \delta$ ,  $1/N_c \sim 1$  power counting used in the SU(3) version of  $\chi$ PT is more appropriate.

Using the  $1/N_c \sim p^2/\Lambda_{\chi}^2 \sim \delta$  counting, one has

$$g, A, B, C \sim 1$$
;  $\partial_{\mu}, r_{\mu}, l_{\mu} \sim \sqrt{\delta}$ ;  $\psi, \langle \cdot \rangle, a, \vartheta, \chi, \xi, t_{\mu\nu} \sim \delta$ , (3.85)

with the one exception that flavour traces have to be counted as  $\langle \cdot \rangle \sim 1$  in operators with A, B, or C.

# 3.4.2 The generalized $\chi PT$ Action

Neglecting the explicit symmetry breaking, the  $\chi$ PT action can contain only g and its derivatives. Once the various sources of electroweak symmetry breaking are included, the  $\chi$ PT action also contains the external currents a,  $\vartheta$ ,  $l_{\mu}$ ,  $r_{\mu}$ ,  $\chi$ ,  $\xi$ ,  $t_{\mu\nu}$ , A, B, and C. Even without electroweak corrections, the SM  $\chi$ PT action already contains contributions involving the external currents  $\vartheta$ ,  $l_{\mu}$ ,  $r_{\mu}$ ,  $\chi$ . Typically, this part of the action is derived without assuming a specific shape for the generic external currents  $\vartheta$ ,  $l_{\mu}$ ,  $r_{\mu}$ , and  $\chi$ , so that it is fully general, see e.g. [36, 11]. The remaining currents a,  $\xi$ ,  $t_{\mu\nu}$ , A, B, and C are either suppressed by a factor of  $\epsilon$  or  $1/M_W^2$ , so they can only appear linearly. Hence, I decompose the generalized  $\chi$ PT action as

$$S_{\chi} \equiv S_{\chi,s} + \delta S_{\chi,\text{dipole}} + \delta S_{\chi,\overline{q}q\overline{q}q} + \delta S_{\chi,a} , \qquad (3.86)$$

where

$$S_{\chi,s}[\vartheta, l_{\mu}, r_{\mu}, \chi] = S_{\chi,\text{SM}} \Big|_{G_F \to 0}$$
(3.87)

denotes the part of the action that mirrors the action for  $\chi PT$  in the SM without electroweak contributions. The dipole action  $\delta S_{\chi,\text{dipole}}$  collects contributions that involve  $\xi$  or  $t_{\mu\nu}$ , and the four quark action  $\delta S_{\chi,\bar{q}q\bar{q}q}$ collects contributions that involve A, B, or C. Both  $\delta S_{\chi,\text{dipole}}$  and  $\delta S_{\chi,\bar{q}q\bar{q}q}$  contain SM contributions that are well-known, and can be found in e.g. [48, 49, 50, 37]. They can also involve the currents  $\vartheta, \chi, l_{\mu}$ , and  $r_{\mu}$ , but not the external current a. All terms with a, and in particular the electroweak corrections with both a and the electroweak currents  $\xi$ ,  $t_{\mu\nu}, A, B$ , and C, are collected in  $\delta S_{\chi,a}$ . Some of the contributions in  $\delta S_{\chi,a}$  have been derived already in [52], which studied the coupling of  $\chi PT$  to a light Higgs boson. Here, I study the coupling of  $\chi PT$  to the more general case of a generic scalar current a, which includes the case of a light Higgs boson as a special case.

It is interesting to note that the leading order contributions to the SM  $\chi$ PT action  $S_{\chi,s}$  are suppressed by factor of  $\delta^2$  compared to the leading order diagrams in the large  $N_c$  limit in QCD, which are expected to scale as  $\mathcal{O}(N_c^2 p^0)$ . For the SM  $\chi$ PT action  $S_{\chi,s}$ , I consider both the leading order contributions at  $\mathcal{O}(\delta^2)$ , and the next-to-leading order contributions at order  $\mathcal{O}(\delta^3)$ . There are two reasons for this: First, certain important processes, such as neutral Pion decays  $\pi \to \gamma \gamma_{\text{Dark}}$  only appear at order  $\mathcal{O}(\delta^3)$ . Second, the  $\mathcal{O}(\delta^3)$  contributions turn out to relevant for the leading order estimation of the new low energy constants (=LECs) that appear in the weak sector in the presence of hidden sectors.

In contrast, I explicitly construct only the leading order contributions for  $\delta S_{\chi,\text{dipole}}$ ,  $\delta S_{\chi,\overline{q}q\overline{q}q}$ , and  $\delta S_{\chi,a}$ . These contributions enter at order  $\mathcal{O}(\delta^2)$  for  $\delta S_{\chi,\overline{q}q\overline{q}q}$ , and at order  $\mathcal{O}(\delta^3)$  for  $\delta S_{\chi,\text{dipole}}$  and  $\delta S_{\chi,a}$ . While nextto-leading order corrections are expected to be important for quantitative determination of decay widths and scattering amplitudes, a complete construction of the next-to-leading order contributions is beyond the scope of this work. The leading order contributions are expected to be sufficient to constrain the order of magnitude of the portal sector Wilson coefficients defined in section 3.5.

### The $\Delta F = 0$ SM $\chi$ PT Action with External Currents

I begin by summarizing the SM  $\chi$ PT action  $S_{\chi,s}[l_{\mu}, r_{\mu}, \vartheta, \chi]$ , which contains the modifications due to the presence of generic external currents  $l_{\mu}, r_{\mu}, \chi$ , and  $\vartheta$ . At leading order, one has [36, 11]

$$\mathcal{L}_{\chi,\mathrm{s}}^{(2)} = \frac{f^2}{4} \langle D^{\mu} g^{\dagger} D_{\mu} g \rangle + \frac{f^2}{4} b \langle g \chi + g^{\dagger} \chi^{\dagger} \rangle - \frac{1}{12} f^2 m_{\psi}^2 \left( \psi - \vartheta \right)^2 . \quad (3.88)$$

The operators  $\propto (\psi - \vartheta)$  and  $i\langle g\chi - h.c. \rangle$  are forbidden by parity conservation, while  $D_{\mu}\psi D^{\mu}\psi$  is of order  $\mathcal{O}(\delta^3)$  due to the additional flavour trace. In terms of power counting, the first two terms in Eq. (3.88) contribute as  $\mathcal{O}(p^2N_c)$ , while the final singlet mass term  $\propto m_{\psi}^2$  contributes as  $\mathcal{O}(p^0N_c^0)$ .

Neglecting higher order corrections, the parameters f, b, and  $m_{\psi}$  are in simple correspondence with the Pion decay constant  $F_{\pi}$ , the chiral quark condensate  $B_0$ , and the vacuum susceptibility  $\tau$ ,

$$F_{\pi} = f\left(1 + \mathcal{O}(\delta)\right), \qquad B_0 = b\left(1 + \mathcal{O}(\delta)\right), \qquad (3.89a)$$

$$\tau = \frac{1}{6} f^2 m_{\psi}^2 \left( 1 + \mathcal{O}(\delta) \right) \,. \tag{3.89b}$$

The leading order classical equation of motion can be obtained by varying the Lagrangian (3.86) with respect to g [30, 10, 34]. Since  $g + \delta g$  has to be unitary,  $\delta g$  can be cast as

$$g + \delta g \equiv (\mathbb{1} + i\lambda_a \Delta_a)g + \mathcal{O}(\Delta^2) , \qquad (3.90)$$

where the  $\Delta_a$  with  $a = 0, \ldots, 8$  are arbitrary real-valued functions. For  $a \neq 0$ , it is sufficient to vary the first two terms in (3.86), giving

$$0 \stackrel{!}{=} \langle \lambda_a \,\mathrm{i}(D^2 g g^{\dagger} - g D^2 g^{\dagger} + g \chi - \chi^{\dagger} g^{\dagger}) \rangle \,. \tag{3.91}$$

For a = 0, one also has to vary the final term, since  $\delta \psi = \sqrt{6} \Delta_0 / f$ . This gives

$$0 \stackrel{!}{=} \langle \lambda_0 \operatorname{i}(D^2 g g^{\dagger} - g D^2 g^{\dagger} + g \chi - \chi^{\dagger} g^{\dagger}) \rangle - \frac{1}{\sqrt{6}} f m_{\psi}^2 \left(\psi - \vartheta\right) . \quad (3.92)$$

Since any hermitian  $3 \times 3$  matrix can be written as  $M = \frac{1}{2}\lambda_a \langle \lambda_a M \rangle$ , this implies the matrix-valued equation of motion

$$0 \stackrel{!}{=} i(D^2 g g^{\dagger} - g D^2 g^{\dagger} + g \chi - \chi^{\dagger} g^{\dagger}) - \frac{1}{6} f m_{\psi}^2 (\psi - \vartheta) 1 , \qquad (3.93)$$

so that in higher order contributions, the object  $(gD^2g^{\dagger}-h.c.)$  can always be eliminated in favour of contributions containing  $\chi$  or  $\psi$ . At the same time, one has the general identity

$$0 = D^2(gg^{\dagger}) = D^2gg^{\dagger} + gD^2g^{\dagger} + 2D_{\mu}gD^{\mu}g^{\dagger} , \qquad (3.94)$$

so that the object  $(gD^2g^{\dagger} + h.c.)$  can always be eliminated in favour of contributions containing the object  $gD_{\mu}g^{\dagger}$ . For the construction of the remaining contributions to the  $\chi$ PT action, it is useful to define the fully lefthanded objects,

$$L_{\mu} = \mathrm{i} \, g D_{\mu} g^{\dagger} \,, \qquad \qquad X = b \, g \chi \,. \tag{3.95}$$

It can be shown that  $L_{\mu}$  is the  $\chi$ PT low energy realization of the lefthanded Noether current (3.18).

At order  $\mathcal{O}(\delta^3)$ , the action picks up two types of contributions: First, there are contribution obtained by using the standard methods of constructing effective Lagrangians. Second, there is the Wess-Zumino-Witten (WZW) term  $S_{WZW}$ , which is an anomalous contribution that cannot be written straightforwardly in terms of a Lagrangian density [92]. The non-anomalous contribution is [11]

$$\mathcal{L}_{\chi,s}^{(3)} = L_2 \langle L_\mu L_\nu L^\mu L^\nu \rangle + (2L_2 + L_3) \langle L_\mu L^\mu L_\nu L^\nu \rangle$$

$$+ L_5 \langle L_\mu L^\mu (X + X^\dagger) \rangle + L_8 \langle XX + X^\dagger X^\dagger \rangle$$

$$- i L_9 \langle L^\mu L^\nu (L_{\mu\nu} + R_{\mu\nu}) \rangle + L_{10} \langle R_{\mu\nu} L^{\mu\nu} \rangle$$

$$+ f_\pi^2 \Lambda_1 D_\mu \psi D^\mu \psi - i f_\pi^2 \Lambda_2 (\psi - \vartheta) \langle X - X^\dagger \rangle$$

$$+ H_0 D_\mu \vartheta D^\mu \vartheta + H_1 \langle R_{\mu\nu} R^{\mu\nu} + L_{\mu\nu} L^{\mu\nu} \rangle + H_2 \langle X^\dagger X \rangle .$$
(3.96)

As before, the operator  $(\psi - \vartheta)^3$  is forbidden by parity conservation. The numbering of the  $L_i$  is chosen such that it coincides with the standard numbering of the  $\mathcal{O}(p^4)$  operators in the SU(3)  $\chi$ PT Lagrangian [10, 34, 35], where the theory is not expanded in  $1/N_c$ . The LEC's  $L_i$  and  $\Lambda_i$  can be fixed by experimental observations, but the  $H_i$  operators do not depend on g. As a result, they do not contribute to perturbative computations of S-matrix elements [30, 10, 34]. Nonetheless, the corresponding terms are necessary to renormalize loop graphs with multiple external currents attached to the diagram.

Next, consider WZW term. It can be written as an integral over a five dimensional submanifold in the nine dimensional space spanned by the possible field values of g. The connection to the conventional way of writing an action is established by identifying the four dimensional boundary of this submanifold with Minkowsky spacetime. An elegant derivation of the WZW action in the presence of external currents has been performed in [92]. Accounting for the external currents, one has

$$S_{\rm WZW} = \frac{{\rm i} N_c}{240\pi^2} \int {\rm d}\omega_{ijklm} \Sigma^{ijklm}$$

$$- \frac{{\rm i} N_c}{48\pi^2} \int {\rm d}^4 x \ \epsilon^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} \Big( W_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}(l,r,g) - W_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}(l,r,1) \Big) ,$$
(3.97a)

where the function  $W_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}(r, l, g)$  depends on g and on the external currents  $l^{\mu}$  and  $r^{\mu}$ . A complete expression for  $W_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}(r, l, g)$  can be found in section 5.3 of [10]. Here, I only keep terms that are at most quadratic

in the external currents. In this approximation, one has [10]

$$W_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}(r,l,g) = \langle -i L^0_{\mu} g^{\dagger}(\partial_{\nu} r_{\alpha}) g l_{\beta} + L^0_{\mu} L^0_{\nu} g^{\dagger} r_{\alpha} g l_{\beta}$$

$$-i L^0_{\mu} \{ l_{\nu}, \partial_{\alpha} l_{\beta} \} - \frac{1}{2} L^0_{\mu} l_{\nu} L^0_{\alpha} l_{\beta} + L^0_{\mu} L^0_{\nu} L^0_{\alpha} l_{\beta} \rangle$$

$$- (g \leftrightarrow g^{\dagger}, l^{\mu} \leftrightarrow r^{\mu}) ,$$

$$(3.98a)$$

where I have defined the lefthanded pure QCD Noether current as  $L^0_{\mu} \equiv i g^{\dagger} \partial_{\mu} g$ .

The WZW has to be included, since the  $\chi$ PT action defined by (3.88) and (3.125a) is independently invariant under  $x^{\mu} \to -x^{\mu}$ , and  $g \to g^{\dagger}$ [10, 92]. However, the full QCD Lagrangian is only invariant under parity, which corresponds to the simultaneous transformation  $x^{\mu} \to -x^{\mu}$ ,  $g \to g^{\dagger 4}$ . Due to this superfluous symmetry, certain experimentally observed processes, such as  $K^+K^- \to \pi^0\pi^+\pi^-$  or the aforementioned  $\pi \to \gamma\gamma$  cannot be mediated by the non-anomalous contributions to the  $\chi$ PT action. Instead, both of these processes are mediated by the WZW action, which breaks the superfluous symmetry.

#### **Dipole Contributions**

The dipole sector collects operators that contain  $\xi$  and  $t_{\mu\nu}$ . At order  $\mathcal{O}(\delta^2)$ , there are no operators with  $t_{\mu\nu}$ , since such operators would need to contain at least two additional derivatives in order to be Lorentz invariant, so that they can only contribute at order  $\mathcal{O}(\delta^3)$ . For the same reason, operators with  $\xi$  can only contain g, and no derivatives. Hence, the only available dipole operator is the mass-like term

$$\langle \Xi + h.c. \rangle$$
, (3.99)

giving

$$\delta \mathcal{L}_{\chi,\text{dipole}}^{(2)} = \kappa_1 \frac{f^2}{4} \langle \Xi \rangle + \text{h.c.} , \qquad (3.100)$$

where  $\Xi = b g \xi$ .

 $<sup>^{4}</sup>$ Recall that the PNGBs are *pseudo*-scalars

At order  $\mathcal{O}(\delta^3)$ , the dipole action contains contributions with both  $t_{\mu\nu}$  and  $\xi$ . Operators with derivatives acting on the external currents can be eliminated using partial integration. For  $t_{\mu\nu}$ , one has the operators

$$\langle T_{\mu\nu}L^{\mu}L^{\nu}\rangle + \text{h.c.}, \qquad \langle T_{\mu\nu}(L^{\mu\nu} + R^{\mu\nu})\rangle + \text{h.c.}, \qquad (3.101)$$

where  $T_{\mu\nu} = f g t_{\mu\nu}$  is the fully lefthanded version of  $t_{\mu\nu}$ . Notice that this list of operators is consistent with the prior result obtained in [37]. There, one finds two additional operators that are quadratic in  $t_{\mu\nu}$ . In the present work, I count  $t_{\mu\nu} \sim 1/M_W^2$ , so that these quadratic terms would only contribute at order  $1/M_W^4$ .

For  $\xi$ , one has the operators

$$i(\psi - \vartheta)\langle \Xi \rangle + h.c.$$
,  $\langle \Xi L_{\mu}L^{\mu} \rangle + h.c.$ , (3.102a)

$$\langle \Xi X^{\dagger} \rangle + \text{h.c.} , \qquad \langle \Xi X \rangle + \text{h.c.} . \qquad (3.102b)$$

In terms of the action, one obtains

$$\delta \mathcal{L}_{\chi,\text{dipole}}^{(3)} = \kappa_2 \langle \Xi L_\mu L^\mu \rangle + \kappa_3 \langle \Xi X \rangle + \kappa_4 \langle \Xi X^\dagger \rangle + \mathrm{i} \kappa_5 (\psi - \vartheta) \langle \Xi \rangle + \lambda_1 \langle T_{\mu\nu} L^\mu L^\nu \rangle + \lambda_2 \langle T_{\mu\nu} (L^{\mu\nu} + R_{\mu\nu}) \rangle + \text{h.c.} \quad (3.103)$$

Again,  $\langle \Xi X^{\dagger} \rangle$  does not depend on g. In total, the constants  $\kappa_i$  and  $\lambda_i$  are 7 free parameters.

## Four Quark Contributions

The four quark sector of the  $\chi$ PT Lagrangian collects operators that contain the currents A, B, and C. As before, operators with derivatives acting on the external currents can be eliminated using partial integration. Using the decomposition (3.72), the four quark contributions can be split into an octet contribution involving factors of  $\mathcal{M}_8 \in \{\mathcal{A}_8, \mathcal{S}_8, \mathcal{B}_8, \mathcal{C}_8\}$ , and a 27-plet contribution involving factors of  $\mathcal{S}_{27}$ ,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\chi,\overline{q}q\overline{q}q} = \mathcal{L}_{\chi,8} + \mathcal{L}_{\chi,27} . \qquad (3.104)$$

In the octet Lagrangian, the matrices  $(\mathcal{M}_8)^b_a$  carry two lefthanded indices that need to be contracted, but no Lorentz indices. To order  $\delta$ , the only available fully lefthanded objects are

$$L_{\mu a}^{\ b}, \quad (gD_{\mu}D_{\nu}g^{\dagger})_{a}^{\ b}, \quad X_{a}^{\ b}, \quad L_{\mu\nu}_{a}^{\ b}, \quad R_{\mu\nu}_{a}^{\ b}.$$
 (3.105)

Since  $(g^{\dagger}D_{\mu}D_{\nu}g)$  and the field strength tensors are already of order  $\delta$ , their Lorentz indices would have to be contracted within themselves. However, the field strength tensors are traceless, and the structure  $g^{\dagger}D^2g$  can be eliminated using identity (3.94) and the equations of motion (3.93). Hence, the only available octet operators are

$$\langle M_8 \hat{L}_\mu \hat{L}^\mu \rangle$$
,  $\langle M_8 \hat{L}_\mu \rangle \langle L^\mu \rangle$ ,  $\langle M_8 X + \text{h.c.} \rangle$ . (3.106)

where  $\hat{L}_{\mu} \equiv L_{\mu} - \frac{1}{3} \langle L_{\mu} \rangle$  is the traceless octet contribution to the lefthanded Noether current. Using the replacement (3.76a), one obtains the octet Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{\chi,8}^{(2)} = -\frac{1}{4} f^4 \Big[ \langle Q_3^2(s_8 \mathcal{S}_8 + a_8 \mathcal{A}_8 + b_8 B_8 + c_8 C_8) \rangle \langle Q_2^3 \hat{L}_{\mu} \hat{L}^{\mu} \rangle \\ + \langle Q_3^2(s_8^s \mathcal{S}_8 + a_8^s \mathcal{A}_8 + b_8^s B_8 + c_8^s C_8) \rangle \langle Q_2^3 \hat{L}^{\mu} \rangle \langle L_{\mu} \rangle \\ + \langle Q_3^2(\bar{s}_8 \mathcal{S}_8 + \bar{a}_8 \mathcal{A}_8 + \bar{b}_8 B_8 + \bar{c}_8 C_8) \rangle \langle Q_2^3 (X + \text{h.c.}) \rangle \Big] \\ + \text{h.c.} , \qquad (3.107)$$

where the Wilson coefficients  $a_X$ ,  $s_X$ ,  $b_X$ , and  $c_X$  are free parameters. To establish contact with the conventional notation for the octet Lagrangian in the SM, I define

$$\frac{G_F}{\sqrt{2}} |V|_{ds}^2 g_X \equiv \langle Q_3^2(a_X \mathcal{A}_8^{\rm SM} + s_X \mathcal{S}_8^{\rm SM} + b_X B_8^{\rm SM} + c_X C_8^{\rm SM}) \rangle , \qquad (3.108a)$$

$$\frac{G_F}{\sqrt{2}} |V|_{ds}^2 h_{X,i} \epsilon_{S_i} / M_W \equiv \langle Q_3^2(a_X \mathcal{A}_8^{\rm BSM} + s_X \mathcal{S}_8^{\rm BSM} + b_X B_8^{\rm BSM} + c_X C_8^{\rm BSM}) \rangle ,$$

and further

$$G_X \equiv \frac{G_F}{\sqrt{2}} |V|_{ds}^2 f^2 g_X , \qquad H_{X,i} \equiv \frac{G_F}{\sqrt{2}} |V|_{ds}^2 f^2 h_{X,i} . \qquad (3.108b)$$

In the 27-plet Lagrangian, the current  $(S_{27})_{b\ d}^{a\ c}$  has four lefthanded flavour indices that need to be contracted. Considering the building blocks in (3.105), the only available 27-plet operator is

$$S_{27b}{}^{a}{}^{c}{}^{c}L_{\mu a}{}^{b}L_{c}^{\mu d}, \qquad (3.109)$$

By construction,  $(S_{27})_{b\ d}^{a\ c}$  is fully tracelesss and symmetric under  $(b, a) \leftrightarrow (d, c)$ . As with the octet operators, I am only interested in the uncharged and strangeness violating terms, which are proportional to either  $(S_{27})_{s\ q}^{d\ q}$  with q = u, d, s or permutations thereof. Thus,

$$2S_{27b}{}^{a}{}^{c}{}^{c}{}^{L}{}_{\mu a}{}^{b}{}^{L}{}^{\mu}{}^{d}{}_{c} = S_{27b}{}^{a}{}^{c}{}^{c}{}^{[}{}^{L}{}_{\mu a}{}^{b}{}^{L}{}^{\mu}{}^{d}{}^{c}{}^{+}{}^{L}{}_{\mu a}{}^{d}{}^{L}{}^{\mu}{}^{b}{}^{c}{}^{-}{}^{]}$$
(3.110)  

$$\rightarrow 4S_{27s}{}^{d}{}^{u}{}^{u}{}^{[}{}^{L}{}^{\mu}{}^{u}{}^{u}{}^{L}{}^{\mu}{}^{s}{}^{+}{}^{2}{}^{L}{}^{\mu}{}^{d}{}^{s}{}^{L}{}^{\mu}{}^{u}{}^{u}{}^{+}{}^{L}{}^{\mu}{}^{d}{}^{s}{}^{L}{}^{\mu}{}^{d}{}^{d}{}^{-}{}^{]}$$
$$+ 4S_{27s}{}^{d}{}^{d}{}^{[}{}^{2}{}^{L}{}^{\mu}{}^{s}{}^{c}{}^{L}{}^{\mu}{}^{d}{}^{+}{}^{L}{}^{\mu}{}^{s}{}^{c}{}^{L}{}^{\mu}{}^{u}{}^{-}{}^{]}{}^{+}{}^{h.c..}$$

Using relation (3.77), one finds

$$\mathcal{S}_{27b}{}^{a}{}^{c}{}^{c}{}^{L}{}^{\mu}{}^{b}{}^{c}{}^{L}{}^{\mu}{}^{d}{}^{c} \to \mathcal{S}_{27s}{}^{d}{}^{u}\left[2\hat{L}_{\mu d}{}^{u}\hat{L}^{\mu}{}^{s}{}^{s}+3\hat{L}_{\mu d}{}^{s}\hat{L}^{\mu}{}^{u}{}^{u}\right] + \text{h.c.} \quad (3.111)$$

Accordingly, the 27-plet Lagrangian becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_{\chi,27}^{(2)} = -\frac{1}{4} f^4 \, s_{27} \mathcal{S}_{27\,s\,\,u}^{\ d\,\,u} \Big[ \hat{L}_{\mu d}^{\ s} \, \hat{L}^{\mu \,\,u}_{\ u} + \frac{2}{3} \hat{L}_{\mu d}^{\ u} \, \hat{L}^{\mu \,\,s}_{\ u} \Big] + \text{h.c.} \quad (3.112)$$

As with the octet Lagrangian, I define

$$\frac{G_F}{\sqrt{2}}|V|^2_{ds}g_{27} = s_{27}\,\mathcal{S}^{\text{SM d } u}_{27 \ s \ u}\,,\qquad(3.113a)$$

$$\frac{G_F}{\sqrt{2}} |V|_{ds}^2 h_{27,i} \epsilon^{S_i} / M_W \equiv s_{27} \mathcal{S}_{27 \ s \ u}^{\text{BSM } d \ u} , \qquad (3.113b)$$

and

$$G_{27} \equiv \frac{G_F}{\sqrt{2}} |V|_{ds}^2 f^2 g_{27} , \qquad H_{27,i} \equiv \frac{G_F}{\sqrt{2}} |V|_{ds}^2 f^2 h_{27,i} . \qquad (3.113c)$$

For both the octet and 27-plet Lagrangians in (3.107) and (3.112), the terms involving  $\lambda_7 = (Q_2^3 - Q_3^2)/_{2i}$  contribute only for  $\text{Im} V_{us} V_{du}^{\dagger} \neq 0$ , corresponding to the SM CP violation generated by the CKM matrix.

As it should, the SM contribution to  $\mathcal{L}_{\chi,\bar{q}q\bar{q}q}$  is identical to the standard result obtained in [47, 48] The constants  $a_X$ ,  $s_X$ ,  $b_X$ , and  $c_X$  are 13 new free parameters that are not present in the SM. In addition, the 6 SM Wilson coefficients encoded within A, B, and C also have to be treated as free parameters, as their running for energies well below  $m_c \sim 1.5 \text{ GeV}$  is unknown due to the unperturbative nature of QCD.

# Scalar to Gluon Coupling

The scalar current a is chirally invariant and counts as  $\delta \sim 1/N_c$ . Hence, the order  $\mathcal{O}(\delta^3)$  operators with a are just the same as the order  $\mathcal{O}(\delta^2)$ operators discussed in the previous sections, except with an additional factor of a. Once again, any operators with derivatives acting on a can be eliminated using partial integration, and any contributions with  $D^2gg^{\dagger}$  or  $gD^2g^{\dagger}$  can be eliminated using identity (3.94) or the equations of motion (3.93). Explicitly, one obtains

$$\mathcal{L}_{\chi,a}^{(3)} = a \frac{f^2}{4} \Big[ \frac{1}{2} \alpha_1 \langle L_\mu L^\mu \rangle + \alpha_2 \langle X \rangle - \alpha_3 \frac{1}{3} m_\psi^2 (\psi - \vartheta)^2 \qquad (3.114) - \beta_1 G_8 \langle Q_2^3 \hat{L}^\mu \hat{L}_\mu \rangle - \beta_2 G_8^s \langle Q_2^3 \hat{L}_\mu \rangle \langle L^\mu \rangle - \beta_3 \overline{G}_8 \langle Q_2^3 (X + \text{h.c.}) \rangle + \gamma_1 \kappa_1 \langle \Xi + \text{h.c.} \rangle - \gamma_2 G_{27} \Big( \hat{L}_{\mu d}{}^s \hat{L}^\mu{}^u_u + \frac{2}{3} \hat{L}_{\mu d}{}^u \hat{L}^\mu{}^s_u \Big) + \text{h.c.} \Big]$$

where the constants  $\alpha_i$ ,  $\beta_i$ , and  $\gamma_i$  are 8 new LECs that are not present in the SM  $\chi$ PT action.

# 3.4.3 Transition to the Physical Vacuum

The SM sector of the  $\chi \mathrm{PT}$  Lagrangian contains a well-known tadpole term,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\chi} \supset -\mathrm{i} \frac{f}{4} b \Big[ \overline{G}_8 \langle Q_2^3[M_q, \Phi] \rangle - \kappa_1 \langle \xi^{\mathrm{SM}} \Phi \rangle \Big] + \mathrm{h.c.}$$
  
=  $-\mathrm{i} \frac{f}{4} \widetilde{G}_8 b \langle [Q_2^3, M_q] \Phi \rangle + \mathrm{h.c.} , \qquad (3.115)$ 

where

$$\widetilde{G}_8 \equiv \overline{G}_8 + \kappa_1 \frac{1}{m_d} \xi_{\overline{ds}}^{\rm SM} . \qquad (3.116)$$

Following the SM procedure [48], I eliminate this tadpole term by expanding g around its vacuum expectation value. This amounts to the chiral field redefinition

$$g \equiv W \,\widetilde{g} \,\overline{W} \,, \qquad \widetilde{\psi} \equiv -\,\mathrm{i}\ln\left[\det\widetilde{g}\right] = \psi - \mathrm{i}\langle\ln W + \ln\overline{W}\rangle \,, \qquad (3.117)$$

where

$$W \equiv e^{-i(\alpha_L \lambda_7 + \beta_L \lambda_6)} = 1 + \mathcal{O}(G_F),$$
  

$$\overline{W} \equiv e^{+i(\alpha_R \lambda_7 + \beta_R \lambda_6)} = 1 + \mathcal{O}(G_F).$$
(3.118)

The parameters  $\alpha_X$  and  $\beta_X$  are given as

$$\frac{\beta_L}{\alpha_L} = \frac{\beta_R}{\alpha_R} = \tan\left(\arg(\tilde{G}_8)\right),$$

$$(\alpha_L \pm \alpha_R) = \pm \arctan\left(|\tilde{G}_8| \frac{m_s \pm m_d}{m_s \mp m_d}\right) \approx \pm |\tilde{G}_8|,$$
(3.119)

and the corresponding the vacuum expectation value is

$$g_0 \equiv e^{\mathrm{i}(\alpha_R - \alpha_L)\lambda_7 + \mathrm{i}(\beta_R - \beta_L)\lambda_6} \,. \tag{3.120}$$

After the field redefinition (3.117), one obtains the diagonalized quark mass matrix

$$M'_q \equiv \overline{W} M_q (\mathbb{1} - \widetilde{G}_8 Q_2^3 - \widetilde{G}_8^{\dagger} Q_3^2) W . \qquad (3.121)$$

Its entries correspond to the experimentally determined quark masses. I also define

$$X' = b \, \tilde{g} \chi' , \qquad \chi' = s' + \mathrm{i} \, p' \qquad (3.122)$$
$$\equiv \overline{W} [\chi (\mathbb{1} - \tilde{G}_8 Q_2^3 - \tilde{G}_8^{\dagger} Q_3^2) + f^2 \kappa_1 \xi^{\mathrm{BSM}}] W ,$$

where s' and p' denote the hermitian and antihermitian part of  $\chi'$ , being distinct linear combinations of the naive external currents s, p, and  $\xi$ .

Due to the chiral symmetry (3.70a), the interaction terms in the Lagrangian (3.86) are formally unaffected by the chiral rotation (3.117), provided that the external currents are redefined such that they absorb the unitary matrices W and  $\overline{W}$ ,

$$\widetilde{l}_{\mu} \equiv W^{\dagger} l_{\mu} W , \quad \widetilde{r}_{\mu} \equiv \overline{W}^{\dagger} r_{\mu} \overline{W} , \quad \widetilde{\vartheta} \equiv \vartheta - i \langle \ln W + \ln \overline{W} \rangle . \quad (3.123a)$$

The external current *a* does not pick up any corrections, since it is a scalar with respect to chiral rotations, and the currents  $\xi$ ,  $t_{\mu\nu}$ , *A*, *B*, and *C* do not pick up any corrections at order  $1/M_W^2$ , since they are already

of order  $1/M_W^2$ . For the sake of notational simplicity, I hereafter suppress the explicit ~ appearing in  $\tilde{g}$ ,  $\tilde{\psi}$ ,  $\tilde{l}_{\mu}$ ,  $\tilde{r}_{\mu}$ , and  $\tilde{\vartheta}$ .

To conclude this section, I summarize the individual contributions to the generalized  $\chi$ PT action after the field redefinition (3.117). At  $\mathcal{O}(\delta^2)$ , one has

$$\mathcal{L}_{\chi,s}^{(2)} = \frac{f^2}{4} \langle L_{\mu} L^{\mu} \rangle + \frac{f^2}{4} \langle X' + \text{h.c.} \rangle - \frac{1}{12} f^2 m_{\psi}^2 (\psi - \vartheta)^2 , \qquad (3.124a)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\chi,8}^{(2)} = -\frac{f^2}{4} \Big[ G_8 \langle Q_2^3 \hat{L}_\mu \hat{L}^\mu \rangle + G_8^s \langle Q_2^3 \hat{L}^\mu \rangle \langle L_\mu \rangle \Big] + \text{h.c.} , \qquad (3.124b)$$

$$-\frac{J}{4} \left[ H_{8,i} \langle Q_2^3 \hat{L}_{\mu} \hat{L}^{\mu} \rangle + H_{8,i}^s \langle Q_2^3 \hat{L}^{\mu} \rangle \langle L_{\mu} \rangle \right. \\ \left. + \overline{H}_{8,i} \langle Q_2^3 (X' + \text{h.c.}) \rangle \right] \epsilon \frac{S_i}{M_W} + \text{h.c.} ,$$
  
$$\mathcal{L}_{\chi,27}^{(2)} = -\frac{f^2}{4} (G_{27} + H_{27,i} \epsilon \frac{S_i}{M_W}) \left[ (\hat{L}_{\mu})_d^{\ s} (\hat{L}^{\mu})_u^{\ u} + \frac{2}{3} (\hat{L}_{\mu})_d^{\ u} (\hat{L}^{\mu})_u^{\ s} \right] + \text{h.c.} , \qquad (3.124c)$$

At  $\mathcal{O}(\delta^3)$ , one has

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{L}_{\chi,s}^{(3)} &= L_2 \langle L_{\mu} L_{\nu} L^{\mu} L^{\nu} \rangle + (2L_2 + L_3) \langle L_{\mu} L^{\mu} L_{\nu} L^{\nu} \rangle \qquad (3.125a) \\ &+ L_5 \langle L_{\mu} L^{\mu} (X' + \mathrm{h.c.}) \rangle + L_8 \langle X' X' + \mathrm{h.c.} \rangle \\ &- \mathrm{i} \, L_9 \langle L^{\mu} L^{\nu} (L_{\mu\nu} + R_{\mu\nu}) \rangle + L_{10} \langle R_{\mu\nu} L^{\mu\nu} \rangle \\ &+ f_{\pi}^2 \Lambda_1 D_{\mu} \psi D^{\mu} \psi - \mathrm{i} \, f_{\pi}^2 \Lambda_2 (\psi - \vartheta) \langle X' - \mathrm{h.c.} \rangle \\ &+ H_0 D_{\mu} \vartheta D^{\mu} \vartheta + H_1 \langle R_{\mu\nu} R^{\mu\nu} + L_{\mu\nu} L^{\mu\nu} \rangle + H_2 \langle X'^{\dagger} X' \rangle , \\ \mathcal{S}_{\mathrm{WZW}} &= \frac{\mathrm{i} \, N_c}{240 \pi^2} \int \mathrm{d} \omega_{ijklm} \Sigma^{ijklm} \qquad (3.125b) \\ &- \frac{\mathrm{i} \, N_c}{48 \pi^2} \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \, \epsilon^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} \Big( W_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} (l, r, g) - W_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} (l, r, 1) \Big) , \\ \delta \mathcal{L}_{\chi,\mathrm{dipole}}^{(3)} &= \kappa_2 \langle \Xi L_{\mu} L^{\mu} \rangle + \kappa_3 \langle \Xi X \rangle + \kappa_4 \langle \Xi X^{\dagger} \rangle + \mathrm{i} \, \kappa_5 (\psi - \vartheta) \langle \Xi \rangle \\ &+ \lambda_1 \langle T_{\mu\nu} L^{\mu} L^{\nu} \rangle + \lambda_2 \langle T_{\mu\nu} (L^{\mu\nu} + R_{\mu\nu}) \rangle + \mathrm{h.c.} \quad (3.125c) \\ \mathcal{L}_{\chi,a}^{(3)} &= a \frac{f^2}{4} \Big[ \frac{1}{2} \alpha_1 \langle L_{\mu} L^{\mu} \rangle + \alpha_2 \langle X' \rangle - \alpha_3 \frac{1}{3} m_{\psi}^2 (\psi - \vartheta)^2 \\ &- \beta_1 G_8 \langle Q_2^3 \hat{L}^{\mu} \hat{L}_{\mu} \rangle - \beta_2 G_8^s \langle Q_2^3 \hat{L}_{\mu} \rangle \langle L^{\mu} \rangle \end{aligned}$$

$$- (\beta_3 - \alpha_2)\overline{G}_8 \langle Q_2^3(X' + \text{h.c.}) \rangle + \gamma_1 \kappa_1 \langle \Xi + \text{h.c.} \rangle - \gamma_2 G_{27} \left( \hat{L}_{\mu d}^{\ s} \hat{L}^{\mu \ u}_{\ u} + \frac{2}{3} \hat{L}_{\mu d}^{\ u} \hat{L}^{\mu \ s}_{\ u} \right) + \text{h.c.} \right]. \quad (3.125d)$$

Notice that  $\mathcal{L}_{\chi,s}^{(2)}$  has now absorbed all of the mass-like terms, which is a well-known result, see e.g. chapter in [93] or section 5 in [94] that also implies that  $\overline{G}_8$  does not contribute to SM decays. This reshuffling has also occurred in  $\mathcal{L}_a^{(3)}$ , yielding the replacement

$$\beta_3 \to \beta_3 - \alpha_2 \ . \tag{3.126}$$

Previously, this has been shown in [52], which studied the coupling of  $\chi$ PT to a light Higgs boson.

# 3.5 Low Energy Constants

In this section, I estimate the 12 new LEC's  $\alpha_i$ ,  $\beta_i$ ,  $\gamma_i$ ,  $\overline{g}_8$ , and  $h_{X,i}$ that cannot be constrained by SM observations. For the LECs  $\overline{g}_8$  and  $h_X$ , which appear in the four quark Lagrangian, I follow the strategies used in [52, 53, 54]. There, the large  $N_c$  factorization rules (3.15) are combined with the well-known low-energy realizations of gauge singlet quark bilinears in order to reexpress the  $g_X$  terms of the LECs that appear in  $S_{\chi,\text{SM}}[\vartheta, l_\mu, r_\mu, \chi]$ . For the LECs  $\alpha_i$ ,  $\beta_i$ , and  $\gamma_i$ , which appear in the scalar to gluon interaction Lagrangian, I follow the strategy used in [52], where the conformal anomaly was exploited in order to reexpress the gluon kinetic term  $G_{\mu\nu}G^{\mu\nu}$  in terms of the trace of the energy momentum tensor.

### 3.5.1 Low energy Realizations of QCD Gauge Singlets

To estimate the new LEC's, it is necessary to find nonperturbative approximations for QCD correlation functions in the limit of small  $\delta \sim p^2/\Lambda_{\chi}^2 \sim 1/N_c$ . In general, the physical state of QCD can be encoded in terms of the density matrix  $\hat{\rho}$ . For any collection  $\mathcal{O}_a$  of local, gauge invariant operators, the corresponding quantum expectation values are

$$\operatorname{tr}\{\hat{\rho}\,\mathcal{O}_a(x)\} = \frac{\delta}{\delta J_a(x)}\mathcal{Z}_{\text{QCD}}[J_a] , \qquad (3.127)$$

where

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\text{QCD}}[J_a] \equiv \int \mathcal{D}\phi_{\text{QCD}} \,\hat{\rho} \,O_a(x) e^{\mathrm{i}\,S[\phi_{\text{QCD}}] + \mathrm{i}\int \mathrm{d}^4 x J_a(x)\mathcal{O}_a(x)} \qquad (3.128)$$

is the QCD generating functional, and  $\phi_{\text{QCD}}$  symbolically denotes the QCD quark and gluon fields.  $J_a$  denotes a generic collection of external currents, such as, but not limited to, the ones collected in the interaction Lagrangian (3.38). In the presence of physical external currents, the coupling i  $\int d^4x J_a(x) \mathcal{O}_a(x)$  already appears as part of the action and does not have to be added by hand.

By construction, the  $\chi$ PT generating functional is the small  $\delta$  approximation of the full QCD generating functional,

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\text{QCD}}[J_a] = \mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{(n)}[J_a] + \dots , \qquad (3.129)$$

where the superscript denotes that I include terms in the action of order  $\mathcal{O}(\delta^n)$  or less. Hence,

$$\operatorname{tr}\{\hat{\rho} \,\mathcal{O}_{a}(x)\} = \frac{\delta}{\delta J_{a}(x)} \mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{(n)}[J_{a}] + \mathcal{O}(\delta^{(n+1-k)}) \qquad (3.130)$$
$$= \operatorname{tr}\left\{\hat{\rho} \,\frac{\delta S_{\chi}^{(n)}}{\delta J_{a}}\right\} + \mathcal{O}(\delta^{n+1-k}) ,$$

where the external current is taken to scale as  $J_a(x) \sim \delta^k$ . Since this identity has to hold for any physical choice of  $\hat{\rho}$ , one can simply identify

$$\mathcal{O}_a(x) = \frac{\delta S_{\chi}^{(n)}}{\delta J_a} + \mathcal{O}(\delta^{n+1-k})$$
(3.131)

This way, it is possible to obtain well defined approximations for the various QCD gauge singlet operators appearing in the interaction Lagrangian (3.38), which I use for estimating the LEC's for the  $\chi$ PT Lagrangian.

The low energy realizations for the gauge singlets associated with the currents  $l_{\mu}$ ,  $r_{\mu}$ ,  $\vartheta$ , and  $\chi$  are well known. Using the SM action  $S_{\chi,\text{SM}}[\vartheta, l_{\mu}, r_{\mu}, \chi]$ , one obtains

$$q^{\dagger a} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} q_{b} = \frac{1}{2} f^{2} L_{b}^{\mu a} + \mathcal{O}(\delta^{5/2}) , \qquad (3.132a)$$
$$\overline{q}_{\dot{b}}^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \overline{q}^{\dot{a}} = \frac{1}{2} f^{2} (g^{\dagger} L^{\mu} g)_{\dot{b}}^{\dot{a}} + \mathcal{O}(\delta^{5/2}) ,$$
$$\frac{1}{16\pi^{2}} G_{\mu\nu} \widetilde{G}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{6} f^{2} m_{\psi}^{2} \psi + \mathcal{O}(\delta^{2}) ,$$

and

$$\overline{q}^{\dot{a}}q_{b} = (q^{\dagger b}\overline{q}^{\dagger}_{\dot{a}})^{\dagger} = -b\left[\frac{1}{4}f^{2} - if^{2}\Lambda_{2}(\psi - \vartheta) + L_{5}L_{\mu}L^{\mu} + 2L_{8}X + H_{2}X^{\dagger}\right]_{b}{}^{x}g_{x}^{\dot{a}} + \mathcal{O}(\delta^{3}).$$

$$(3.132b)$$

For the gauge singlets associated with the currents  $a, \xi$ , and  $t_{\mu\nu}$ , I obtain

$$\overline{q}^{\dot{a}}\sigma^{\mu\nu}q_{b} = 0 + \mathcal{O}(\delta^{2}),$$

$$\overline{q}^{\dot{a}}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}\lambda_{x}G^{x}_{\mu\nu}q_{b} = -\kappa_{1}\frac{1}{4}f^{2}b\,g_{x}^{\ \dot{a}} + \mathcal{O}(\delta^{2}),$$
(3.133a)

and

$$\frac{1}{16\pi^2}G_{\mu\nu}G^{\mu\nu} = \frac{f^2}{4} \Big[ \frac{1}{2}\alpha_1 \langle L_{\mu}L^{\mu} \rangle - \beta_1 G_8 \langle Q_2^3 \hat{L}^{\mu} \hat{L}_{\mu} \rangle \qquad (3.133b)$$
$$- \beta_2 G_8^s \langle Q_2^3 \hat{L}_{\mu} \rangle \langle L^{\mu} \rangle + \gamma_1 \kappa_1 \langle \Xi + \text{h.c.} \rangle$$
$$- \gamma_2 G_{27} \Big( \hat{L}_{\mu d}{}^s \hat{L}^{\mu}{}^u + \frac{2}{3} \hat{L}_{\mu d}{}^u \hat{L}^{\mu}{}^s \Big)$$
$$+ \alpha_2 \langle X \rangle - \beta_3 \overline{G}_8 \langle Q_2^3 (X + \text{h.c.}) \rangle$$
$$- \alpha_3 \frac{1}{3} m_{\psi}^2 (\psi - \vartheta)^2 + \text{h.c.} + \mathcal{O}(\delta^3) \Big] .$$

For the  $\chi$ PT operators with A, B, and C, I only keep track of the octet and 27-plet contributions, so I obtain low-energy realizations for the corresponding octet and 27-plet four quark operators,

$$5 O_{\mathcal{S},27d} {}^{su}_{u} = \frac{1}{4} f^4 s_{27} \Big[ \hat{L}_{\mu d} {}^{s} \hat{L}^{\mu u}_{u} + \frac{2}{3} \hat{L}_{\mu d} {}^{u} \hat{L}^{\mu s}_{u} \Big] + \mathcal{O}(\delta^3) , \quad (3.134a)$$

$$O_{Xd}{}^{s} = \frac{1}{4} f^{4} \Big[ k_{8} (\hat{L}_{\mu} \hat{L}^{\mu})_{d}{}^{s} + k_{8}^{s} \langle L_{\mu} \rangle \hat{L}^{\mu}{}_{d}{}^{s} + \overline{k}_{8} (X + \text{h.c.})_{d}{}^{s} \Big] + \mathcal{O}(\delta^{3}) , \qquad (3.134b)$$

where now  $O_X \in \{O_{S_8}, O_{A_8}, O_{B_8}, O_{C_8}\}$ , and  $k_X \in \{s_X, a_X, b_X, c_X\}$ .

Using the low-energy realizations (3.132a)-(3.134b), one also finds the seemingly trivial approximations

$$-\overline{q}\chi q + \text{h.c.} = \mathcal{L}_{\chi,\text{mass}}^{(2)} + \mathcal{O}(\delta^3) , \quad \mathcal{L}_{\text{dipole}} = \mathcal{L}_{\chi,\text{dipole}}^{(2)} + \mathcal{O}(\delta^3) , \quad (3.135)$$
$$\mathcal{L}_{\overline{q}q\overline{q}q} = \mathcal{L}_{\chi,\overline{q}q\overline{q}q}^{(2)} + \mathcal{O}(\delta^3) , \qquad \mathcal{L}_{\overline{l}l\overline{q}q} = \mathcal{L}_{\chi,\overline{l}l\overline{q}q}^{(2)} + \mathcal{O}(\delta^3) ,$$

where now

$$\mathcal{L}_{\chi,\text{mass}}^{(2)} \equiv \frac{f^2}{4} \langle X + \text{h.c.} \rangle , \qquad (3.136a)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\chi,\text{dipole}}^{(2)} \equiv \kappa_1 \frac{f^4}{4} \langle \Xi + \text{h.c.} \rangle , \qquad (3.136b)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\chi,\bar{l}l\bar{q}q}^{(2)} \equiv +\frac{f^2}{2} \frac{G_F}{\sqrt{2}} 4 J_{\rm cc+}^{\mu} \langle [V_{ud}Q_2^1 + V_{us}Q_3^1] L_{\mu}^{\rm em} \rangle + \text{h.c.} , \qquad (3.136c)$$

so that the mass term includes only the quark mass contribution to the PNGB masses.

Finally, I also require the low-energy realization of the trace of the improved energy momentum tensor in order to implement the matching strategy of [52]. In contrast to the other low-energy realizations, it can be computed directly in  $\chi$ PT. One has

$$\Theta^{\mu}_{\mu} = 2\mathcal{L}^{(2)}_{\chi,\text{kin}} - 4\mathcal{L}^{(2)}_{\chi} + \mathcal{O}(\delta^3) , \qquad (3.137\text{a})$$

where the "kinetic" Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\chi,\text{kin}}^{(2)} \equiv g^{\mu\nu} \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}_{\chi}^{(2)}}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}}$$
(3.137b)  
$$= \frac{1}{4} f^2 \Big[ \frac{1}{2} \langle L^{\mu} L_{\mu} \rangle - \frac{G_F}{\sqrt{2}} 4 J_{\text{cc}+}^{\mu} \langle [V_{ud} Q_2^1 + V_{us} Q_3^1] L_{\mu} \rangle - G_8 \langle Q_2^3 \hat{L}_{\mu} \hat{L}_{\mu} \rangle - G_8^s \langle Q_2^3 \hat{L}^{\mu} \rangle \langle \hat{L}_{\mu} \rangle - G_{27} \Big( (\hat{L}_{\mu})_d^{\ s} (\hat{L}^{\mu})_u^{\ u} + \frac{2}{3} (\hat{L}_{\mu})_d^{\ u} (\hat{L}^{\mu})_u^{\ s} \Big) \Big] + \text{h.c.} + \mathcal{O}(\delta^3) .$$

The term involving the leptonic charged current  $J^{\mu}_{cc+} = J^a_{cc+}e^{\mu}_a$  has to be varied with respect to the vierbein  $e^{\mu}_a$  rather than the metric tensor, which gives rise to a relative prefactor of 1/2. After reabsorbing this interaction into the kinetic term  $\langle L_{\mu}L^{\mu}\rangle$ , one has a leftover term with a prefactor of -1/2.

Using the kinetic term (3.137b), the trace of the energy momentum tensor is

$$\begin{split} \Theta^{\mu}_{\mu} &= -\frac{1}{4} f^{2} \Big[ \langle L^{\mu}L_{\mu} \rangle + 2 \frac{G_{F}}{\sqrt{2}} 4 J^{\mu}_{cc+} \langle \left[ V_{ud}Q_{2}^{1} + V_{us}Q_{3}^{1} \right] L_{\mu} \rangle \qquad (3.138) \\ &- 2G_{8} \langle Q_{2}^{3}\hat{L}_{\mu}\hat{L}^{\mu} \rangle + 4 \langle X \rangle - \frac{2}{3} f^{2} m_{\psi}^{2} (\psi - \vartheta)^{2} \\ &- 2G_{8}^{s} \langle Q_{2}^{3}\hat{L}^{\mu} \rangle \langle \hat{L}_{\mu} \rangle - 4\overline{G}_{8} \langle Q_{2}^{3} (X + \text{h.c.}) \rangle \\ &+ 4\kappa_{1} \langle \Xi \rangle - 2G_{27} \Big( (\hat{L}_{\mu})_{d}^{s} (\hat{L}^{\mu})_{u}^{u} + \frac{2}{3} (\hat{L}_{\mu})_{d}^{u} (\hat{L}^{\mu})_{u}^{s} \Big) \Big] \\ &+ \text{h.c.} \; . \end{split}$$

# 3.5.2 LEC's for Scalar to Gluon Coupling

To estimate the LECs  $\alpha_i$ ,  $\beta_i$ , and  $\gamma_i$ , I combine the low energy realizations (3.135) with the modified trace relation (3.9). Solving for the scalar to
gluon coupling, the trace relation becomes

$$-\frac{\beta_0}{16\pi}G_{\mu\nu}G^{\mu\nu} = \Theta^{\ \mu}_{\mu} + (-\overline{q}\chi q + \text{h.c.})$$

$$-\mathcal{L}_{\text{dipole}} + \mathcal{L}_{\overline{l}l\overline{q}q} - 2\mathcal{L}_{\overline{q}q\overline{q}q} .$$
(3.139)

The low energy realization (3.133b) of the gluon kinetic term on the lefthand side of this equation explicitly contains the  $\alpha_i$ ,  $\beta_i$ , and  $\gamma_i$  coefficients. Using the low energy realizations (3.135) for the operators on the righthand side, one obtains

$$\frac{\beta_0}{16\pi} G_{\mu\nu} G^{\mu\nu} \equiv \frac{f^2}{4} \Big[ \langle L^{\mu} L_{\mu} \rangle + 3 \langle X \rangle - \frac{2}{3} m_{\psi}^2 (\psi - \vartheta)^2 \qquad (3.140) 
- 4G_8 \langle Q_2^3 \hat{L}_{\mu} \hat{L}^{\mu} \rangle - 4G_8^s \langle Q_2^3 \hat{L}^{\mu} \rangle \langle \hat{L}_{\mu} \rangle 
+ 5\kappa_1 \langle \Xi \rangle - 5\overline{G}_8 \langle Q_2^3 (X + \text{h.c.}) \rangle 
- 4G_{27} ((\hat{L}_{\mu})_d^s (\hat{L}^{\mu})_u^u + \frac{2}{3} (\hat{L}_{\mu})_d^u (\hat{L}^{\mu})_u^s) \Big] 
+ \text{h.c.} .$$

Comparing this expression with the realization (3.133b), one finds

$$\begin{aligned} \beta_0 \, \alpha_1 &= 2 + \mathcal{O}(\delta) \,, \quad \beta_0 \, \alpha_2 &= 3 + \mathcal{O}(\delta) \,, \quad \beta_0 \, \alpha_3 &= 4 + \mathcal{O}(\delta) \,, \quad (3.141) \\ \beta_0 \, \beta_1 &= 4 + \mathcal{O}(\delta) \,, \quad \beta_0 \, \beta_2 &= 4 + \mathcal{O}(\delta) \,, \quad \beta_0 \, \beta_3 &= 5 + \mathcal{O}(\delta) \,, \\ \beta_0 \, \gamma_1 &= 5 + \mathcal{O}(\delta) \,, \quad \beta_0 \, \gamma_2 &= 4 + \mathcal{O}(\delta) \,. \end{aligned}$$

### 3.5.3 LEC's for the octet and 27-plet Terms

To estimate  $\overline{g}_8$  and the  $h_{X,i}$ , I proceed in four steps:

- Following the strategy used in [52, 53, 54], I fix the constants  $a_X$ ,  $s_X$ ,  $b_X$ , and  $c_X$  by combining the low energy realizations (3.132a) (3.133b) of the quark bilinears with the large  $N_c$  factorization rules (3.15), in order to obtain alternative low energy realizations for the four quark operators. This yields expressions for  $g_X$  and  $h_X$  as linear combinations of the  $c_i(\mu = M_K)$  and  $\tilde{c}_i(\mu = M_K)$  Wilson coefficients of the four quark operators  $O_i$  and  $\tilde{O}_i$ .
- Second, I neglect the penguin operators O<sub>3</sub> O<sub>5</sub> and Õ<sub>3</sub> Õ<sub>5</sub>. In [54], this has been done to estimate the SM LEC g<sup>s</sup><sub>8</sub>, and it is

expected to be reasonable for an order of magnitude estimation of the coupling constants, since these penguin operators are generated at loop level, and therefore suppressed by factors of  $1/4\pi$ . In principle, the final penguin operators  $O_6$  and  $\widetilde{O}_6$  are also suppressed in this way, but they are enhanced by chiral effects and therefore contribute at leading order. This way, one obtains estimates for the Wilson coefficients  $c_1(\mu = M_K)$ ,  $c_2(\mu = M_K)$ ,  $c_6(\mu = M_K)$  in terms of the SM LECs  $g_8$ ,  $g_8^s$ , and  $g_{27}$ , f, b,  $L_5$ , and  $H_2$ .

- Third, I estimate  $H_2$  by following the strategy used in [52], where the combination  $(2L_5 + H_2)$  has been related to the possibility of flavour symmetry violating chiral quark condensates. Since  $H_2$ cannot be measured directly, the discussion in [52] had to rely on an old computation using QCD sum rules [95], but lattice computations [96] now produce more accurate estimates for the values of the chiral quark condensates.
- Finally, I use the fact that the ratios  $x_{i,j}(\mu = M_K) \approx x_{i,j}(\mu = m_c)$ are expected to be approximately renormalization scale invariant in order to estimate the  $h_{X,i}$  in terms of the Wilson coefficients  $c_i(\mu = M_K)$ .

Moving on to the actual computation, I start by combining the large  $N_c$  factorization rules (3.15) with the low energy realizations (3.132a) – (3.133b). This gives

$$(O_{\mathcal{S}_{27}})_{d\ u}^{s\ u} = \frac{1}{4} f^4 \Big[ \frac{3}{5} (\hat{L}^{\mu})_d^{\ s} (\hat{L}_{\mu})_u^{\ u} + \frac{2}{5} (\hat{L}^{\mu})_d^{\ u} (\hat{L}_{\mu})_u^{\ s} \Big] + \mathcal{O}(\delta^3) , \quad (3.142a)$$

$$(O_{\mathcal{S}_8})_d^s = \frac{1}{4} f^4 \frac{2}{5} \left[ (L^{\mu} L_{\mu})_d^s + (L^{\mu})_d^s \langle L_{\mu} \rangle \right] + \mathcal{O}(\delta^3) , \qquad (3.142b)$$

$$(O_{\mathcal{A}_8})_d^{\ s} = \frac{1}{4} f^4 \, 2 \big[ (L^{\mu} L_{\mu})_d^{\ s} - (L^{\mu})_d^{\ s} \langle L_{\mu} \rangle \big] + \mathcal{O}(\delta^3) \ , \tag{3.142c}$$

$$(O_{B_8})_d^{\ s} = \frac{1}{4} f^4(L^{\mu})_d^{\ s} \langle L_{\mu} \rangle + \mathcal{O}(\delta^3) , \qquad (3.142d)$$

$$(O_{C_8})_d^{\ s} = \frac{1}{4} f^2 b^2 \left[ 2L_5 (L_\mu L^\mu)_d^{\ s} + (2L_8 + H_2) (X' + \text{h.c.})_d^{\ s} \right] + \mathcal{O}(\delta^3) .$$
(3.142e)

In the last replacement, it is necessary to include order  $\delta^2$  contributions for the low energy realizations of the quark bilinears, since the order  $\delta$  contributions vanish. In principle, one also has to consider finite  $N_c$  corrections to the factorization rule (3.15). However, if they are supposed to contribute at order  $\delta^2$ , these corrections cannot involve any of the external currents or derivatives, which would be associated with further factors  $\delta$ . Hence, they do not contribute to portal interactions at leading order.

Comparing the above expressions (3.142a) - (3.142e) with the direct low energy realizations (3.132a) - (3.133b) obtained from the weak chiral Lagrangian, one finds

$$b_8 = \overline{s}_8 = \overline{b}_8 = \overline{a}_8 = 0 + O(\delta) , \qquad (3.143a)$$

$$a_8 = 2 + O(\delta)$$
,  $a_8^s = -\frac{2}{3} + O(\delta)$ ,  $b_8^s = 1 + O(\delta)$ , (3.143b)  
 $s_8 = \frac{2}{3} + O(\delta)$ ,  $s_9^s = \frac{2}{3} + O(\delta)$ ,  $s_{27} = 3 + O(\delta)$ .

$$s_{8} = \frac{1}{5} + O(\delta) , \qquad s_{8} = \frac{1}{3} + O(\delta) , \qquad s_{27} = 3 + O(\delta) ,$$

$$c_{8} = 2\frac{b^{2}}{f^{2}}L_{5} + O(\delta) , \qquad \bar{c}_{8} = \frac{b^{2}}{f^{2}}(2L_{8} + H_{2}) + O(\delta) , \qquad (3.143c)$$

$$c_{8}^{s} = \frac{4}{3}\frac{b^{2}}{f^{2}}L_{5} + O(\delta) .$$

The appearance of the  $b^2/f^2 \sim 10^3$  prefactor in front of the  $c_x$  coefficients is usually referred to as "chiral enhancement" because the densitydensity structure  $(\bar{q}^{\dagger}q^{\dagger})(\bar{q}q)$  of the corresponding four quark operator distinguishes it from the current-current structures  $(q^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}q)(q^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}q)$  and  $(q^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}^{\mu}q)(\bar{q}^{\dagger}\overline{\sigma}_{\mu}\overline{q})$  of the other four-quark operators. This chiral enhancement is what compensates for the loop suppression factor of the penguin diagrams generating  $O_6$  and  $\widetilde{O}_6$ , causing them to be important at leading order. The other penguin operators  $O_3 - O_5$  and  $\widetilde{O}_3 - \widetilde{O}_5$  are not enhanced. Neglecting them, one obtains

$$g_8 \approx \frac{3}{5}c_1 - \frac{2}{5}c_2 + c_8c_6 , \qquad g_8^s \approx -\frac{2}{5}c_1 + \frac{3}{5}c_2 , \qquad (3.144)$$
  

$$\overline{g}_8 = \overline{c}_8c_6 , \qquad g_{27} \approx \frac{3}{5}(c_1 + c_2) ,$$
  

$$h_8 \approx \frac{3}{5}x_1c_1 - \frac{2}{5}x_2c_2 + c_8x_6c_6 , \qquad h_8^s \approx -\frac{2}{5}x_1c_1 + \frac{3}{5}x_2c_2 ,$$
  

$$\overline{h}_8 = \overline{c}_8x_6c_6 , \qquad h_{27} \approx \frac{3}{5}(x_1c_1 + x_2c_2) .$$

Inverting this system of equations, one obtains

$$c_1(\mu = m_K) \approx g_{27} - g_8^s \approx -0.25g_8$$
, (3.145a)

$$c_2(\mu = m_K) \approx \frac{2}{3}g_{27} + g_8^s \approx +0.34g_8 ,$$
 (3.145b)

and

$$\overline{g}_8 = \overline{c}_8 c_6(\mu = m_K) \approx \frac{2L_8 + H_2}{2L_5} (g_8^s + g_8 - \frac{1}{3}g_{27})$$
$$\approx \frac{2L_8 + H_2}{2L_5} \cdot 1.25g_8 . \qquad (3.145c)$$

The value of prefactor  $2L_8 + H_2$  cannot be fitted to direct experimental observations, since  $H_2$  does not contribute to perturbative computations. However, it is connected to flavour symmetry violating light quark condensates. Using the low-energy realization (3.133b), one obtains

$$\langle 0 | \bar{q}^{\dagger \dot{a}} q_b | 0 \rangle + \text{h.c.} = -b \Big( \frac{f^2}{4} \delta_b{}^{\dot{a}} + (2L_8 + H_2) (b\chi)_b{}^{\dot{a}} \Big)$$
 (3.146)  
+ h.c. +  $\mathcal{O}(\delta^2)$ ,

so that in the SM

$$x \equiv \frac{\langle 0|\bar{s}s + \text{h.c.}|0\rangle}{\langle 0|\bar{u}u + \text{h.c.}|0\rangle} - 1 = \frac{8}{F_{\pi}^2} (M_{K^{\pm}}^2 - M_{\pi^{\pm}}^2) (2L_8 + H_2) \cdot (1 + O(\delta))$$
  
 
$$\approx 204 (2L_8 + H_2) . \qquad (3.147)$$

An old computation [95] using QCD sum rules found the value  $x = -0.2 \pm 0.1$ . In recent years, it has become possible to estimate the value of x using the results of lattice computations, giving [96]

$$x \approx 0.08 \pm 0.16$$
 . (3.148)

Using the best fit value of  $x \approx 0.08$ , one finds  $\overline{g}_8 \approx 4 \cdot 10^{-4}$ . However, due to the large uncertainties, the lattice result is perfectly consistent with  $\overline{g}_8 = \overline{h}_8 = 0$ . That being said, the estimate in this section crucially depends on the large  $N_c$  factorization rules, so that formally subleading contributions can still give a finite contribution to  $\overline{g}_8$  even if x = 0.

# Chapter 4

# Lepton Number Violation via Sterile Neutrino Decoherence

## 4.1 Lepton Number Violation at Colliders

The existence of small but finite masses for the lefthanded SM neutrinos is one of the most undeniable pieces of evidence for new physics. Type-I seesaw models are bottom-up extensions of the SM that seek to explain these masses by supposing the existence of  $n \geq 2$  gauge-singlet sterile neutrinos  $\bar{\nu}_i$  that mix with the light SM neutrinos  $\nu_a$  [97, 98, 99, 100, 101, 102]. In addition to the light neutrino masses, this mixing also gives rise to heavy neutrino mass eigenstates  $\bar{\nu}_i$  with masses  $M_i$  that are not constrained by SM observations, and a compelling feature of type-I seesaw models is that these heavy neutrinos could help explain a number of open problems in cosmology. For instance, they could serve as potential dark matter candidates [103, 104, 105], or help explain the origin of the primordial baryon asymmetry via the mechanism of "leptogenesis" [106, 107, 108].

In this chapter, I consider the prospect of observing lepton number violation (LNV) in heavy neutrino decays at colliders. In principle, LNV is a generic feature of many SM extensions, and e.g. the ATLAS [109], CMS [110] and LHCb [111] collaborations have all published searches

for evidence of sterile neutrinos in same-sign dilepton events at the LHC. Within the context of type-I seesaw models, there has been an ongoing debate as to whether observable LNV at colliders is consistent with loop stability of the small SM neutrino masses [112, 113, 114, 115, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 122, 123, 124, 125, 126, 127, 128], and during my PhD I investigated aspects of this debate.

In general, the parameter space of type-I seesaw models is characterized by the heavy neutrino masses  $M_i$  and by the angles  $\Theta_{ai}$  that quantify the seesaw mixing between the  $\nu_a$  and  $\overline{\nu}_i$  neutrinos. The difficulties for observing LNV at colliders arise from interplay between the SM neutrino mass matrix  $m_{\nu}$  and the sterile neutrino production cross section  $\sigma$ , both of which scale quadratically with the mixing angles,

$$\sigma \propto \sum_{a} |\Theta_{ai}|^2 , \qquad (m_{\nu})_{ab} = -\sum_{i} \Theta_{ai} \Theta_{bi} M_i . \qquad (4.1)$$

For collider-accessible masses  $M_i \leq 1$  TeV, a large sterile neutrino production cross section  $\sigma$  can only be consistent with the observed small SM neutrino masses if there are large cancellations between the individual terms in (4.1). In turn, these large cancellations can jeopardize loop stability of the SM neutrino masses, causing them to be fine-tuned in the 't Hooft sense [129, 130]. To protect loop stability of the SM neutrino masses, one has to impose an approximate symmetry that becomes exact in the limit of vanishing neutrino masses. It can be shown that the only suitable candidate for such a symmetry is the so-called "pseudo-Dirac symmetry", which conserves a generalized lepton number  $\tilde{L}$  [131, 130, 132].

In [130], it was pointed out that this approximate  $\tilde{L}$  conservation can suppress LNV in heavy neutrino decays, which seems to force an unhappy choice between one of three options: 1) the neutrino masses  $M_i$ are much heavier than 1 TeV, 2) LNV is parametrically suppressed by approximate  $\tilde{L}$  conservation, or 3) the SM neutrino masses are fine-tuned. However, the prospective suppression of LNV decays is the result of destructive interference within a coherently produced superposition heavy neutrino mass eigenstates. Many authors have drawn attention to the fact that these superpositions oscillate on detector length-scales [133, 114, 116, 115, 117, 119, 120, 121, 122, 123]. These oscillations can effective destroy coherence, making destructive interference impossible. Thus, the debate on LNV at colliders turns on whether or not coherently produced superpositions of heavy neutrinos do in fact decohere before they decay.

The results presented in this chapter have been published in [2]. Together with my collaborators, I used two distinct notions of fine-tuning to derive bounds on the suppression of LNV in sterile neutrino decays. For 't Hooft natural type-I seesaw mode, I used the loop-stability requirement for the SM neutrino masses to derive a lower bound on the relative suppression of LNV in sterile neutrino decays. For the more restrictive class type-I seesaw models without large, accidental cancellations, I derived an upper bound on the relative suppression of LNV in sterile neutrino decays. Translating these bounds into conditions for the heavy neutrino masses  $M_i$  and mixing angles  $\Theta_{ai}$ , I have split the available parameter space for collider-accessible type-I seesaw models into three distinct regions:

- At sufficiently small mixing angles, LNV in heavy neutrino decays is unsuppressed for type-I seesaw models without large, accidental cancellations.
- For intermediate mixing angles, both suppressed and unsuppressed LNV is possible for parameter choices that obey both notions of naturalness.
- For sufficiently large mixing angles, LNV in heavy neutrino decays is suppressed for type-I seesaw models without 't Hooft fine tuning.

As a specific example for these generic considerations, I consider the minimal case of a type-I seesaw model with n = 2 sterile neutrinos that form a single pseudo-Dirac pair. In this case, the position of the boundaries between these three areas in parameter space is found to depend only on  $2\overline{M} \equiv M_1 + M_2$  and  $U^2 \equiv \sum_{i,a} |\Theta_{ai}|^2$ .

The remainder of this chapter is organized as follows: In section 4.2, I quickly review the type-I seesaw model. In section 4.3, I discuss the sufficient conditions for sterile neutrino decoherence, and derive general criteria for splitting the parameter space, which I then apply to the discussion for n = 2 sterile neutrinos. In section 4.4, I study the phenomenological implications for sterile neutrino searches at colliders.

## 4.2 Introduction to Type-I Seesaw Models

In this section, I give a short introduction to type-I seesaw models with  $n \geq 2$  sterile neutrinos  $\overline{\nu}_i$ , focusing on the limit with pseudo-Dirac symmetry and the loop stability of the light neutrino masses. In two-component notation, the full Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{\rm SM} + \mathcal{L}_{\rm seesaw} , \qquad (4.2)$$

where

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{seesaw}} = \overline{\nu}_i^{\dagger} \, \mathrm{i} \, \partial \!\!\!/ \, \overline{\nu}_i - \frac{1}{2} (M_{ij} \overline{\nu}_i \overline{\nu}_j - F_{ai}^* \overline{\nu}_i l_a \, \widetilde{\phi}^{\dagger} + \mathrm{h.\,c.}) \,, \qquad (4.3)$$

 $M_{ij} = M_{ji}$  denotes the sterile neutrino Majorana mass matrix, and  $F_{ai}$  is the coupling strength of the sterile neutrino Yukawa interactions. To study LNV at colliders, one also has to account for the interactions of the SM neutrinos  $\nu_a$ . Working in a basis with diagonalized charged lepton Yukawa and gauge interactions, the relevant part of the SM Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{SM},\nu} \equiv \nu_a^{\dagger} \,\mathrm{i} \,\partial\!\!\!/ \nu_a - \left(\frac{g}{2c_W} Z_{\mu} \nu_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \nu_a + \frac{g}{\sqrt{2}} W_{\mu}^{+} \nu_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} e_a + \mathrm{h.\,c.}\right) \,. \tag{4.4}$$

After EWSB, one obtains the mass term

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{seesaw}} \supset \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{M}} \equiv -\frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \nu_a \ , \quad \overline{\nu}_i \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & vF_{aj}^* \\ vF_{bi}^* & M_{ij} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \nu_b \\ \overline{\nu}_j \end{pmatrix} + \text{h.c.} \quad (4.5)$$

The mass matrix is complex and symmetric, so it can be diagonalized by means of a Takagi factorization,

$$\mathcal{M} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 0 & vF^* \\ vF^{\dagger} & M \end{pmatrix} = U^* \begin{pmatrix} D_m & 0 \\ 0 & D_M \end{pmatrix} U^{\dagger} , \qquad (4.6)$$

where U is some unitary matrix, and the real, diagonal matrices  $D_m \equiv \text{diag}(\hat{m}_1, \hat{m}_2, \hat{m}_3), D_M \equiv (\hat{M}_1, \hat{M}_2, ...)$  encode the tree-level predictions for the physical masses for the light and heavy neutrino mass eigenstates n and N,

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{v} \\ \overline{\mathbf{v}} \end{pmatrix} \equiv U^{\dagger} \begin{pmatrix} \nu \\ \overline{\nu} \end{pmatrix} , \qquad \qquad \begin{pmatrix} \nu \\ \overline{\nu} \end{pmatrix} = U \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{v} \\ \overline{\mathbf{v}} \end{pmatrix} . \qquad (4.7)$$

Assuming that the mixing between the  $\nu_a$  and  $\overline{\nu}_i$  is small, the matrix U can be cast as

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{1} - \frac{1}{2}\theta\theta^{\dagger} & \theta \\ -\theta^{\dagger} & 1 - \frac{1}{2}\theta^{\dagger}\theta \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} U_{\nu} & 0 \\ 0 & U_{N} \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\theta^{3}) , \qquad (4.8)$$

where  $vF^{\dagger} = M\theta^{\dagger}$ . Furthermore, the entries of  $D_m$  and  $D_M$  are given by the square roots of the eigenvalues of  $\mathcal{MM}^{\dagger}$ . With  $\Theta \equiv U_{\nu}^{\dagger}\theta U_N$  and  $\hat{M} = U_N^T M U_N$ , one has

$$D_m = \Theta^* D_M \Theta^{\dagger} + \mathcal{O}(\Theta^4) , \qquad (4.9a)$$

$$D_M = \hat{M} + \frac{1}{2}\hat{M}\Theta^{\dagger}\Theta + \frac{1}{2}\Theta^T\Theta^*\hat{M} + \mathcal{O}(\Theta^3) . \qquad (4.9b)$$

After the field redefinition (4.7), the full neutrino sector becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{SM},\nu} + \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{seesaw}} = \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{free}} + \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{int}} , \qquad (4.10)$$

where

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{free}} \equiv \mathbf{v}^{\dagger} \, \mathbf{i} \, \partial \!\!\!/ \mathbf{v} + \overline{\mathbf{v}}^{\dagger} \, \mathbf{i} \, \partial \!\!\!/ \overline{\mathbf{v}} - \frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{v} D_m \mathbf{v} + \overline{\mathbf{v}} D_M \overline{\mathbf{v}} + \text{h. c.})$$
(4.11a)

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{int}} \equiv -\frac{g}{2c_W} Z_\mu \nu^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} (\nu + \Theta \overline{\nu}) - \frac{h}{v} \nu \Theta D_M \overline{\nu} \qquad (4.11b)$$
$$-\frac{g}{\sqrt{2}} W_{\mu}^{-} e_a^{\dagger} \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} U_{\nu} (\nu + \Theta \overline{\nu}) + \text{h. c.} + \mathcal{O}(\Theta^2) .$$

Neglecting loop corrections and higher order contributions in the seesaw expansion in  $\Theta$ ,  $U_{\nu}$  has to be identical to the SM PNMS matrix. At this level of accuracy, the only relevant free parameters are encoded in  $\Theta$  and  $D_M$ . Since  $D_m$  is real, positive, and diagonal, not all entries of  $\Theta$  are independent of each other. It is convenient to define the short-hands

$$U_i^2 \equiv \sum_a |\Theta_{ai}|^2 , \qquad \qquad U_a^2 \equiv \sum_i |\Theta_{ai}|^2 , \qquad (4.12)$$

so that  $U^2 = \sum_i U_i^2 = \sum_a U_a^2$ . In this notation, the decay widths  $\Gamma_i$  of the  $N_i$  eigenstates can be estimated as [134, 135]

$$\Gamma_{i} \approx U_{i}^{2} M_{i} \begin{cases} 0.11 \, G_{F} M_{i}^{2} & \text{for } M_{i} \gg M_{W} \\ 0.04 \, G_{F}^{2} M_{i}^{4} & \text{for } M_{i} \ll M_{W} \end{cases},$$
(4.13)

with an equal probability of decaying into leptons and antileptons at leading order. Notice that the all-important relative suppression of LNV decays can only occur for decays of coherent superpositions of the  $\overline{\nu}_i$ eigenstates. Generically, SM interactions are expected to produce such superpositions, and one the central question investigated in this chapter is for which mixing angles  $U_i^2$  one should expect a coherently produced superposition of sterile neutrinos  $\overline{\nu}_i$  to decohere before decaying.

The pseudo-Dirac symmetry is obtained if all of the sterile neutrinos coupling to the standard model can be grouped into  $k \leq n/2$  pairs of pseudo-Dirac Fermions  $(\overline{\mathbf{v}}_i, \overline{\mathbf{v}}_{k+i}^{\dagger})$  [131, 130]. In this case,  $D_M$  and  $\Theta$  can be cast as [132]

$$D_M = \begin{pmatrix} D_1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & D_1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & D_2 \end{pmatrix} , \qquad \Theta = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha \ , \ i \alpha \ , \ 0 \end{pmatrix} , \qquad (4.14)$$

where the  $D_i$  are real, positive, and diagonal matrices and  $\alpha$  is a general complex matrix. As they should, the light neutrino masses vanish in this limit, and any pseudo-Dirac symmetry in nature has to be approximate. Hence, the matrices  $D_m$  and  $\Theta$  can be cast as

$$\Theta = \left(\alpha - \epsilon_1 , i(\alpha + \epsilon_1) , \epsilon_2\right)$$
(4.15a)

and

$$D_M = \begin{pmatrix} D_1 - \frac{1}{2}\Delta M & 0 & 0\\ 0 & D_1 + \frac{1}{2}\Delta M & 0\\ 0 & 0 & D_2 \end{pmatrix} , \qquad (4.15b)$$

where  $\Delta M$  and the  $\epsilon_i$  parametrize the deviation from the pseudo-Dirac limit. As they should, the light neutrino masses vanish for  $(\Delta M, \epsilon_i) \rightarrow 0$ . Close to the pseudo-Dirac limit, loop corrections to the small neutrino masses are suppressed by the smallness of the entries of  $\Delta M$  and  $\epsilon_i$ . However, if the mixing angles are sufficiently large, their size can compensate even for the smallness of  $\Delta M$  and  $\epsilon$ . At 1-loop, the physical light neutrino mass matrix  $m_{\nu} = D_m + \delta m_{\nu}^{1-\text{loop}} + \dots$  picks up the contribution [136],

$$\delta m_{\nu}^{1\text{-loop}} = \Theta^* \delta M \Theta^{\dagger} , \qquad \delta M = \frac{2}{(4\pi v)^2} D_M l(D_M^2) , \qquad (4.16)$$

which does not have to be diagonal The loop function l is defined such that it acts on each entry of the diagonal matrix  $D_M^2$  separately. One has

$$l(M_i^2) \equiv \frac{M_i^2}{2} \left( 3 \frac{\ln(M_i^2/M_Z^2)}{M_i^2/M_Z^2 - 1} + \frac{\ln(M_i^2/M_H^2)}{M_i^2/M_H^2 - 1} \right) , \qquad (4.17)$$

where  $M_H$  and  $M_Z$  are the physical masses of the H and Z bosons, and the induced correction to the square sum of the light neutrino masses is

$$\sum_{a} (m_{a}^{2} - \hat{m}_{a}^{2}) = 2 \sum_{a} \hat{m}_{a} (\delta m_{\nu}^{1\text{-loop}})_{aa}$$

$$+ \sum_{ab} (\delta m_{\nu}^{1\text{-loop}})_{ab}^{\dagger} (\delta m_{\nu}^{1\text{-loop}})_{ba} + \dots$$
(4.18)

Loop stability is jeopardized if the loop corrections on the righthand side of this equation are numerically comparable to the tree-level predictions. Using the physical light neutrino masses as a proxy for the tree-level masses, a sufficient condition for fine tuning is

$$\sum_{i} m_i^2 \le \operatorname{tr}\left\{ (\delta m_{\nu}^{1\text{-loop}})^{\dagger} \delta m_{\nu}^{1\text{-loop}} \right\} .$$
(4.19)

In general,  $\delta M$  contains corrections to both  $D_1$  and  $\Delta M$ . The corrections to  $D_1$  do not break pseudo-Dirac symmetry, and will always remain small compared to the tree-level prediction for the light neutrino masses. Hence, I only keep track of the loop corrections to  $\Delta M$ . Parametrically, the loop corrections are expected to scale as

$$\operatorname{tr}\left\{ (\delta m_{\nu}^{1-\operatorname{loop}})^{\dagger} \delta m_{\nu}^{1-\operatorname{loop}} \right\} \sim (U^2 || \delta \Delta M ||)^2 , \qquad (4.20)$$

so that eventually  $U^2$  is expected to overcome the smallness of  $\delta \Delta M$ .

## 4.3 Criteria for Sterile Neutrino Decoherence

In this section, I combine considerations for sterile neutrino decoherence with fine-tuning arguments to obtain both upper and lower bounds on the relative suppression of LNV in heavy neutrino decays. As a specific example, I consider the minimal model with a single pseudo-Dirac pair of sterile neutrinos.

### 4.3.1 General Considerations

In general, SM interactions create coherent superposition of the heavy neutrino mass eigenstates  $N_i$ . In the common restframe, these states evolves as  $|\Psi;t\rangle = \sum_i e^{-iM_i t} \alpha_i |\overline{\nu}_i\rangle$ . Close to the Pseudo-Dirac limit, LNV decays are suppressed by destructive interference between the  $|\overline{\nu}_i\rangle$ , and this interference is captured by the off-diagonal entries of the density matrix  $\hat{\rho}_{ij}(t) \equiv \langle \overline{\nu}_i | \Psi; t \rangle \langle \Psi; t | \overline{\nu}_j \rangle$ . Decoherence occurs when these off-diagonal entries become negligible, making destructive interference impossible. In general, this is the case for processes that take place on characteristic time-scales much larger than

$$T_{ij} \sim \frac{1}{|M_i - M_j|}$$
, (4.21)

and this is also true for sterile neutrino decays. The main complication is due to the possibility of the mass eigenstates having wildly different decay widths  $\Gamma_i$ . Without loss of generality, the sterile neutrino masses can be taken to be well ordered,  $M_1 < M_2 < \cdots < M_n$ . In this case, it is sufficient to compare the decay width  $\Gamma_i$  of each energy eigenstate with the mass splitting between  $|\overline{\nu}_i\rangle$  and its adjacent energy eigenstates  $|\overline{\nu}_{i-1}\rangle$  and  $|\overline{\nu}_{i+1}\rangle$ . Up to *CP* violating corrections, suppression of the LNV decays becomes impossible, if

$$\Gamma_i \ll \min(M_i - M_{i-1}, M_{i+1} - M_i)$$
(4.22)

for all  $|\overline{\nu}_i\rangle$ . It is important to note that the superposition  $|\Psi;t\rangle$  need not contain all of the available sterile neutrino energy eigenstates. The decoherence conditions (4.22) only have to apply to those eigenstates partaking in  $|\Psi;t\rangle$ . In the language of Feynman diagrams, LNV transitions are mediated by diagrams containing the coherent sum of propagators

$$S_{ab}(p) \approx i \sum_{i} \Theta_{ai} \Theta_{bi} P_L \frac{M_i}{p^2 - M_i^2 + i M_i \Gamma_i} P_L \quad (4.23)$$

The condition  $\Gamma_i \ll \min(M_i - M_{i-1}, M_{i+1} - M_i)$  implies that the masspoles in each of these propagators are well separated. In this case, the zero width approximation can be taken for each term individually, giving

$$S_{ab}(p) = i \pi P_L \sum_i \Theta_{ai} \Theta_{bi} M_i \,\delta(p^2 - M_i^2) \,. \tag{4.24}$$

Since the  $\delta$ -distributions force each four momentum to be on a slightly different mass shell, the individual terms cannot cancel each other, and there is no suppression of LNV amplitudes.

If  $M_i$  and  $\Gamma_i$  are treated as free parameters, the above account is exhaustive. However, more information can be extracted by enforcing two separate naturalness conditions:

1. For parameter choices without large, accidental cancellations, relation (4.9a) implies that the physical mass splittings of sterile neutrinos are at least of same order as the light neutrino masses,  $\Delta M_{ij} = |M_i - M_j| \gtrsim m_1, m_2$ . In this case, LNV decays are unsuppressed if

$$\Gamma_i \ll m_1, m_2 \tag{4.25}$$

obtains for all  $\overline{\nu}_i$ . Since  $\Gamma_i \propto U_i^2$ , this condition is equivalent to a lower bound for  $U_i^2$ , below which LNV decays have to be unsuppressed.

2. For parameter choices without 't Hooft fine-tuning, the scaling behaviour (4.20) of the loop corrections to the light neutrino masses implies an upper bound for the sterile neutrino mass splittings  $\Delta M_i$ . Since decoherence depends on the condition  $\Delta M_i > \Gamma_i \propto U_i^2$ , this upper bound on  $\Delta M_i$  can be translated into an upper bound for  $U_i^2$ , above which LNV decays have to be suppressed. Although both of these arguments appeal to notions of naturalness, they are not on equal footing. While large, accidental cancellations may be unsatisfactory on a philosophical level, they do not threaten the internal selfconsistency of theory, and they also pose no major difficulty for predicting experimental observations. On the other hand, the 't Hoof notion of naturalness should be taken somewhat more seriously, since loop stability is a necessary precondition for the validity of perturbative computations. For instance, without loop stability, it becomes effectively impossible to predict the SM neutrino mass matrix with any degree of accuracy, so that the theory loses some of its predictive power.

However, there is no a priori reason to suppose that nature has to be obey either the rule of no-large-cancellations, or 't Hooft naturalness. Here, I only apply these arguments because they are at the center of the debate on the observeability of LNV at colliders. If naturalness is of no concern, then the debate becomes trivial, since there is reason to require the existence of an approximate pseudo-Dirac symmetry. On the other hand, if naturalness considerations are taken seriously, then one has to worry about pseudo-Dirac suppression, and the question of sterile neutrino decoherence becomes relevant. Adopting this stance, one has to accept at least the second argument based on 't Hooft naturalness, and potentially even the weaker argument based on accidental cancellations.

### 4.3.2 Benchmark Model with n = 2

As a specific example, I consider the minimal model with a single pseudo-Dirac pair of sterile neutrinos  $\overline{\nu}_1$ ,  $\overline{\nu}_2$ . Without loss of generality,  $D_M$  and  $\Theta$  can be parametrized as

$$D_M = \overline{M} \begin{pmatrix} 1-\mu & 0\\ 0 & 1+\mu \end{pmatrix} , \qquad (4.26a)$$

$$\Theta = \frac{v e^{-i\alpha}}{2\overline{M}} \begin{pmatrix} Y_1(2+\mu+\epsilon e^{2i\alpha}) & iY_1(2+\mu-\epsilon e^{2i\alpha}) \\ iY_2(2+\mu-\epsilon e^{2i\alpha}) & -Y_2(2+\mu-\epsilon e^{2i\alpha}) \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (4.26b)$$

where all of the parameters are taken to be real numbers. The explicit breaking of pseudo-Dirac symmetry is quantified in terms of the small parameters  $\mu, \epsilon \ll 1$ . To leading order in  $\epsilon$  and  $\mu$ , one obtains

$$\hat{m}_a = 2 \frac{v^2}{\overline{M}} Y_a^2 \epsilon , \qquad \frac{1}{2} U^2 = U_i^2 = \frac{v^2}{\overline{M}^2} (|Y_1|^2 + |Y_2|^2) , \qquad (4.27)$$

so that  $\Gamma_1 = \Gamma_2 \equiv \Gamma$ . Close to the pseudo-Dirac limit, SM interactions can create and annihilate only the two superpositions  $|\Psi_{\pm}; 0\rangle \equiv |\overline{\nu}_1\rangle \pm i |\overline{\nu}_2\rangle$ , and destructive interference between the  $|N_i\rangle$  suppresses LNV decays unless the superpositions decohere.

The impact of this decoherence on LNV decays has been studied in [137, 116]. Up to *CP* violating corrections, it is sufficient to consider decays of  $|\Psi_+; 0\rangle$ . Using that  $|\Psi_+; t\rangle = e^{i M_1 t} |\overline{\nu}_1\rangle + i e^{i M_2 t} |\overline{\nu}_2\rangle$ , one finds

$$|\langle \Psi_{-}; 0|\Psi_{+}; t\rangle|^{2} = \sin^{2}\left(\frac{1}{2}\Delta M t\right) , \qquad \Delta M = 2\overline{M}\mu , \qquad (4.28)$$

which yields the LNV branching ratio

$$P_{ll} = \Gamma \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \sin\left(\frac{1}{2}\Delta M t\right)^{2} e^{-\Gamma t} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\Delta M^{2}}{\Gamma^{2} + \Delta M^{2}} , \qquad (4.29)$$

so that  $P_{ll} \approx 1/2$  for  $\Delta M \gg \Gamma$ , as expected. Following [116], I consider the ratio of the LNV and LNC branching ratios,

$$R_{ll} = \frac{P_{ll}}{1 - P_{ll}} = \frac{\Delta M^2}{2\Gamma^2 + \Delta M^2} , \qquad (4.30)$$

and define LNV decays to be unsuppressed for  $R_{ll} > 1/3$ . In terms of  $\mu$  and  $U^2$ , this condition is equivalent to

$$4\mu > U^2 \begin{cases} 0.11 \, G_F \overline{M}^2 & \text{for } \overline{M} \gg M_W \\ 0.04 \, G_F^2 \overline{M}^4 & \text{for } \overline{M} \ll M_W \end{cases}$$

$$\tag{4.31}$$

As in the general case, I now proceed by using fine-tuning arguments. In accordance with the first fine-tuning argument in section 4.3.1, I enforce the rule of no-large-cancellations in order to obtain a bound  $U_{\rm LNV}^2$ , below of which LNV is unsuppressed. Using relation (4.25), one finds that LNV is expected to be generic for

$$U^{2} < U_{\rm LNV}^{2} \equiv \frac{m_{a}}{\overline{M}} \begin{cases} (0.06 \, G_{F} \overline{M}^{2})^{-1} & \text{for } \overline{M} \gg M_{W} \\ (0.02 \, G_{F}^{2} \overline{M}^{4})^{-1} & \text{for } \overline{M} \ll M_{W} \end{cases}$$
(4.32)

In accordance with the second fine-tuning argument, I enforce 't Hooft naturalness in order to obtain an upper bound  $U_{\text{stable}}^2$ , above of which LNV is suppressed. For the loop correction  $\delta M$ , one has

$$\delta M = \delta \overline{M} \cdot 1 + \overline{M} \begin{pmatrix} -\delta \mu & 0\\ 0 & +\delta \mu \end{pmatrix} , \qquad (4.33)$$

where

$$\delta \overline{M} = -\frac{2\overline{M}l(\overline{M}^2)}{(4\pi v)^2} , \quad \delta \mu = -\mu \frac{4\overline{M}^2 l'(\overline{M}^2)}{(4\pi v)^2 - 2l(\overline{M}^2)} \approx -\mu \frac{4\overline{M}^2 l'(\overline{M}^2)}{(4\pi v)^2} .$$

$$(4.34a)$$

The corrections due to  $\delta \overline{M}$  do not break pseudo-Dirac symmetry, and the resulting contribution to the light neutrino masses is always small compared to the tree-level prediction. However, the neutrino mass correction due to  $\delta \mu$  results in a term

$$\operatorname{tr}\left\{ (\delta m_{\nu}^{1-\operatorname{loop}})^{\dagger} \delta m_{\nu}^{1-\operatorname{loop}} \right\} = (U^2 \overline{M} \delta \mu)^2 + \dots$$
(4.35)

that can violate the loop stability condition (4.19). To prevent this from happening,  $\mu$  needs to be smaller than

$$\mu_{\text{stable}} \equiv (4\pi v)^2 \frac{(\sum_a m_a^2)^{1/2}}{4U^2 \overline{M}^3 \, l'(\overline{M}^2)} \,. \tag{4.36}$$

Since unsuppressed LNV decays can only occur for  $\Gamma < 2\overline{M}\mu$ , this condition on  $\mu$  can be translated into an upper bound for the mixing angle  $U^2$ ,

$$U^{4} \leq U_{\text{stable}}^{4} \equiv (4\pi v)^{2} \frac{(\sum_{a} m_{a}^{2})^{1/2}}{\overline{M}^{3} l'(\overline{M}^{2})} \begin{cases} (0.11 \, G_{F} \overline{M}^{2})^{-1} & \text{for } \overline{M} \gg M_{W} \\ (0.04 \, G_{F}^{2} \overline{M}^{4})^{-1} & \text{for } \overline{M} \ll M_{W} \end{cases},$$
(4.37)

where the righthand side depends on  $\overline{M}$  only. In summary, the bounds  $U_{\text{LNV}}^2$  and  $U_{\text{stable}}^2$  define simple criteria for identifying three distinct regions of parameter space:

- For  $U^2 < U_{\rm LNV}^2$ , LNV is unsuppressed for parameter choices without large, accidental cancellations.
- For  $U_{\rm LNV}^2 < U^2 < U_{\rm stable}^2$ , LNV can be either suppressed or unsuppressed for parameter choices that fulfill both naturalness conditions in section 4.3.1.
- For  $U_{\text{stable}}^2 < U^2$ , LNV is suppressed in 't Hooft natural models.

# 4.4 LNV in the n = 2 Benchmak Model

To conclude this chapter, I compare the bounds  $U_{\text{LNV}}^2$  and  $U_{\text{stable}}^2$  obtained for the benchmark model with the currently available parameter space for collider accessible type-I seesaw models.

Figure 4.1 shows the parametric dependence of  $U_{\text{stable}}^2$  (in green) and  $U_{\text{LNV}}^2$  (in red). The shading highlights regions of parameter space that are excluded based on the results of fixed target and collider experiments (in grey), and on the basis of the observed values of the light neutrino masses themselves (in blue). The full lines correspond to a normal ordering of the light neutrino masses, while the dashed lines correspond to an inverted ordering of the light neutrino masses. The stark difference between the full and dashed lines for  $U_{\text{LNV}}^2$  is due to the fact that  $m_a^2 = m_1^2 \approx \Delta m_{\text{sol}}^2$  is appropriate for an inverted ordering, while  $m_a^2 = m_2^2 \approx \Delta m_{\text{atm}}^2$  is appropriate for a normal ordering. This can be seen most clearly by using the Casas-Ibarra parametrization, in which the physical sterile neutrino mass splitting takes the form [138]

$$\Delta M^2 = \Delta \hat{M}^2 + M_{\theta\theta}^2 + 2\Delta \hat{M} M_{\theta\theta} \cos(2\operatorname{Re}\omega) , \qquad (4.38)$$

where  $\Delta \hat{M}^2$  is the mass splitting contribution due to the Majorana mass matrix  $\hat{M}$ , and  $\omega$  is a general complex valued angle. For normal ordering, one has  $M_{\theta\theta}^2 = \Delta m_{\rm sol}^2$ , and for inverted ordering one has  $M_{\theta\theta}^2 = \Delta m_{\rm atm}^2$ .

In regions that have not yet been excluded, unsuppressed LNV decays are expected to be generic for masses  $\overline{M} \ll 10^2 \,\text{GeV}$ . For  $\overline{M} \gtrsim 10^2 \,\text{GeV}$ and  $U^2 \lesssim 10^{-6}$ , LNV decays may or may not be suppressed, since both  $\Delta M > \Gamma$  and  $\Delta M < \Gamma$  are possible for generic parameter choices. Finally, for both  $\overline{M} \gtrsim 10^2 \,\text{GeV}$  and  $U^2 > 10^{-6}$ , LNV decays can only be unsuppressed in models with 't Hooft fine tuning.

To summarize, observable LNV should be expected to be a generic feature of type-I seesaw models with sub-TeV scale sterile neutrinos. On the other hand, for models with TeV scale or perhaps even heavier neutrinos, 't Hooft naturalness is inconsistent with LNV for a significant fraction of the parameter space.



Figure 4.1: Parameter regions with  $U^2 > U_{\text{stable}}^2$  (above the green line) and  $U^2 < U_{\Delta M=m_{\nu}}^2$  (below the red line) in the minimal model with n = 2. The plot is taken from [2]. The two regimes are well separated by a region, in which both  $R_{ll} < 1/3$  and  $R_{ll} > 1/3$  are possible for generic parameter choices. The shading highlights areas that are experimentally excluded, and it is based on the global scans in [138, 139]. The red lines are obtained using the analytic estimates for  $\Gamma$  found in [135]. The references [134, 140, 141, 142] contain more rigorous computations. The full lines correspond to normal ordering of the light neutrino masses, and the dashed lines correspond to an inverted ordering of the light neutrino masses.

# Chapter 5

# Relativistic and Spectator Effects in High-Scale Leptogenesis

## 5.1 Updating High-Scale Leptogenesis

The origin of the primordial baryon asymmetry in the early universe (BAU) is an unsolved problem of modern cosmology. In addition to explaining the light neutrino masses, a type-I seesaw model can also explain the origin of the BAU via a mechanism called leptogenesis [106]. In leptogenesis, the baryon asymmetry is generated via a two-step process: First, a finite lepton number (L) is generated by CP violating out-of-equilibrium sterile neutrino interactions, and second, nonperturbative SM sphaleron processes in the early universe plasma transform a part of this lepton asymmetry into a finite baryon number (B).

In this chapter, I study the impact of finite temperature effects and partially equilibrated standard model interactions in "high-scale" leptogenesis models [106, 143] in which the mass of the lightest sterile neutrino  $\tilde{M}_1$  lies above the Davidson-Ibarra bound,  $\tilde{M}_1 \gtrsim 10^9$  GeV [144]. In recent years, much attention has been given to so-called "low scale" leptogenesis models with sterile neutrinos that are much lighter than 10<sup>9</sup> GeV [107, 108], and I apply methods used to study these models to high-scale leptogenesis.

In general, finite temperature effects are the result of in-medium physics associated with the early universe plasma. They can be important if the lepton asymmetry is generated at least in part when the physical temperature  $T_{\rm phys}$  of the early universe plasma is larger than  $M_1$ , where the bulk of the sterile neutrinos is relativistic.

Importantly, the timeline of high-scale leptogenesis depends strongly on the washout parameter K, which measures the strength of washout processes in the early universe plasma that can destroy finite lepton asymmetries. In "weak washout" scenarios with  $K \ll 1$ , these washout processes never equilibrate, so that asymmetries produced at early times, where  $T_{\rm phys} \gg \tilde{M}_1$ , can be important. However, in "strong washout" scenarios with  $K \gg 1$ , washout processes equilibrate at intermediate temperatures  $T_{\rm phys} \gg \tilde{M}_1$ , before eventually freezing out at temperatures  $T_{\rm phys} \lesssim \tilde{M}_1$ . In this case, the standard lore of high-scale leptogenesis holds that the final asymmetry will be produced entirely after the freezeout of the washout processes at  $T_{\rm phys} \lesssim M_1$ . Following this reasoning, the sterile neutrinos can be treated as nonrelativistic, and finite-temperature effects can be included as small corrections via a formal expansion in  $T_{\rm phys}/\tilde{M}_1$ , see e.g. [145, 146, 147, 148, 149, 150].

However, lepton asymmetries produced at early times could survive strong washouts if B - L conserving SM interactions transfer part of the lepton asymmetry into sectors of the SM that do not couple to the sterile neutrinos directly. Provided that these "spectator interactions" remain out of equilibrium until after the washout processes freeze out, they can protect the B-L asymmetry by serving as a bottle neck for the washout. Phenomenologically, models with such "partially equilibrated" spectators are well motivated, since the various SM interactions equilibrate over a wide range of accessible temperatures [151]. In general, the equilibration rates of SM spectator interactions have been studied in [152, 153], and the impact of partially equilibrated spectators in high-scale leptogenesis was studied in [151]. However, the analysis in [151] only applies to strong washout scenarios with initially thermalized sterile neutrinos, where no significant lepton asymmetry can be produced at early time. If the sterile neutrino abundance is initially far from equilibrium, a significant lepton asymmetry can be produced at early times, and it remains to investigate whether partially equilibrated spectator interactions can indeed protect such an asymmetry from strong washouts.

To study the impact of finite temperature and spectator effects in high-scale leptogenesis with arbitrary initial conditions, one has to obtain relativistic interaction rates that describe the CP violating source of lepton asymmetries, the washout processes, and the production of sterile neutrinos in the early universe plasma through the whole transition from the ultrarelativistic regime  $T_{\text{phys}} \gg \tilde{M}_1$  to the nonrelativistic regime  $T_{\text{phys}} \lesssim \tilde{M}_1$ . In recent years, much work has been devoted to understanding these interaction rates, see e.g. the review [154].

Within the context of "low-scale" leptogenesis models, most work has focused on determining the sterile neutrino interaction rates in the ultrarelativistic limit  $T_{\rm phys} \gg M_1$ , see e.g. [155, 156, 157, 153]. In this limit, it is important to distinguish processes that either conserve or flip helicity of the SM leptons. Assigning a finite lepton number to sterile neutrinos with definite helicity, helicity conserving processes become lepton-number conserving (LNC), while helicity flip processes become lepton number violating (LNV). The importance of LNV rates for the CP violating source has been pointed out in [158, 159], and the interplay of LNV and LNC rates has been studied e.g. in [160, 161, 120, 162, 163, 164, 165]. As mentioned above, the determination of source and washout rates for arbitrary values of  $T_{\rm phys}/\tilde{M}_1$  is important in high-scale leptogenesis scenarios. The interactions rates used in [166, 167, 168] account for time-dilation of fast sterile neutrinos in the eary universe plasma, but not for the associated in-medium effects, and no relativistic corrections are included for the CP violating source. The interaction rates in [169, 170], include thermal effects for general values of  $T_{\rm phys}/\tilde{M}_1$ , but without accounting for  $2 \leftrightarrow 2$  scattering processes, that are known to generate the dominant contribution for LNC rates in the ultrarelativistic regime  $T_{\rm phys} \gg \tilde{M}_1$ . Effective theory approaches have been used in [148, 149, 150] to the interaction rates for small but finite values of  $T_{\rm phys}/\tilde{M}_1$ . Finally, the interaction rates in [157, 171] fully include thermal effects for arbitrary values of  $T_{\rm phys}/\tilde{M}_1$ , but without distinguishing between LNV and LNC processes, as is necessary for  $T_{\rm phys} \gtrsim M_1$ .

The results presented in this chapter have been published in [1].

Focusing on the impact of finite temperature and spectator effects, I consider a simplified model with two strongly hierarchical sterile neutrinos that couple to the same linear combination of SM leptons. Together with my collaborators, I have used methods of non-equilibrium quantum field theory to derive a novel set of momentum-averaged, relativistic fluid equations for this model of high-scale leptogenesis. These equations remain valid throughout the transition from the ultrarelativistic regime  $T_{\rm phys} \gg \tilde{M}_1$  to the nonrelativistic regime  $T_{\rm phys} \lesssim \tilde{M}_1$  and distinguish between sterile neutrinos with positive and negative helicity. Using hard thermal loop (HTL) resummation techniques, I computed the CPviolating source term and the helicity dependent interaction rates that appear in the relativistic fluid equations for general values of  $T_{\rm phys}/M_1$  at leading log-accuracy, accounting in particular for  $1 \leftrightarrow 2$  decay processes with thermal masses of the SM particles, and  $2 \leftrightarrow 2$  scattering processes with t-channel exchanges of SM leptons. In full consistency with prior results,  $2 \leftrightarrow 2$  processes dominate LNC rates for  $T_{\rm phys} \gg \tilde{M}_1$ , and  $1 \leftrightarrow 2$  processes are found to dominate LNV rates. Using these thermal interaction rates, I have found a strong enhancement of the CP violating source term at early times, which can generate large asymmetries. To study the impact of these early asymmetries, I numerically solved the relativistic fluid equations for two specific leptogenesis scenarios:

- 1. A toy scenario without any spectator interactions, which is useful to isolate the impact of finite temperature corrections. For a vanishing initial abundance, finite temperature corrections to the source term lead to a qualitatively different parametric dependence of the final B L asymmetry in the weak washout regime. For K < 0.2, the sign of the final B L asymmetry flips, and there is a relative enhancement of the absolute value of the final B L asymmetry by more than one order of magnitude.
- 2. A realistic scenario for sterile neutrinos with masses  $\sim 10^{13}$  GeV, in which b-Yukawa and weak sphaleron interactions are partially equilibrated. In this scenario, finite temperature corrections to the source term lead to another sign flip of the final B - L asymmetry at around  $K \approx 30$ . For  $K \gg 30$ , there is a relative enhancement of the absolute value of the final B - L asymmetry by up to two orders of magnitude.

The remainder of this chapter is structured as follows: In section 5.2, I specify the simplified model that I use to study finite temperature and spectator effects in high-scale leptogenesis. In section 5.3, I review a few aspects of finite temperature quantum field theory and the closed time-path (CTP) formalism that are relevant for the remainder of the chaper. In section 5.4, I derive the fully relativistic fluid equations for high-scale leptogenesis and compute the LNC and LNV rates that appear in these equations, with a particular focus on intermediate temperatures. I also compare the relativistic fluid equations with prior equations obtained using the non-relativistic approximation. Finally, in section 5.5, I numerically solve the fluid equations for a setup without spectator interactions, and for a setup with partially equilibrated b-Yukawa and weak sphaleron interactions. In the setup without spectators, I also derive analytic estimates for the final B - L asymmetry in the weak and strong washout regimes  $K \ll 1$  and  $K \gg 1$ .

# 5.2 Simplified Model for High-Scale Leptogenesis

In this section, I summarize the simplified model I use for studying relativistic and spectator effects in high-scale leptogenesis. In full analogy to chapter 4, I consider a minimal type-I seesaw model with n = 2 sterile neutrinos  $\overline{\nu}_i$ . Computationally, it is convenient to work with the four component spinors

$$N_i \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \overline{\nu}_i \\ \overline{\nu}_i^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} , \qquad \qquad \ell_a \equiv \begin{pmatrix} l_a \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} . \tag{5.1}$$

Without loss of generality, the Majorana mass matrix of the sterile neutrinos can be taken to be diagonal,  $M = \text{diag}(\tilde{M}_1, \tilde{M}_2)$ . Restricting myself to a minimal setup, I assume that both of the sterile neutrino mass eigenstates couple to the same linear combination  $\ell_{\parallel}$  of SM lepton flavours, and that their masses are strongly hierarchical,  $\tilde{M}_1 \ll \tilde{M}_2$ . Furthermore, I assume that leptogenesis is driven entirely by processes involving the lighter sterile neutrino  $\nu_1$ . Since  $\tilde{M}_1 \ll \tilde{M}_2$ , this allows me to simplify the theory by integrating out the heavier sterile neutrino  $\nu_2$ . The *CP* violating transitions that source lepton number creation are captured by the two Weinberg-like operators

$$\tilde{O}_L = \tilde{O}_R^{\dagger} \equiv \frac{F_2^2}{2\tilde{M}_2} (\tilde{\phi}^{\dagger} \bar{\ell}_{\scriptscriptstyle \parallel}^c) (\tilde{\phi}^{\dagger} \ell_{\scriptscriptstyle \parallel}) , \qquad (5.2)$$

which are generated by virtual exchanges of the heavier  $\nu_2$ . In curved spacetime, this gives the action

$$S = S_{\rm SM} + \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left\{ \overline{N}_1 \, \mathrm{i} \, \gamma^\alpha e^\mu_\alpha D_\mu N_1 - \tilde{M}_1 \overline{N}_1 N_1 - [F_1 \overline{N}_1 (\tilde{\phi}^\dagger \ell_{\scriptscriptstyle \parallel}) + \tilde{O}_L + \mathrm{h.c.}] \right\},$$
(5.3)

where  $D_{\mu}$  is the covariant derivative,  $e^{\mu}_{\alpha}$  is a vierbein, and  $\overline{N}_{i} = N_{i}^{\dagger}\gamma^{0}$ is now the standard Dirac conjugate spinor. The gamma matrices  $\gamma^{\alpha}$ are normalized such that they are independent of the metric tensor,  $\operatorname{tr}\{\gamma^{\alpha}\gamma^{\beta}\}=2\eta^{\alpha\beta}$ . I assume that leptogenesis takes place during a radiation dominated period in spatially flat Friedmann-Lemaître-Robertson-Walker (FLRW) cosmology. Working with conformal time t, this gives

$$g_{\mu\nu} = a(t)^2 \eta_{\mu\nu} , \qquad \qquad H = \frac{1}{a^2(t)} \frac{d}{dt} a(t) = \frac{t_0}{a_0 t^2}$$
 (5.4)

where  $a(t) = a_0 t/t_0$  is the scale factor. Notice that the prefactor  $\sqrt{-g} = a(t)^4$  breaks canonical normalization of the kinetic terms. Following [172], canonical normalization can be restored via the field redefinitions

$$N_i \to a^{-3/2} N_i , \qquad l_{\scriptscriptstyle \parallel} \to a^{-3/2} l_{\scriptscriptstyle \parallel} , \qquad (5.5)$$

which gives

$$S = S_{\rm SM} + \int d^4x \left\{ \overline{N}_1 \, \mathrm{i} \, \gamma^{\alpha} \widetilde{\partial}_{\alpha} N_1 - \frac{1}{2} M_1 \overline{N}_1 N_1 \right.$$
(5.6)  
$$\left. - \left[ F_1 \overline{N}_1 (\widetilde{\phi}^{\dagger} \ell_{\parallel}) + O_L + \mathrm{h.c.} \right] \right\},$$

where  $\tilde{\partial}_{\alpha} = a(t)\partial_{\alpha}$  is the partial derivative with respect to locally comoving coordinates, and the effective sterile neutrino mass  $M_1 \equiv a \tilde{M}_2$ depends on a(t). The operators  $O_L = O_R^{\dagger}$  are identical to the operators  $\tilde{O}_L = \tilde{O}_R^{\dagger}$ , except with  $\tilde{M}_2 \to M_2$ , and the momenta  $k^{\alpha}$  associated with  $\tilde{\partial}_{\alpha}$  are comoving. Neglecting corrections involving gradients of a(t), and using  $k^{\alpha}$  and  $M_i$ , one obtains Feynman rules that are formally of the same shape as in Minkowsky space time, which gives the on-shell condition  $\eta_{\mu\nu}k^{\mu}k^{\nu} = a(t)^2\tilde{M}_i^2 = M_i^2$ .

Finally, I assume that the SM fields remain in kinetic equilibrium throughout leptogenesis, which means that they are well described as thermalized quantum gases with a common physical temperature  $T_{\rm phys}$ and individual chemical potentials  $\mu_X$ . The time evolution of  $T_{\rm phys}$  can be inferred from the redshift of the entropy density  $s_{\rm phys}$  of the early universe plasma. Assuming that SM degrees of freedom dominate the energy content of the early universe, the Friedman equations imply that  $s_{\rm phys}$  redshifts as

$$s_{\rm phys} = \frac{2\pi^2}{45} g_*(T_{\rm phys}) T_{\rm phys}^3 = s \frac{T_0^3 a_0^3}{T^3 a(t)^3} , \qquad (5.7)$$

where

$$s = \frac{2\pi^2}{45}g_*T^3 \approx 46.8 \cdot T^3$$
,  $T = \frac{M_p}{2}\sqrt{\frac{45}{\pi^3 g_*}} \approx 7.1 \cdot 10^{17} \,\text{GeV}$  (5.8)

respectively denote the comoving entropy density and temperature, which remain constant aside from decoupling effects.  $M_{\rm p} = 1.22 \times 10^{19} \text{GeV}$  is the Planck mass,  $T_0$  is the temperature of the universe at  $t = t_0$ , and for  $T_{\rm phys} \gg v$ , the effective number of relativistic SM degrees of freedom is approximately constant,  $g_* \equiv g_*(T_{\rm phys}) \approx 106.75$ . Then, Eq. (5.7) implies that the physical temperature evolves as  $T_{\rm phys} = T_0 a_0/a(t)^1$ . In the remainder of this chapter, I will work in a unit system with  $a_0 = 1$ ,  $t_0 = 1/T$ , and  $T_0 = T$ . Furthermore, it is convenient to use the unitless time variable  $z = \tilde{M}_1 t = M_1/T$ , which is normalized such that z = 1 for  $T_{\rm phys} = \tilde{M}_1$ . With these choices, the Hubble rate becomes  $H = \tilde{M}_1^2/Tz^2$ .

For each particle species X, I denote the (anti-)particle number densities in the early universe as  $n_X^{\pm}(t)$ , where  $\pm$  distinguishes particles and antiparticles. I count each member of a gauge multiplet as a separate particle species, which implies the presence of explicit factors  $N_c = 3$ and  $g_w = 2$  when summing over the members of the strong SU(3) and weak SU(2) multiplets. Yields are defined by normalizing the net particle number for each species with respect to the comoving entropy density,

$$Y_X \equiv \frac{1}{s} \left( n_X^+ - n_X^- \right) \,. \tag{5.9}$$

The time evolution of the SM yields is determined by the time-evolution of the corresponding chemical potentials, and vice versa. For small chemical potentials and relativistic particle species, one has

$$\mu_X \approx \frac{3g_s s}{T^2} Y_X \ , \tag{5.10}$$

where  $g_s$  counts the spin degrees of freedom for each field. For the sterile neutrinos  $N_i$ , the yield (5.9) is not a useful quantity, since the majonara condition implies  $n_{N_i}^+ = n_{N_i}^-$ . Instead, I define the helicity even and odd yields

$$Y_{N_i \,\text{even/odd}} = \frac{1}{s} (n_{N_i +} \pm n_{N_i -}), \qquad (5.11)$$

 $<sup>^1\</sup>mathrm{See}$  [173] for a review of the equilibrium thermodynamics of the early universe plasma.

where  $n_{N_{ih}}$  is the number density of sterile neutrinos with a given helicity *h*. Finally, I quantify the baryon asymmetry in the early universe in terms of the baryon minus lepton number yield  $Y_{B-L} \equiv n_{B-L}/s$ . Experimentally, it is more convenient to work with the ratio of net baryon and photon number densities

$$\eta_B \approx a_{\rm sph} \frac{Y_{B-L}}{Y_{\gamma,0}} , \qquad (5.12)$$

where  $a_{\rm sph} \approx 2^{8}/79$  [174, 175, 176] is the fraction of B - L asymmetry converted into a net baryon number by electroweak sphalerons as they equilibrate, and  $Y_{\gamma,0} = 1/7.04$  is the present day photon yield.

Aside from the sterile neutrino Yukawa interactions, I also keep track of B-L conserving SM interactions. Each of these spectator interactions is forced to rapidly approach equilibrium if its equilibration rate  $\Gamma$  is large compared to the Hubble rate,  $\Gamma \gg H$ . In this case, the net-effect of the spectator interaction is to force the sum of the potentials of the reactants to be equal to the sum of the potentials of the products. On the other hand, if  $\Gamma \ll H$ , the expansion of the universe dominates, and the spectator interaction is negligible. For  $\Gamma \sim H$ , the spectator interaction is partially equilibrated, and has to be accounted for by including a corresponding contribution to the equations of motion for each of the SM yields.

The SM equilibration rates depend on the temperature of the early universe plasma, scaling as  $\Gamma \sim T_{\rm phys}$ . Since the Hubble rate scales as  $H \sim T_{\rm phys}^2$ , the ratio  $^{\Gamma}\!/H$  increases over time, causing the SM interactions to gradually equilibrate as the universe cools down. The equilibration temperature  $T_{\rm eq}$  for each interaction is defined to be the temperature for which  $\Gamma(T_{\rm eq}) = H(T_{\rm eq})$ .

For leptogenesis, a spectator interaction can be neglected if the lepton asymmetry is primarily created at temperatures much larger than  $T_{\rm eq}$ . If the asymmetry is created at temperatures much smaller than  $T_{\rm eq}$ , the spectator interaction constrains the time-evolution of the SM yields, but it not does not show up in their equations of motion. Finally, if the asymmetry is created at temperatures that are comparable to  $T_{\rm eq}$ , one has to track the dynamics of the interaction as it equilibrates. The SM equilibration temperatures impose limits on the validity of the simplified model that I consider in this chapter. An upper bound can be obtained from the fact that the SM fields may be far away from kinetic equilibrium if the expansion of the universe overpowers even the SM gauge interactions. To ensure the validity of the kinetic equilibrium assumption, I restrict myself to leptogenesis scenarios in which the lepton asymmetry is created at temperatures below the equilibration temperature  $\sim 10^{16}$  GeV of the electroweak SM gauge interactions.

Similarly, a lower bound can be obtained from the fact that  $\tau$  lepton Yukawa interactions equilibrate at temperatures around  $10^{12}$  GeV. Below this temperature, SM Yukawa interactions can transfer lepton asymmetry from  $l_{\parallel}$  into other linear combinations of lepton flavours. In this case, one has to track the asymmetry stored in each lepton flavour individually, even if all of the SM lepton Yukawa interactions are either fully equilibrated or negligible [177, 167, 178, 179]. In the temperature ranges with partially equilibrated SM lepton Yukawa interactions, one also has to account for the dynamics of off-diagonal correlations between the different lepton flavours [180, 181]. In order to focus on the impact spectator and relativistic corrections, I further restrict myself to leptogenesis scenarios in which the lepton asymmetry is created at temperatures above the equilibration temperature ~  $10^{12}$  GeV of  $\tau$  Yukawa interactions.

### 5.3 The CTP Formalism

In this section, I present a short review of the closed time path (CTP) formalism. The material collected in this section is well-known and taken from a variety of sources [182, 183, 184, 185, 186, 187].

### 5.3.1 CTP Correlation Functions

The CTP formalism is designed to compute n-point correlation functions in non-equilibrium quantum field theory. In general, the time-evolution of these n-point functions depends on the initial state of the system at time  $t = t_i$ , which can be encoded in terms of the von-Neumann density matrix  $\hat{\rho}$ . This way, one obtains the exact two-point functions

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(u,v) \rangle_{\hat{\rho}} \equiv \operatorname{tr} \left\{ \hat{\rho} \ O(u,v) \right\} , \qquad (5.13)$$

where  $\mathcal{O}(u, v)$  is some composite operator that depends on two field operators evaluated at u and v, respectively. Importantly,  $\mathcal{O}(u, v)$  does not have to be time-ordered.

The central idea is to rewrite (5.13) as a path integral along a closed time path that starts at the initial time  $t_i$ , moves forward to some final time  $t_f \to \infty$ , and then returns back to  $t_i$ , with the density matrix written as an infinite tower of external current interactions. Just as the conventional path-integral generates time-ordered correlation functions, the CTP path integral generates time-*path* ordered correlation functions. Each field operator picks up an index  $a = \pm$ , which specifies its position along either the forward ("+") or backward ("-") branch of the closed time path. Since each field operator can be evaluated on either branch, one obtains four types of two-point functions, denoted as "++", "+-", "-+", and "--". In"++" (or "T") and "--"(or " $\overline{T}$ ") propagators, both fields are evaluated on the same branch of the time-path, so these propagators correspond to the conventional (anti-)time ordered two-point functions. In "+-" (or "<") and "-+" (or ">") propagators, the fields are evaluated on opposed branches of the time-path. These two propagators are also referred to as "Wightman functions".

In preparation for the discussion in the remainder of this section, I focus more closely on the two-point functions involving the SM Higgs

boson, the SM leptons, and the sterile neutrinos. For the Higgs boson, one has

$$\mathbf{i}\,\Delta^{++}(u,v) = \langle \mathcal{T}\{\phi(u)\phi^{\dagger}(v)\}\rangle_{\hat{\rho}} , \quad \mathbf{i}\,\Delta^{<}(u,v) = \langle \phi^{\dagger}(v)\phi(u)\rangle_{\hat{\rho}} , \quad (5.14a)$$
$$\mathbf{i}\,\Delta^{--}(u,v) = \langle \overline{\mathcal{T}}\{\phi(u)\phi^{\dagger}(v)\}\rangle_{\hat{\rho}} , \quad \mathbf{i}\,\Delta^{>}(u,v) = \langle \phi(u)\phi^{\dagger}(v)\rangle_{\hat{\rho}} , \quad (5.14b)$$

where  $\mathcal{T}$  and  $\overline{\mathcal{T}}$  are (anti-)time-ordering operators. By combining the individual CTP propagators (5.14), one can also obtain advanced and retarded propagators,

$$\mathbf{i}\,\Delta^a \equiv \mathbf{i}\,\Delta^T - \mathbf{i}\,\Delta^> = \mathbf{i}\,\Delta^{\overline{T}} - \mathbf{i}\,\Delta^< \,, \tag{5.15a}$$

$$i\Delta^r \equiv i\Delta^T - i\Delta^< = i\Delta^T - i\Delta^> , \qquad (5.15b)$$

which can be decomposed into hermitian and antihermitian combinations

$$\Delta^{\mathcal{H}} \equiv \frac{1}{2} (\Delta^a + \Delta^r) , \qquad \Delta^{\mathcal{A}} \equiv \frac{1}{2i} (\Delta^a - \Delta^r) . \qquad (5.15c)$$

The antihermitian combination  $\Delta^{\mathcal{A}}$  is the spectral function of the Higgs boson. For the SM leptons and the sterile neutrinos, one has

$$i S_{X,\alpha\beta}^{++}(u,v) = \langle \mathcal{T}\{\psi_{X,\alpha}(u)\bar{\psi}_{X,\beta}(v)\}\rangle , \qquad (5.16a)$$
  
$$i S_{X,\alpha\beta}^{--}(u,v) = \langle \overline{\mathcal{T}}\{\psi_{X,\alpha}(u)\bar{\psi}_{X,\beta}(v)\}\rangle ,$$

and

$$i S_{X,\alpha\beta}^{>}(u,v) = \langle \psi_{X,\alpha}(u)\bar{\psi}_{X,\beta}(v)\rangle , \qquad (5.16b)$$
  
$$i S_{X,\alpha\beta}^{<}(u,v) = -\langle \bar{\psi}_{X,\beta}(v)\psi_{X,\alpha}(u)\rangle .$$

In full analogy with the scalar case, I also define the advanced and retarded propagators

$$\mathbf{i} S_X^a \equiv \mathbf{i} S_X^T - \mathbf{i} S_X^> = \mathbf{i} S_X^{\overline{T}} - \mathbf{i} S_X^< , \qquad (5.17a)$$

$$i S_X^r \equiv i S_X^T - i S_X^< = i S_X^T - i S_X^> ,$$
 (5.17b)

and further

$$S_X^{\mathcal{H}} \equiv \frac{1}{2} (S_X^a + S_X^r) , \quad S_X^{\mathcal{A}} \equiv \frac{1}{2i} (S_X^a - S_X^r) = \frac{i}{2} (S_X^> - S_X^<) .$$
 (5.17c)

As before,  $S_X^{\mathcal{A}}$  is the spectral function of the fermion in question.

The Wightman function are especially important, since they encode the information necessary to compute the particle number densities  $n_X^{\pm}(t)$ . This connection can be established most easily by working in Wigner space. In general, the Wigner transform of a generic two-point function G(u, v) is defined as the Fourier transform with respect to the relative coordinate r = u - v,

$$G(x,k) \equiv \int d^4r \ e^{i\,kr} G\left(x + \frac{1}{2}r, x - \frac{1}{2}r\right) \,. \tag{5.18}$$

Using the Wigner-transformed Wightman functions, it is possible to define generalized momentum distribution functions

$$f_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{\pm}(t, \mathbf{k}) \equiv -\int_{0}^{\pm \infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}k^{0}}{2\pi} \operatorname{tr}\left[\gamma^{0} \,\mathrm{i}\, S_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{<,>}(t, k)\right] , \qquad (5.19a)$$

$$f_{N_1h}(t, \mathbf{k}) \equiv -\int_{0}^{\pm \infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}k^0}{2\pi} \operatorname{tr} \left[ \gamma^0 \operatorname{P}_h \operatorname{i} S_{N_1}^{<,>}(t, k) \right] , \qquad (5.19b)$$

for each fermion species. Since the sterile neutrinos are Majorana particles, both options on the RHS of Eq. (5.19b) yield the same result. Using these distribution functions, fermionic particle number densities  $n_{N_1h}(t)$  and  $n_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{\pm}(t)$  for the sterile neutrinos and Standard Model leptons can be written as [172, 181, 188]

$$n(t)_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{\pm} \equiv \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} \boldsymbol{k}}{(2\pi)^{3}} f_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{\pm}(t, \boldsymbol{k})$$
(5.20a)  
$$= -\int_{0}^{\pm \infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}k^{0}}{2\pi} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} \boldsymbol{k}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \operatorname{tr} \left[ \gamma^{0} \,\mathrm{i} \, S_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{<,>}(t, k) \right]$$

and

$$n(t)_{N_1h} \equiv \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^3} f_{N_1h}^{\pm}(t, \mathbf{k})$$
(5.20b)  
=  $-\int_{0}^{\pm \infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}k^0}{2\pi} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \operatorname{tr} \left[ \gamma^0 \operatorname{P}_h \operatorname{i} S_{N_1}^{<,>}(t, k) \right]$ 

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 k}{(2\pi)^4} \operatorname{tr} \left[ \gamma^0 \operatorname{P}_h \left( \theta(k_0) \operatorname{i} S_{N_1}^{<}(t,k) - \theta(-k_0) \operatorname{i} S_{N_1}^{>}(t,k) \right) \right] \,,$$

where  $\gamma^0$  is the zeroth gamma matrix, and  $P_h$  projects onto an helicity eigenstate with helicity  $h = \pm 1$ ,

$$\mathbf{P}_h \equiv \frac{1}{2} \left( \mathbb{1} + h\hat{k}^i \gamma_0 \gamma_i \gamma_5 \right) \,. \tag{5.21}$$

I have omitted SU(2) indices for the number densities  $n(t)_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{\pm}$ , since gauge symmetry of both the initial conditions and the time evolution implies that both components of the SU(2) doublet share the same (anti)particle number densities. For the final expression in Eq. (5.20b), I used the Majorana condition for the sterile neutrino spinors  $N_i$ , which implies that particle and antiparticle number densities must be identical.

#### 5.3.2 Constraints from Finite Temperature QFT

Since the SM fields are assumed to remain in kinetic equilibrium throughout leptogenesis, their Wightman functions are constrained by results of finite temperature, rather than non-equilibrium, quantum field theory. In particular, they have to obey a set of generalized Kubo-Martin-Schwinger (KMS) relations. Working in the restframe of the SM plasma, these relations take the shape

$$i \Delta^{<}(k) = e^{-\beta(k_0 - \mu_{\phi})} i \Delta^{>}(k) ,$$
 (5.22a)

$$i S_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{<}(k) = -e^{-\beta(k_{0}-\mu_{\ell_{\parallel}})} i S_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{>}(k) , \qquad (5.22b)$$

where  $k^0$  is the energy and  $\beta = 1/T$  is the comoving temperature of the plasma. Using the KMS relations, it is possible to decompose the Wightman functions as

$$i \Delta^{<}(k) = +2\Delta^{\mathcal{A}}(k) f_{\phi}(k) , \quad i \Delta^{>}(k) = +2\Delta^{\mathcal{A}}(k)(1+f_{\phi}(k)) , \quad (5.23a)$$
  
$$i S_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{<}(k) = -2S_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{\mathcal{A}}(k) f_{\ell_{\parallel}}(k) , \quad i S_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{>}(k) = +2S_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{\mathcal{A}}(k)(1-f_{\ell_{\parallel}}(k)) , \quad (5.23b)$$

where the distribution functions

$$f_X(k) = \begin{cases} f_B(k_0 - \mu_X) & \text{(bosons)} \\ f_F(k_0 - \mu_X) & \text{(fermions)} \end{cases}$$
(5.24)

are consistent with the definition in (5.19) and encode the dependence on  $\beta$  and  $\mu_X$ .  $f_F$  and  $f_B$  are the standard Fermi-Dirac and Bose-Einstein distributions,

$$f_F(k_0) = \frac{1}{e^{\beta k^0} + 1}$$
,  $f_B(k_0) = \frac{1}{e^{\beta k^0} - 1}$ . (5.25)

The KMS relations are formally exact, so this decomposition also holds when accounting for loop-induced wave-function type corrections of the spectral functions  $\Delta^{\mathcal{A}}(k), S^{\mathcal{A}}_{\ell_{\parallel}}(k)$ .

For the sterile neutrinos a parametrization along the lines of Eqs. (5.23) and (5.24) is not necessarily valid, since they may be far away from kinetic equilibrium throughout leptogenesis. For the non-relativistic regime, the kinetic equilibrium ansatz is a good approximation when estimating the final B - L asymmetry [189, 190], but for relativistic sterile neutrinos, one has to allow for the possibility of helicity dependent Wightman functions and distribution functions that can not be characterized in terms of a single chemical potential.

#### 5.3.3 Schwinger-Dyson Equations

Out of equilibrium, it is common to use effective action methods to determine the dynamics of the CTP two-point functions. To do so, the infinite tower of external current interactions generated by the density matrix has to be truncated at some finite order. In order to reproduce finite values for the two-point functions at initial time, one has to retain at least the external current interactions that are quadratic in the dynamical fields of the theory. For such "gaussian initial conditions", the CTP path integral can be used to define a corresponding two-particle irreducible (2PI) effective action that depends only on the exact CTP one- and two-point functions of the theory. As they should, the density matrix interactions then fix the initial values of these n-point functions.

Varying this 2PI effective action with respect to the exact CTP two point functions (5.13), one obtains a well-known set of formally exact Schwinger-Dyson equations. For the Higgs-boson, one has

$$e^{-i\diamond}\{k^2 - \Pi^{a,r}\}\{i\Delta^{a,r}\} = i, \qquad (5.26a)$$

$$e^{-i\diamond}\{k^2 - \Pi^r\}\{i\Delta^{<,>}\} = e^{-i\diamond}\{\Pi^{<,>}\}\{i\Delta^a\}, \qquad (5.26b)$$

and for fermions

$$e^{-i\diamond}\{k - m_X - \Sigma_X^{a,r}\}\{i S_X^{a,r}\} = i P_X , \qquad (5.26c)$$

$$e^{-i\diamond}\{k - m_X - \Sigma_X^r\}\{iS_X^{<,>}\} = e^{-i\diamond}\{\Sigma_X^{<,>}\}\{iS_X^a\}, \qquad (5.26d)$$

where  $P_{\ell_{\parallel}} \equiv P_R$ ,  $P_{N_1} \equiv \mathbb{1}$ , and  $m_{\ell_{\parallel}} = 0$ . The diamond operator  $\diamond$  is

$$\diamond \{A(x,k)\}\{B(x,k)\} \equiv \frac{1}{2}A(x,k) \Big(\overleftarrow{\partial}_x \cdot \overrightarrow{\partial}_k - \overleftarrow{\partial}_k \cdot \overrightarrow{\partial}_x\Big)B(x,k) , \quad (5.27)$$

and the self-energies encode loop corrections to the tree-level propagators. They are defined as functional derivatives of the interacting part of the 2PI effective action,

$$\Pi^{ab}(u,v) \equiv i \, ab \, \frac{\delta \Gamma^{2\mathrm{PI}, \geq 2\mathrm{loop}}}{\delta \Delta^{ba}(v,u)} \,, \quad \Sigma_X^{ab}(u,v) \equiv -i \, ab \, \frac{\delta \Gamma^{2\mathrm{PI}, \geq 2\mathrm{loop}}}{\delta S_X^{ba}(v,u)} \,. \tag{5.28}$$

As for the propagators, one has the combinations

$$\Pi^{a,r} \equiv \Pi^T - \Pi^{<,>} , \quad \Pi^{\mathcal{H}} \equiv \frac{\Pi^a + \Pi^r}{2} , \quad \Pi^{\mathcal{A}} \equiv \frac{\Pi^a - \Pi^r}{2i} , \quad (5.29a)$$

$$\Sigma_X^{a,r} \equiv \Sigma_X^T - \Sigma_X^{<,>} , \quad \Sigma_X^{\mathcal{H}} \equiv \frac{\Sigma_X^a + \Sigma_X^r}{2} , \quad \Sigma_X^{\mathcal{A}} \equiv \frac{\Sigma_X^a - \Sigma_X^r}{2i} . \quad (5.29b)$$

The (anti-)hermitian combinations encode wave-function type corrections that can modify on-shell dispersion relations and induce additional propagating modes. The spectral combinations also determine the equilibration rate of the particle in question.

If there is a meaningful separation of scales between microscopic propagation of particle modes on the one hand, and the macroscopic evolution of the plasma on the other hand, it is possible to expand the Schwinger-Dyson equations (5.26) in the product of gradients  $\partial_x \cdot$  $\partial_k$ . In general, the size of the gradients  $\partial_k$  is given by the typical energy scale of the individual propagating modes, so that in the early universe, one has  $\partial_k \sim 1/T$ . In contrast, the size of finite gradients  $\partial_x$ in conformal time is determined either by the conformal Hubble rate a(t)H, which is the typical timescale of the expansion of the universe, or by the typical time-scales of microscopic scattering and decay processes, which are perturbatively suppressed by powers of the SM and BSM couplings. Importantly, these microscopic processes only lead to finite gradients  $\partial_x$  while they are out of equilibrium, so that interactions that are continuously in equilibrium throughout leptogenesis cannot invalidate the gradient expansion while  $a(t)H/T = H/T_{\text{phys}} \ll 1$ . However, since the gradient expansion at least conceptually relies on the smallness of the perturbative couplings, one has to count  $\partial_x \sim \Sigma_X^{\mathcal{H}/\mathcal{A}}, \Pi^{\mathcal{H}/\mathcal{A}}$  in order for the expansion to remain self-consistent. Thus, expanding the Schwinger-Dyson equations to leading order in the gradient expansion, one obtains [172, 181]

$$(k^2 - m_X^2 - \Pi^{a,r}) \,\mathrm{i}\,\Delta^{a,r} = \mathrm{i} , \qquad (5.30a)$$

$$(k^{2} - m_{X}^{2} - \Pi^{r}) i \Delta^{<,>} + \frac{i}{2} 2k_{\mu} \partial^{\mu} (i \Delta^{<,>}) = \Pi^{<,>} i \Delta^{a} , \qquad (5.30b)$$

and

$$\left(\not\!k - m_X - \Sigma_X^{a,r}\right) \mathrm{i} \, S_X^{a,r} = \mathrm{i} \, \mathrm{P}_X \ , \qquad (5.30\mathrm{c})$$

$$(\not k - m_X - \Sigma_X^r) \,\mathrm{i}\, S_X^{<,>} + \frac{1}{2} \partial_x (\mathrm{i}\, S_X^{<,>}) = \Sigma_X^{<,>} \,\mathrm{i}\, S_X^a \,.$$
 (5.30d)

It is possible to solve Eqs. (5.30a) and (5.30c) exactly, which is equivalent to resumming wave-function type corrections for the spectral functions.

For the sterile neutrinos, the coupling to the SM plasma is perturbatively suppressed by factors of  $|F_i|^2$ . As a result, it is not necessary to resum these contributions, unless the sterile neutrinos are approximately mass-degenerate. In this case, the wave-function corrections would capture sterile neutrino oscillations that can be the dominant source of the CP violation. Neglecting the selfenergies in Eq. (5.30c), one obtains the tree-level spectral function

$$S_{N_1}^{\mathcal{A}}(k) = \pi \operatorname{sign}(k_0) \,\delta(k^2 - M_1^2) \,. \tag{5.31}$$

Since the helicity projection operator (5.21) commutes with the Schwinger-Dyson equations (5.30d), the sterile neutrino Wightman functions can be decomposed into two contributions of definite helicity [191],

$$i S_{N_1}^{<}(k) = -2 \sum_h P_h f_{N_1 h}(k_0) S_{N_1}^{\mathcal{A}}(k) ,$$
 (5.32a)

$$i S_{N_1}^{>}(k) = 2 \sum_h P_h(1 - f_{N_1h}(k_0)) S_{N_1}^{\mathcal{A}}(k) ,$$
 (5.32b)
where the  $f_{N_1h}(k_0)$  are defined as in (5.19). In thermal equilibrium, the Wightman functions have to obey the KMS relations (5.22a), so that one obtains  $f_{N_1h,eq}(k_0) = f_F(k_0)$ . I define the deviation from equilibrium as

$$\delta f_{N_1h}(k_0) \equiv f_{N_1h}(k_0) - f_{N_1h,eq}(k_0) . \qquad (5.33)$$

For the SM leptons and the Higgs boson, the wave function type corrections capture finite temperature physics that modify their dispersion relations and generate a finite width that is related to the damping of propagating modes in medium. Accounting for these effects, one obtains [192, 181]

where

$$\Gamma_{\phi} = \hat{\Pi}^{\mathcal{A}} , \qquad \Gamma_{\ell_{\parallel}} = 2(k_{\mu} - \hat{\Sigma}^{\mathcal{H}}_{\ell_{\parallel}\,\mu})\hat{\Sigma}^{\mathcal{A}\,\mu}_{\ell_{\parallel}} , 
\Omega_{\phi} = k^{2} - \hat{\Pi}^{\mathcal{H}} , \qquad \Omega_{\ell_{\parallel}} = (p_{\mu} - \hat{\Sigma}^{\mathcal{H}}_{\ell_{\parallel}\,\mu})^{2} - (\hat{\Sigma}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\ell_{\parallel}\,\mu})^{2} ,$$
(5.35)

and the hat denotes that the selfenergies contain only SM vertices. Since all of the SM particles are massless in the symmetric phase, one has

$$\hat{\Sigma}_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{\mathcal{H}/\mathcal{A}} = \gamma^{\mu} \hat{\Sigma}_{\ell_{\parallel}\,\mu}^{\mathcal{H}/\mathcal{A}} , \qquad \hat{\Sigma}_{\ell_{\parallel},\mu}^{\mathcal{H}/\mathcal{A}} = \frac{1}{4} \operatorname{tr} \left( \gamma_{\mu} \hat{\Sigma}_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{\mathcal{H}/\mathcal{A}} \right) .$$
(5.36)

Accounting for the shape of the spectral functions, the actual timeevolution of the Wightman functions is given by Eqs. (5.30b) and (5.30d). Notice that the spatial gradients vanish since the universe is assumed to be spatially homogeneous and isotropic. Taking the hermitian part of (5.30d), one finds the Kadanoff-Baym equation [181, 193]

$$\partial_{t} \mathbf{i} \mathbf{S}_{X}^{\langle,\rangle} = -\left[\mathbf{\mathcal{H}}_{X,\text{eff}}, \mathbf{S}_{X}^{\langle,\rangle}\right] + \left[\mathbf{\Sigma}_{X}^{\langle,\rangle}, \mathbf{S}_{X}^{\mathcal{H}}\right]$$
(5.37a)  
+  $\frac{1}{2} \left( \left\{ \mathbf{\Sigma}_{X}^{\rangle}, \mathbf{S}_{X}^{\langle} \right\} - \left\{ \mathbf{\Sigma}_{X}^{\langle}, \mathbf{S}_{X}^{\rangle} \right\} \right)$ 

where

$$\boldsymbol{S}_{X}^{<,>} \equiv \mathrm{i}\,\gamma_{0}\boldsymbol{S}_{X}^{<,>} , \qquad \boldsymbol{S}_{X}^{\mathcal{H}} \equiv \mathrm{i}\,\gamma_{0}\boldsymbol{S}_{X}^{\mathcal{H}} , \qquad (5.37\mathrm{b})$$

$$\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{X}^{<,>} \equiv \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{X}^{<,>} \gamma_{0} , \qquad \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}_{X,\text{eff}} \equiv (\not k - m_{X} - \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{X}^{\mathcal{H}}) \gamma_{0} . \qquad (5.37c)$$

Rewriting the Wightman functions as products of distribution functions  $f_X(k)$  and spectral functions, this equation can be used as a starting point for the derivation of Boltzmann equations in kinetic theory.

# 5.4 Relativistic Fluid Equations for Leptogenesis

In this section, I use the CTP formalism in order to derive a novel set of fully relativistic fluid equations of motion for high-scale leptogenesis. I also compute the dominant contributions to the sterile neutrino interaction rates that appear in these equations for arbitrary  $T_{\text{phys}}/\tilde{M}_1 = T/M_1$ . Finally, I compare the results obtained in this section with the conventional, nonrelativistic description of high-scale leptogenesis used e.g. in [168, 151].

### 5.4.1 Derivation of the Fluid Equations

My goal is to derive a fully relativistic set of fluid equations that determine the time-evolution of the yields  $Y_{B-L}$  and  $Y_{N_1,\text{even/odd}}$ . Using relation (5.20a),  $Y_{B-L}$  and  $Y_{N_1,\text{even/odd}}$  are functionals of the Wightman functions  $S_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{>,<}$  and  $S_{N_1h}^{>,<}$ , which obey the Kadanoff-Baym equations (5.37a). Following the approach in [172, 181, 188], I use this fact to rewrite the time derivatives of  $Y_{B-L}$  and  $Y_{N_1,\text{even/odd}}$  as collision integrals that depend on the Wightman functions and CTP selfenergies (5.28) that account for finite temperature corrections due to the early universe plasma. In principle, evaluating these collision integrals is equivalent to solving the Kadanoff-Baym equations for  $S_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{>,<}$  and  $S_{N_1h}^{>,<}$ . To obtain a closed set of fluid equations for  $Y_{\ell_{\parallel}}$  and  $Y_{N_1\text{even/odd}}$ , I use two simplifying approximations:

First, I linearize the collision integrals by expanding them to leading order in  $\mu_X$  and  $\delta f_{N_1h}$ . This is a standard approximation used in many studies of leptogenesis, see e.g. [172, 181, 194, 195, 196]. It is well justified in strong washout scenarios with thermal initial conditions, since the sterile neutrinos remain approximately thermalized throughout leptogenesis. However, in models with a vanishing initial abundance of sterile neutrinos, a significant lepton asymmetry can be sourced by the sterile neutrinos approaching equilibrium. In this case, the *CP* source term should be expected to receive order one corrections that can have a significant impact on the baryon asymmetry at recombination. Furthermore, if the sterile neutrinos remain far from equilibrium throughout leptogenesis, order one corrections to the washout and backreaction rates can also impact the final BAU. Investigating the importance of these corrections is an important task, but solving the resulting nonlinear equations is quite challenging. Since my focus is the impact of finite temperature corrections, I follow the standard approach of linearizing the Kadanoff-Baym equations in  $\mu_X$  and  $\delta f_{N_1h}$ .

Second, I neglect the momentum dependence of the sterile neutrino interaction rates that multiply  $\mu_X$  and  $\delta f_{N_1h}$ , replacing them with effective, momentum averaged rates. Using these momentum-averaged rates, the information encoded in  $Y_{N_1\text{even/odd}}$  is sufficient to determine the timeevolution of  $Y_{B-L}$ , giving rise to the final fluid equations for high-scale leptogenesis. The momentum-averaging approximation has been shown to be excellent for high-scale leptogenesis with strong washouts and no partially equilibrated spectators [189, 190], However, in studies with with GeV scale sterile neutrinos [197, 162], it has been shown that working with fully momentum dependent rates can yield order one corrections for the final B - L asymmetry. Again, my main focus is the impact of finite temperature and spectator effects, and I neglect these corrections.

The CTP formalism has been used successfully in many leptogenesis studies [198, 199, 200, 201, 202, 172, 181, 203, 204, 194], and in particular within the context of low-scale leptogenesis models [205, 181, 196], where the lepton asymmetry is produced at temperatures much higher than the mass of the sterile neutrinos. However, it is often possible to guess the correct shape of the momentum-averaged fluid equations for high-scale leptogenesis on the basis of physical intuition, using finite-temperature quantum field theory to compute the cross-sections and decay widths that appear in the resulting equations. The semi-rigorous derivation using the CTP formalism has two main advantages:

First, the CTP formalism automatically accounts for finite temperature corrections, the helicity dependence of the sterile neutrinos, and other subtleties that would have to be kept in mind when constructing fluid equations for leptogenesis "by hand".

Second, the first principles derivation yields expressions for the CP violating source term, the sterile neutrino equilibration rates, and the washout rates that connect directly to the underlying description in terms of non-equilibrium quantum field theory. Although the computation of these interaction rates remains technically challenging, the CTP form-

alism automatically enforces unitarity and CPT invariance, and once again accounts for finite temperature corrections. Computing these rates in the S-Matrix formalism, one would have to enforce unitarity by hand, using a real-intermediate-state subtraction in order to account for the fact that sterile neutrinos are unstable, see e.g. the discussions in [201, 194].

### Construction of the Collision Integrals

I begin by constructing the collision interals that govern the timeevolution of the yields  $Y_{N_1,\text{even/odd}}$  and  $Y_{B-L}$ . First, consider  $Y_{N_1,\text{even/odd}}$ . Combining expression (5.20a) with the Kadanoff-Baym equations (5.37a), one obtains

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dz}} Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{even/odd}} = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dz}} \frac{1}{s} (n_{N_{1}+} \pm n_{N_{1}-})$$

$$= \frac{-1}{2\tilde{M}_{1}s} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{4}k}{(2\pi)^{4}} \operatorname{tr} \left[ \gamma^{0} \partial_{t} \Big( \theta(k_{0}) \,\mathrm{i} \, S_{N_{1}}^{<}(t,k) - \theta(-k_{0}) \,\mathrm{i} \, S_{N_{1}}^{>}(t,k) \Big) \big( \mathbf{P}_{+} \pm \mathbf{P}_{-} \big) \right],$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\tilde{M}_{1}s} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{4}k}{(2\pi)^{4}} \operatorname{sign}(k_{0}) \operatorname{tr} \left[ \Big( \,\mathrm{i} \, \Sigma_{N_{1}}^{>}(k) \,\mathrm{i} \, S_{N_{1}}^{<}(k) - \,\mathrm{i} \, \Sigma_{N_{1}}^{<}(k) \,\mathrm{i} \, S_{N_{1}}^{>}(k) \Big) \big( \mathbf{P}_{+} \pm \mathbf{P}_{-} \big) \right],$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\tilde{M}_{1}s} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{4}k}{(2\pi)^{4}} \operatorname{sign}(k_{0}) \operatorname{tr} \left[ \Big( \,\mathrm{i} \, \Sigma_{N_{1}}^{>}(k) \,\mathrm{i} \, S_{N_{1}}^{<}(k) - \,\mathrm{i} \, \Sigma_{N_{1}}^{<}(k) \,\mathrm{i} \, S_{N_{1}}^{>}(k) \Big) \big( \mathbf{P}_{+} \pm \mathbf{P}_{-} \big) \right],$$

where the sterile neutrino selfenergies i  $\Sigma_{N_1}^{>,<}$  are defined via (5.28). To leading order in the Yukawa couplings  $F_1$ , they receive contributions from the two amputated diagrams shown in Fig. 5.1. One obtains

$$i \Sigma_{N_1}^{>,<} = g_w |F_1|^2 \left( \mathcal{P}_L \gamma_\mu \, i \, \hat{\Sigma}_{N_1,L}^{\mu>,<} + \mathcal{P}_R \gamma_\mu \, i \, \hat{\Sigma}_{N_1,R}^{\mu>,<} \right) , \qquad (5.39)$$

where the reduced selfenergies [172]

$$i \hat{\Sigma}_{N_1,L}^{\mu>,<}(k) = \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \operatorname{tr} \left[ \gamma^{\mu} \, \mathrm{i} \, S_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{>,<}(p) \right] \mathrm{i} \, \Delta^{>,<}(k-p) \,\,, \tag{5.40}$$

$$i \hat{\Sigma}_{N_1,R}^{\mu>,<}(k) = -\frac{1}{2} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \operatorname{tr} \left[ \gamma^{\mu} \, \mathrm{i} \, S_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{<,>}(-p) \right] \, \mathrm{i} \, \Delta^{<,>}(p-k) \;, \qquad (5.41)$$

capture contributions generated from either only fermions or antifermions propagating in the loops. C is the Dirac charge-conjugation matrix,



Figure 5.1: 2PI diagrams contributing to the self energy of the sterile neutrino  $N_1$  at leading order. The double lines represent resummed propagators. Scalar lines are dotted, and the shading signifies a sterile neutrino propagator.

while  $\Delta^{<,>}$  and  $S_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{<,>}$  denote the kinetic equilibrium propagators (5.23) with resummed spectral functions (5.76). Notice that these resummed propagators already encode the dominant finite temperature corrections for leptogenesis. Additional vertex type corrections contribute at higher order in the SM gauge couplings, see section 5.4.2 for more details.

Next, consider  $Y_{B-L}$ . Since all SM interactions conserve B-L, only the sterile neutrino Yukawa interactions contribute to the time derivative of  $Y_{B-L}$ . Using the Kadanoff-Baym equations (5.37a) for  $S_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{>,<}$ , one obtains

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dz}} Y_{B-L} = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dz}} (Y_B - g_w Y_{\ell_{\parallel}})$$

$$= \frac{g_w}{\tilde{M}_1 s} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \operatorname{tr} \left[ \gamma^0 \Big( \theta(p_0) \,\mathrm{i} \,\partial_t S^<_{\ell_{\parallel}}(t, p) + \theta(-p_0) \,\mathrm{i} \,\partial_t S^>_{\ell_{\parallel}}(t, p) \Big) \right],$$

$$= \frac{-g_w}{\tilde{M}_1 s} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \operatorname{tr} \left[ \mathrm{i} \, \Sigma^>_{\ell_{\parallel}}(p) \,\mathrm{i} \, S^<_{\ell_{\parallel}}(p) - \mathrm{i} \, \Sigma^<_{\ell_{\parallel}}(p) \,\mathrm{i} \, S^>_{\ell_{\parallel}}(p) \right],$$
(5.42)

where the selfenergies  $\Sigma_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{ab}$  are taken to contain only B - L violating contributions. At order  $\mathcal{O}(F^2)$ , the only relevant diagram is shown in Fig. 5.2. One obtains

$$i \Sigma_{\ell_{\parallel},LO}^{>,<}(k) = |F_1|^2 \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \, \mathcal{P}_R \, i \, S_{N_1}^{>,<}(p) \, \mathcal{P}_L \, i \, \Delta^{<,>}(p-k) \,, \qquad (5.43)$$

where as before  $i \Delta^{\langle,\rangle}(p-k)$  denotes the full propagator (5.23). As before, this selfenergy accounts for the dominant finite temperature effects, with further vertex-type corrections contributing at higher order.

In principle, the sterile neutrino Wightman functions i  $S_{N_1}^{<,>}$  contain CP-violating contributions associated with sterile neutrino oscillations, but these are encoded in terms of wave-function type corrections for the



Figure 5.2: 2PI diagrams contributing to the leptonic self-energies. The first diagram is the LO contribution, and the two-loop diagrams generate the CP-violating source term. The conventions for the lines are as in Fig. 5.1. The dotted vertices correspond to the effective interaction of Eq. (5.2). The self energy i  $\Sigma_{l_{\parallel}}$  results when amputating these diagrams.

spectral function (5.31) that only enter into expression (5.43) at order  $\mathcal{O}(F^6)$ . Instead, the dominant CP violating contributions to the SM lepton selfenergies are generated by the second and third diagram in Fig. 5.1, each of which contains a single insertion of the Weinberg-like operators (5.2). These diagrams give

$$i \Sigma_{\ell_{\parallel},S}^{>,<}(k) = |F_1|^2 \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \, \mathcal{P}_R \, i \, S_S^{>,<}(p) \, \mathcal{P}_L \, i \, \Delta^{<,>}(p-k) \,, \qquad (5.44)$$

where the object

$$i S_{S}^{>,<} \equiv \pm i \frac{3F_{1}^{*2}F_{2}^{2}}{M_{2}|F_{1}|^{2}} \left( i S_{N_{1}}^{>,<} i \gamma_{\mu} \hat{\Sigma}_{N_{1},R}^{\mu \, T,\overline{T}} - i S_{N_{1}}^{\overline{T},T} i \gamma_{\mu} \hat{\Sigma}_{N_{1},R}^{\mu \, >,<} \right) \quad (5.45)$$
$$\mp i \frac{3F_{1}^{2}F_{2}^{*2}}{M_{2}|F_{1}|^{2}} \left( i \gamma_{\mu} \hat{\Sigma}_{N_{1},R}^{\mu \, \overline{T},T} i S_{N_{1}}^{>,<} - i \gamma_{\mu} \hat{\Sigma}_{N_{1},R}^{\mu \, >,<} i S_{N_{1}}^{\overline{T},\overline{T}} \right)$$

captures the CP violation due to the Weinberg-like operators. Using expressions (5.43) and (5.44), it is possible to rewrite the collision integral (5.42) in terms of the lefthanded contribution to the sterile neutrino selfenergy,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}z} Y_{B-L} = \frac{-g_w}{\tilde{M}_1 s} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 k}{(2\pi)^4} \operatorname{tr} \left[ \left( \mathrm{i} S_{N_1}^> + \mathrm{i} S_S^> \right)(k) \operatorname{P}_L \mathrm{i} \Sigma_{N_1}^<(k) - \left( \mathrm{i} S_{N_1}^< + \mathrm{i} S_S^< \right)(k) \operatorname{P}_L \mathrm{i} \Sigma_{N_1}^>(k) \right].$$
(5.46)

#### Small Deviations from Equilibrium

Next, I linearize collision integrals (5.38) and (5.42). For each collision integral, this yields two distinct contributions, the first generated by terms linear in  $\mu_X$ , and the second generated by terms linear in  $\delta f_{N_1h}$ .

First, consider the contributions generated by  $\mu_{\ell}$  and  $\mu_{\phi}$ . Expanding the sterile neutrino self energy (5.39) to linear order in  $\mu_X/T$  [193], one obtains

$$i \hat{\Sigma}_{N_1,L}^{\mu>,<} = i \hat{\Sigma}_{N_1}^{\mu>,<} - 2 \frac{\mu_{\ell_{\parallel}} + \mu_{\phi}}{T} f_F(k_0) (1 - f_F(k_0)) \hat{\Sigma}_{N_1}^{\mu}$$
(5.47a)  
+  $\mathcal{O}(\mu_X^2/T^2)$ 

and

$$i \hat{\Sigma}_{N_1,R}^{\mu>,<} = i \hat{\Sigma}_{N_1}^{\mu>,<} + 2 \frac{\mu_{\ell_{\parallel}} + \mu_{\phi}}{T} f_F(k_0) (1 - f_F(k_0)) \hat{\Sigma}_{N_1}^{\mu} \qquad (5.47b) + \mathcal{O}(\mu_X^2/T^2)$$

where the reduced self-energies  $\hat{\Sigma}_{N_1}^{\mu>,<}$  and  $\hat{\Sigma}_{N_1}^{\mu}$  are defined via

$$\hat{\Sigma}_{N_1}^{\mu>,<} \equiv \left. \hat{\Sigma}_{N_1,L}^{\mu>,<} \right|_{\mu_X=0} = \left. \hat{\Sigma}_{N_1,R}^{\mu>,<} \right|_{\mu_X=0} \tag{5.48}$$

and

$$\hat{\Sigma}_{N_{1}}^{\mu}(k) \equiv \frac{i}{2} (\hat{\Sigma}_{N_{1}}^{\mu>}(k) - \hat{\Sigma}_{N_{1}}^{\mu<}(k))$$

$$= f_{F}^{-1}(k_{0}) \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} f_{F}(p_{0}) f_{B}(k_{0} - p_{0}) \Delta^{\mathcal{A}}(k - p) \operatorname{tr} \left[\gamma^{\mu} S_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{\mathcal{A}}(p)\right] .$$
(5.49)

Taking  $\delta f_{N_1h} \to 0$  and inserting the expansions (5.47a), (5.47b) into Eqs. (5.38) and (5.46), one finds

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dz}} Y_{N_{1} \mathrm{even}} \Big|_{\delta f_{N_{1}h} \to 0} = 0 , \qquad \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dz}} g_{w} Y_{l_{\parallel}} \Big|_{\delta f_{N_{1}h} \to 0} = W , \qquad (5.50a)$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dz}} Y_{N_{1} \mathrm{odd}} \Big|_{\delta f_{N_{1}h} \to 0} = \widetilde{W} , \qquad (5.50b)$$

where

$$\widetilde{W} = \frac{-12K}{T^3} \left( Y_{\ell_{\parallel}} + \frac{1}{2} Y_{\phi} \right)$$
(5.50c)  
$$\times \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^3} (1 - f_F(k_0)) f_F(k_0) \, \tilde{\gamma}(k) \Big|_{k_0 = \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + M_1^2}} ,$$
$$W = \frac{-12K}{T^3} \left( Y_{\ell_{\parallel}} + \frac{1}{2} Y_{\phi} \right)$$
(5.50d)  
$$\times \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^3} (1 - f_F(k_0)) f_F(k_0) \, \gamma(k) \Big|_{k_0 = \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + M_1^2}} .$$

The constant

$$K \equiv \frac{T}{\tilde{M}_{1}^{2}} \Gamma_{D}(z \to \infty) = \frac{\Gamma_{D}(z \to \infty)}{H(z=1)} = T g_{w} \frac{|F_{1}|^{2}}{16\pi \tilde{M}_{1}}$$
(5.51)

is proportional to the sterile neutrino decay width at zero temperature, and

$$\Gamma_D(z \to \infty) \equiv \Gamma_D(N_1 \to l_{\parallel}\phi) + \Gamma_D(N_1 \to \bar{l}_{\parallel}\phi^{\dagger}) = g_w \frac{|F_1|^2 \tilde{M}_1}{16\pi} . \quad (5.52)$$

With this definition, K is identical to the conventional washout parameter as defined in [106, 168, 151]. Finite temperature corrections to this picture are encoded in the dimensionless interaction rates

$$\gamma(k) \equiv \frac{32\pi}{T} \frac{k_{\mu} \hat{\Sigma}_{N_{1}}^{\mathcal{A}\mu}(k)}{k_{0}} , \qquad \tilde{\gamma}(k) \equiv \frac{32\pi}{T} \frac{\tilde{k}_{\mu} \hat{\Sigma}_{N_{1}}^{\mathcal{A}\mu}(k)}{k_{0}} .$$
(5.53)

Finally, the object

$$\tilde{k}^{\mu} \equiv \frac{1}{2} h \operatorname{tr} \left[ \operatorname{P}_{h} \gamma^{5} \gamma^{\mu} \not{k} \right] = \left( | \not{k} |, k_{0} \hat{\pmb{k}} \right)$$
(5.54)

is orthogonal to  $k^{\mu}$ ,  $k_{\mu}\tilde{k}^{\mu} = 0$ , and projects the sterile neutrino selfenergy onto an helicity-odd combination of Lorentz indices.

Next, consider the contributions generated by  $\delta f_{N_1h} \neq 0$ . Taking  $\mu_{l,\phi} \rightarrow 0$ , one obtains

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dz}} Y_{N_{1} \mathrm{even}} \Big|_{\mu_{X} \to 0} = D , \qquad \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dz}} g_{w} Y_{l_{\parallel}} \Big|_{\mu_{X} \to 0} = \widetilde{B} + S , \qquad (5.55a)$$
$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dz}} Y_{N_{1} \mathrm{odd}} \Big|_{\mu_{X} \to 0} = B ,$$

where

\_

$$D = -\frac{K}{s} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \,\delta f_{N_1,\mathrm{even}}(k_0) \gamma(k) \bigg|_{k_0 = \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + M_1^2}} \,, \tag{5.55b}$$

$$B = -\frac{K}{s} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \,\delta f_{N_1,\mathrm{odd}}(k_0) \gamma(k) \bigg|_{k_0 = \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + M_1^2}} \,, \tag{5.55c}$$

$$\widetilde{B} = -\frac{K}{s} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \,\delta f_{N_1,\mathrm{odd}}(k_0) \widetilde{\gamma}(k) \bigg|_{k_0 = \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + M_1^2}} \,, \tag{5.55d}$$

$$S = \epsilon_0 \frac{K}{s} \int \frac{d^3 \mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \delta f_{N_1,\text{even}}(k_0) \qquad (5.55e) \\ \times \left( \frac{(32\pi)^2}{T} \frac{\hat{\Sigma}_{N_1\mu} \hat{\Sigma}_{N_1}^{\mu}(k)}{k_0} \right) \Big|_{k_0 = \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + M_1^2}} ,$$

and  $f_{N_1,\text{even/odd}} \equiv f_{N_1+} \pm f_{N_1-}$  are helicity even and odd sterile neutrino distribution functions. The constant

$$\epsilon_0 \equiv \frac{\Gamma_D(N_1 \to l_{\parallel}\phi) - \Gamma_D(N_1 \to \bar{l}_{\parallel}\phi^{\dagger})}{\Gamma_D(N_1 \to l_{\parallel}\phi) + \Gamma_D(N_1 \to \bar{l}_{\parallel}\phi^{\dagger})} = \frac{1 + g_w}{16\pi} \frac{\mathrm{Im}[F_1^{*2}F_2^2]}{|F_1|^2} \frac{\tilde{M}_1}{\tilde{M}_2} \ . \ (5.56)$$

is defined such that it coincides with the zero-temperature sterile neutrino decay-asymmetry in the strongly hierarchical limit[206, 207]. Notice that the source term (5.55e) is consistent with the calculation in Ref. [206], provided that one evaluates the result obtained there in the limit  $M_1/M_2 \rightarrow 0$ .

Putting everything together, one obtains the evolution equations

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dz}} Y_{N_{1} \mathrm{even}} = D , \qquad \qquad \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dz}} g_{w} Y_{l_{\parallel}} = \widetilde{B} + S + W , \qquad (5.57)$$
$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dz}} Y_{N_{1} \mathrm{odd}} = B + \widetilde{W} .$$

Working in the restframe of the early universe plasma, it is possible to further simplify the source term S. In this frame,  $k^i$  is the only available three momentum that can appear in the reduced sterile neutrino self-energy  $\hat{\Sigma}^{\mu}_{N_1}(k)$ . Since the four-vectors  $k^{\mu}$  and  $\tilde{k}^{\mu}$  are orthogonal, they

span the two-dimensional sub-space of four vectors with spatial part proportional to  $k^i$ , and  $\hat{\Sigma}^{\mu}_{N_1}(k)$  can be decomposed as

$$\hat{\Sigma}_{N_1}^{\mu} = \frac{1}{k^2} \left[ k^{\mu} (\hat{\Sigma}_{N_1}^{\alpha} k_{\alpha}) - \tilde{k}^{\mu} (\hat{\Sigma}_{N_1}^{\alpha} \tilde{k}_{\alpha}) \right] \,. \tag{5.58}$$

Combining this relation with the definitions (5.53) of  $\gamma(k)$  and  $\tilde{\gamma}(k)$ , one obtains

$$\frac{(32\pi)^2}{T}\frac{\hat{\Sigma}_{N_1\mu}(k)\hat{\Sigma}_{N_1}^{\mu}(k)}{k_0} = \beta k_0 \frac{1}{z^2} (\gamma^2(k) - \tilde{\gamma}^2(k)) .$$
 (5.59)

## Momentum Averaged Fluid Equations

To obtain the final fluid equations for leptogensis, I momentum average  $\gamma(k)$  and  $\tilde{\gamma}(k)$  with respect to the sterile neutrino equilibrium distribution function,

$$\gamma \to \langle \gamma \rangle , \qquad \qquad \tilde{\gamma} \to \langle \tilde{\gamma} \rangle . \qquad (5.60)$$

For a general function X(k), this average is defined as

$$\langle X \rangle = \frac{2 s}{Y_{N_1,\text{eq}}} \int \left. \frac{d^3 \mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^3} X(k) f_F(k) \right|_{k^0 = \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + M_1^2}} ,$$
 (5.61a)

where

$$Y_{N_{1},\text{eq}} = \frac{T^{3}}{\pi^{2}} z^{2} \mathcal{I}(z) , \quad \mathcal{I}(z) \equiv \int_{z}^{\infty} dy \, \frac{y \sqrt{y^{2} - z^{2}}}{e^{y} + 1}$$
(5.61b)  
$$= z^{2} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{n+1}}{n} K_{2}(n z) \approx z^{2} K_{2}(z) .$$

is the sterile neutrino equilibrium yield, and  $K_n$  is the n-th modified Bessel function of the second kind. After the replacement (5.60), the momentum integrals in (5.57) can evaluated by using either the even and odd sterile neutrino yields

$$Y_{N_1,\text{even}} - Y_{N_1,\text{eq}} = \frac{1}{s} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \,\delta f_{N_1,\text{even}}(k_0) \,\,, \tag{5.62a}$$

$$Y_{N_1,\text{odd}} = \frac{1}{s} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \,\delta f_{N_1,\text{odd}}(k_0) \,\,, \tag{5.62b}$$

or the dimensionless integrals

$$\mathcal{J}(z) \equiv \int_{z}^{\infty} dy \, \frac{y\sqrt{y^{2} - z^{2}}e^{y}}{(e^{y} + 1)^{2}}$$
(5.63a)  
$$= z^{2} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{n-1} K_{2}(nz) \approx z^{2} K_{2}(z) ,$$
  
$$\mathcal{K}(z) \equiv \int_{z}^{\infty} dy \, \frac{y^{2}\sqrt{y^{2} - z^{2}}}{e^{y} + 1}$$
(5.63b)  
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{n+1} \left(\frac{z^{3}}{n} K_{1}(nz) + \frac{3z^{2}}{n^{2}} K_{2}(nz)\right)$$
  
$$\approx z^{3} K_{1}(z) + 3z^{2} K_{2}(z) .$$

Using this notation, the sterile neutrino equilibration terms become

$$B = -\Gamma Y_{N_1,\text{odd}} , \qquad D = -\Gamma (Y_{N_1,\text{even}} - Y_{N_1,\text{eq}}) , \qquad (5.64a)$$

$$\ddot{B} = -\Gamma Y_{N_1,\text{odd}} , \qquad (5.64b)$$

where  $\Gamma \equiv K \langle \gamma \rangle$  and  $\tilde{\Gamma} \equiv K \langle \tilde{\gamma} \rangle$  are the momentum averaged sterile neutrino equilibration and backreaction rates, respectively. For the washout terms, one finds

$$W = -\eta_{N_1} \Gamma \left( Y_{\ell_{\parallel}} + \frac{1}{2} Y_{\phi} \right) , \quad \widetilde{W} = -\eta_{N_1} \widetilde{\Gamma} \left( Y_{\ell_{\parallel}} + \frac{1}{2} Y_{\phi} \right) , \quad (5.65)$$

where the correction factor

$$\eta_{N_1}(z) = \frac{6}{\pi^2} \mathcal{J}(z)$$
 (5.66)

captures the Boltzmann suppression of the washout terms at late times. Intuitively, the factor  $\eta_{N_1}$  reflects the fact that  $\Gamma$  and  $\tilde{\Gamma}$  are defined as averages with respect to the sterile neutrino momentum distribution, rather than the momentum distributions of the SM leptons and Higgs boson. It can be seen to arise by considering the yield corresponding to the difference between the net-numbers of leptons and anti-leptons turned into sterile neutrinos via the Yukawa interactions per given unit zinterval. Since the SM particles are in kinetic equilibrium, this difference is given as

$$W \equiv -\Gamma \frac{2}{s} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} \boldsymbol{k}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \left( \frac{1}{e^{\beta(k_{0}-\mu_{l_{\parallel}}-\mu_{H})}+1} - \frac{1}{e^{\beta(k_{0}+\mu_{l_{\parallel}}+\mu_{H})}+1} \right) \quad (5.67a)$$
$$= \Gamma \frac{12}{T^{3}} \left( Y_{l_{\parallel}} + \frac{1}{2} Y_{\phi} \right) \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} \boldsymbol{k}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{e^{\beta k_{0}}}{(e^{\beta k_{0}}+1)^{2}} + O(\mu_{X}^{2}/T^{2}) , \quad (5.67b)$$

and therefore

$$\eta_{N_1} \equiv \frac{12}{T^3} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{e^{\beta k_0}}{(e^{\beta k_0} + 1)^2} = \frac{6}{\pi^2} \int_z^\infty \mathrm{d}y \ y(y^2 - z^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{e^y}{(e^y + 1)^2} = \frac{6}{\pi^2} \mathcal{J}(z) \ .$$
(5.68)

For the CP-violating source rate (5.59), I average each factor individually. This gives

$$\frac{1}{z^2}\beta k_0(\gamma^2 - \tilde{\gamma}^2) = \frac{1}{z^2}\beta k_0(\gamma + \tilde{\gamma})(\gamma - \tilde{\gamma}) \qquad (5.69)$$
$$\rightarrow \frac{1}{z^2}\langle\beta k_0\rangle \gamma_{\rm LNC} \gamma_{\rm LNV} ,$$

where

$$\gamma_{\rm LNC} = \langle \gamma + \tilde{\gamma} \rangle , \qquad \gamma_{\rm LNV} = \langle \gamma - \tilde{\gamma} \rangle , \qquad (5.70a)$$

denote LNC and LNV combinations of the dimensionless rates  $\gamma$  and  $\tilde{\gamma},$  while

$$\langle \beta k_0 \rangle = \frac{\mathcal{K}(z)}{\mathcal{I}(z)}$$
 (5.70b)

is the thermal average of the sterile neutrino energy. Putting everything together, one obtains the final, momentum-averaged fluid equations for leptogenesis:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}z} Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{even}} = -\Gamma \left( Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{even}} - Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{eq}} \right) , \qquad (5.71\mathrm{a})$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}z} Y_{N_1 \mathrm{odd}} = -\Gamma Y_{N_1 \mathrm{odd}} - \eta_{N_1} \tilde{\Gamma} \left( Y_{\ell_{\parallel}} + \frac{1}{2} Y_{\phi} \right) , \qquad (5.71\mathrm{b})$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dz}} Y_{B-L} = -\epsilon_{\mathrm{eff}} \Gamma \left( Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{even}} - Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{eq}} \right)$$

$$+ \tilde{\Gamma} Y_{\mathrm{even}} + m_{\mathrm{eff}} \Gamma \left( Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{even}} - Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{eq}} \right)$$
(5.71c)

$$+ \, \widetilde{\Gamma} \, Y_{N_1 \mathrm{odd}} + \eta_{N_1} \, \Gamma \left( Y_{\ell_{\parallel}} + rac{1}{2} Y_{\phi} 
ight) \, ,$$

where

$$\epsilon_{\rm eff} = \epsilon_0 \langle \beta k_0 \rangle \frac{2 \,\gamma_{\rm LNC} \,\gamma_{\rm LNV}}{z^2 (\gamma_{\rm LNC} + \gamma_{\rm LNV})} \,. \tag{5.72}$$

is the effective finite temperature sterile neutrino decay asymmetry at finite temperatures. Using these equations, it is easy to verify that  $\gamma_{\text{LNC}}$  conserves the generalized lepton number  $\tilde{L} = L - n_{N_1 \text{odd}}$ . One obtains

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dz}} Y_{B-\tilde{L}} = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dz}} \left( Y_{B-L} + Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{odd}} \right)$$

$$= K \gamma_{\mathrm{LNV}} \left[ \eta_{N_{1}} \left( Y_{\ell_{\parallel}} + \frac{1}{2} Y_{\phi} \right) - Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{odd}} \right] + (\text{source term}) ,$$
(5.73)

where  $\gamma_{\text{LNV}}$  acts as the only source of  $\widetilde{L}$  violation.

## 5.4.2 Computation of the rates $\gamma_{ m LNC}$ and $\gamma_{ m LNV}$

It remains to compute the dimensionless interaction rates  $\gamma_{\text{LNC}}$  and  $\gamma_{\text{LNV}}$ , which have been defined in Eqs. (5.70a) and (5.53). These damping coefficients depend on the reduced sterile neutrino selfenergy  $\hat{\Sigma}_{N_1}^{\mu}(k)$ , which encodes finite temperature effects in the early universe plasma as higher order loop corrections.

In the nonrelativistic limit  $z \to \infty$ , one may neglect these finite temperature corrections, and the computation of the damping coefficients is relatively simple. One finds [156]

$$\hat{\Sigma}^{\mu}_{N_1,T=0}(k) = \frac{k^{\mu}}{32\pi} , \qquad (5.74a)$$

and therefore

$$\gamma_{\rm LNC} = \gamma_{\rm LNV} = z \left\langle \frac{M_1}{k_0} \right\rangle = z \; \frac{1}{\mathcal{I}(z)} \int_z^\infty dy \; \frac{\sqrt{y^2 - z^2}}{e^y + 1} \approx z \frac{K_1(z)}{K_2(z)} \; . \tag{5.74b}$$

The computation at arbitrary z is more involved, since finite temperature effects can cause a breakdown of naive perturbation theory. Specifically, the selfenergies of the SM leptons and the Higgs boson contain so-called "hard thermal loop" (HTL) contributions that scale as  $\kappa^2 T^2/m^2$  [208], where m is a relevant mass or momentum scale, and  $\kappa$  is either a gauge coupling, a Yukawa coupling, or the square root of a scalar quartic coupling. In the ultrarelativistic limit  $z \to \infty$ , the temperature enhancement  $T^2/m^2$  easily compensates for the perturbative suppression  $\kappa$ , and one has to resum the HTL contributions, which yields effective HTL vertices and propagators for the SM leptons and the Higgs boson. Within the CTP formalism, this HTL resummation is equivalent to using the full spectral functions (5.76) for the Higgs boson and the SM leptons, with the selfenergies (5.36) evaluated at  $k^2 \to 0$ .

The equilibration rates associated with  $\gamma_{\rm LNC}$  are well known in the ultrarelativistic limit  $z \to 0$ , see e.g. [155, 156, 153, 171, 209]. There, the HTL resummation regulates an IR divergence in  $2 \leftrightarrow 2$  scattering processes involving a *t*-channel exchange of SM leptons, and the divergent  $2 \leftrightarrow 2$  contributions are found to be logarithmically enhanced, scaling as  $g^2 \ln g^{-2}$ , where g symbolically denotes either the electroweak SU(2) gauge coupling  $g_2$  or the U(1) hypercharge gauge coupling  $g_1$ . Further vertex and wavefunction type corrections to  $\hat{\Sigma}^{\mu}_{N_1}$  scale as  $g^2$ , and are therefore subdominant.

For the purpose of studying thermal corrections in high-scale leptogenesis, I need to evaluate  $\gamma_{\rm LNC}$  and  $\gamma_{\rm LNV}$  for general  $z \neq 0$ . In general, this is equivalent to computing the sterile neutrino reduced selfenergy (5.49). To remain consistent with the well-known results for  $\gamma_{\rm LNC}$  in the ultrarelativistic limit, I have to include thermal corrections that contribute at order  $g^2 \ln g^{-2}$  or less. Working at this level of accuracy, the only relevant contribution is

$$\hat{\Sigma}_{N_{1}}^{\mu}(k) = f_{F}^{-1}(k_{0}) \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} f_{F}(p_{0}) f_{B}(k_{0} - p_{0}) \times \Delta^{\mathcal{A}}(k - p) \operatorname{tr}\left[\gamma^{\mu} S_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{\mathcal{A}}(p)\right] , \qquad (5.75)$$

where the HTL resummed spectral functions  $S_{\ell}^{\mathcal{A}}$  and  $\Delta^{\mathcal{A}}$  regulate the IR divergences that result in the logarithmic enhancement of this diagram. Explicitly, the spectral functions are given as

$$S_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{\mathcal{A}} = P_L \frac{\left( \not p - \Sigma_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{\mathcal{H}} \right) \Gamma_{\ell_{\parallel}} - \Sigma_{\ell_{\parallel}}^{\mathcal{A}} \Omega_{\ell_{\parallel}}}{\Omega_{\ell_{\parallel}}^2 + \Gamma_{\ell_{\parallel}}^2} P_R , \qquad \Delta^{\mathcal{A}} = \frac{\Gamma_{\phi}}{\Omega_{\phi}^2 + \Gamma_{\phi}^2} , \qquad (5.76)$$

where

$$\Gamma_{\phi}(q) = \Pi^{\mathcal{A}}, \qquad \Gamma_{\ell}(p) = 2\left(p_{\mu} - \Sigma_{l,\mu}^{\mathcal{H}}\right) \cdot \Sigma_{l}^{\mathcal{A},\mu},$$
  

$$\Omega_{\phi}(q) = q^{2} - \Pi^{\mathcal{H}}, \quad \Omega_{\ell}(p) = \left(p_{\mu} - \Sigma_{l,\mu}^{\mathcal{H}}\right)^{2} - \left(\Sigma_{l,\mu}^{\mathcal{A}}\right)^{2}.$$
(5.77)

Since the sterile neutrino reduced selfenergy (5.49) is defined in terms of the sterile neutrino selfenergy in thermal equilibrium, the SM selfenergies  $\Pi^{ab}$  and  $\Sigma^{ab}_{\ell}$  have to be evaluated for vanishing chemical potentials  $\mu_X = 0$ . Keeping only the HTL contributions [210, 211], one obtains

$$\Pi^{\mathcal{H},\text{HTL}} = m_{\phi}^{2} , \quad \Sigma_{l}^{\mathcal{H},\text{HTL}}(p) = \frac{m_{l}^{2}}{4} \frac{\vec{p}}{|\boldsymbol{p}|^{2}} \ln \left| \frac{p_{0} + |\boldsymbol{p}|}{p_{0} - |\boldsymbol{p}|} \right| - \frac{m_{l}^{2}}{2} \frac{\vec{p}}{|\boldsymbol{p}|^{2}} ,$$
  
$$\Pi^{\mathcal{A},\text{HTL}} = 0 , \qquad \Sigma_{l}^{\mathcal{A},\text{HTL}}(p) = \frac{m_{l}^{2}}{4} \frac{\vec{p}}{|\boldsymbol{p}|^{2}} 2\pi \,\theta(-p^{2}) ,$$
  
(5.78)

where now  $\tilde{p}^{\mu} \equiv (|\boldsymbol{p}|, p_0 \frac{\boldsymbol{p}}{|\boldsymbol{p}|})$  and  $\hat{p}^{\mu} \equiv (0, \boldsymbol{p})$ . The thermal masses  $m_{\phi}^2$  and  $m_l^2$ 

$$m_l^2 = \frac{1}{16} (3g_2^2 + g_1^2) T^2 , \quad m_{\phi}^2 = \frac{1}{16} (3g_2^2 + g_1^2 + 4h_t^2 + 8\lambda_{\phi}) T^2 \quad (5.79)$$

regulate the all-important infrared divergence in the 2  $\leftrightarrow$  2 scattering processes with a t-channel exchange of SM leptons, while  $h_t$  is the topquark Yukawa-coupling and  $\lambda_{\phi}$  the quartic self-coupling of the Higgs boson.

To evaluate the reduced selfenergy (5.75), I split the momentum integral into a region with time-like lepton momenta  $p^2 > 0$ , and a region with space-like lepton momenta  $p^2 < 0$ .

First, consider the region with  $p^2 > 0$ , where  $\Gamma_{\ell}, \Gamma_{\phi} = 0$ . Hence, the resummed in-medium spectral functions (5.76) can be written as

$$p^{2} > 0: \quad \begin{aligned} S_{\ell}^{\mathcal{A},\mathrm{HTL}}(p) &= \mathrm{P}_{L}\left[\left(\not p - \Sigma_{\ell}^{\mathcal{H},\mathrm{HTL}}\right)\pi\operatorname{sign}(p^{0})\,\delta\left(\Omega_{\ell}\right)\right]\mathrm{P}_{R} \\ \Delta^{\mathcal{A},\mathrm{HTL}}(p) &= \pi\operatorname{sign}(p^{0})\,\delta(p^{2} - m_{\phi}^{2}) \;. \end{aligned}$$
(5.80)

Physically, these  $\delta$  distributions select on-shell modes that describe the propagation of dressed particle modes in the early universe plasma, and



Figure 5.3: The HTL dispersion relations for leptonic pseudoparticles (solid blue) and holes (solid red), plotted against the dispersion relation of a massless particle (dotted gray) and a particle with mass  $m_l$  (dashed gray).

the resulting contribution to  $\hat{\Sigma}_{N_1}^{\mu}$  captures  $1 \leftrightarrow 2$  decay and inverse decay processes involving one dressed Higgs particle, one dressed SM lepton, and one sterile neutrino  $N_1$ . There is an important complication: It is well known that the on-shell condition  $\Omega_{\ell}(p) = 0$  actually permits two solutions  $p_0 = \omega_{p,h}(\mathbf{p})$  for each three-momentum  $\mathbf{p}$ , and as a result, the SM lepton field can create two distinct types of dressed particle modes. Typically,  $\omega_p$  branch solutions are called "pseudo-particle" modes, while the  $\omega_h$  branch solutions are called "collective excitations" or "hole" modes.

The momentum dependence of both branches is shown in Fig. 5.3. For  $|\mathbf{p}| \gtrsim T$ , the pseudo-particle and hole modes fulfill simplified dispersion relations,

$$\omega_p(\boldsymbol{p}) \approx \boldsymbol{p}^2 + m_\ell^2 , \qquad \qquad \omega_h(\boldsymbol{p}) \approx \boldsymbol{p}^2 .$$
 (5.81)

Furthermore, the hole mode contributions become exponentially suppressed due to the Jacobian  $\Delta_h(p)$  that arises from rewriting

$$\delta(\Omega_{\ell}) = \sum_{p,h} \Delta_{b,h} \delta(p_0^2 - \omega_{p,h}^2) . \qquad (5.82)$$

For small  $|\mathbf{p}|$ , the integrand scales as  $|\mathbf{p}|^2 \Delta_{p,h} \sim |\mathbf{p}|$ , so that this regime is dynamically suppressed. Focusing on the contribution from hard momenta  $|\mathbf{p}| \gtrsim T$ , one can approximate the integral (5.75) by neglecting hole modes and using the simplified dispersion relation (5.81) for the pseudo-particle modes. This way, one obtains the SM lepton spectral function

$$p^2 > 0:$$
  $S_{\ell}^{\mathcal{A},\text{HTL}} \approx P_L \left[ \not p \pi \operatorname{sign}(p_0) \, \delta(p^2 - m_l^2) \right] P_R .$  (5.83)

For the reduced selfenergy (5.75), using this simplified spectral function gives the  $1 \leftrightarrow 2$  pseudo-particle contribution

$$\hat{\Sigma}^{\mu}_{N_{1},1\leftrightarrow2}(k) \approx \frac{T}{32\pi|\mathbf{k}|} \left[ \frac{|A|^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}} I_{0} \left( \frac{A^{2}k_{0}}{M_{1}^{2}T}, \frac{B^{2}|\mathbf{k}|}{M_{1}^{2}T}, \frac{k_{0}}{T} \right) k^{\mu} + \frac{\operatorname{sgn}(A^{2})T}{|\mathbf{k}|} I_{1} \left( \frac{A^{2}k_{0}}{M_{1}^{2}T}, \frac{B^{2}|\mathbf{k}|}{M_{1}^{2}T}, \frac{k_{0}}{T} \right) \tilde{k}^{\mu} \right],$$
(5.84)

where  $\tilde{k}$  is defined as in Eq. (5.53), and the quantities A, B are

$$A^{2} \equiv M_{1}^{2} + m_{l}^{2} - m_{\phi}^{2}, \qquad B^{2} \equiv \sqrt{A^{4} - 4m_{l}^{2}M_{1}^{2}} .$$
 (5.85)

The dimensionless integrals  $I_{0,1}(\alpha, \beta, y)$  are given as

$$I_0(\alpha,\beta,y) = \beta + \ln \left| \frac{1 + e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\alpha+\beta)}}{1 + e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\alpha-\beta)}} \right| + \ln \left| \frac{1 - e^{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha-\beta)-y}}{1 - e^{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha+\beta)-y}} \right|, \quad (5.86a)$$

$$I_{1}(\alpha, \beta, y) = \beta \Big[ \ln |(1 + e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\alpha + \beta)})(1 + e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\alpha - \beta)})| \qquad (5.86b) \\ -\ln |(1 - e^{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha - \beta) - y})(1 - e^{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha + \beta) - y})| \Big] \\ -2 \Big[ \operatorname{Li}_{2}(-e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\alpha - \beta)}) - \operatorname{Li}_{2}(-e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\alpha + \beta)}) \\ + \operatorname{Li}_{2}(e^{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha - \beta) - y}) - \operatorname{Li}_{2}(e^{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha + \beta) - y}) \Big] ,$$

where  $\text{Li}_2(x)$  denotes the polylogarithmic function of second order. Finally, one obtains  $1 \leftrightarrow 2$  contributions to the damping coefficients  $\gamma_{\text{LNC/LNV}}^{1\leftrightarrow 2}$  by inserting the result (5.84) into the momentum averages defined in Eq. (5.70a), and then evaluating the resulting one-dimensional integral numerically.

Next, consider the region with space-like momenta  $p^2 < 0$ . In this regime, the Higgs boson spectral function is exactly the same as the  $p^2 > 0$  expression (5.80), but the SM lepton spectral function (5.76) picks up a finite width  $\Gamma_{\ell} \neq 0$ . Since the Higgs boson spectral function continues to select on-shell modes that describe dressed Higgs particles in the early plasma, the  $p^2 < 0$  contributions to  $\hat{\Sigma}^{\mu}_{N_1}$  can be interpreted as arising from scattering processes with t-channel exchanges of the SM leptons. In the ultrarelativistic limit  $z \to 0$ , this region contains the logarithmically enhanced  $2 \leftrightarrow 2$  processes that have been found in prior computations [155, 156, 153, 209]. Working at leading log accuracy, only these enhanced  $2 \leftrightarrow 2$  processes contribute to  $\hat{\Sigma}^{\mu}_{N_1}$  in the  $p^2 < 0$  region.

The analytic result (5.84) is useful, but to test the validity of the approximation (5.83), one has to compare it with a numerical computation that retains collective excitations and uses the full dispersion relations  $\omega_{p,h}$  for both the pseudo-particle and hole modes. Furthermore, an analytic computation of the 2  $\leftrightarrow$  2 contributions for general z is extremely involved, so that these have to be computed numerically as well. Together with my collaborators in [1], I have performed the a numerical computation of the individual 1  $\leftrightarrow$  2 and 2  $\leftrightarrow$  2 contributions  $\gamma_{\text{LNC/LNV}}^{1\leftrightarrow 2}$  and  $\gamma_{\text{LNC/LNV}}^{2\leftrightarrow 2}$  to the LNC and LNV rates that retains the full, momentum dependent HTL selfenergies (5.78).

Specifically, we used an adaptive Monte-Carlo method, and evaluated the integral for 100 values of z with even logarithmic spacing that lie between  $z_i = 10^{-2}$  and  $z_f = 10^2$ . The values of the SM coupling constants are determined by solving two-loop renormalization group equations of the Standard Model [212], where the initial conditions chosen such that the SM couplings accurately predict collider measurements. This matching to experimental results includes two-loop threshold corrections for the Higgs parameters [213], as well as one-loop electroweak [214] and three-loop QCD corrections [215, 216] for the determination of the top Yukawa in terms of the top pole mass. The Higgs and top masses are taken from recent ATLAS measurements, giving  $m_{\phi} = 124.97$  GeV [217] and  $m_t = 172.69$  GeV [218], and the remaining parameters are fixed via PDG data [55]. Using the renormalization scale  $\mu = T_{\rm phys} = 10^{12}$  GeV, this yields

$$\frac{1}{2}g_1^2 + \frac{3}{2}g_2^2 = 0.546 , \qquad h_t = 0.485 , \qquad \lambda_\phi = -0.00187 . \tag{5.87}$$

It is convenient to interpolate the results obtained for  $\gamma_{\rm LNC}$  and  $\gamma_{\rm LNV}$ by using a phenomenological fit function. For this function, I distinguish between contributions from  $1 \leftrightarrow 2$  processes with pseudo-particle lepton modes,  $1 \leftrightarrow 2$  processes with collective excitations, and  $2 \leftrightarrow 2$  processes with t-channel exchanges of SM leptons. Defining  $L \equiv \log_{10} z$ , this gives

$$\gamma_{\rm LNC/LNV} = \gamma_{\rm LNC/LNV}^{1\leftrightarrow2,h} + \gamma_{\rm LNC/LNV}^{1\leftrightarrow2,h} + \gamma_{\rm LNC/LNV}^{2\leftrightarrow2}, \qquad (5.88)$$

where the hole mode contributions are negative and

$$\begin{split} &-\log_{10} |\gamma_{\rm LNC}^{1\leftrightarrow 2}| \\ &\approx \begin{cases} \left(1+0.125e^{-73.8(L+0.994)^2}\right) \left(\frac{1}{|L|^{6.51}}+1.79\right) & z \leq 0.3 \,, \\ \left(1+139e^{-27.9(L+0.653)^2}\right) \left(\frac{35.2}{|L+1.97|^{5.66}}-0.994L\right) & z > 0.3 \,, \end{cases} \\ &-\log_{10} |\gamma_{\rm LNC}^{1\leftrightarrow 2,h}| \\ &\approx \begin{cases} \left(1+1.69e^{-1.01(L-1.31)^2}\right) \left(\frac{0.002}{|L|^{9.53}}+2.29\right) & z \leq 0.36 \,, \\ \left(1+1.16e^{-5.59(L-0.607)^2}\right) \left(\frac{0.586}{|L-1.42|^{5.25}}+1.98\right) & z > 0.80 \,, \\ \left(1+0.733e^{15.5(L+0.186)^2}\right) \left(\frac{0.631}{|L-0.578|^{-50.2}}+1.20\right) & \text{other } z \,, \\ &-\log_{10} |\gamma_{\rm LNC}^{2\leftrightarrow 2}| \\ &\approx 0.987 \left(0.417L + \sqrt{(0.174L-0.161)L+0.0571}+0.615\right) \\ &\times \left(1+0.180e^{-5.00|0.412-L|^{2.2}}\right), \end{split}$$

$$\begin{aligned} &-\log_{10} |\gamma_{\rm LNV}^{1\leftrightarrow 2}| \\ &\approx \begin{cases} \left(1 - 0.887e^{-11.1(L+0.753)^2}\right) \left(\frac{0.584}{|L+0.179|^{9.06}} - 1.90L - 0.256\right) z \le 0.55 , \\ \left(1 + 19.0e^{-213(L+0.360)^2}\right) \left(\frac{0.117}{|L+0.399|^{1.39}} - 1.023L\right) & z > 0.55 , \\ &-\log_{10} |\gamma_{\rm LNV}^{1\leftrightarrow 2,h}| \end{aligned}$$

$$\approx \begin{cases} \left(1+23.7e^{-10.6(L-0.011)^2}\right) \left(\frac{4.44\cdot10^{-7}}{|L+4.70|^{-8.63}}-2.00L+2.52\right) \ z \le 0.36 \ , \\ \left(1+0.302e^{0.218(L-0.971)^2}\right) \left(\frac{0.400}{|L+0.931|^{-5.41}}+2.30\right) \qquad z > 0.65 \ , \\ \left(1-0.947e^{-1.85(L+0.191)^2}\right) \left(\frac{1.97}{|L-0.613|^{-60.1}}+63.2\right) \qquad \text{other } z \ , \\ \log_{10}|\gamma_{\rm LNV}^{2\leftrightarrow 2}| \approx \left(0.648L - \sqrt{L(1.83L-0.704)+0.195}-1.03\right) \\ \times \left(1+0.291e^{-4.46(L-0.297)^2}\right) \ . \end{cases}$$

Figure 5.4 shows the final results for the numerical computation of  $\gamma_{\rm LNC}$  and  $\gamma_{\rm LNV}$ , comparing them to the phenomenological fit functions (5.88). For most values of z, the relative accuracy of these fit functions is better than 5%, but the accuracy of the  $\gamma_{\rm LNV}$  fit functions drops to around 10-30% for a small interval close to the kinematic threshold of  $1 \leftrightarrow 2$  processes at  $z \approx 0.1$ .

In the ultrarelativistic limit,  $\gamma_{\rm LNC}$  is dominated by contributions from  $2 \leftrightarrow 2$  scattering, while  $\gamma_{\rm LNV}$  is dominated by  $1 \leftrightarrow 2$  processes. Since  $\epsilon_{\rm eff} \Gamma \propto \gamma_{\rm LNV} \gamma_{\rm LNC}$ , this implies that the *CP* violating source could be underestimated by up to two orders of magnitude if  $1 \leftrightarrow 2$  processes are neglected the ultrarelativistic regime. This result could be important for low-scale leptogenesis scenarios with "light" GeV-scale sterile neutrinos, such as in e.g. [159, 158, 160, 161, 120, 162, 163, 164, 165]. For both  $\gamma_{\rm LNC}$  and  $\gamma_{\rm LNV}$ , the  $1 \leftrightarrow 2$  contribution becomes negative between  $z \approx 0.1$  and  $z \approx 0.6 - 0.7$ , and it vanishes completely for values around  $z \approx 0.3 - 0.4$ . This structure is mainly the result of kinematic blocking due to the thermal masses  $m_{\phi}$  and  $m_{\ell}$  in the early universe plasma:

- For  $z \leq 0.1$ , one has  $m_{\phi} > m_{\ell} + M_1$ , so that the thermal masses  $m_{\phi}^2$  and  $m_{\ell}^2$  are large enough to allow for  $\phi \leftrightarrow \ell N_1$  decay and inverse decay processes involving both on-shell pseudo-particle and hole-mode SM leptons. Since the Jacobian  $\Delta_h$  suppresses the propagation of hole modes, the contribution from pseudo-particle modes dominates.
- For  $0.1 \leq z \leq 0.4$ , one has  $m_{\ell} + M_1 > m_{\phi} > M_1$ , so that  $\phi \leftrightarrow \ell N_1$  processes can only create and annihilate on-shell hole-mode SM leptons. The associated sign flip for  $\gamma_{\rm LNC}$  and  $\gamma_{\rm LNV}$  results from the hole modes carry negative lepton number.



Figure 5.4: First line: Numerical results for  $\gamma_{\text{LNC/LNV}}(z)$  (blue dots) compared to the fit functions (5.88) (solid blue lines) and the result with simplified lepton propagators for the 1  $\leftrightarrow$  2 processes (black dots). Second line: The relative deviations between the full numerical results and the approximate fit functions (orange dots). Third line: Absolute values of the individual 1  $\leftrightarrow$  2 contributions (blue), 1  $\leftrightarrow$  2 contributions with simplified lepton propagators (black), and 2  $\leftrightarrow$  2 contributions (orange) for  $\gamma_{\text{LNC/LNV}}(z)$ . Numerical results are shown as dots, while the fit functions are shown as solid lines (for positive contributions) or dashed lines (for negative contributions, generated by hole contributions). In all plots, dashed gray lines show the nonrelativistic 1  $\leftrightarrow$  2 result  $\gamma_{\text{LNC/LNV}} \approx zK_1(z)/K_2(z)$ .

- For  $z \approx 0.4$ , one has  $m_{\phi} \approx M_1$ , so that both  $N_1 \leftrightarrow \ell \phi$  and  $\phi \leftrightarrow \ell N_1$  processes are kinematically forbidden, and neither can contribute to  $\gamma_{\text{LNC}}$  and  $\gamma_{\text{LNV}}$ .
- For  $0.4 \leq z \leq 0.7$ , one has  $m_{\ell} + m_{\phi} > M_1 > m_{\phi}$ , so that  $N_1 \leftrightarrow \ell \phi$  processes with hole-mode SM leptons are now allowed, while Higgs decays are completely forbidden.
- Finally, for  $0.7 \leq z$ , one has  $M_1 > m_\ell + m_\phi$ , so that  $N_1 \leftrightarrow \ell \phi$

decay processes with both on-shell pseudo-particle and hole-mode SM leptons are allowed. At the same time, the hole modes start to decouple, since they would be created with hard momenta  $|\mathbf{p}| \sim M_1 \gtrsim T$ .

Of course, this is only an approximate picture. Using the full dispersion relations  $\omega_{p,h}$  instead of the simplified relations (5.81), one obtains significant corrections in regions close to the kinematic thresholds at  $z \approx 0.1$ ,  $z \approx 0.4$ , and  $z \approx 0.7$ . For instance, at z = 0.1, the kinetimatic blocking of pseudo-particle processes is softened, with some contributions bleeding over into the kinematically forbidden regime.

Generically, one may expect the hole-mode  $1 \leftrightarrow 2$  contributions to become important in the regime from  $z \approx 0.4$  to  $z \approx 0.7$ , where pseudo-particle  $1 \leftrightarrow 2$  contributions are blocked. However, in this regime,  $2 \leftrightarrow 2$  scattering contributions dominate both  $\gamma_{\text{LNC}}$  and  $\gamma_{\text{LNV}}$ , so that hole-modes are negligible for both  $\gamma_{\text{LNC}}$  and  $\gamma_{\text{LNV}}$ .

### 5.4.3 Comparison with the Nonrelativistic Approximation

As a consistency check, I compare the results obtained in this section with the nonrelativistic fluid equations used in [168, 151], which are expected to be valid for leptogenesis scenarios with strong washouts and negligible spectator effects, where the final B-L asymmetry is generated at late times.

In this setup, the sterile neutrino Yukawa interactions are helicity blind, so that there is only a single independent sterile neutrino yield  $Y_{N_1} = Y_{N_1+} + Y_{N_1-}$ . The time-evolution of this yield is driven by a single equilibration rate  $\Gamma^{\text{NR}}$ , and there is no counterpart for the helicity odd rate  $\tilde{\Gamma}$ . Finally, the *CP* violating parameter  $\epsilon_0$  receives no finite temperature corrections.

To reproduce this nonrelativistic description, I neglect spectator interactions and assume  $K \gg 1$ . Since the washout rapidly equilibrates at early times, this enforces the initial conditions  $Y_{N_1 \text{odd}} = Y_{B-L} = 0$ until washout processes start to freeze out at around  $z \gtrsim 1$ . In this limit, the interaction rates  $\gamma_{\text{LNC/LNV}}$  are determined by expression (5.74b),



Figure 5.5: Comparison between the finite temperature source rate and its nonrelativistic approximation. Noitce the large enhancement for z < 0.1.

which gives

$$\Gamma^{\rm NR} = z \frac{K_1(z)}{K_2(z)} \approx z \left(1 - \frac{3}{2z}\right) , \qquad \tilde{\Gamma}^{\rm NR} = 0 .$$
(5.89)

As it should,  $\tilde{\Gamma}^{\text{NR}}$  vanishes, and the expression obtained for  $\Gamma^{\text{NR}}$  is identical to the one used in [168]. However, for the washout rate  $\eta_{N_1}\Gamma^{\text{NR}}$ , one has

$$\eta_{N_1} \Gamma^{\text{NR}} \approx K \frac{6}{\pi^2} z^3 K_1(z) \approx K \frac{6}{\pi^2} z^2 \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} z^2 e^{-z} .$$
 (5.90)

Comparing this expression with the result in [168], one finds a relative prefactor of  ${}^{12}/{\pi^2}$ . However, using the second expression in (5.90), I recover the expression used for the washout term in [151]. The derivation of the washout rate in [168] seems to be based on the invalid assumption that the washout rate  $\eta_{N_1}\Gamma$  is related to the equilibration rate  $\Gamma$  via the ratio of sterile neutrino and SM lepton number densities in the early universe, giving  $\eta_{N_1} = n_{\ell}^{\pm}/n_{N_1}^{\pm}$ . This relation is invalid, since the washout is not proportional to the SM lepton charge asymmetry  $(n_{\ell}^+ - n_{\ell}^-)$  rather than the total SM lepton number density  $(n_{\ell}^+ + n_{\ell}^-)$ . Putting everything together, one finds the nonrelativistic fluid equations

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dz}}Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{even}} = -\Gamma^{\mathrm{NR}}(Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{even}} - Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{eq}}) , \qquad (5.91\mathrm{a})$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dz}} Y_{B-L} = -\epsilon_{\mathrm{eff}}^{\mathrm{NR}} \Gamma^{\mathrm{NR}} (Y_{N_1 \mathrm{even}} - Y_{N_1 \mathrm{eq}}) \qquad (5.91\mathrm{b}) + \eta_{N_1} \Gamma^{\mathrm{NR}} (Y_{l_{\parallel}} + \frac{1}{2} Y_{\phi}) .$$

Finally, consider the effective finite temperature decay asymmetry  $\epsilon_{\text{eff}}$ . Using the nonrelativisitic expressions (5.74b), one has

$$\epsilon_{\text{eff}}^{\text{NR}}(z) \approx \epsilon_0 \frac{K_1(z)(zK_1(z) + 3K_2(z))}{zK_2(z)^2} \approx \epsilon_0 \left(1 + \frac{3}{2z^2}\right) .$$
 (5.92)

Figure 5.5 compares the full expression  $\epsilon_{\text{eff}}\Gamma$  with the nonrelativistic approximation  $\epsilon_{\text{eff}}^{\text{NR}}\Gamma^{\text{NR}}$ . As mentioned in the previous section,  $\phi \leftrightarrow \ell N_1$ Higgs decays strongly enhance the source term for z < 0.1. As will be shown in the next section, this enhancement is of critical importance if a significant fraction of the final B - L asymmetry is produced at early times.

## 5.5 Implications for the Final B-L Asymmetry

In this section, I use the fully relativistic fluid equations (5.71) in order to perform a parameter scan of the final B-L asymmetry  $Y_{B-L}(z \to \infty)$ . To study the impact of finite temperature and spectator effects, I consider two specific setups:

- 1. I isolate the impact of finite temperature effects by considering a toy scenario without spectator interactions. Assuming that all SM yields vanish initially, this implies  $Y_{B-L} = -g_w Y_{\ell_{\parallel}}$  and  $Y_{\phi} = 0$ , so that the fluid equations (5.71) form a closed system that depends only on the two free parameters  $\epsilon_0$  and K. With this setup, I compare the final B - L asymmetry obtained using the fully relativistic fluid equations (5.71) with the final B - Lasymmetry obtained using the nonrelativistic equations (5.91).
- 2. I consider a realistic scenario for sterile neutrinos with a mass  $\tilde{M}_1 \sim 10^{13}$  GeV, where b-Yukawa and weak sphaleron interactions have to be treated as partially equilibrated [151]. In this scenario, the final B L asymmetry depends on  $\epsilon_0$ , K, and also  $\tilde{M}_1$ . In order to study the impact of properly account for the partial equilibration of spectator interaction, I compare the B L asymmetry obtained in this realistic setup with the B L asymmetry obtained in a simplified setup, where the b-Yukawa and weak sphaleron interactions are approximated as being fully equilibrated.

In both cases, I restrict myself to scenarios in which both  $Y_{B-L}$  and  $Y_{N_1 \text{odd}}$  vanish at initial time  $z_0$ ,  $Y_{B-L}(z_0) = Y_{N_1 \text{odd}}(z_0) = 0$ .

### 5.5.1 Scenario without Spectators

First, I consider the toy scenario without spectator effects. In this case, finite temperature effects are expected to be important in the weak washout regime  $K \ll 1$  with a vanishing initial abundance of sterile neutrinos, where a significant fraction of the final B - L asymmetry can be produced at early times. In full consistency with the standard lore of high-scale leptogenesis, finite temperature corrections are expected to be irrelevant in the strong washout regime  $K \gg 1$ , since there are no spectators that could protect an initial B - L asymmetry from being

washed out. That being said, a proper accounting of the missing factor of  $^{12}/\pi^2$  for the washout rate in the minimal description of [168] is expected to yield order one corrections to the final B-L asymmetry in the strong washout regime.

Since the fluid equations (5.71) are linear, they can be solved using a time-ordered matrix exponential. Using  $Y_{N_1 \text{odd}}(z_0) = Y_{B-L}(z_0) = 0$ , one obtains the general solution

$$Y_{N_{1}\text{even}}(z) = e^{-I(z,z_{0})}Y_{N_{1}\text{even}}(z_{0})$$

$$+ \int_{z_{0}}^{z} dz' e^{-I(z,z')}\Gamma(z')Y_{N_{1}\text{eq}}(z') ,$$

$$Y(z) = \int_{z_{0}}^{z} dz' \mathcal{T}e^{\int_{z'}^{z} dz''W(z'')} \times S(z')(Y_{N_{1}\text{even}}(z') - Y_{N_{1},\text{eq}}(z')) ,$$
(5.93b)

where the exponential  $\mathcal{T}e^{\int dz'' W(z'')}$  captures the washout processes, and

$$Y \equiv \begin{pmatrix} Y_{N_1 \text{odd}} \\ Y_{B-L} \end{pmatrix} , \quad S \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ -\epsilon_{\text{eff}} \Gamma \end{pmatrix} , \quad W \equiv \begin{pmatrix} -\Gamma & \frac{\eta_{N_1}}{2} \tilde{\Gamma} \\ \tilde{\Gamma} & -\frac{\eta_{N_1}}{2} \Gamma \end{pmatrix} . \quad (5.94a)$$

The remaining integral factor is

$$I(z, z') \equiv \int_{z'}^{z} \mathrm{d}z'' \Gamma(z'') . \qquad (5.94b)$$

An analogous solution to the non-relativistic fluid equations (5.91a)–(5.91b) is obtained by taking  $\Gamma \to \Gamma^{\text{NR}}$ ,  $\tilde{\Gamma} \to 0$ , and  $\epsilon_{\text{eff}} \to \epsilon_0$ . Since the sterile neutrino yield has to be helicity-symmetric in the nonrelativistic limit, one also has  $Y_{N_1\text{odd}} = 0$  and  $Y_{N_1\text{even}} = Y_{N_1+} = Y_{N_1-} \equiv Y_{N_1}$ .

The final B - L asymmetry  $Y_{B-L}(z \to \infty)$  depends on the two free parameters  $\epsilon_0$  and K. Following [219], I use the parametrization

$$Y_{B-L}(z \to \infty) = -\epsilon_0 Y_{N_1, eq}(z_0) \cdot \kappa_f , \qquad \kappa_f \equiv \kappa(z \to \infty) . \tag{5.95}$$

The efficiency factor

$$\kappa(z) \equiv -\int_{z_0}^{z} \mathrm{d}z' \left[ \mathcal{T}e^{\int_{z'}^{z} \mathrm{d}z''W(z'')} \right]_{22} \frac{\epsilon_{\mathrm{eff}}(z')}{\epsilon_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}z'} \frac{Y_{N_1\mathrm{even}}(z')}{Y_{N_1,\mathrm{eq}}(z_0)}$$
(5.96)

captures the impact of finite washouts  $K \neq 0$  and general initial conditions  $Y_{N_1,\text{even}}(z_0) \neq Y_{N_1,\text{eq}}(z_0)$ . It is independent of  $\epsilon_0$  and normalized such that one obtains  $\kappa_f = 1 + \mathcal{O}(K)$  for initially equilibrated sterile neutrinos in the nonrelativistic approximation. Explicitly,

$$\kappa^{\rm nr}(z) \equiv -\int_{z_0}^{z} \mathrm{d}z' e^{-1/2 \int_{z'}^{z} \mathrm{d}z'' \eta_{N_1}(z'') \Gamma(z'')} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}z'} \frac{Y_{N_1}(z')}{Y_{N_1,\mathrm{eq}}(z_0)} \,. \tag{5.97}$$

### Analytic Approximations

In the two limiting cases  $K \ll 1$  and  $K \gg 1$ , it is possible to find analytic approximations for both  $\kappa_f^{\text{nr}}$  and  $\kappa_f$ .

First, I re-derive the standard semianalytical approximations used for the nonrelativistic efficiency factor  $\kappa_f^{\rm nr}$ . Accounting for the missing prefactor  ${}^{12}/{\pi^2}$  in the washout rate, this is expected to yield order one corrections compared to the estimates obtained in [168]. Although  $\kappa_f^{\rm nr}$ is only accurate for  $K \gg 1$ , I also re-derive the  $K \ll 1$  expression in order to compare the  $\kappa_f$  with a completely accurate estimate of the nonrelativistic predictions.

Following [168], I decompose  $\kappa_f^{\text{nr}}$  into separate contributions generated from sterile neutrino production and decays,

$$\kappa_f^{\rm nr} = \kappa_+^{\rm nr} + \kappa_-^{\rm nr} , \qquad \qquad \kappa_-^{\rm nr} = \kappa_f^{\rm nr}(z_{\rm eq}) , \qquad (5.98)$$

where  $z_{eq}$  is defined to be the value of z at which the sterile neutrinos become overabundant for vanishing initial conditions,  $Y_{N_1}(z_{eq}) = Y_{N_1eq}(z_{eq})$ . Using the nonrelativistic rate  $\Gamma^{NR}$ , this condition becomes

$$(z_{\rm eq})^2 K_2(z_{\rm eq}) \stackrel{!}{=} K \int_0^{z_{\rm eq}} dz' {z'}^3 K_1(z').$$
 (5.99)

In the strong washout regime, the size equilibration rate  $\Gamma \propto K$ ensures that equilibration occurs at very early times, so that one may set  $z_{\rm eq} \rightarrow 0$ . Using that  $Y_{N_1} \approx Y_{N_1,\rm eq}$ , the nonrelativistic efficiency factor (5.97) becomes

$$\kappa^{\rm nr}(z) \approx \frac{1}{2} \int_0^z dz' z'^2 K_1(z') e^{-3K/\pi^2 \int_{z'}^z dz'' z''^3 K_1(z'')}$$

$$\equiv \frac{1}{2} \int_0^z dz' e^{-\mathcal{I}(z')} .$$
(5.100)

As in [168], this integral can be evaluated using a saddle point approximation. This gives

$$\kappa^{\rm nr}(z) \approx \frac{\pi^2}{6K\bar{z}} \left( 1 - e^{-3K/\pi^2 \int_{z'}^z dz'' z''^3 K_1(z'')} \right) ,$$
(5.101)

where the saddle point  $\overline{z}$  has to satisfy the condition [168]

$$\frac{3}{\pi^2}\bar{z}^3 K_1(\bar{z}) + \frac{3}{\bar{z}} - \frac{K_2(\bar{z})}{K_1(\bar{z})} = 0 .$$
 (5.102)

At the end of the day, one obtains the final efficiency factor

$$\kappa_f^{\rm nr} \approx \kappa_+^{\rm nr} \approx \frac{\pi^2}{6K\bar{z}} \qquad (K \gg 1) \ . \tag{5.103}$$

In the weak washout regime, one has to distinguish between nonvanishing and vanishing initial conditions for  $Y_{N_1}$ . For nonvanishing initial conditions, the dominant contribution to  $\kappa_f^{nr}$  is

$$\kappa_f^{\rm nr} \approx \frac{Y_{N_1 \text{even}}(z_0)}{Y_{N_1,\text{eq}}(z_0)} + O(K) .$$
(5.104)

For vanishing initial conditions  $Y_{N_1 \text{even}}(z_0) = 0$ , the estimate is more involved. Following [168], I first consider the contribution  $\kappa_{-}^{\text{nr}}$ . Since sterile neutrino production is suppressed by factors of K, the small but finite sterile neutrino yield on the right-hand side of the fluid equation (5.91a) is negligible compared to the contribution generated by the equilibrium yield  $Y_{N_1\text{eq}}$ . Using expression (5.61b) for  $Y_{N_1\text{eq}}$ , one finds

$$\frac{Y_{N_1}(z)}{Y_{N_1 eq}(z_0)} \approx \frac{1}{2} \int_0^z dz' \Gamma(z') {z'}^2 K_2(z'), \quad z < z_{eq} .$$
(5.105)

Combining this expression with expression (5.66) for  $\eta_{N_1}$ , one obtains

$$\kappa_{-}^{0,\mathrm{nr}} \approx -\frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{z_{\mathrm{eq}}} \Gamma(z') z'^{2} K_{2}(z') e^{-3/\pi^{2} \int_{z'}^{z} dz'' \Gamma(z'') z''^{2} K_{2}(z'')}$$
(5.106a)

$$\approx -\frac{\pi^2}{6} (1 - e^{-6/\pi^2 Y_{N_1}(z_{\rm eq})/Y_{N_1 \rm eq}(z_0)}) .$$
 (5.106b)

Since the equilibration time is large,  $z_{\rm eq} \gg 1$ , that the washout rate can be ignored when estimating  $\kappa_+^{\rm nr}$ . Hence,

$$\kappa_{+}^{0,\mathrm{nr}}(z) \approx \frac{1}{Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{eq}}(z_{0})} (Y_{N_{1}}(z) - Y_{N_{1}}(z_{\mathrm{eq}})) \qquad (z > z_{\mathrm{eq}}) , \qquad (5.107)$$

Thus, the final efficiency factor becomes

$$\kappa_f^{0,\mathrm{nr}} \approx \frac{Y_{N_1}(z_{\mathrm{eq}})}{Y_{N_1\mathrm{eq}}(z_0)} - \frac{\pi^2}{6} \left(1 - e^{-6/\pi^2 Y_{N_1}(z_{\mathrm{eq}})/Y_{N_1\mathrm{eq}}(z_0)}\right)$$
$$\approx \frac{3}{\pi^2} \left(\frac{Y_{N_1}(z_{\mathrm{eq}})}{Y_{N_1\mathrm{eq}}(z_0)}\right)^2 \approx 1.65 \, K^2 \,, \tag{5.108}$$

where  $z_{\rm eq}$  has been determined numerically, giving  $Y_{N_1}(z_{\rm eq})/Y_{N_1\rm eq}(z_0) \approx 2.33K$  for  $K \ll 1$ .

Now, I derive a semianalytical approximation of the fully relativistic efficiency factor  $\kappa_f$  in the weak washout regime  $K \ll 1$ . I do not consider the strong washout regime, since finite temperature corrections are expected to be negligible for  $K \gg 1$ .

First, consider the formal limit  $K \to 0$ . For a finite initial abundance  $Y_{N_1 \text{even}}(z_0)$ , one obtains the same prediction for  $\kappa_f$  as in the nonrelativistic case,

$$\kappa_f \approx \frac{Y_{N_1 \text{even}}(z_0)}{Y_{N_1, \text{eq}}(z_0)} + O(K) .$$
(5.109)

To obtain a finite B - L asymmetry  $Y_{N_1 \text{even}} = 0$ , one has to consider washout parameters  $K \neq 0$ . Neglecting the washout matrix W, one obtains

$$\kappa(z) \approx -\frac{Y_{N_1 \text{even}}(z)}{Y_{N_1,\text{eq}}(z_0)} - \int_{z_0}^{z} dz' \left(\frac{\epsilon_{\text{eff}}(z')}{\epsilon_0} - 1\right) \frac{d}{dz'} \frac{Y_{N_1 \text{even}}(z')}{Y_{N_1,\text{eq}}(z_0)} .$$
(5.110)

The integrand in the second term is dominated by values of  $z' \leq 1$ , since  $\epsilon_{\text{eff}} \to \epsilon_0$  as finite temperature corrections become negligible for  $z' \gtrsim 1$ . For such small values of z,  $dY_{N_1 \text{even}}(z')/dz'$  can be approximated using a formal expansion in powers of  $\Gamma(z')$ . To do so, I use the fluid equation (??) and reinsert the formal solution (5.93a) for  $Y_{N_1 \text{even}}(z')$  on the right-hand side. Expanding around  $\Gamma(z') = 0$ , this gives

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}z'}Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{even}}(z') \approx \Gamma(z')Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{eq}}(z') + \mathcal{O}(\Gamma^{2}) . \qquad (5.111)$$

Inserting this expression into Eq. (5.110), one finds

$$\kappa(z) \approx -\frac{Y_{N_1 \text{even}}(z)}{Y_{N_1,\text{eq}}(z_0)} - \int_{z_0}^{z} dz' \left(\frac{\epsilon_{\text{eff}}(z')}{\epsilon_0} - 1\right) \Gamma(z') \frac{Y_{N_1 \text{eq}}(z')}{Y_{N_1,\text{eq}}(z_0)} .$$
(5.112)

Taking the limit  $z \to \infty$ , the first term vanished, and this is expression becomes strictly proportional to K. The constant of proportionality can be estimated using the numerical results I have obtained for  $\gamma_{\rm LNC}$ ,  $\gamma_{\rm LNV}$ , and  $Y_{N_{1}\rm eq}(z')$ . Choosing  $z_0 = 0.01$ , one has

$$\kappa_f^0 \equiv \kappa_f |_{Y_{N_1}(z_0)=0} \\ \approx -\int_{z_0}^\infty dz \ \Gamma(z) \frac{Y_{N_1,\text{eq}}(z)}{Y_{N_1,\text{eq}}(z_0)} \Big(\frac{\epsilon_{\text{eff}}(z)}{\epsilon_0} - 1\Big) \approx -0.32 \, K.$$
(5.113)

This choice for  $z_0$  coincides with the initial value of z that I use for the numerical integration of the fluid equations. That being said, the dependence of the integral on  $z_0$  is very mild. For instance, choosing  $z_0 = 0$ , the constant of proportionality increases by about 4%.

The result (5.113) is qualitatively different from its nonrelativistic estimate (5.108). In the nonrelativistic fluid equations, the sterile neutrino decay asymmetry  $\epsilon_0$  is temperature independent. For vanishing initial conditions, the B - L asymmetry created by the production of sterile neutrinos at early times exactly equal to the opposite-sign asymmetry created by the subsequent sterile neutrino decays. Neglecting the washout, one would have obtained a vanishing efficiency factor  $\kappa_f^{\rm nr} = 0$ , and with a small but finite washout, one obtains a small but positive  $\kappa_f^{\rm nr} > 0$ . This final efficiency factor scales as  $K^2$ , with one factor of Kresulting from  $dY_{N_{\rm even}}/dz \propto K$  and another factor of K associated with the all-important washout processes.

In contrast, the fully relativistic efficiency factor (5.113) is not the result of washout processes. Rather, the finite temperature corrections

for  $\epsilon_{\text{eff}} > \epsilon_0$  cause the asymmetry sourced by the initial production of sterile neutrinos to be much larger than the opposite-sign asymmetry generated by their decay. This yields a final efficiency factor of negative sign,  $\kappa_f < 0$ . Since  $\epsilon_{\text{eff}}/\epsilon_0$  is independent of K, the final efficiency factor now scales as  $\kappa_f \propto K$ , where the sole factor of K is associated with the sterile neutrino equilibration rate  $dY_{N_{\text{even}}}/dz \propto K$ .

### Parameter Scan

Finally, I evaluate  $\kappa_f$  for general  $K \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$  by integrating the fluid equations (5.71) numerically. In practice, I evaluate  $\kappa(z)$  for some  $z > z_f$ , where  $T_f = M_1/z_f$  is the is the so-called "freeze-out" temperature, below which the B - L asymmetry becomes approximately constant. In the strong washout regime, I use the nonrelativistic result [168]

$$z_f \approx 1 + \frac{1}{2} \log \left( 1 + \frac{\pi K^2}{1024} \log^5 \left( \frac{3125\pi K^2}{1024} \right) \right) \lesssim 10^2$$
. (5.114)

In the weak washout regime, freeze-out occurs for  $z_f \gg 1$  due to the long sterile neutrino lifetime  $\tau \sim 1/T \cdot K$ , the estimate (5.114) is no longer valid. Working with a chosen relative accuracy  $r \ll 1$ , I define the freeze-out time  $z_f$  to be the smallest z that fulfills the condition

$$|\delta(z_f)| < r$$
,  $\delta(z) \equiv \frac{\kappa_f - \kappa(z)}{\kappa_f}$ . (5.115)

My goal is to find an upper bound for the order of magnitude of  $z_f$  in the weak washout regime. Neglecting the washout exponential in expression (5.96), one obtains

$$\delta(z) \approx \frac{1}{\kappa_f} \left[ \frac{Y_{N_1 \text{even}}(z)}{Y_{N_1, \text{eq}}(z_0)} - \int_z^\infty dz' \left( \frac{\epsilon_{\text{eff}}(z')}{\epsilon_0} - 1 \right) \frac{d}{dz'} \frac{Y_{N_1 \text{even}}(z')}{Y_{N_1, \text{eq}}(z_0)} \right] .$$
(5.116)

Inserting solution (5.93a) for  $Y_{N_1 \text{even}}(z)$  and expanding the resulting expression to first order in K, this gives

$$\delta(z) \approx \frac{1}{\kappa_f} \left[ e^{-I(z,z_0)} \frac{Y_{N_1 \text{even}}(z_0)}{Y_{N_1,\text{eq}}(z_0)} + \int_{z_0}^{z} dz' e^{-I(z,z')} \Gamma(z') \frac{Y_{N_1 \text{eq}}(z')}{Y_{N_1,\text{eq}}(z_0)} \right]$$
(5.117)  
$$- \int_{z}^{\infty} dz' \left( \frac{\epsilon_{\text{eff}}(z')}{\epsilon_0} - 1 \right) \Gamma(z') \frac{Y_{N_1 \text{eq}}(z')}{Y_{N_1,\text{eq}}(z_0)}$$
$$+ \int_{z}^{\infty} dz' \left( \frac{\epsilon_{\text{eff}}(z')}{\epsilon_0} - 1 \right) \Gamma(z') e^{-I(z',z_0)} \frac{Y_{N_1 \text{even}}(z_0)}{Y_{N_1,\text{eq}}(z_0)} \right].$$

In this expression, the exponential suppression factors  $I(z, z_0)$  have to be included since they regulate the z' integrals for  $z \to \infty$ . Using that  $z_f \gg 1$  in the weak washout regime, I approximate the suppression factor as

$$I(z, z_0) = \int_{z_0}^{z} dz' \Gamma(z') = \frac{1}{2} K z^2 \left( 1 + \mathcal{O}(1/z) \right) .$$
 (5.118)

To proceed, I evaluate each term on the right-hand side of Eq. (5.117) individually. The first term is

$$\frac{1}{\kappa_f} e^{-I(z,z_0)} \frac{Y_{N_1 \text{even}}(z_0)}{Y_{N_1,\text{eq}}(z_0)} \approx \frac{1}{\kappa_f} e^{-\frac{1}{2}Kz^2} \frac{Y_{N_1 \text{even}}(z_0)}{Y_{N_1,\text{eq}}(z_0)} , \qquad (5.119)$$

so that for nonvanishing initial conditions for the sterile neutrinos, one obtains  $z_f \gtrsim 1/\sqrt{\kappa} \gg 1$ . To find an upper bound on  $z_f$ , it is sufficient to evaluate the remaining terms in this regime. Taking  $z_f \gtrsim 1/\sqrt{\kappa}$  in the second term, I split the corresponding integral into two regions with  $z' < \tilde{z}$  and  $\tilde{z} < z'$ , with  $\tilde{z}$  chosen such that  $1 \ll \tilde{z} \ll 1/\sqrt{\kappa}$ . In the first region, one obtains the bound

$$\int_{z_0}^{\tilde{z}} \mathrm{d}z' e^{-I(z,z')} \Gamma(z') \frac{Y_{N_1 \mathrm{eq}}(z')}{Y_{N_1,\mathrm{eq}}(z_0)} \lesssim e^{-\frac{1}{2}Kz^2} \int_{z_0}^{\tilde{z}} \mathrm{d}z' \Gamma(z') \frac{Y_{N_1 \mathrm{eq}}(z')}{Y_{N_1,\mathrm{eq}}(z_0)} \lesssim 2.65 \, K \, e^{-\frac{1}{2}Kz^2} \, . \tag{5.120}$$

Since  $\tilde{z}\gg 1,$  I use the nonrelativistic approximation to evaluate the integrand in the second region. With

$$\left(\frac{\epsilon_{\rm eff}(z)}{\epsilon_0} - 1\right) \Gamma(z) \approx \frac{3}{2z} K \ , \qquad \frac{Y_{N_1 \rm eq}(z)}{Y_{N_1 \rm eq}(0)} \approx \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} z^{3/2} e^{-z} \ , \qquad (5.121)$$

I obtain

$$\int_{z}^{z} dz' e^{-I(z,z')} \Gamma(z') \frac{Y_{N_{1}eq}(z')}{Y_{N_{1},eq}(z_{0})} \approx \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{8}} K \int_{z}^{z} dz' \sqrt{z'} e^{-\frac{1}{2}K(z^{2}-z'^{2})-z'} \\ \lesssim K \sqrt{\frac{\pi z}{8}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}Kz^{2}} .$$
(5.122)

I also use the approximations (5.118) and (5.121) to estimate the integrals in the third and fourth term. This gives

$$\int_{z}^{\infty} dz' \left(\frac{\epsilon_{\text{eff}}(z')}{\epsilon_{0}} - 1\right) \Gamma(z') \frac{Y_{N_{1}\text{eq}}(z')}{Y_{N_{1},\text{eq}}(z_{0})}$$

$$\approx \frac{3}{4} K \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \int_{z}^{\infty} dz' \sqrt{z'} e^{-z'} \approx \frac{3}{4} K \sqrt{\frac{\pi z}{2}} e^{-z}$$
(5.123a)

and

$$\begin{split} &\int_{z}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}z' \left(\frac{\epsilon_{\mathrm{eff}}(z')}{\epsilon_{0}} - 1\right) \Gamma(z') e^{-I(z',z_{0})} \frac{Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{even}}(z_{0})}{Y_{N_{1},\mathrm{eq}}(z_{0})} \\ &\approx \frac{3}{2} K \int_{z}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}z' \frac{1}{z'} e^{-\frac{1}{2}Kz'^{2}} \frac{Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{even}}(z_{0})}{Y_{N_{1},\mathrm{eq}}(z_{0})} \\ &\approx \frac{3e^{-\frac{1}{2}Kz^{2}}}{2z^{2}} \frac{Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{even}}(z_{0})}{Y_{N_{1},\mathrm{eq}}(z_{0})} \ . \end{split}$$
(5.123b)



Figure 5.6: Numerical scan of  $\kappa_f$  vs K for various initial conditions, comparing the nonrelativistic approximation (coloured dashed lines) with the fully relativistic result (solid lines). Both plots show the same data, but either with single logarithmic axes (left) or double logarithmic axes (right). The initial conditions at z = 0.01 are  $Y_{N_1}/Y_{N_1\text{eq}} = 1$  (red), 0.7 (green), 0.4 (orange) and 0 (blue). On the right, the dashed gray lines correspond to the weak washout estimate in Eqs. (5.113), (5.108) and the strong washout estimate of Eqs. (5.103), (5.102).

Substituting the estimates (5.119), (5.120), (5.122), (5.123b) and (5.123a) into expression (5.117) for  $\delta(z)$ , one finds

$$\begin{split} |\delta(z)| \lesssim \frac{1}{\kappa_f} \bigg[ \frac{Y_{N_1 \text{even}}(z_0)}{Y_{N_1,\text{eq}}(z_0)} e^{-\frac{1}{2}Kz^2} \Big( 1 + \frac{3}{2} \frac{1}{z^2} \Big) \\ &+ Ke^{-\frac{1}{2}Kz^2} \Big( \sqrt{\frac{\pi z}{8}} + 2.65 \Big) + \frac{3}{4}K \sqrt{\frac{\pi z}{2}} e^{-z} \bigg] \\ \approx \frac{1}{\kappa_f} \bigg[ \frac{Y_{N_1 \text{even}}(z_0)}{Y_{N_1,\text{eq}}(z_0)} e^{-\frac{1}{2}Kz^2} + \frac{1}{2}K \sqrt{\frac{\pi z}{2}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}Kz^2} \bigg] , \quad (5.124\text{b}) \end{split}$$

For nonvanishing initial conditions and  $r \approx 10^{-2}$ , only the first term is relevant, and one obtains  $z_f^2 \leq \frac{10}{K}$ . For vanishing initial conditions and  $r \approx 10^{-2}$ , one has  $z_f \leq \frac{1}{K}$ .

Figure 5.6 shows the final B - L asymmetry obtained for various initial conditions and values of K between  $10^{-4}$  and 10, with the fluid equations integrated up to  $z \approx 400$ . Evaluating  $\delta(z)$  at the lower bound  $K \approx 10^{-4}$ , one finds that numerical deviations associated with the finite value of z are expected to be less than  $|\delta(z = 400)| \leq 3 \cdot 10^{-4}$  for nonvanishing initial conditions and  $|\delta(z = 400)| \leq 1.3 \cdot 10^{-2}$  for vanishing initial conditions.



Figure 5.7: Time evolution of appropriately rescaled Yields  $|Y_{N_1 \text{even}}(z)|$  (blue),  $|Y_{B-L}(z)/\epsilon_0|$  (green), and  $|Y_{N_1 \text{odd}}(z)/\epsilon_0|$  (orange) for vanishing initial conditions and washout parameter K = 0.001 (left) and K = 10 (right). Solid lines show fully relativistic solutions, and dashed lines show solutions obtained using the nonrelativistic fluid equations. The dashed gray line denotes the equilibrium yield  $Y_{N_1 \text{eq}}$ .

First, consider the weak washout regime  $K \ll 1$ . As expected, relativistic corrections are irrelevant for nonvanishing initial conditions  $Y_{N_1\text{even}}(z_0) \neq 0$ , and the nonrelativistic estimate (5.109) accurately predicts the final B - L asymmetry. Relativistic corrections become important for vanishing initial conditions  $Y_{N_1\text{even}}(z_0) = 0$ , causing a sign flip for washouts below  $K \approx 0.2$ . Furthermore, the semianalytic estimate (5.113) accurately predicts the final B - L asymmetry for K < 0.01. In the intermediate regime 0.1 < K < 1, relativistic corrections mildly enhance the final B - L asymmetry by a factor of less than 10%. Finally, relativistic corrections are negligible in the strong washout regime 1 < K, with the final B - L asymmetry being entirely consistent with the nonrelativistic estimate (??).

Figure 5.7 illustrates the enhancement of the final B-L asymmetry in the weak washout regime, showing the time-evolution of the appropriately rescaled yields  $Y_{B-L}$ ,  $Y_{N_1\text{even}}$ , and  $Y_{N_1\text{odd}}$  for vanishing initial conditions. With such initial conditions, the thermally enhanced source term always  $\epsilon_{\text{eff}}\Gamma$  produces large initial asymmetries. For small values of K (left plot), this large initial asymmetry survives throughout leptogenesis, and it easily exceeds the opposite-sign asymmetry produced after the sterile neutrino become overabundant. In contrast, the initial asymmetry is washed out for larger values of K (right plot), so that the opposite-sign late time asymmetry dominates the final B - L yield.

### 5.5.2 Scenario with Partially Equilibrated Spectators

Next, consider the realistic scenario for sterile neutrinos with masses  $\tilde{M}_1 \sim 10^{13} \,\text{GeV}$ . In the critical temperature range  $T \leq M_1$ , SM b-Yukawa and weak sphaleron interactions are partially equilibrated [151]. SM gauge, t-Yukawa, and strong sphaleron interactions are fully equilibrated, while the remaining SM Yukawa interactions are negligible.

### Fluid Equations with Partially Equilibrated Spectators

To account for both fully and partially equilibrated spectator interactions, one has to keep track of the individual SM quark and lepton yields. In the electroweak sector, the lefthanded flavour combination  $\ell_{\parallel}$  coupling to the sterile neutrinos is augmented by two lefthanded perpendicular flavour combinations  $\ell_{\perp i}$  that do not couple to the sterile neutrinos directly. Since the SM lepton Yukawa interactions are negligible, both of these flavour combinations share the same yield  $Y_{\ell_{\perp}} \equiv Y_{\ell_{\perp}1} = Y_{\ell_{\perp}2}$ . In the strong sector, one has to keep track of the three lefthanded quark doubles  $Q_i$  as well as six righthanded quark singlets  $u_i$  and  $d_i$  with i = 1, 2, 3. Since first and second generation SM quark Yukawa interactions are negligible, the associated quark flavours share common yields  $Y_Q \equiv Y_{Q_i}$  and  $Y_d \equiv Y_{u_i} = Y_{d_i}$  with i = 1, 2. I denote the distinct yields for third quark generation as  $Y_{Q_3}$ ,  $Y_t = Y_{u_3}$ , and  $Y_b = Y_{d_3}$ . For the description of partially equilibrated b-Yukawa interactions, it is also useful to consider the difference  $Y_{\Delta \text{down}} \equiv Y_b - Y_d$ .

Partially equilibrated spectators promote some of the SM yields to independent dynamical variables. To capture the time-evolution of these yields, one has to augment the fluid equations (5.71) by adding one equation for each interaction that is partially equilibrated. In the case of partially equilibrated b-Yukawa and weak sphaleron interactions, I follow the approach used in [151], adding equations that determined the time-evolution of  $Y_{\ell_{\perp}}$  and  $Y_{\Delta_{\text{down}}}$ . This way, one obtains the complete
set of fluid equations [151]

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dz}}Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{even}} = -\Gamma\left(Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{even}} - Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{eq}}\right), \qquad (5.125\mathrm{a})$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dz}}Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{odd}} = -\Gamma Y_{N_{1}\mathrm{odd}} - \eta_{N_{1}}\tilde{\Gamma}\left(Y_{l_{\parallel}} + \frac{1}{2}Y_{\phi}\right) , \qquad (5.125\mathrm{b})$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dz}} Y_{B-L} = \tilde{\Gamma} Y_{N_1 \mathrm{odd}} - \epsilon_{\mathrm{eff}} \Gamma \left( Y_{N_1 \mathrm{even}} - Y_{N_1 \mathrm{eq}} \right) \qquad (5.125\mathrm{c}) + \eta_{N_1} \Gamma \left( Y_{l_{\parallel}} + \frac{1}{2} Y_{\phi} \right) ,$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dz}} Y_{\Delta_{\mathrm{down}}} = -\Gamma_b \left( Y_b - Y_{Q_3} + \frac{1}{2} Y_\phi \right) , \qquad (5.125\mathrm{d})$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dz}}Y_{l_{\perp}} = -\Gamma_{\mathrm{ws}} \left(9Y_{Q_3} + 18Y_Q + 3Y_{l_{\parallel}} + 6Y_{l_{\perp}}\right) \,. \tag{5.125e}$$

Here, the b-Yukawa and weak sphaleron equilibration rates are [220, 153, 151]

$$\Gamma_b \approx 1.0 \cdot 10^{-2} \frac{h_b^2 T}{\tilde{M}_1} ,$$
 (5.126)

$$\Gamma_{\rm ws} \approx (8.24 \pm 0.10) \left( \log \left( \frac{m_D}{g_2^2 T} \right) + 3.041 \right) \frac{g_2^2 T^3}{2m_D^2 \tilde{M}_1} \alpha_2^5 , \quad (5.127)$$

where  $h_b$  is the bottom-Yukawa coupling,  $\alpha_2 \equiv g_2^2/4\pi$  is the coupling strength of the electroweak  $\mathrm{SU}(2)_L$  gauge interaction, and  $m_D^2 \approx \frac{11}{6}g_2^2T^2$  is the Debye mass of the  $\mathrm{SU}(2)_L$  gauge bosons.

By themselves, the fluid equations (5.125) do not form a closed system. Rather, one has to relate the five SM yields  $Y_{l_{\parallel}}, Y_{Q_3}, Y_b, Y_Q$  and  $Y_{\phi}$  that appear on the right-hand side to the three SM yields  $Y_{B-L}, Y_{\ell_{\perp}}$  and  $Y_{\Delta_{\text{down}}}$  that appear on the left-hand side. Following [151], I establish this relation using five constraints obtained from weak hypercharge conservation, full equilibration of t-Yukawa and strong sphaleron interactions, and the flavour-blind nature of both weak and strong sphaleron interactions. At the end of the day, this gives [151]

$$\begin{pmatrix} Y_{l_{\parallel}} \\ Y_{Q_{3}} \\ Y_{b} \\ Y_{Q} \\ Y_{\phi} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{1}{2} & 1 & 0 \\ \frac{1}{23} & \frac{1}{2} & -\frac{10}{23} \\ \frac{1}{46} & \frac{1}{2} & \frac{18}{23} \\ -\frac{1}{46} & \frac{1}{2} & \frac{5}{23} \\ -\frac{7}{23} & 0 & \frac{24}{23} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} Y_{B-L} \\ Y_{l_{\perp}} \\ Y_{\Delta_{\text{down}}} \end{pmatrix} .$$
 (5.128)



Figure 5.8: Ratios of final B - L asymmetry obtained with and without including partially equilibrated bottom-Yukawa and weak sphalerons interactions. On the left: initially equilibrated sterile neutrinos; on the right: vanishing initial abundance of sterile neutrinos. The bright red line highlights the sign change of the final B - L asymmetry and the dotted black lines indicates the region in which  $|F_1|^2 > 4\pi$ .

Finally, scenarios with fully equilibrated b-Yukawa and weak sphaleron interactions can be recovered by replacing the two SM fluid equations (5.125d) and (5.125e) with analogous chemical equilibrium constraints. This gives [151]

$$Y_{\ell_{\parallel}} = -\frac{13}{30} Y_{B-L} , \qquad Y_{\phi} = -\frac{1}{5} Y_{B-L} . \qquad (5.129)$$

Using these relations, the BSM fluid equations (5.71) can be transformed into a closed system without having to keep track of any further SM yields.

#### Numerical Solutions

To estimate the impact of properly accounting for the partially equilibration of b-Yukawa and weak sphaleron interactions, I compare the final B - L yield obtained by solving the full set of fluid equations (5.125) with the same yield obtained using relation (5.129).

Fig. 5.8 shows the ratio of these two B-L asymmetries in dependence of the two free parameters  $\tilde{M}_1$  and K, and for both  $Y_{N_1\text{even}}(0) = Y_{N_1\text{eq}}(0)$ and  $Y_{N_1\text{even}}(0) = 0$  initial conditions. Focusing on strong washouts, the



Figure 5.9: Time evolution of the yields obtained by solving the fluid equations with partially (solid lines) or fully equilibrated (dashed lines) spectators, for  $\tilde{M}_1 = 3 \times 10^{13}$  GeV and K = 1000. The particular yields are  $|Y_{N_1 \text{even}}(z)|$  (blue),  $|Y_{B-L}(z)/\epsilon_0|$  (green),  $|Y_{N_1 \text{odd}}(z)/\epsilon_0|$  (orange),  $|Y_{\Delta_{\text{down}}}(z)/\epsilon_0|$  (red) and  $|Y_{\Delta_{l_{\perp}}}(z)/\epsilon_0|$  (purple). The dashed gray line shows the equilibrium yield for  $Y_{N_1}$ .

parameter scan is restricted to washout parameters K > 3. In this regime, the final B-L asymmetry without partially equilibrated spectators becomes initial condition independent, so that both plots in Fig. 5.8 are normalized to the same baseline asymmetry. Finally, sterile neutrino Yukawa interactions are nonperturbative in regions of parameter space above the dotted black line.

As is to be expected, there is no discernible difference between the treatments with either partially of fully equilibrated spectators for  $\tilde{M}_1 \ll 10^{12}$  GeV. In this regime, b-Yukawa and weak sphaleron interactions equilibrate well before the washout processes freeze-out, and any asymmetry produced at early times is inevitably washed out. In the regime with  $\tilde{M}_1 \gtrsim 10^{12}$  GeV, the inclusion partially equilibrated spectators lead to a strong initial condition dependence of the final B-Lasymmetry:

• For thermalized initial conditions  $Y_{N_1 \text{even}}(0) = Y_{N_1 \text{eq}}(0)$ , one ob-

tains order one corrections to  $Y_{B-L}(z \to \infty)$ , but the proper accounting of partial equilibration does not change the overall picture. This result is consistent with the findings obtained in the nonrelativistic description of [151].

• For a vanishing initial conditions  $Y_{N_1 \text{even}}(0) = 0$ , the proper accounting of partial equilibration leads to more more drastic alterations: First, the final B - L asymmetry changes sign for large K, starting at  $K \gtrsim 30$  for  $\tilde{M}_1$  near  $\sim 10^{13}$  GeV. In the plot on the righthand side of Fig. 5.8, this sign flip is indicated by a red contour line. Second, the final B - L asymmetry in the flipped regime is strongly enhanced, increasing by up to two orders of magnitude.

Figure 5.9 illustrates the mechanism for this enhancement, showing the time-evolution of appropriately rescaled yields for  $\tilde{M}_1 = 3 \times 10^{13}$  GeV and K = 10,1000. At early times, the finite temperature enhanced source rate  $\epsilon_{\text{eff}}\Gamma$  produces an initial asymmetry that is far in excess of the eventual asymmetry at recombination. Although the spectator interactions are relatively inefficient, they can transfer a small but sufficient fraction of this initial asymmetry into spectator fields that do not couple directly to the washout. Once the washout has become active, these inefficient spectator interactions function as a bottleneck, protecting the transferred asymmetries from being washed out. For smaller values of K, this mechanism becomes less and less important because the initial asymmetry transferred to the spectator fields decreases with  $\epsilon_{\text{eff}}\Gamma \sim K$ , while the width of the protective bottleneck remains the same.

## Chapter 6

# Summary and Outlook

To conclude this dissertation, I give a short summary of the results presented in each chapter, and provide an outlook towards potentially interesting future lines of research.

#### 6.1 The Portal Effective Theory Framework

In chapter 2, I have constructed generic electroweak and GeV scale PET Lagrangians that capture SM extensions in which the SM couples to hidden sectors via a single hidden mediator with spin S = 0, S = 1/2, or S = 1 and a mass at or below the electroweak scale. Using effective field theory methods to construct a minimal basis of portal operators for each mediator type, I assumed that the resulting portal interactions are parametrically suppressed by a generic small parameter  $\epsilon \ll 1$ . Since higher dimensional portal operators have to be suppressed by a generic new physics scale  $1/\Lambda \equiv \epsilon/v$ , only operators with dimension  $d \leq 5$  can contribute at leading order in  $\epsilon$ .

For the electroweak scale PET Lagrangians, I have constructed a minimal basis of portal operators that contribute at leading order in  $\epsilon$ . For spin S = 0 and S = 1 mediators, the PET Lagrangians conserve both baryon and lepton number, while the spin S = 1/2 PET conserves only baryon number. After electroweak symmetry breaking, all three PET Lagrangians exhibit mass mixing between SM and hidden degrees of freedom. In general, this mixing cannot be eliminated without making assumptions about the internal structure of the hidden sector.

For the GeV scale PET Lagrangians, I have constructed a minimal basis of portal operators with dimension  $d \leq 7$ . In this case, the hidden mediator is assumed to be active at the GeV scale, with a mass  $\ll 10$  GeV. As with the electroweak scale PETs, I have included only operators that are suppressed by at most a single power of  $\epsilon$ , with the higher dimensional d = 6, 7 operators being generated by virtual exchanges of the heavy SM bosons. Accordingly, they have to be counted as  $\epsilon G_F$  rather than  $\epsilon^3$ , and the spin S = 1 PET only contains operators with dimension  $d \leq 6$ . Focusing on quark flavour changing  $\Delta F \neq 0$  transitions induced by virtual  $W^{\pm}$  exchanges, I have also identified a minimal basis of d = 6, 7operators that contribute to  $\Delta F \neq 0$  transitions at leading order in the  $(4\pi)$  power counting rules of naive dimensional analysis. In particular, the resulting GeV scale PET captures charged Kaon decays such as  $K^+ \rightarrow \pi^+ S_{\text{hidden}}$ , which can be constrained using observations at fixed target experiments such as NA62.

In general, the PET framework makes no assumption about the internal structure of the hidden sector. For this reason, it can be used to constrain hidden sectors in a way that remains largely model independent. In principle, one could even use observations at low energy fixed target experiments such as NA62 in order to constrain hidden sector models at or above the electroweak scale. For this, one has to match the electroweak and GeV scale portal Lagrangians, which could be an interesting future project. It could also be interesting to derive specific PETs for various SM effective theories. In this work, I have already obtained a specific PET for  $\chi$ PT. In principle, it is straightforward to derive analogous PETs for heavy quark effective theory (HQET), which could be used to study portal induced *B* and *D* meson decays, or pNRQED (potential nonrelativistic QED), which could be used for hidden sector searches in QED precision tests.

#### 6.2 PET Chiral Perturbation Theory

In chapter 3, I have constructed a PET  $\chi$ PT Lagrangian that couples the light pseudoscalar mesons of  $\chi$ PT to generic hidden sector models captured by the PET framework developed in chapter 2. To be specific, I considered hidden sectors that couple to the SM via a single light hidden mediator with spin  $\leq 1$  and a mass below  $M_K \approx 493$  MeV.

Working at order  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$ , I used an external current approach to construct the resulting PET  $\chi$ PT Lagrangian. To do so, I rewrote both the  $d \leq 5$  and d = 6,7 portal operators as interactions between QCD gauge singlets and 10 generic, external currents  $l_{\mu}$ ,  $r_{\mu}$ ,  $\chi$ , a,  $\vartheta$ ,  $\xi$ ,  $t_{\mu\nu}$ , A, B, and C. The contributions to  $\chi PT$  generated by the external currents  $l_{\mu}$ ,  $r_{\mu}$ ,  $\chi$ ,  $\vartheta$ , and  $t_{\mu\nu}$  are well known. To capture the impact of  $\vartheta$ , it is appropriate to work in the U(3) version of  $\chi$ PT, which entails a simultaneous expansion in  $1/N_c$  and small momenta  $p^2$ . Using this power counting, I extended the external current picture to account for the leading order contributions generated by generic currents a, A, B, C, and  $\xi$ . The final PET  $\chi$ PT Lagrangian contains a number of new low energy constants (=LECs) associated with operators containing the external currents a, A, B, C, and  $\xi$ . I combined large  $N_c$  factorization rules with the well-known low-energy realizations of QCD gauge singlet quark bilinears to estimate the new LECs associated with A, B, and C. Finally, I exploited the conformal anomaly of QCD in order to estimate the new LECs associated with a.

The leading order PET  $\chi$ PT Lagrangian is suitable to study general portal induced transitions at fixed targed experiments such as NA62, DUNE, or SHiP. In particular, I have accounted for the WZW action, which is necessary to capture neutral Pion decays  $\pi^0 \rightarrow \gamma \gamma_{\text{dark}}$  involving dark photons, and  $W^{\pm}$  boson induced octet and 27-plet contributions, which are necessary to capture charged Kaon decays, such as  $K^+ \rightarrow \pi^+ S$ involving hidden (pseudo-)scalars and Axion-like particles. It is worth emphasizing that the PET  $\chi$ PT Lagrangian makes no assumption on the internal structure of the hidden sector. It can be used to compute general BSM transition amplitudes involving spin S = 0, S = 1/2 and S = 1 mediators in a way that remains equally applicable to a wide range of popular SM extensions.

To conclude, it should be noted that contributions of higher order  $p^2$  or  $1/N_c$  may be important for certain portal induced transitions. Naively, next-to-leading order contributions are expected to yield corrections of order  $M_K^2/\Lambda_{\chi}^2 \sim 1/N_c \sim 30\%$ , giving a comparable theoretical uncertainty for the leading order predictions. That being said, the available parameter

space for many popular SM extension spans many orders of magnitude, and even an order of magnitude prediction can be used to exclude large sections of this parameter space.

### 6.3 Lepton Number Violation at Colliders

In chapter 4, I studied lepton number violation (LNV) at colliders within the context of type-I seesaw models without fine-tuning. In these models, LNV can occur in sterile neutrino decays, and the question of fine-tuning arises from tension between the large sterile neutrino production cross sections required for *observable* LNV and the smallness of the SM neutrino masses generated via mixing with the sterile neutrinos.

Studying this tension, I have applied two separate notions of naturalness: First, naturalness in the 't Hoof sense, which requires that the SM neutrino masses should be stable under loop corrections, and second, the more restrictive notion that the theory should contain no large, accidental cancellations. For 't Hooft natural models, I have obtained a lower bound for the relative suppression of LNV sterile neutrino decays compared to LNC sterile neutrino decays, and for models without large, accidental cancellations I have obtained an additional upper bound for the suppression of LNV sterile neutrino decays. Using these bounds, it is possible to split the available parameter space for type-I seesaw models into three distinct regions:

- For sufficiently small mixing angles, LNV sterile neutrino decays are unsuppressed in models without large, accidental cancellations.
- For intermediate mixing angles, LNV sterile neutrino decays may or may not be suppressed in models without either 't Hooft fine-tuning or large, accidental cancellations.
- For sufficiently large mixing angles, LNV sterile neutrino decays are suppressed in models without 't Hooft fine-tuning.

In general, the boundaries between each of these regions depend on the sterile neutrino masses.

As a specific example, I have computed the position of the boundaries between these three regions for a minimal benchmark model with n = 2 sterile neutrinos. In this model LNV is unsuppressed for mixing angles  $U^2 < U_{\rm LNV}^2$ , and suppressed for mixing angles  $U^2 > U_{\rm stable}^2$ , where both  $U_{\rm LNV}^2$  and  $U_{\rm stable}^2$  depend only on  $\overline{M}$ .

Roughly, these bounds imply that LNV is unsuppressed if the heavy neutrino mass eigenstates are lighter than  $M_W \sim 80$  GeV. On the other hand, an observable LNV at the LHC can be inconsistent with 't Hooft natural SM neutrino masses for heavy neutrino mass eigenstates that are heavier than ~ 80 GeV.

### 6.4 Relativistic and Spectator Effects in High-Scale Leptogenesis

In chapter 5, I studied the impact of relativistic and spectator effects in leptogenesis with heavy sterile neutrinos. To focus on these effects, I considered a minimal model for high-scale leptogenesis, in which two sterile neutrinos  $N_i$  with strongly hierarchical masses  $M_1 \ll M_2$  couple to the same linear combination  $\ell_{\parallel}$  of SM lepton flavours. Using the CTP formalism of nonequilibrium quantum field theory, I have derived a set of momentum-averaged fluid equations for high-scale leptogenesis that remains valid throughout the whole transition from the ultrarelativisitc regime  $z \ll 1$  to the nonrelativistic regime  $z \gg 1$ . These fluid equations account for finite temperature corrections, helicity dependent sterile neutrino interactions, and quantum statistical factors associated with the Fermi-Dirac distributions.

Using hard thermal loop (HTL) resummation techniques, I computed the dimensionless LNC and LNV rates  $\gamma_{\text{LNC}}$  and  $\gamma_{\text{LNV}}$  that appear in these equations. The rates  $\gamma_{\text{LNC/LNV}}$  govern sterile neutrino equilibration, B - L washout, and the CP violating sourcing of B - L asymmetry in the early universe plasma. At leading-log accuracy, they receive contributions from  $1 \leftrightarrow 2$  processes involving SM lepton pseudo-particle modes,  $1 \leftrightarrow 2$  processes involving SM lepton collective excitations, and logarithmically enhanced  $2 \leftrightarrow 2$  scattering contributions. For  $\gamma_{\text{LNV}}$ ,  $1 \leftrightarrow 2$  pseudo-particle contributions are found to dominate in both the ultrarelativistic and nonrelativistic regimes, while  $2 \leftrightarrow 2$  contributions dominate in the intermediate regime, for  $0.1 \leq z \leq 0.8$ . As is expected from prior results,  $2 \leftrightarrow 2$  scattering contributions dominate  $\gamma_{\text{LNC}}$  for both ultrarelativistic and intermediate regimes, while  $1 \leftrightarrow 2$  pseudoparticle contributions dominate  $\gamma_{\text{LNC}}$  at lower temperatures. In both cases, collective excitations are subdominant.

One important result is that the effective finite temperature sterile neutrino decay asymmetry  $\epsilon_{\text{eff}}$  is strongly enhanced at early times. In weak washout scenarios with a vanishing initial abundance of sterile neutrinos, this strong enhancement of  $\epsilon_{\text{eff}}$  corrects the sign and scaling behaviour of the final efficiency factor  $\kappa_f$ . Explicitly, one obtains the efficiency factor  $\kappa_f \approx -0.32 K$ , compared to  $\kappa_f^{\text{NR}} \approx 1.65 K^2$  in the nonrelativistic approximation used in [168], with the  $\kappa_f$  sign flip occurring at  $K \approx 0.2$ . In strong washout scenarios with a vanishing initial abundance, interplay between the early time enhancement of  $\epsilon_{\text{eff}}$  and the partial equilibration of spectator interactions leads to another sign flip  $\kappa_f$ , starting at  $K \approx 30$  for  $M \sim 10^{13}$  GeV. In the flipped regime, for  $K \gg 30$ , one finds that the final efficiency factor is strongly enhanced by up to two orders of magnitude.

As the present work has shown, the final B - L asymmetry in highscale leptogenesis scenarios with a vanishing initial abundance of sterile neutrinos is quite sensitive to the effective sterile neutrino decay asymmetry  $\epsilon_{\text{eff}}$ . In principle,  $\epsilon_{\text{eff}}$  receives further corrections from nonlinear terms proportional  $\delta f_{N_1h}^2$ , and it remains to study the impact of such corrections.

Additionally, it may be interesting to study the impact of partially equilibrated spectators for lower sterile neutrino masses  $M_1 \ll 10^{12}$  GeV. In that regime, one has to account for lepton flavour oscillations, so that it is necessary to track the asymmetry stored in each lepton flavour separately. In principle, it is well known how to account for such lepton flavour effects, and combining this description with partially equilibrated spectator interactions should pose no major difficulties.

# Bibliography

- Björn Garbrecht, Philipp Klose and Carlos Tamarit. "Relativistic and spectator effects in leptogenesis with heavy sterile neutrinos". In: JHEP 02 (2020). [JHEP20,117(2020)], p. 117. DOI: 10.1007/ JHEP02(2020)117. arXiv: 1904.09956 [hep-ph].
- Marco Drewes, Juraj Klarić and Philipp Klose. "On Lepton Number Violation in Heavy Neutrino Decays at Colliders". In: JHEP 11 (2019). [JHEP19,032(2020)], p. 032. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP11(2019) 032. arXiv: 1907.13034 [hep-ph].
- W. Buchmuller and D. Wyler. "Effective Lagrangian Analysis of New Interactions and Flavor Conservation". In: Nucl. Phys. B268 (1986), pp. 621–653. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(86)90262-2.
- [4] B. Grzadkowski et al. "Dimension-Six Terms in the Standard Model Lagrangian". In: *JHEP* 10 (2010), p. 085. DOI: 10.1007/ JHEP10(2010)085. arXiv: 1008.4884 [hep-ph].
- [5] Ilaria Brivio and Michael Trott. "The Standard Model as an Effective Field Theory". In: *Phys. Rept.* 793 (2019), pp. 1–98.
   DOI: 10.1016/j.physrep.2018.11.002. arXiv: 1706.08945 [hep-ph].
- [6] John Ellis et al. "Updated Global SMEFT Fit to Higgs, Diboson and Electroweak Data". In: JHEP 06 (2018), p. 146. DOI: 10. 1007/JHEP06(2018)146. arXiv: 1803.03252 [hep-ph].
- [7] D. Barducci et al. "Interpreting top-quark LHC measurements in the standard-model effective field theory". In: (2018). Ed. by Juan Antonio Aguilar-Saavedra et al. arXiv: 1802.07237 [hep-ph].

- [8] Emma Slade. "Towards global fits in EFT's and New Physics implications". In: *PoS* LHCP2019 (2019), p. 150. DOI: 10.22323/ 1.350.0150. arXiv: 1906.10631 [hep-ph].
- [9] Stefan Scherer and Matthias R. Schindler. "A Chiral perturbation theory primer". In: (2005). arXiv: hep-ph/0505265 [hep-ph].
- [10] A. Pich. "Introduction to chiral perturbation theory". In: AIP Conf. Proc. 317 (1994), pp. 95–140. DOI: 10.1063/1.46859. arXiv: hep-ph/9308351 [hep-ph].
- [11] Roland Kaiser and H. Leutwyler. "Large N(c) in chiral perturbation theory". In: *Eur. Phys. J.* C17 (2000), pp. 623–649. DOI: 10.1007/s100520000499. arXiv: hep-ph/0007101 [hep-ph].
- [12] Matthias Neubert. "Heavy quark effective theory". In: Subnucl. Ser. 34 (1997), pp. 98–165. arXiv: hep-ph/9610266 [hep-ph].
- [13] F. Hussain and G. Thompson. "An Introduction to the heavy quark effective theory". In: Proceedings, Summer School in Highenergy physics and cosmology: Trieste, Italy, June 13-July 29, 1994. 1994, pp. 0045–115. arXiv: hep-ph/9502241 [hep-ph].
- [14] A. G. Grozin. "Introduction to the heavy quark effective theory. part 1". In: (1992). arXiv: hep-ph/9908366 [hep-ph].
- [15] J. Soto. "Potential Nonrelativistic QCD". In: Quark confinement and the hadron spectrum III. Proceedings, 3rd International Conference, Newport News, USA, June 7-12, 1998. 1998, pp. 249– 251.
- [16] Nora Brambilla et al. "Potential NRQCD: An Effective theory for heavy quarkonium". In: *Nucl. Phys.* B566 (2000), p. 275. DOI: 10.1016/S0550-3213(99)00693-8. arXiv: hep-ph/9907240 [hep-ph].
- [17] Joan Soto. "Overview of Non-Relativistic QCD". In: Eur. Phys. J. A31 (2007), pp. 705–710. DOI: 10.1140/epja/i2006-10255-9. arXiv: nucl-th/0611055 [nucl-th].
- [18] Thomas Becher, Alessandro Broggio and Andrea Ferroglia. "Introduction to Soft-Collinear Effective Theory". In: Lect. Notes Phys. 896 (2015), pp.1–206. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-14848-9. arXiv: 1410.1892 [hep-ph].

- [19] Andrey Grozin. "Lectures on Soft-Collinear Effective Theory". In: Proceedings, Quantum Field Theory at the Limits: from Strong Fields to Heavy Quarks (HQ 2016): Dubna, Russia, July 18- 30, 2016. 2017, pp. 121-149. DOI: 10.3204/DESY-PROC-2016-04/Grozin. arXiv: 1611.08828 [hep-ph].
- [20] Thomas Becher. "Les Houches Lectures on Soft-Collinear Effective Theory". In: Les Houches summer school: EFT in Particle Physics and Cosmology Les Houches, Chamonix Valley, France, July 3-28, 2017. 2018. arXiv: 1803.04310 [hep-ph].
- [21] Aneesh Manohar and Howard Georgi. "Chiral Quarks and the Non-relativistic Quark Model". In: Nucl. Phys. B234 (1984), pp. 189–212. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(84)90231-1.
- [22] Elizabeth E. Jenkins, Aneesh V. Manohar and Michael Trott.
  "Naive Dimensional Analysis Counting of Gauge Theory Amplitudes and Anomalous Dimensions". In: *Phys. Lett.* B726 (2013), pp. 697–702. DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb.2013.09.020. arXiv: 1309.0819 [hep-ph].
- [23] B. M. Gavela et al. "Analysis of General Power Counting Rules in Effective Field Theory". In: *Eur. Phys. J.* C76.9 (2016), p. 485.
   DOI: 10.1140/epjc/s10052-016-4332-1. arXiv: 1601.07551 [hep-ph].
- [24] Aneesh V. Manohar. "Introduction to Effective Field Theories". In: Les Houches summer school: EFT in Particle Physics and Cosmology Les Houches, Chamonix Valley, France, July 3-28, 2017. 2018. arXiv: 1804.05863 [hep-ph].
- [25] C. C. Nishi. "Simple derivation of general Fierz-like identities". In: *Am. J. Phys.* 73 (2005), pp. 1160–1163. DOI: 10.1119/1.2074087. arXiv: hep-ph/0412245 [hep-ph].
- [26] Herbi K. Dreiner, Howard E. Haber and Stephen P. Martin. "Two-component spinor techniques and Feynman rules for quantum field theory and supersymmetry". In: *Phys. Rept.* 494 (2010), pp. 1–196. DOI: 10.1016/j.physrep.2010.05.002. arXiv: 0812.1594 [hep-ph].

- [27] Howard Georgi. "On-shell effective field theory". In: Nucl. Phys. B361 (1991), pp. 339–350. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(91)90244–R.
- [28] Christopher Arzt. "Reduced effective Lagrangians". In: *Phys. Lett.* B342 (1995), pp. 189–195. DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(94)01419-D. arXiv: hep-ph/9304230 [hep-ph].
- [29] C. Mariani. "Review of Reactor Neutrino Oscillation Experiments". In: *Mod. Phys. Lett. A* 27 (2012), p. 1230010. DOI: 10. 1142/S0217732312300108. arXiv: 1201.6665 [hep-ex].
- [30] J. Gasser and H. Leutwyler. "Chiral Perturbation Theory: Expansions in the Mass of the Strange Quark". In: Nucl. Phys. B250 (1985), pp. 465–516. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(85)90492-4.
- [31] A. Pich. "Chiral perturbation theory". In: *Rept. Prog. Phys.* 58 (1995), pp. 563–610. DOI: 10.1088/0034-4885/58/6/001. arXiv: hep-ph/9502366 [hep-ph].
- [32] Gerhard Ecker. "Chiral perturbation theory". In: Topics on the structure and interaction of hadronic systems. Proceedings, International Workshop on Hadron Physics, Mangaratiba, Brazil, April 15-20, 1996. 1996, pp. 125–167. arXiv: hep-ph/9608226 [hep-ph].
- [33] Steven Weinberg. The quantum theory of fields. Vol. 2: Modern applications. Cambridge University Press, 2013. ISBN: 9781139632478, 9780521670548, 9780521550024.
- [34] Stefan Scherer. "Introduction to chiral perturbation theory". In: Adv. Nucl. Phys. 27 (2003), p. 277. arXiv: hep-ph/0210398 [hep-ph].
- [35] Johan Bijnens. "Chiral perturbation theory beyond one loop". In: *Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys.* 58 (2007), pp. 521–586. DOI: 10.1016/j. ppnp.2006.08.002. arXiv: hep-ph/0604043 [hep-ph].
- [36] P. Herrera-Siklody et al. "Chiral effective Lagrangian in the large N(c) limit: The Nonet case". In: *Nucl. Phys.* B497 (1997), pp. 345–386. DOI: 10.1016/S0550-3213(97)00260-5. arXiv: hep-ph/9610549 [hep-ph].

- [37] Vicent Mateu. "Chiral Lagrangians with tensor sources". In: AIP Conf. Proc. 964.1 (2007), pp. 34–39. DOI: 10.1063/1.2823876. arXiv: 0709.3157 [hep-ph].
- [38] A.J. Buras and J.M. Gerard. "ϵ'/ϵ in the Standard Model". In: *Phys. Lett. B* 203 (1988), pp. 272–278. DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(88)90551-5.
- [39] Gerhard Buchalla, Andrzej J. Buras and Michaela K. Harlander.
  "The Anatomy of Epsilon-prime / Epsilon in the Standard Model". In: Nucl. Phys. B 337 (1990), pp. 313–362. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(90)90275-I.
- [40] Jason Aebischer, Christoph Bobeth and Andrzej J. Buras. " $\varepsilon'/\varepsilon$  in the Standard Model at the Dawn of the 2020s". In: (May 2020). arXiv: 2005.05978 [hep-ph].
- [41] Johan Bijnens and Mark B. Wise. "Electromagnetic Contribution to Epsilon-prime/Epsilon". In: *Phys. Lett.* 137B (1984), pp. 245– 250. DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(84)90238-7.
- [42] A.J. Buras and J.M. Gerard. "Isospin Breaking Contributions to Epsilon-prime / Epsilon". In: *Phys. Lett. B* 192 (1987), pp. 156– 162. DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(87)91159-2.
- [43] G. Ecker et al. "The Role of Resonances in Chiral Perturbation Theory". In: Nucl. Phys. B321 (1989), pp. 311–342. DOI: 10.1016/ 0550-3213(89)90346-5.
- [44] Res Urech. "Virtual photons in chiral perturbation theory". In: Nucl. Phys. B433 (1995), pp. 234-254. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(95)90707-N. arXiv: hep-ph/9405341 [hep-ph].
- [45] M. Knecht et al. "Chiral perturbation theory with virtual photons and leptons". In: *Eur. Phys. J.* C12 (2000), pp. 469–478. DOI: 10.1007/s100529900265. arXiv: hep-ph/9909284 [hep-ph].
- [46] G. Ecker et al. "Electromagnetism in nonleptonic weak interactions". In: Nucl. Phys. B591 (2000), pp. 419–434. DOI: 10.1016/ S0550-3213(00)00568-X. arXiv: hep-ph/0006172 [hep-ph].
- [47] Jeremiah A. Cronin. "Phenomenological model of strong and weak interactions in chiral U(3) x U(3)". In: *Phys. Rev.* 161 (1967), pp. 1483–1494. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRev.161.1483.

- [48] J. Kambor, John H. Missimer and D. Wyler. "The Chiral Loop Expansion of the Nonleptonic Weak Interactions of Mesons". In: *Nucl. Phys.* B346 (1990), pp. 17–64. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(90)90236-7.
- [49] G. Ecker, J. Kambor and D. Wyler. "Resonances in the weak chiral Lagrangian". In: *Nucl. Phys.* B394 (1993), pp. 101–138. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(93)90103-V.
- [50] J. F. Donoghue, E. Golowich and Barry R. Holstein. "Dynamics of the standard model". In: *Camb. Monogr. Part. Phys. Nucl. Phys. Cosmol.* 2 (1992). [Camb. Monogr. Part. Phys. Nucl. Phys. Cosmol.35(2014)], pp. 1–540. DOI: 10.1017/CB09780511524370.
- [51] Andrzej J. Buras and Jean-Marc Gérard. " $K \to \pi\pi$  and  $K \pi$ Matrix Elements of the Chromomagnetic Operators from Dual QCD". In: *JHEP* 07 (2018), p. 126. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP07(2018) 126. arXiv: 1803.08052 [hep-ph].
- [52] H. Leutwyler and Mikhail A. Shifman. "Light Higgs Particle in Decays of K and  $\eta$  Mesons". In: *Nucl. Phys.* B343 (1990), pp. 369–397. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(90)90475-S.
- [53] E. Pallante, A. Pich and I. Scimemi. "The Standard model prediction for epsilon-prime / epsilon". In: *Nucl. Phys.* B617 (2001), pp. 441-474. DOI: 10.1016/S0550-3213(01)00418-7. arXiv: hep-ph/0105011 [hep-ph].
- [54] Jean-Marc Gerard, Christopher Smith and Stephanie Trine. "Radiative kaon decays and the penguin contribution to the Delta I = 1/2 rule". In: Nucl. Phys. B730 (2005), pp. 1–36. DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2005.09.040. arXiv: hep-ph/0508189 [hep-ph].
- [55] M. Tanabashi et al. "Review of Particle Physics". In: *Phys. Rev.* D98.3 (2018), p. 030001. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.98.030001.
- [56] N. K. Nielsen. "The Energy Momentum Tensor in a Nonabelian Quark Gluon Theory". In: *Nucl. Phys.* B120 (1977), pp. 212–220. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(77)90040-2.
- [57] Peter Minkowski. "On the Anomalous Divergence of the Dilatation Current in Gauge Theories". In: (1976).

- [58] John C. Collins, Anthony Duncan and Satish D. Joglekar. "Trace and Dilatation Anomalies in Gauge Theories". In: *Phys. Rev.* D16 (1977), pp. 438–449. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.16.438.
- [59] T. van Ritbergen, J. A. M. Vermaseren and S. A. Larin. "The Four loop beta function in quantum chromodynamics". In: *Phys. Lett.* B400 (1997), pp. 379–384. DOI: 10.1016/S0370-2693(97)00370-5. arXiv: hep-ph/9701390 [hep-ph].
- [60] Kazuhiro Tanaka. "Three-loop formula for quark and gluon contributions to the QCD trace anomaly". In: *JHEP* 01 (2019), p. 120.
   DOI: 10.1007/JHEP01(2019)120. arXiv: 1811.07879 [hep-ph].
- [61] Sidney Coleman. Aspects of Symmetry. Cambridge, U.K.: Cambridge University Press, 1985. ISBN: 9780521318273, 0521318270.
   DOI: 10.1017/CB09780511565045.
- [62] Aneesh V. Manohar. "Large N QCD". In: Probing the standard model of particle interactions. Proceedings, Summer School in Theoretical Physics, NATO Advanced Study Institute, 68th session, Les Houches, France, July 28-September 5, 1997. Pt. 1, 2. 1998, pp. 1091–1169. arXiv: hep-ph/9802419 [hep-ph].
- [63] G. 't Hooft. "Large N". In: Phenomenology of large N(c) QCD. Proceedings, Tempe, USA, January 9-11, 2002. 2002, pp. 3-18.
   DOI: 10.1142/9789812776914\_0001. arXiv: hep-th/0204069 [hep-th].
- [64] S. Okubo. "Phi meson and unitary symmetry model". In: *Phys. Lett.* 5 (1963), pp. 165–168. DOI: 10.1016/S0375-9601(63) 92548-9.
- [65] G. Zweig. "An SU(3) model for strong interaction symmetry and its breaking. Version 2". In: DEVELOPMENTS IN THE QUARK THEORY OF HADRONS. VOL. 1. 1964 - 1978. Ed. by D.B. Lichtenberg and Simon Peter Rosen. 1964, pp. 22–101.
- [66] Jugoro Iizuka. "Systematics and phenomenology of meson family". In: Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 37 (1966), pp. 21–34. DOI: 10.1143/ PTPS.37.21.

- [67] Andrzej J. Buras and J.M. Gerard. "1/n Expansion for Kaons".
   In: Nucl. Phys. B 264 (1986), pp. 371–392. DOI: 10.1016/0550– 3213(86)90489-X.
- [68] Gilberto Colangelo et al. "Review of lattice results concerning low energy particle physics". In: *Eur. Phys. J. C* 71 (2011), p. 1695. DOI: 10.1140/epjc/s10052-011-1695-1. arXiv: 1011.4408 [hep-lat].
- [69] Jean-Marc Gerard. "An upper bound on the Kaon B-parameter and Re(epsilon\_K)". In: JHEP 02 (2011), p. 075. DOI: 10.1007/ JHEP02(2011)075. arXiv: 1012.2026 [hep-ph].
- [70] S. Aoki et al. "FLAG Review 2019: Flavour Lattice Averaging Group (FLAG)". In: *Eur. Phys. J. C* 80.2 (2020), p. 113. DOI: 10.1140/epjc/s10052-019-7354-7. arXiv: 1902.08191 [hep-lat].
- [71] Gerard 't Hooft. "A Planar Diagram Theory for Strong Interactions". In: *Nucl. Phys.* B72 (1974), p. 461. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(74)90154-0.
- [72] Kazuo Fujikawa. "Path Integral Measure for Gauge Invariant Fermion Theories". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 42 (1979), pp. 1195–1198.
   DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.42.1195.
- [73] Kazuo Fujikawa. "Path Integral for Gauge Theories with Fermions". In: *Phys. Rev.* D21 (1980). [Erratum: Phys. Rev.D22,1499(1980)], p. 2848. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.21.2848,10.1103/PhysRevD. 22.1499.
- [74] K. Fujikawa and H. Suzuki. Path integrals and quantum anomalies. 2004. DOI: 10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198529132.001.0001.
- [75] J. S. Bell and R. Jackiw. "A PCAC puzzle:  $\pi^0 \rightarrow \gamma \gamma$  in the  $\sigma$  model". In: *Nuovo Cim.* A60 (1969), pp. 47–61. DOI: 10.1007/BF02823296.
- Stephen L. Adler and William A. Bardeen. "Absence of higher order corrections in the anomalous axial vector divergence equation". In: *Phys. Rev.* 182 (1969), pp. 1517–1536. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRev.182.1517.

- Stephen L. Adler. "Axial vector vertex in spinor electrodynamics". In: *Phys. Rev.* 177 (1969), pp. 2426–2438. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRev. 177.2426.
- [78] Gerard 't Hooft. "Computation of the Quantum Effects Due to a Four-Dimensional Pseudoparticle". In: *Phys. Rev.* D14 (1976).
  [Erratum: Phys. Rev.D18,2199(1978)], pp. 3432–3450. DOI: 10. 1103/PhysRevD.18.2199.3, 10.1103/PhysRevD.14.3432.
- [79] Gerard 't Hooft. "How Instantons Solve the U(1) Problem".
   In: *Phys. Rept.* 142 (1986), pp. 357–387. DOI: 10.1016/0370–1573(86)90117–1.
- [80] Guido Altarelli and L. Maiani. "Octet Enhancement of Nonleptonic Weak Interactions in Asymptotically Free Gauge Theories". In: *Phys. Lett.* 52B (1974), pp. 351–354. DOI: 10.1016/0370– 2693(74)90060-4.
- [81] A. I. Vainshtein, Valentin I. Zakharov and Mikhail A. Shifman.
  "A Possible mechanism for the Delta T = 1/2 rule in nonleptonic decays of strange particles". In: *JETP Lett.* 22 (1975). [Pisma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz.22,123(1975)], pp. 55–56.
- [82] M. K. Gaillard and Benjamin W. Lee. "Δ I = 1/2 Rule for Nonleptonic Decays in Asymptotically Free Field Theories". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 33 (1974), p. 108. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett. 33.108.
- [83] Mikhail A. Shifman, A. I. Vainshtein and Valentin I. Zakharov.
  "Light Quarks and the Origin of the Delta I = 1/2 Rule in the Nonleptonic Decays of Strange Particles". In: *Nucl. Phys.* B120 (1977), pp. 316–324. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(77)90046-3.
- [84] William A. Bardeen, A.J. Buras and J.M. Gerard. "A Consistent Analysis of the Delta I = 1/2 Rule for K Decays". In: *Phys. Lett. B* 192 (1987), pp. 138–144. DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(87)91156-7.
- [85] Frederick J. Gilman and Mark B. Wise. "Effective Hamiltonian for Delta s = 1 Weak Nonleptonic Decays in the Six Quark Model". In: *Phys. Rev.* D20 (1979), p. 2392. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.20. 2392.

- [86] Andrzej J. Buras. "Theoretical review of K physics". In: Workshop on K Physics Orsay, France, May 30-June 4, 1996. 1996. arXiv: hep-ph/9609324 [hep-ph].
- [87] Vincenzo Cirigliano et al. "Kaon Decays in the Standard Model".
   In: *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 84 (2012), p. 399. DOI: 10.1103/RevModPhys.
   84.399. arXiv: 1107.6001 [hep-ph].
- [88] Andrzej J. Buras. "Weak Hamiltonian, CP violation and rare decays". In: Les Houches Summer School in Theoretical Physics, Session 68: Probing the Standard Model of Particle Interactions. June 1998, pp. 281–539. arXiv: hep-ph/9806471.
- [89] Frederick J. Gilman and Mark B. Wise. "K —> pi e+ e- in the Six Quark Model". In: *Phys. Rev.* D21 (1980), p. 3150. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.21.3150.
- [90] Andrzej J. Buras and Jean-Marc Gérard. "Isospin-breaking in  $\varepsilon'/\varepsilon$ : Impact of  $\eta_0$  at the Dawn of the 2020s". In: (May 2020). arXiv: 2005.08976 [hep-ph].
- [91] Steven Weinberg. "Phenomenological Lagrangians". In: *Physica* A96.1-2 (1979), pp. 327–340. DOI: 10.1016/0378-4371(79) 90223-1.
- [92] Edward Witten. "Global Aspects of Current Algebra". In: Nucl. Phys. B223 (1983), pp. 422–432. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(83) 90063-9.
- [93] J. F. Donoghue, E. Golowich and Barry R. Holstein. "Dynamics of the standard model". In: *Camb. Monogr. Part. Phys. Nucl. Phys. Cosmol.* 2 (1992). [Camb. Monogr. Part. Phys. Nucl. Phys. Cosmol.35(2014)], pp. 1–540. DOI: 10.1017/CB09780511524370.
- [94] J. Kambor, John H. Missimer and D. Wyler. "The Chiral Loop Expansion of the Nonleptonic Weak Interactions of Mesons". In: *Nucl. Phys.* B346 (1990), pp. 17–64. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(90)90236-7.
- [95] L. J. Reinders, H. Rubinstein and S. Yazaki. "Hadron Properties from QCD Sum Rules". In: *Phys. Rept.* 127 (1985), p. 1. DOI: 10.1016/0370-1573(85)90065-1.

- [96] Philipp Gubler and Daisuke Satow. "Recent Progress in QCD Condensate Evaluations and Sum Rules". In: *Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys.* 106 (2019), pp. 1–67. DOI: 10.1016/j.ppnp.2019.02.005. arXiv: 1812.00385 [hep-ph].
- [97] Peter Minkowski. " $\mu \to e\gamma$  at a Rate of One Out of 10<sup>9</sup> Muon Decays?" In: *Phys. Lett.* 67B (1977), pp. 421–428. DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(77)90435-X.
- [98] Murray Gell-Mann, Pierre Ramond and Richard Slansky. "Complex Spinors and Unified Theories". In: Conf. Proc. C790927 (1979), pp. 315–321. arXiv: 1306.4669 [hep-th].
- [99] Rabindra N. Mohapatra and Goran Senjanovic. "Neutrino Mass and Spontaneous Parity Nonconservation". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 44 (1980), p. 912. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.44.912.
- [100] Tsutomu Yanagida. "Horizontal Symmetry and Masses of Neutrinos". In: Prog. Theor. Phys. 64 (1980), p. 1103. DOI: 10.1143/ PTP.64.1103.
- [101] J. Schechter and J. W. F. Valle. "Neutrino Masses in SU(2) x U(1) Theories". In: *Phys. Rev.* D22 (1980), p. 2227. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevD.22.2227.
- J. Schechter and J. W. F. Valle. "Neutrino Decay and Spontaneous Violation of Lepton Number". In: *Phys. Rev.* D25 (1982), p. 774.
   DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.25.774.
- Scott Dodelson and Lawrence M. Widrow. "Sterile-neutrinos as dark matter". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 72 (1994), pp. 17–20. DOI: 10. 1103/PhysRevLett.72.17. arXiv: hep-ph/9303287 [hep-ph].
- [104] Xiang-Dong Shi and George M. Fuller. "A New dark matter candidate: Nonthermal sterile neutrinos". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 82 (1999), pp. 2832–2835. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.82.2832. arXiv: astro-ph/9810076 [astro-ph].
- [105] E. J. Chun et al. "Probing Leptogenesis". In: Int. J. Mod. Phys. A33.05n06 (2018), p. 1842005. DOI: 10.1142/S0217751X18420058. arXiv: 1711.02865 [hep-ph].

- [106] M. Fukugita and T. Yanagida. "Baryogenesis Without Grand Unification". In: *Phys. Lett.* B174 (1986), pp. 45–47. DOI: 10. 1016/0370-2693(86)91126-3.
- [107] Evgeny K. Akhmedov, V. A. Rubakov and A. Yu. Smirnov. "Baryogenesis via neutrino oscillations". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 81 (1998), pp. 1359–1362. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.81.1359. arXiv: hep-ph/9803255 [hep-ph].
- Takehiko Asaka and Mikhail Shaposhnikov. "The νMSM, dark matter and baryon asymmetry of the universe". In: *Phys. Lett.* B620 (2005), pp. 17–26. DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb.2005.06.020. arXiv: hep-ph/0505013 [hep-ph].
- [109] Morad Aaboud et al. "Search for heavy Majorana or Dirac neutrinos and right-handed W gauge bosons in final states with two charged leptons and two jets at  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV with the ATLAS detector". In: *JHEP* 01 (2019), p. 016. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP01(2019) 016. arXiv: 1809.11105 [hep-ex].
- [110] Albert M Sirunyan et al. "Search for heavy Majorana neutrinos in same-sign dilepton channels in proton-proton collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV". In: *JHEP* 01 (2019), p. 122. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP01(2019) 122. arXiv: 1806.10905 [hep-ex].
- [111] Roel Aaij et al. "Search for Majorana neutrinos in  $B^- \to \pi^+ \mu^- \mu^-$  decays". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 112.13 (2014), p. 131802. DOI: 10. 1103/PhysRevLett.112.131802. arXiv: 1401.5361 [hep-ex].
- [112] G. Cvetic et al. "Probing Majorana neutrinos in rare K and D, D\_s, B, B\_c meson decays". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 82 (2010), p. 053010. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.82.053010. arXiv: 1005. 4282 [hep-ph].
- [113] Gorazd Cvetic et al. "Probing the Majorana neutrinos and their CP violation in decays of charged scalar mesons  $\pi$ , K, D,  $D_s$ , B,  $B_c$ ". In: Symmetry 7 (2015), pp. 726–773. DOI: 10.3390/sym7020726. arXiv: 1503.01358 [hep-ph].
- [114] Gorazd Cvetic et al. "Oscillation of heavy sterile neutrino in decay of  $B \rightarrow \mu e \pi$ ". In: *Phys. Rev.* D92 (2015), p. 013015. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.92.013015. arXiv: 1505.04749 [hep-ph].

- [115] Claudio O. Dib et al. "Distinguishing Dirac/Majorana Sterile Neutrinos at the LHC". In: *Phys. Rev.* D94.1 (2016), p. 013005. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.94.013005. arXiv: 1605.01123 [hep-ph].
- [116] G. Anamiati, M. Hirsch and E. Nardi. "Quasi-Dirac neutrinos at the LHC". In: *JHEP* 10 (2016), p. 010. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP10(2016) 010. arXiv: 1607.05641 [hep-ph].
- [117] Arindam Das, P. S. Bhupal Dev and Rabindra N. Mohapatra.
  "Same Sign versus Opposite Sign Dileptons as a Probe of Low Scale Seesaw Mechanisms". In: *Phys. Rev.* D97.1 (2018), p. 015018. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.97.015018. arXiv: 1709.06553 [hep-ph].
- [118] Claudio O. Dib, C. S. Kim and Kechen Wang. "Signatures of Dirac and Majorana sterile neutrinos in trilepton events at the LHC". In: *Phys. Rev.* D95.11 (2017), p. 115020. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevD.95.115020. arXiv: 1703.01934 [hep-ph].
- [119] Stefan Antusch, Eros Cazzato and Oliver Fischer. "Resolvable heavy neutrino-antineutrino oscillations at colliders". In: *Mod. Phys. Lett.* A34.07n08 (2019), p. 1950061. DOI: 10.1142/S0217732319500615. arXiv: 1709.03797 [hep-ph].
- [120] Stefan Antusch et al. "Probing Leptogenesis at Future Colliders".
   In: *JHEP* 09 (2018), p. 124. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP09(2018)124. arXiv: 1710.03744 [hep-ph].
- [121] Gorazd Cvetič, Arindam Das and Jilberto Zamora-Saá. "Probing heavy neutrino oscillations in rare W boson decays". In: J. Phys. G46 (2019), p. 075002. DOI: 10.1088/1361-6471/ab1212. arXiv: 1805.00070 [hep-ph].
- [122] P. Hernández, J. Jones-Pérez and O. Suarez-Navarro. "Majorana vs Pseudo-Dirac Neutrinos at the ILC". In: *Eur. Phys. J.* C79.3 (2019), p. 220. DOI: 10.1140/epjc/s10052-019-6728-1. arXiv: 1810.07210 [hep-ph].
- [123] Gorazd Cvetič et al. "Measuring the heavy neutrino oscillations in rare W boson decays at the Large Hadron Collider". In: J. Phys. G47.1 (2020), p. 015001. DOI: 10.1088/1361-6471/ab4ee8. arXiv: 1905.03097 [hep-ph].

- [124] A. Abada et al. "Interference effects in LNV and LFV semileptonic decays: the Majorana hypothesis". In: *JHEP* 09 (2019), p. 017. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP09(2019)017. arXiv: 1904.05367 [hep-ph].
- [125] Janusz Gluza and Tomasz Jeliński. "Heavy neutrinos and the pp→lljj CMS data". In: *Phys. Lett.* B748 (2015), pp. 125–131.
   DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb.2015.06.077. arXiv: 1504.05568
   [hep-ph].
- Janusz Gluza, Tomasz Jelinski and Robert Szafron. "Lepton number violation and 'Diracness' of massive neutrinos composed of Majorana states". In: *Phys. Rev.* D93.11 (2016), p. 113017. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.93.113017. arXiv: 1604.01388 [hep-ph].
- [127] Apostolos Pilaftsis. "Resonant CP violation induced by particle mixing in transition amplitudes". In: Nucl. Phys. B504 (1997), pp. 61–107. DOI: 10.1016/S0550-3213(97)00469-0. arXiv: hep-ph/9702393 [hep-ph].
- [128] Simon Bray, Jae Sik Lee and Apostolos Pilaftsis. "Resonant CP violation due to heavy neutrinos at the LHC". In: *Nucl. Phys.* B786 (2007), pp. 95–118. DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2007.07.002. arXiv: hep-ph/0702294 [HEP-PH].
- [129] Gerard 't Hooft. "Naturalness, chiral symmetry, and spontaneous chiral symmetry breaking". In: *NATO Sci. Ser. B* 59 (1980). Ed. by Gerard 't Hooft et al., pp. 135–157. DOI:  $10.1007/978-1-4684-7571-5\9$ .
- Jörn Kersten and Alexei Yu. Smirnov. "Right-Handed Neutrinos at CERN LHC and the Mechanism of Neutrino Mass Generation". In: *Phys. Rev.* D76 (2007), p. 073005. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD. 76.073005. arXiv: 0705.3221 [hep-ph].
- [131] Mikhail Shaposhnikov. "A Possible symmetry of the nuMSM". In: Nucl. Phys. B 763 (2007), pp. 49–59. DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysb. 2006.11.003. arXiv: hep-ph/0605047.
- [132] K. Moffat, S. Pascoli and C. Weiland. "Equivalence between massless neutrinos and lepton number conservation in fermionic singlet extensions of the Standard Model". In: (Dec. 2017). arXiv: 1712.07611 [hep-ph].

- [133] Daniel Boyanovsky. "Nearly degenerate heavy sterile neutrinos in cascade decay: mixing and oscillations". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 90.10 (2014), p. 105024. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.90.105024. arXiv: 1409.4265 [hep-ph].
- [134] Dmitry Gorbunov and Mikhail Shaposhnikov. "How to find neutral leptons of the νMSM?" In: JHEP 10 (2007). [Erratum: JHEP11,101(2013)], p. 015. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP11(2013)101,10.1088/1126-6708/ 2007/10/015. arXiv: 0705.1729 [hep-ph].
- [135] Anupama Atre et al. "The Search for Heavy Majorana Neutrinos". In: JHEP 05 (2009), p. 030. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2009/05/ 030. arXiv: 0901.3589 [hep-ph].
- [136] Apostolos Pilaftsis. "Radiatively induced neutrino masses and large Higgs neutrino couplings in the standard model with Majorana fields". In: Z. Phys. C55 (1992), pp. 275–282. DOI: 10.1007/ BF01482590. arXiv: hep-ph/9901206 [hep-ph].
- [137] Frank F. Deppisch, P. S. Bhupal Dev and Apostolos Pilaftsis. "Neutrinos and Collider Physics". In: New J. Phys. 17.7 (2015), p. 075019. DOI: 10.1088/1367-2630/17/7/075019. arXiv: 1502.06541 [hep-ph].
- [138] Marco Drewes et al. "Testing the low scale seesaw and leptogenesis". In: *JHEP* 08 (2017), p. 018. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP08(2017) 018. arXiv: 1609.09069 [hep-ph].
- [139] Stefan Antusch and Oliver Fischer. "Non-unitarity of the leptonic mixing matrix: Present bounds and future sensitivities". In: JHEP 10 (2014), p. 094. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP10(2014)094. arXiv: 1407.6607 [hep-ph].
- [140] Laurent Canetti et al. "Dark Matter, Baryogenesis and Neutrino Oscillations from Right Handed Neutrinos". In: *Phys. Rev.* D87 (2013), p. 093006. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.87.093006. arXiv: 1208.4607 [hep-ph].
- [141] Kyrylo Bondarenko et al. "Phenomenology of GeV-scale Heavy Neutral Leptons". In: *JHEP* 11 (2018), p. 032. DOI: 10.1007/ JHEP11(2018)032. arXiv: 1805.08567 [hep-ph].

- [142] Silvia Pascoli, Richard Ruiz and Cedric Weiland. "Heavy neutrinos with dynamic jet vetoes: multilepton searches at  $\sqrt{s} = 14$ , 27, and 100 TeV". In: *JHEP* 06 (2019), p. 049. DOI: 10.1007/ JHEP06(2019)049. arXiv: 1812.08750 [hep-ph].
- [143] W. Buchmuller, R. D. Peccei and T. Yanagida. "Leptogenesis as the origin of matter". In: Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 55 (2005), pp. 311-355. DOI: 10.1146/annurev.nucl.55.090704.151558. arXiv: hep-ph/0502169 [hep-ph].
- [144] Sacha Davidson and Alejandro Ibarra. "A Lower bound on the right-handed neutrino mass from leptogenesis". In: *Phys. Lett.* B535 (2002), pp. 25–32. DOI: 10.1016/S0370-2693(02)01735-5. arXiv: hep-ph/0202239 [hep-ph].
- [145] Alberto Salvio, Paolo Lodone and Alessandro Strumia. "Towards leptogenesis at NLO: the right-handed neutrino interaction rate". In: *JHEP* 08 (2011), p. 116. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP08(2011)116. arXiv: 1106.2814 [hep-ph].
- [146] M. Laine and Y. Schroder. "Thermal right-handed neutrino production rate in the non-relativistic regime". In: *JHEP* 02 (2012), p. 068. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP02(2012)068. arXiv: 1112.1205 [hep-ph].
- Simone Biondini et al. "An effective field theory for non-relativistic Majorana neutrinos". In: JHEP 12 (2013), p. 028. DOI: 10.1007/ JHEP12(2013)028. arXiv: 1307.7680 [hep-ph].
- [148] Simone Biondini et al. "CP asymmetry in heavy Majorana neutrino decays at finite temperature: the nearly degenerate case". In: *JHEP* 03 (2016). [Erratum: JHEP08,072(2016)], p. 191. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP03(2016)191,10.1007/JHEP08(2016)072. arXiv: 1511.02803 [hep-ph].
- [149] Simone Biondini, Nora Brambilla and Antonio Vairo. "CP asymmetry in heavy Majorana neutrino decays at finite temperature: the hierarchical case". In: *JHEP* 09 (2016), p. 126. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP09(2016)126. arXiv: 1608.01979 [hep-ph].

- [150] Dietrich Bodeker and Marc Sangel. "Lepton asymmetry rate from quantum field theory: NLO in the hierarchical limit". In: JCAP 1706 (2017), p. 052. DOI: 10.1088/1475-7516/2017/06/052. arXiv: 1702.02155 [hep-ph].
- [151] Björn Garbrecht and Pedro Schwaller. "Spectator Effects during Leptogenesis in the Strong Washout Regime". In: JCAP 1410 (2014), p. 012. DOI: 10.1088/1475-7516/2014/10/012. arXiv: 1404.2915 [hep-ph].
- [152] Dietrich Bödeker and Dennis Schröder. "Equilibration of righthanded electrons". In: *JCAP* 1905 (2019), p. 010. DOI: 10.1088/ 1475-7516/2019/05/010. arXiv: 1902.07220 [hep-ph].
- Björn Garbrecht, Frank Glowna and Pedro Schwaller. "Scattering Rates For Leptogenesis: Damping of Lepton Flavour Coherence and Production of Singlet Neutrinos". In: Nucl. Phys. B877 (2013), pp. 1–35. DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2013.08.020. arXiv: 1303.5498 [hep-ph].
- [154] Simone Biondini et al. "Status of rates and rate equations for thermal leptogenesis". In: Int. J. Mod. Phys. A33.05n06 (2018), p. 1842004. DOI: 10.1142/S0217751X18420046. arXiv: 1711. 02864 [hep-ph].
- [155] Alexey Anisimov, Denis Besak and Dietrich Bodeker. "Thermal production of relativistic Majorana neutrinos: Strong enhancement by multiple soft scattering". In: JCAP 1103 (2011), p. 042. DOI: 10.1088/1475-7516/2011/03/042. arXiv: 1012.3784 [hep-ph].
- [156] Denis Besak and Dietrich Bodeker. "Thermal production of ultrarelativistic right-handed neutrinos: Complete leading-order results". In: JCAP 1203 (2012), p. 029. DOI: 10.1088/1475-7516/2012/03/029. arXiv: 1202.1288 [hep-ph].
- Björn Garbrecht, Frank Glowna and Matti Herranen. "Right-Handed Neutrino Production at Finite Temperature: Radiative Corrections, Soft and Collinear Divergences". In: JHEP 04 (2013), p. 099. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP04(2013)099. arXiv: 1302.0743 [hep-ph].

- [158] Thomas Hambye and Daniele Teresi. "Higgs doublet decay as the origin of the baryon asymmetry". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 117.9 (2016), p. 091801. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.117.091801. arXiv: 1606.00017 [hep-ph].
- Thomas Hambye and Daniele Teresi. "Baryogenesis from L-violating Higgs-doublet decay in the density-matrix formalism". In: *Phys. Rev.* D96.1 (2017), p. 015031. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.96.
   015031. arXiv: 1705.00016 [hep-ph].
- [160] J. Ghiglieri and M. Laine. "GeV-scale hot sterile neutrino oscillations: a derivation of evolution equations". In: *JHEP* 05 (2017), p. 132. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP05(2017)132. arXiv: 1703.06087 [hep-ph].
- [161] Shintaro Eijima and Mikhail Shaposhnikov. "Fermion number violating effects in low scale leptogenesis". In: *Phys. Lett.* B771 (2017), pp. 288–296. DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb.2017.05.068. arXiv: 1703.06085 [hep-ph].
- [162] J. Ghiglieri and M. Laine. "GeV-scale hot sterile neutrino oscillations: a numerical solution". In: *JHEP* 02 (2018), p. 078. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP02(2018)078. arXiv: 1711.08469 [hep-ph].
- S. Eijima, M. Shaposhnikov and I. Timiryasov. "Freeze-out of baryon number in low-scale leptogenesis". In: *JCAP* 1711 (2017), p. 030. DOI: 10.1088/1475-7516/2017/11/030. arXiv: 1709. 07834 [hep-ph].
- [164] S. Eijima, M. Shaposhnikov and I. Timiryasov. "Parameter space of baryogenesis in the  $\nu$ MSM". In: *JHEP* 07 (2019), p. 077. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP07(2019)077. arXiv: 1808.10833 [hep-ph].
- [165] J. Ghiglieri and M. Laine. "Precision study of GeV-scale resonant leptogenesis". In: *JHEP* 02 (2019), p. 014. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP02(2019)014. arXiv: 1811.01971 [hep-ph].
- [166] Apostolos Pilaftsis and Thomas E. J. Underwood. "Resonant leptogenesis". In: Nucl. Phys. B692 (2004), pp. 303-345. DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2004.05.029. arXiv: hep-ph/0309342 [hep-ph].

- [167] Apostolos Pilaftsis and Thomas E. J. Underwood. "Electroweak-scale resonant leptogenesis". In: *Phys. Rev.* D72 (2005), p. 113001.
   DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.72.113001. arXiv: hep-ph/0506107
   [hep-ph].
- [168] W. Buchmuller, P. Di Bari and M. Plumacher. "Leptogenesis for pedestrians". In: Annals Phys. 315 (2005), pp. 305–351. DOI: 10. 1016/j.aop.2004.02.003. arXiv: hep-ph/0401240 [hep-ph].
- [169] Clemens Kiessig and Michael Plumacher. "Hard-Thermal-Loop Corrections in Leptogenesis I: CP-Asymmetries". In: JCAP 1207 (2012), p. 014. DOI: 10.1088/1475-7516/2012/07/014. arXiv: 1111.1231 [hep-ph].
- [170] Clemens Kiessig and Michael Plumacher. "Hard-Thermal-Loop Corrections in Leptogenesis II: Solving the Boltzmann Equations". In: JCAP 1209 (2012), p. 012. DOI: 10.1088/1475-7516/2012/ 09/012. arXiv: 1111.1235 [hep-ph].
- [171] I. Ghisoiu and M. Laine. "Right-handed neutrino production rate at T > 160 GeV". In: JCAP 1412 (2014), p. 032. DOI: 10.1088/ 1475-7516/2014/12/032. arXiv: 1411.1765 [hep-ph].
- [172] Martin Beneke et al. "Finite Number Density Corrections to Leptogenesis". In: Nucl. Phys. B838 (2010), pp. 1–27. DOI: 10.
   1016/j.nuclphysb.2010.05.003. arXiv: 1002.1326 [hep-ph].
- [173] Edward W. Kolb and Michael S. Turner. "The Early Universe". In: Front. Phys. 69 (1990), pp. 1–547.
- [174] Jeffrey A. Harvey and Michael S. Turner. "Cosmological baryon and lepton number in the presence of electroweak fermion number violation". In: *Phys. Rev.* D42 (1990), pp. 3344–3349. DOI: 10. 1103/PhysRevD.42.3344.
- S. Yu. Khlebnikov and M. E. Shaposhnikov. "Melting of the Higgs vacuum: Conserved numbers at high temperature". In: *Phys. Lett.* B387 (1996), pp. 817–822. DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(96)01116-1. arXiv: hep-ph/9607386 [hep-ph].

- M. Laine and Mikhail E. Shaposhnikov. "A Remark on sphaleron erasure of baryon asymmetry". In: *Phys. Rev.* D61 (2000), p. 117302.
   DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.61.117302. arXiv: hep-ph/9911473
   [hep-ph].
- [177] Tomohiro Endoh, Takuya Morozumi and Zhao-hua Xiong. "Primordial lepton family asymmetries in seesaw model". In: *Prog. Theor. Phys.* 111 (2004), pp. 123–149. DOI: 10.1143/PTP.111.123. arXiv: hep-ph/0308276 [hep-ph].
- [178] Asmaa Abada et al. "Flavor issues in leptogenesis". In: JCAP 0604 (2006), p. 004. DOI: 10.1088/1475-7516/2006/04/004. arXiv: hep-ph/0601083 [hep-ph].
- [179] Enrico Nardi et al. "The Importance of flavor in leptogenesis". In: JHEP 01 (2006), p. 164. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2006/01/164. arXiv: hep-ph/0601084 [hep-ph].
- [180] Andrea De Simone and Antonio Riotto. "On the impact of flavour oscillations in leptogenesis". In: *JCAP* 0702 (2007), p. 005. DOI: 10.1088/1475-7516/2007/02/005. arXiv: hep-ph/0611357 [hep-ph].
- [181] Martin Beneke et al. "Flavoured Leptogenesis in the CTP Formalism". In: Nucl. Phys. B843 (2011), pp. 177–212. DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2010.10.001. arXiv: 1007.4783 [hep-ph].
- [182] Julian S. Schwinger. "Brownian motion of a quantum oscillator". In: J. Math. Phys. 2 (1961), pp. 407–432. DOI: 10.1063/1. 1703727.
- [183] L. V. Keldysh. "Diagram technique for nonequilibrium processes". In: Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 47 (1964). [Sov. Phys. JETP20,1018(1965)], pp. 1515–1527.
- [184] John M. Cornwall, R. Jackiw and E. Tomboulis. "Effective Action for Composite Operators". In: *Phys. Rev.* D10 (1974), pp. 2428– 2445. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.10.2428.
- [185] E. Calzetta and B. L. Hu. "Nonequilibrium Quantum Fields: Closed Time Path Effective Action, Wigner Function and Boltzmann Equation". In: *Phys. Rev.* D37 (1988), p. 2878. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevD.37.2878.

- [186] Tomislav Prokopec, Michael G. Schmidt and Steffen Weinstock. "Transport equations for chiral fermions to order h bar and electroweak baryogenesis. Part 1". In: Annals Phys. 314 (2004), pp. 208–265. DOI: 10.1016/j.aop.2004.06.002. arXiv: hepph/0312110 [hep-ph].
- [187] Juergen Berges. "Introduction to nonequilibrium quantum field theory". In: AIP Conf. Proc. 739.1 (2004), pp. 3–62. DOI: 10. 1063/1.1843591. arXiv: hep-ph/0409233 [hep-ph].
- Bjorn Garbrecht and Mathias Garny. "Finite Width in out-of-Equilibrium Propagators and Kinetic Theory". In: Annals Phys. 327 (2012), pp. 914–934. DOI: 10.1016/j.aop.2011.10.005. arXiv: 1108.3688 [hep-ph].
- [189] Anders Basboll and Steen Hannestad. "Decay of heavy Majorana neutrinos using the full Boltzmann equation including its implications for leptogenesis". In: JCAP 0701 (2007), p. 003. DOI: 10.1088/1475-7516/2007/01/003. arXiv: hep-ph/0609025 [hep-ph].
- [190] F. Hahn-Woernle, M. Plumacher and Y. Y. Y. Wong. "Full Boltzmann equations for leptogenesis including scattering". In: *JCAP* 0908 (2009), p. 028. DOI: 10.1088/1475-7516/2009/08/ 028. arXiv: 0907.0205 [hep-ph].
- [191] Bjorn Garbrecht and Matti Herranen. "Effective Theory of Resonant Leptogenesis in the Closed-Time-Path Approach". In: Nucl. Phys. B861 (2012), pp. 17–52. DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2012.03.009. arXiv: 1112.5954 [hep-ph].
- Bjorn Garbrecht and Thomas Konstandin. "Separation of Equilibration Time-Scales in the Gradient Expansion". In: *Phys. Rev.* D79 (2009), p. 085003. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.79.085003. arXiv: 0810.4016 [hep-ph].
- [193] Marco Drewes et al. "Leptogenesis from Oscillations of Heavy Neutrinos with Large Mixing Angles". In: JHEP 12 (2016), p. 150.
   DOI: 10.1007/JHEP12(2016)150. arXiv: 1606.06690 [hep-ph].

- Bjorn Garbrecht and Matti Herranen. "Effective Theory of Resonant Leptogenesis in the Closed-Time-Path Approach". In: Nucl. Phys. B861 (2012), pp. 17–52. DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2012.03.009. arXiv: 1112.5954 [hep-ph].
- [195] Marco Drewes and Björn Garbrecht. "Leptogenesis from a GeV Seesaw without Mass Degeneracy". In: JHEP 03 (2013), p. 096.
   DOI: 10.1007/JHEP03(2013)096. arXiv: 1206.5537 [hep-ph].
- [196] Marco Drewes et al. "Leptogenesis from Oscillations of Heavy Neutrinos with Large Mixing Angles". In: JHEP 12 (2016), p. 150.
   DOI: 10.1007/JHEP12(2016)150. arXiv: 1606.06690 [hep-ph].
- Takehiko Asaka, Shintaro Eijima and Hiroyuki Ishida. "Kinetic Equations for Baryogenesis via Sterile Neutrino Oscillation". In: *JCAP* 1202 (2012), p. 021. DOI: 10.1088/1475-7516/2012/02/021. arXiv: 1112.5565 [hep-ph].
- [198] Wilfried Buchmuller and Stefan Fredenhagen. "Quantum mechanics of baryogenesis". In: *Phys. Lett.* B483 (2000), pp. 217–224. DOI: 10.1016/S0370-2693(00)00573-6. arXiv: hep-ph/0004145 [hep-ph].
- [199] Andrea De Simone and Antonio Riotto. "Quantum Boltzmann Equations and Leptogenesis". In: JCAP 0708 (2007), p. 002. DOI: 10.1088/1475-7516/2007/08/002. arXiv: hep-ph/0703175 [hep-ph].
- [200] M. Garny et al. "Systematic approach to leptogenesis in nonequilibrium QFT: Vertex contribution to the CP-violating parameter". In: *Phys. Rev.* D80 (2009), p. 125027. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD. 80.125027. arXiv: 0909.1559 [hep-ph].
- [201] M. Garny et al. "Systematic approach to leptogenesis in nonequilibrium QFT: Self-energy contribution to the CP-violating parameter". In: *Phys. Rev.* D81 (2010), p. 085027. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevD.81.085027. arXiv: 0911.4122 [hep-ph].
- [202] M. Garny, A. Hohenegger and A. Kartavtsev. "Medium corrections to the CP-violating parameter in leptogenesis". In: *Phys. Rev.* D81 (2010), p. 085028. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.81.085028. arXiv: 1002.0331 [hep-ph].

- [203] M. Garny, A. Hohenegger and A. Kartavtsev. "Quantum corrections to leptogenesis from the gradient expansion". In: (2010). arXiv: 1005.5385 [hep-ph].
- [204] A. Anisimov et al. "Quantum Leptogenesis I". In: Annals Phys. 326 (2011). [Erratum: Annals Phys.338,376(2011)], pp. 1998–2038. DOI: 10.1016/j.aop.2011.02.002,10.1016/j.aop.2013.05.00. arXiv: 1012.5821 [hep-ph].
- [205] Mathias Garny, Alexander Kartavtsev and Andreas Hohenegger.
   "Leptogenesis from first principles in the resonant regime". In: Annals Phys. 328 (2013), pp. 26–63. DOI: 10.1016/j.aop.2012.
   10.007. arXiv: 1112.6428 [hep-ph].
- [206] Laura Covi, Esteban Roulet and Francesco Vissani. "CP violating decays in leptogenesis scenarios". In: *Phys. Lett.* B384 (1996), pp. 169–174. DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(96)00817-9. arXiv: hep-ph/9605319 [hep-ph].
- [207] W. Buchmuller and M. Plumacher. "CP asymmetry in Majorana neutrino decays". In: *Phys. Lett.* B431 (1998), pp. 354–362. DOI: 10.1016/S0370-2693(97)01548-7. arXiv: hep-ph/9710460 [hep-ph].
- [208] Eric Braaten and Robert D. Pisarski. "Soft Amplitudes in Hot Gauge Theories: A General Analysis". In: Nucl. Phys. B337 (1990), pp. 569–634. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(90)90508-B.
- [209] Frank Glowna. "Right-handed Neutrino Production at Finite Temperatures: Radiative Corrections, Soft and Collinear Divergences". PhD thesis. Munich, Tech. U., 2015. URL: http://mediatum.ub. tum.de?id=1253887.
- [210] H. Arthur Weldon. "Effective Fermion Masses of Order gT in High Temperature Gauge Theories with Exact Chiral Invariance". In: *Phys. Rev.* D26 (1982), p. 2789. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.26. 2789.
- [211] Michel Le Bellac. Thermal Field Theory. Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics. Cambridge University Press, 2011. ISBN: 9780511885068, 9780521654777. DOI: 10.1017/CB09780511721700. URL: http://www.cambridge.org/mw/academic/subjects/

physics/theoretical-physics-and-mathematical-physics/ thermal-field-theory?format=AR.

- [212] Ming-xing Luo and Yong Xiao. "Two loop renormalization group equations in the standard model". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 90 (2003), p. 011601. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.90.011601. arXiv: hepph/0207271 [hep-ph].
- [213] Giuseppe Degrassi et al. "Higgs mass and vacuum stability in the Standard Model at NNLO". In: JHEP 08 (2012), p. 098. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP08(2012)098. arXiv: 1205.6497 [hep-ph].
- [214] Ralf Hempfling and Bernd A. Kniehl. "On the relation between the fermion pole mass and MS Yukawa coupling in the standard model". In: *Phys. Rev.* D51 (1995), pp. 1386–1394. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevD.51.1386. arXiv: hep-ph/9408313 [hep-ph].
- [215] K. G. Chetyrkin and M. Steinhauser. "The Relation between the MS-bar and the on-shell quark mass at order alpha(s)\*\*3". In: Nucl. Phys. B573 (2000), pp. 617–651. DOI: 10.1016/S0550-3213(99)00784-1. arXiv: hep-ph/9911434 [hep-ph].
- [216] Kirill Melnikov and Timo van Ritbergen. "The Three loop relation between the MS-bar and the pole quark masses". In: *Phys. Lett.* B482 (2000), pp. 99–108. DOI: 10.1016/S0370-2693(00)00507-4. arXiv: hep-ph/9912391 [hep-ph].
- [217] Morad Aaboud et al. "Measurement of the Higgs boson mass in the  $H \rightarrow ZZ^* \rightarrow 4\ell$  and  $H \rightarrow \gamma\gamma$  channels with  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV pp collisions using the ATLAS detector". In: *Phys. Lett.* B784 (2018), pp. 345–366. DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb.2018.07.050. arXiv: 1806.00242 [hep-ex].
- [218] Morad Aaboud et al. "Measurement of the top quark mass in the  $t\bar{t} \rightarrow$  lepton+jets channel from  $\sqrt{s} = 8$  TeV ATLAS data and combination with previous results". In: *Eur. Phys. J.* C79.4 (2019), p. 290. DOI: 10.1140/epjc/s10052-019-6757-9. arXiv: 1810.01772 [hep-ex].
- [219] Riccardo Barbieri et al. "Baryogenesis through leptogenesis". In: Nucl. Phys. B575 (2000), pp. 61–77. DOI: 10.1016/S0550-3213(00)00011-0. arXiv: hep-ph/9911315 [hep-ph].

[220] Guy D. Moore. "Do we understand the sphaleron rate?" In: Strong and electroweak matter. Proceedings, Meeting, SEWM 2000, Marseille, France, June 13-17, 2000. 2000, pp. 82–94. DOI: 10.1142/ 9789812799913\_0007. arXiv: hep-ph/0009161 [hep-ph].